
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Tuesday, 17 January 2023 
 
To:   Members of the MCA - Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and Appropriate 

Officers 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
You are hereby summoned to a meeting of the South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined 
Authority to be held at South Yorkshire MCA, 11 Broad Street West, Sheffield, S1 2BQ, 
on: Wednesday, 25 January 2023 at 11.00 am for the purpose of transacting the business 
set out in the agenda. 
 
 

 
 
Martin Swales 
Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service  
 
 
 

Webcasting Notice 
 

This meeting will be streamed live or subsequent broadcast via the Mayoral Combined 
Authority’s website. 
 
You should be aware that the Mayoral Combined Authority is a Data Controller under the 
Data Protection Act 2018.  Data collected during this webcast will be retained in 
accordance with the Mayoral Combined Authority’s published policy. 
 
By entering the meeting room, you are consenting to be filmed and to the possible use of 
those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Member Distribution 
 
Councillor Phillip Lofts (Chair) Barnsley MBC 
Rhys Jarvis (Vice-Chair) (Independent Member) 
Councillor Ian Auckland Sheffield City Council 
David Phillips Independent Member 
Councillor Austen White Doncaster MBC 
 



 

 

 
MCA - Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

 
 

Wednesday, 25 January 2023 at 11.00 am 
 
Venue:  South Yorkshire MCA, 11 Broad Street West, Sheffield, 
S1 2BQ 

Agenda 
 

Agenda 
Ref No 

Subject Lead Page 

 

1.   Welcome and Apologies  Chair  

2.   Urgent Items/Announcements  Chair  

3.   Items to be Considered in the Absence of Public 
and Press  

Chair  

4.   Declarations of Interest by any Members  Chair  

5.   Reports from and Questions by Members  Chair  

6.   Questions from Members of the Public  Chair  

7.   Minutes and Actions of the Previous Meeting held 
on 19 October 2022  

Chair 5 - 24 

8.   Health and Safety Update  Lynne Sutton 25 - 44 

9.   External Audit Report on 2021/22 Accounts  Hassan Rohimun 45 - 80 

10.   Mid-Year Treasury Management Strategy Report  Gareth Sutton 81 - 96 

11.   2023/24 Draft Treasury Management Strategy  Mike Thomas 97 - 160 

12.   Assurance Framework  Lyndsey 
Whitaker 

161 - 236 

13.   2022/23 Internal Audit Plan Progress Report  Claire James 237 - 244 

14.   Internal Audit Recommendations Tracker  Lisa Mackenzie 245 - 254 

15.   Internal Audit Reports 

 Asset Management Follow Up 

 Net Zero 

Claire James 255 - 288 

16.   Net Zero Programme Update (Presentation) John Dowie  

17.   Transport Working Group Update (Verbal) Rhys Jarvis  

18.   Preparation for Tram Risk (Presentation) Pat Beijer  

19.   Risk Management Update  Claire James 289 - 324 

20.   Governance Improvement Plan Update  Claire James 325 - 332 

21.   Annual Governance Review Process  Claire James 333 - 336 

22.   Work Plan  Claire James 337 - 342 



 

 

23.   RESTRICTED: Contract Procedure Rules Breach 
and Suspected Instances of Fraud Report  

Gareth Sutton 343 - 384 

Date of next meeting:   Wednesday, 22 March 2023 at 11.00 am 

At:  South Yorkshire MCA, 11 Broad Street West, Sheffield, S1 2BQ  



MCA - AUDIT, STANDARDS AND RISK COMMITTEE 
 

 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON: 
 
WEDNESDAY, 19 OCTOBER 2022 AT 11.00 AM 
 
SOUTH YORKSHIRE MCA, 11 BROAD STREET WEST, 
SHEFFIELD, S1 2BQ 
 

 
 
Present: 
 
Councillor Phillip Lofts (Chair) Barnsley MBC 
Rhys Jarvis (Vice-Chair) (Independent Member) 
Councillor Ian Auckland Sheffield City Council 
David Phillips (Independent Member) 
Councillor Austen White Doncaster MBC 
Councillor Mike Levery (Reserve) Sheffield City Council 
 
In Attendance: 
 
  
Martin Swales Chief Executive and Head of 

Paid Services 
SYMCA Executive Team 

Dr Ruth Adams Deputy Chief Executive SYMCA Executive Team 
Liz Morris Risk Manager SYMCA Executive Team 
Gareth Sutton Chief Finance Officer/S73 

Officer 
SYMCA Executive Team 

Mike Thomas Assistant Director of Finance & 
Deputy s73 Officer 

SYMCA Executive Team 

  
Peter Clark  
Lisa Mackenzie  
Hassan Rohimun  
 
Sarah Pugh (Minute Taker) 
  
 
Apologies: 
 
Councillor Simon Ball Rotherham MBC 
 
 
72 Welcome and Apologies 

 
 The Chair welcomed attendees to the meeting, and welcomed new member of 

the Committee, David Phillips.  
  
The Committee noted that this was the final meeting before the Deputy Chief 
Executive’s departure from the MCA, and thanked her for her work.  
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



 

Apologies were noted as above. 
 

73 Urgent Items/Announcements 
 

 None. 
 

74 Items to be Considered in the Absence of Public and Press 
 

 None. 
 

75 Declarations of Interest by any Members 
 

 None. 
 

76 Reports from and Questions by Members 
 

 None. 
 

77 Questions from Members of the Public 
 

 None. 
 

78 Minutes and Actions of the Previous Meeting held on 14 July 2022 
 

 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 July 2022 be agreed 
as a true record, with the amendment that minute 62 now read “ACTION: 
Democratic Services to edit the minutes to reflect that Cllr Auckland was 
present, and that following Councillor Loft’s nomination as Chair, it was Cllr 
Lofts who welcomed everyone to the meeting.” 
  
 

79 Matters Arising and Action Log 
 

 An update was requested on the External Audit meeting of 19th July 2022. A 

summary was given of this meeting, including that it had been identified that 
better communication was needed between the Committee and External 
Auditors, but that as a result an Audit Plan for 2021/22 had been delivered for 
the Committee to review. 
  
The Committee noted that a Governance Improvement Plan was not included 
on the present agenda, but instead a broader Strengthening Corporate 
Governance paper was being presented.  
  
  
It was confirmed that a health & safety update would be presented to the 
committee in future.  
  
RESOLVED: to note the Action Log.  
  
 

80 Transport Risk Working Group Update 
 

Page 6



 

 A verbal update was given on the most recent Transport Working Group 
meeting, noting that: 

 There was a continuous red risk relating to an intersection between a 
road and the tram system at Barnard Road. It was noted that whilst 
discussions were ongoing with the highways authority some initial 
improvements had been made through the clearance of vegetation 
nearby.  

 Bus service continuity presented a red risk, due to decreasing patronage 
and the prospect of franchising of the bus system.  

 The decision to bring the tram system back into public ownership also 
presented a red risk, due to operational risks and maintenance of trams 
being borne by the MCA. 

  
RESOLVED: to note the Transport Risk Working Group Update. 
 

81 Terms of Reference Review 
 

 The Committee recommended the following amendments to the reviewed 
Terms of Reference:  

 At 3.2 to update the language of “External Auditor’s Annual Audit and 
Inspection Letter” to “Auditors Annual Report”, and to include an ISA 260 
Audit Results Report. 

 At 3.4 to specify which review of internal audit is being referred to.  

 To expand 3.7 to include specific controls and names of reports.  

 To include a minimum number of reports which will be provided to the 
Committee. 

 That the Chair will provide an annual report to the Committee. 
 
ACTION – Head of Corporate Governance: to make the above amendments 
to the reviewed Terms of Reference.   
 
RESOLVED: to recommend the reviewed Terms of Reference with the above 
amendments for approval by the MCA Board. 
 

82 Public Sector Audit Appointment Procurement and Fees 
 

 The Committee viewed correspondence from Public Sector Audit Appointments 
(PSAA) which outlined that:  

         Scale fees, the price at which the audit service was delivered, would 
increase by around £3000 for both the MCA and SYPTE.  

         The re-procurement exercise for 2023/2024 had been completed, 
and that there was likely to be a nationwide 150% increase from the 
current costs. The PSAA had raised this with Government to seek 
support for the sector.  

  
It was also noted that the PSAA had written to the MCA, stating that KPMG 
would be appointed as External Auditor for the financial year 2023/24 onwards.  
  
It was asked whether the integration of the MCA and SYPTE would decrease 
costs. It was hoped that it would, but this was unconfirmed.  
  
RESOLVED: To note the correspondence and the intention to not challenge 

Page 7



 

the fee-scale changes. 
  
 

83 External Audit Plan Update 
 

 Two reports on the external audit of the MCA and SYPTE were presented. Both 
covered:  

 The overall audit strategy, and key areas of risk and focus 

 Any changes to risk assessments  

 An overview of pensions liability, and liability for property, plant, and 
equipment 

 The different thresholds and materiality levels used during external audit 

 Risks identified and the procedures to be undertaken to address them  

 Value for money planning by the External Auditor 
  
It was stated that performance materiality had been placed at 75%, which was 
determined to be a positive figure.  
  
It was noted that the scale fees were not adequate to undertake an audit of this 
kind, so a higher price had been proposed and submitted to the PSAA for 
approval. Concern was raised by the Committee that the bid given by External 
Auditors had been increased once work was undertaken, and as a result a 
dispute was raised by the MCA and included in the paper. The PSAA would 
arbitrate on the dispute, but there was no expected timeline for when this would 
be completed.  
  
A question was raised on the potential delay to completing the Internal Audit 
Plan and the requirement to publish audited accounts in line with statutory 
obligations. The Committee received reassurance that, though the MCA was 
under a great deal of pressure to deliver its obligations, Officers were working 
with Internal Auditors to complete the audit work plan as soon as possible. It 
was added that the MCA was prepared to add additional resource where 
needed to meet statutory obligations, and that an organisational review was 
being undergone to ensure all areas of the organisation were resourced 
adequately.  
                                                                                                              
It was asked whether the PTE was still expected to be wound up in 2023. It 
was confirmed that this was progressing and is due to take place in April 2023.  
  
RESOLVED: To note the findings and recommendations of the external audit 
plan update. 
  
 

84 Strengthening Corporate Governance 
 

 The Strengthening Corporate Governance report was presented to the 
Committee. It noted that: 

 An organisational review of corporate governance was being undertaken 
to ensure that the “Three Line Defence” of corporate governance were 
being fully maintained, and processes across the organisation were 
aligned.  

 A formal Corporate Assurance Board had been established to oversee 

Page 8



 

key assurance areas: Health and safety, human resources, information 
governance, information technology, business continuity, asset 
management and accessibility.  

 The Board would likely make recommendations to be included in the 
Governance Improvement Plan. 

 The recent decision taken by the MCA to return the tram system back 
into public operation presented high risks. Regular updates on this were 
requested by the committee. 

  
ACTION – Head of Corporate Governance: Regular updates to be provided 
on risk management for the tram system to be provided to the committee.  
  
RESOLVED: To note the Strengthening Corporate Governance update. 
  
 

85 National Audit Office Report Summary -  Challenging Climate Change 
Risk 
 

 A summary of the National Audit Office Report – Challenging Climate Change 
Risk was presented, which had been requested by the Committee. 
  
The Summary Report outlined: 

 Risks faced by the Public Sector, such as addressing adverse weather 
condition, and transitional risks affecting businesses, which may in turn 
impact the delivery of economic plans. 

 A recommendation that Committees play a role in testing policy 
leadership, value for money, accountability, and coordination and 
delivery on climate change objectives.  

 An Internal Audit report on environmental compliance had been 
concluded and would be presented to the next meeting of the 
Committee.  

 The MCA’s Assurance Framework was also reviewed every year, 
alongside several Government Departments, and would include new 
Government guidelines on how to test the impact of schemes against 
environmental targets. 

  
It was noted that this was an underdeveloped area of work at the MCA, which 
was being addressed in the ongoing review of the organisation.  
  
However, a Citizen’s Assembly on Climate Change was being established in 
line with the Mayor’s manifesto. Additionally, it was noted that there was space 
for more development for Committee members on climate literacy, and that a 
major plan for carbon literacy training for all Officers of the MCA was underway.  
  
It was asked how well the report addressed local circumstances. A response 
was given that work was being undertaken on this issue, noting in particular the 
heavy reliance of South Yorkshire businesses on energy usage.  
  
Committee noted the interdependence of this report with the work of Internal 
Audit on their review of the MCA’s Net Zero programme. Committee agreed to 
invite the Net Zero Project Director and the Executive Director Place to the next 
session in January to discuss progress and the role of the Committee in 

Page 9



 

oversight of progress and risk. 
  
RESOLVED: To note the National Audit Office Report Summary, and to invite 
the Net Zero Project Director and the Executive Director Place to the January 
session. 
 

86 Risk Management Monitoring Report 
 

 The Risk Management Monitoring Report was presented to the Committee, 
noting that a new risk framework and new risk management system had been 
implemented.  
  
The new framework had already been received by the Committee and agreed 
by the MCA Board in July. Corporate risks had been migrated on to the 
management system and learning materials had been created to induct officers 
in using it.   
  
The timeline for delivery of the new framework was on track with some 
exceptions, such as the commencement of additional resource, and inducting 
users on the management system. There was also still work to be done on 
integrating business plan and team level risks into the system. 
  
Medium and high corporate risks were noted as:  

 Public transport and climate change, both having been considered at 
this meeting 

 Threats of cyber attacks 

 Performance against Adult Education Budget targets 
  
More detail was asked on what risk was posed by the closure of Doncaster 
Sheffield Airport. It was noted that an issue log may be more appropriate for 
logging items such as this; Though it had occupied a significant amount of 
officer time and was politically sensitive, it didn’t pose an immediate risk to the 
operations or financial health of the organisation.  
 
ACTION: Executive Director Finance & Investment - to reconsider how 
Doncaster Sheffield Airport is presented in terms of risk management.  
  
It was asked why the borrowing risk had been de-escalated given the rise in 
interest-rates and the potential for borrowing costs to increase. A reply was 
given that the MCA had not borrowed in over a decade with the risk speaking to 
a lack of skills and experience within the Finance team to manage this activity. 
It was noted that the MCA’s debt is currently fixed-rate with no exposure to 
interest-rates, and that the MCA has no immediate need for borrowing. It was 
further noted that work had been undertaken to remedy the underlying risk, with 
the creation of a new post on the establishment structure and the access to the 
services of agents. 
  
The Committee requested more information on risk trends, and how risks 
related to public transport could be flagged as financial risks also. It was 
confirmed that the management system allows risks to be flagged by theme, 
and that a report on a particular theme of risk, e.g. financial, could be produced.  
  

Page 10



 

ACTION – Head of Corporate Governance: More information on trends in 
risks, and specific public transport finance related risks, to be provided to the 
Committee.   
  
RESOLVED: To note the progress of the implementation of the Risk 
Management Framework and the Corporate Risk Monitoring Report. 
 

87 2022/23 Internal Audit Plan Progress Report 
 

 A Report on the Progress of the 2022/23 Internal Audit was presented. The 
audit was around 33% completed, but there was significant risk in terms of 
completion, with the Internal Audit contract due to end in March 2023. 
  
The Committee asked whether work was on track to be completed within this 
timeline. It was confirmed that some field work had been delayed, but not all 
processes were tested during every audit, and that tasks were being prioritised 
to ensure completion on time. 
  
The Committee was also informed that a report on a review of community 
transport options would be presented to its next meeting.  
  
RESOLVED: To note the progress of 2022/23 audit activity and approve any 
changes to the Internal Audit Plan. 
  
 

88 Internal Audit Report - Governance 
 

 The Internal Audit Report on Governance was presented to the Committee. It 
noted that a significant assurance opinion had been given, and some minor 
improvement areas had been highlighted and were being monitored such as 
the integration process.  
  
It was also noted that the Internal Auditors had also been asked to test 
processes around use of key supply chains and supply resilience, and that 
additional staffing had been allocated to address this. 
  
RESOLVED: To note the findings and recommendations of the internal audit 
on Governance. 
 

89 Internal Audit Report - GDPR 
 

 The Internal Audit Report on GDPR was presented to the Committee. It noted 
that a significant assurance opinion had been given, but that again integration 
presented a risk here.   
  
RESOLVED: To note the findings and recommendations of the internal audit 
on GDPR. 
 

90 Internal Audit Recommendations Tracker 
 

 RESOLVED: To note the progress of the implementation of internal audit 
recommendations. 

Page 11



 

  
 

91 Contract Procedure Rules Breach and Suspected Instances of Fraud 
Report 
 

 A report was presented on Contracted Procedure Rules Breach and Suspected 
Instances of Fraud.  
  
It was noted that there was currently an ongoing investigation into a suspected 
fraud which had been raised with Internal Audit. An update on this would be 
brought back to the Committee once the investigation was completed. 
  
RESOLVED: To note the Contract Procedure Rules Breach and Suspected 
Instances of Fraud Report 
  
 

92 Internal Audit Re-Procurement 
 

 The Committee was informed that the re-procurement of an Internal Auditor 
was underway, as the current contract was ending in March 2023. Work with 
the new delivery agent was expected to begin in April 2023. 
  
It was asked how involved the Committee would be in the process of selecting 
an Internal Auditor. It was confirmed that the Committee had been involved in 
setting the specification, rather than the evaluation exercise itself.  
  
The Executive Director Finance & Investment agreed to liaise with the Chair 
and Vice Chair on the procurement process at the evaluation stage. 
  
RESOLVED: To note the Internal Audit Re-procurement progress update.  
  
 

93 Work Plan for 2022/23 
 

 RESOLVED: To note the Work Plan for 2022/23. 
 

 
I, the undersigned, confirm that this is a true and accurate record of the meeting. 
 
Signed  

 
Name 

 

 
Position 

 

 
Date 

 

Page 12



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee  
 

Action Log  
  

 
Open and Recently Completed Actions & Matters Arising 

 
Meeting 

Date 
Minute 

No 
Action Action 

Owner 
Update Status 

19/10/2022 81 Terms of Reference Review  
 
Minute: 
 
The Committee recommended the following 
amendments to the reviewed Terms of Reference:  

 At 3.2 to update the language of “External 
Auditor’s Annual Audit and Inspection Letter” to 
“Auditors Annual Report”, and to include an ISA 
260 Audit Results Report.  

 At 3.4 to specify which review of internal audit 
is being referred to.  

 To expand 3.7 to include specific controls and 
names of reports.  

 To include a minimum number of reports which 
will be provided to the Committee.  

 That the Chair will provide an annual report to 
the Committee.  
 

C James The Terms of Reference will 
be amended as part of the 
work to update the 
Constitution. Due to 
commence in April 2023. 

 

P
age 13



 

Meeting 
Date 

Minute 
No 

Action Action 
Owner 

Update Status 

ACTION – Head of Corporate Governance: to 
make the above amendments to the reviewed 
Terms of Reference. 

19/10/2022 84 Strengthening Corporate Governance 
 
Minute:  
 
The recent decision taken by the MCA to return the 
tram system back into public operation presented 
high risks. Regular updates on this were requested 
by the committee. 
 
ACTION – Head of Corporate Governance: 
Regular updates to be provided on risk 
management for the tram system to be provided 
to the committee. 
 

C James Covered in agenda item 18: 
Preparation for Tram Risk.  

See item 
18.  

19/10/2022 86 Risk Management Monitoring Report  
 
Minute: 
 
More detail was asked on what risk was posed by 
the closure of Doncaster Sheffield Airport. It was 
noted that an issue log may be more appropriate for 
logging items such as this; Though it had occupied a 
significant amount of officer time and was politically 
sensitive, it didn’t pose an immediate risk to the 
operations or financial health of the organisation.  
 

G Sutton A new corporate risk has been 
added. See agenda item 19: 
Risk Management Monitoring 
Report. 
 
 

See item 
19. 

P
age 14



 

Meeting 
Date 

Minute 
No 

Action Action 
Owner 

Update Status 

ACTION: Executive Director Finance & 
Investment - to reconsider how Doncaster 
Sheffield Airport is presented in terms of risk 
management. 

19/10/2022 86 Risk Management Monitoring Report  
 
Minute: 
 
The Committee requested more information on risk 
trends, and how risks related to public transport 
could be flagged as financial risks also. It was 
confirmed that the management system allows risks 
to be flagged by theme, and that a report on a 
particular theme of risk, e.g. financial, could be 
produced.  
 
ACTION – Head of Corporate Governance: More 
information on trends in risks, and specific 
public transport finance related risks, to be 
provided to the Committee. 

C James Risk Reports are continuing to 
evolve. Agenda item 19: Risk 
Management Update contains 
a dashboard report and risk 
registers of Directorate level 
risks which includes public 
transport finance related risk.  

See item 
19 

14/07/2022 71 Work plan for 2022/23  
 

Minute: The Head of Corporate Governance to 
create and circulate an Assurance Map to Members.  

 

C James Under development in 
conjunction with Executive 
Leadership Team. 

Ongoing 

14/07/2022 71 Work plan for 2022/23  
 

Minute: The Head of Corporate Governance to 
review the methodology behind the Annual 

C James See agenda item 21.  Ongoing 

P
age 15



 

Meeting 
Date 

Minute 
No 

Action Action 
Owner 

Update Status 

Governance Review (ie, a report formed from 
interviews with Committee Members).  
 

 
Completed Actions and Matters Arising 
  
 

Meeting 
Date 

Minute 
No 

Action Action Owner Update Status 

14/07/2022 62  Minutes of the Previous Meeting held on 9 June 
2022 
 
Minute: Democratic Services to edit the minutes to 
reflect that Cllr Auckland was present, and that 
following his nomination to be Chair it was the Chair 
who welcomed everyone to the meeting and not Cllr 
Auckland.  

Democratic 
Services Team  

The minutes have 
been amended and 
uploaded to the 
website.  

Complete 

14/07/2022 63 Matters Arising and Action Log  
 
Minute: The Deputy Chief Executive and L 
Mackenzie to work together on a summary of the 
NAO report to present to members.  
 

R Adams Included at agenda 
item 14. 

Complete 

14/07/2022 63  Matters Arising and Action Log 
 
Minute: Deputy Chief Executive to discuss with the 
Monitoring Officer what members can do in terms of 
setting up a working group (or similar) specifically 

R Adams It has been agreed to 
establish a working 
group to meet prior to 
each formal ASRC 
meeting to review 
public transport risks 

Complete 

P
age 16



 

Meeting 
Date 

Minute 
No 

Action Action Owner Update Status 

linked to the transport risk. Members to receive a 
paper on these recommendations.  
 

with any issues 
escalated to the 
Committee.  
Rhys Jarvis, Cllr Austin 
White and Cllr Ian 
Auckland have 
volunteered to attend 
the Group. Dates have 
seen set for: 17 
October 
       23 January 
       20 March.  

14/07/2022 63  Matters Arising and Action Log 
 
Minute: Head of Corporate Governance to 
investigate assurance mapping and present the 
committee with an update.  
 

C James Included at agenda 
item 13. 
 

Complete 

14/07/2022 65 Internal Audit Annual Report/Head of Audit 
Opinion  
 
Minute: Democratic Services to place Internal Audit 
Governance Report on the forward plan.  
 

Democratic 
Services Team 

Included at agenda 
item 17. Also circulated 
for information as part 
of a mid-meeting cycle 
update to members. 

Complete 

14/07/2022 66  External Audit Update  
 
Minute: Cllr Lofts and M Thomas to meet with H 
Rohimun and discuss attendance at meetings.  
 

M Thomas Meeting took place on 
19 July.  

Complete 

P
age 17



 

Meeting 
Date 

Minute 
No 

Action Action Owner Update Status 

14/07/2022 69 Risk Management Framework Implementation  
 

Minute: Head of Corporate Governance and L 
Mackenzie to review the Post Implementation 
Review schedule.  
 
 
 

C James The Risk Management 
post-implementation 
review has been 
pushed back slightly 
and will now 
commence in January 
and report to the 
Committee in March.  

Complete 

14/07/2022 71 Work plan for 2022/23  
 

Minute: Head of Corporate Governance to add a 
session for the Committee to review its Terms of 
Reference.  
 

C James Included at agenda 
item 10. 

Complete 

14/07/2022 71 Work plan for 2022/23  
 

Minute: The Head of Corporate Governance to add 
a session on Performance Management.  
 
 

C James Added to the January 
workplan. 

Complete 

14/07/2022 71 Work plan for 2022/23  
 

Minute: The Head of Corporate Governance plan a 
session on the Assurance and Accountability 
Framework in January 2023 so members can 
comment on it during its creation.  
 

C James Added to agenda for 
January. Lead officer 
informed.  

Complete 

14/07/2022 71 Work plan for 2022/23  
 

C James Morning (11am-
12:30pm) and 

Complete 

P
age 18



 

Meeting 
Date 

Minute 
No 

Action Action Owner Update Status 

Minute: The Head of Corporate Governance to 
investigate splitting the March workload into two 
separate meetings to allow for all scheduled work to 
be looked at thoroughly.  
 

afternoon (1:30pm-
3pm) 
sessions have been 
set up on 22 March. 
Invitations sent on 21 
September. 

09/06/2022 

 

55 Work Plan 
 
Minute: C James to check why the climate change 
paper has been pushed back. 

C James  Complete 

09/06/2022 

 

52 Draft Chair’s Annual Report 
 
Minute: Democratic Services to ensure the meeting 
dates are in all members’ diaries and circulate an 
email with these so they can forward plan and 
discuss with their reserve if they are not able to 
attend.  
 

Democratic 
Services Team 

Meetings have been 
rearranged to avoid 
Council meetings. 
Dates are now:  

 19 October 2022 

 25 January 2022 

 22 March 2022 

Outlook invitations 
sent to Members and 
Reserves on 4 August.  
 

Complete 

09/06/2022 

 

45 Minutes of the Previous Meeting held on 24 
March 2022 
 
Minute: G Sutton to follow up with internal audit 
colleagues and clarify the number of days that had 
been taken from the previous year’s plan. 
 

G Sutton The time taken from 
last year’s plan 
(2021/22) was 24 days 
and the 41 days was 
the time taken from 
this current year’s plan 
(both were to support 

Complete 

P
age 19



 

Meeting 
Date 

Minute 
No 

Action Action Owner Update Status 

the community 
transport review). 
 

09/06/2022 

 

53 Health and Safety Update/Report 
 
Minute: L Sutton to have a conversation with Tim 
Taylor and ask him to put pressure on the bus and 
tram partners. 
 

L Sutton T Taylor confirmed that 
bus operators have no 
legal obligation to 
supply us with accident 
data and, unless 
provided alongside 
other information such 
as number of bus 
routes, will not be 
informative.   
 

Complete 

09/06/2022 

 

52 Draft Chair’s Annual Report 
 
Minute: C James to circulate the missing 
appendices following the meeting. 
 

C James  Complete 

09/06/2022 

 

49 Draft Accounts Progress Report 
 
Minute: M Thomas to arrange an offline 
conversation between him, Cllr Lofts and H 
Rohimun. 
 

M Thomas This has taken place. Complete 

09/06/2022 
 

47 Annual Report of the Chair of the Audit, 
Standards & Risk Panel and Verbal Update 
 
Minute: To add an item on the future of the 
Assurance Panel to the agenda of the next meeting. 

Democratic 
Services Team 

Discussed at meeting 
held on 14/07/2022. 

Complete 

P
age 20



 

Meeting 
Date 

Minute 
No 

Action Action Owner Update Status 

24/03/2022 25 Minutes and Actions of the Previous Meeting 
held on 27 January 2022 
 
Minute: It was noted that a Treasury Management 
tutorial had not been arranged as mentioned on 
page 12 of the minutes. Members expressed the 
wish that this should still go ahead and it was 
agreed to arrange the tutorial in the near future. 
 
Treasury Management workshop to be arranged.  
 

Dawn Marshall Training took place on 
1 September.  

Complete 

24/03/2022 32 Committee Effectiveness 
 
Minute: The Committee agreed unanimously that 
the matter of attendance needed to be addressed 
and asked officers to prepare an options paper with 
a view to increasing member attendance. 
 

C James Committee reduced 
from 8 to 4 Members 
on a trial basis for 
2022/23.  

Complete 

27/02/2022 15 Internal Audit Reports 
 
Minute: In response to a number of queries raised 
by Members regarding the difficulties encountered in 
reading the reports on their devices, L Mackenzie 
would ascertain whether the documents could be 
produced in an easier to read format. 

L Mackenzie L Mackenzie stated 
that it would not be 
possible to change the 
format of the Grant 
Thornton reports. 
 
C Marriott will make 
paper copies of the 
reports available at the 
meeting. 
 

Closed 

P
age 21



 

Meeting 
Date 

Minute 
No 

Action Action Owner Update Status 

27/01/2022 12 Draft 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy 
Report 
 
Minute: Councillor Jones highlighted a 
typographical error within Section B of Appendix 
1 to the report, which should indicate that the other 
long-term liabilities set out in the table above 
represented the PFI liability in respect of Doncaster 
Interchange. 
 
M Thomas to amend the document prior to being 
presented to the SYMCA Board for approval. 

M Thomas  Complete 

27/01/2022 9 Health and Safety Update/Report 
 
Minute: T Taylor replied that periodic reporting was 
received from Stagecoach. He was 
unaware of any accidents that had led to legal 
representation by the complainants; he would 
ascertain the position. He would remind Stagecoach 
of the request to provide accident and health and 
safety statistics to be fed into the report. There was 
not a definitive view in relation to SYMCA’s 
responsibility for those accidents that had occurred 
on its premises, which would be dependent upon the 
nature of the accidents; legal council could be 
sought if required. 
 
T Taylor to ascertain whether there was any SYMCA 
litigation that had resulted from accidents with the 
operators. 

T Taylor  Complete 

P
age 22



 

 

 

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

Wednesday, 25 January 2023 
 

Health & Safety Quarterly Update 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of Key 
Decisions? 
 

No 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Steve Davenport, Principal Solicitor/Monitoring Officer 
 
Report Author(s): 
Lynne Sutton, Health & Safety Advisor 
lynne.sutton@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

Executive Summary 
 

Quarterly report of health and safety issues within the South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined 
Authority organisation and estate. 

 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 

This monitoring and auditing of health and safety should ensure peace of mind for all 
employees of SYMCA and for all users of the estate. 

 
Recommendations   
 

It is recommended that the committee note and discuss the contents of the attached 
report. 

 
1.  Background 
  

1.1 The attached report forms part of a quarterly update to the Public Transport 
Team on Health and Safety issues, including compliance with legislation and 
any actions taken. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



2. Key Issues 
  

2.1 Please see attached report. 

  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
  

4.1 Not applicable 

  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  

5.1 Not applicable 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  

6.1 Not applicable 

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 Not applicable 

  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  

8.1 None 

  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  

9.1 None 

  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  

10.1 None 

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  

11.1 None 

  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   
  

12.1 None 

  
List of Appendices Included:   
 

A Health & Safety Quarterly Report (1st October to 31st December 2022) 

Annex 1 RIDDOR Incidents 

Annex 2 Analysis of Accidents and Incidents 

Annex 3 Analysis of Crime and Disorder Incidents 

Annex 4 Work Orders in Relation to Vandalism 

 
Background Papers 
 

Not applicable 

Page 26



 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Public Transport Team  

 
 

From: Health & Safety Advisor  

 

Subject: Health & Safety Quarterly Report 

 

Date Of Meeting: 11 January 2023 
 
 

Key 
Decis

ion 
paper  

Report 
signed 
off for 

publicati
on? 

Officer 
Decision 

Form 
required?  

GM
B 

STO
B 

TE
B 

AR
AP 

MC
A 

ASR
C 

Approv
al/ 

Informa
tion 

 
 

        Informati
on 

 

 
Executive Summary 

 

 3 RIDDOR incidents occurred during the period 1 October to 31 December 
2022 

 There has been a significant rise in the number of slips, trips and falls 

 Violence related incidents still account for a large proportion of crime and 
disorder incidents  

 

 
1. Reason for Report 
 

1.1. To report to the Public Transport Team to highlight any areas of concern and 
remedial actions taken during the period 1 October to 31 December 2022 

 
2. Recommendations 

 
That the Public Transport Team:  
 
2.1. Note and discuss the contents of the report. 

 
3. Background Information 

 
3.1. RIDDOR Incidents 

 
3.1.1 There were 3 RIDDOR incidents for the relevant period. Details of 

these can be found in Appendix 1 
 

3.2  Accidents and Incidents 
 

3.2.1 Analysis of Accidents and Incidents by location and type for the 
period are summarised in Appendix 2.  The total number of 
accidents and incidents for the period has fallen by nearly 14% 
compared to the last quarter, compared to a total footfall increase of 

Page 29



just over 3%.  Slips trips and falls have increased from 15% of all 
accidents to 28%.  The Health & Safety Advisor has looked at all 
reports of slips and trips and can report that nearly 90% of these 
were due to inclement weather conditions and/or the person 
concerned allegedly being under the influence of alcohol. 

 
3.2.2 Analysis of Crime and Disorder Incidents by location and type are 

summarised in Appendix 3.  There has, as with accidents and 
incidents, been an increase been on the last quarter by just over 
31%.  Violence related incidents still account for the majority of 
crime and disorder incidents at 80% (last quarter was 79%).   

 
Last quarter the majority of violence related incidents were taking 
place at Meadowhall.  However, with work carried out by British 
Transport Police, which gave an increased Police presence overall, 
incidents in general have more than halved since the last quarter.   
 
Unfortunately, there has been a large increase in incidents at both 
Rotherham and Barnsley Interchanges.  Incidents have increased 
by 158% and 100% respectively.  At Rotherham around 80% of all 
incidents are violence related and at Barnsley the figure is 90%. 
 
Customer Service Managers at both sites are working as much as 
possible with South Yorkshire Police to try and tackle the issues, 
which are mainly caused by youths.  Tannoy announcements are 
made from mid-afternoon informing the public that anti-social 
behaviour won’t be tolerated and all ASB incidents are captured, 
wherever possible, on body worn video. 

 
 From information received from the Facilities and Assets Team it 

can be reported that over the last 3 months there have been 348 
work orders raised as a result of vandalism to stops and shelters.  
This is a decrease of just over 31% from the previous quarter.  
Details can be seen in Appendix 4 

 
3.3 Transport Operators 
 

3.3.1 The Health & Safety Advisor has obtained details from South 
Yorkshire Supertram Limited (SYSL) in relation to their accident 
statistics.  During the period being reported on there were 8 
incidents reported under RIDDOR (an increase from 5 the previous 
period).  It can be seen that 2 of these incidents were caused by 
driver error.   

 
The Health, Safety, Quality and Environmental Officer (Light Rail) 
carried out his first audit of SYSL’s safety management system 
(SMS) in November. 
 
Their SMS was audited against two of the five the criteria of the 
Office of Rail and Road’s (ORR) Risk Management Maturity Model 
(RM3) using the Light Rail Safety and Standards Board’s (LRSSB) 
RM3 Audit Tool.  The two criteria assessed were Organising for 

Page 30



Control and Communication (OC), Planning and Implementing Risk 
Controls through coordinated management arrangements (PI & 
RCS). 

In total, 16 actions have been identified during this audit and 
progress against these actions will be monitored monthly by the 
HSQE Officer (Light Rail). 

The remaining three criteria will be audited in February and 
progress against the 16 previously identified actions will form part of 
that future planned audit. 

There is now in place a rolling plan of quarterly audits of SYSL’s 
SMS against the ORRs RM3 criteria. 

3.4 Other Key Issues 
 
3.4.1 Resource Issues 
 
 Nothing to report 
 
3.4.2 Premises Audits 
 
 The Health & Safety Advisor continues to work at each interchange 

every few weeks as well as carrying out the formal 6 monthly audits 
and can report that there are no areas of concern. 

 
3.4.3 Fire Risk Assessments 
 
 A new Fire Risk Assessment contract was awarded in November 

and the assessments at Broad Street west and Rotherham have 
now been undertaken.  The remaining sites are scheduled to be 
caried out in the next few weeks.  The Health & Safety Advisor will 
be monitoring the completion of actions identified.  

 
3.4.4 Emergency Evacuation Plans 
 

As mentioned previously the Health & Safety Advisor has concerns 
over the interchanges being able to safely evacuate in the event of 
an emergency.  A number of ‘mock’ evacuations have taken place 
at Barnsley in the early morning and a paper will be presented to 
Executive Leadership Board for their consideration and decision 
once every option has been fully investigated. 
 

4. Implications 
 

4.1. Contribution to SYMCA Business Plan Delivery 
 

 Promote the use of public transport and maximise patronage 

 
Make the most of new technology to improve public transport 
services 

Page 31



 
Work with partners to reduce the impact public transport has on Air 
Quality and the Environment 

 
Get the best return for the region from our investment in public 
transport 

 
4.2. Risk 
 

 Associated Risk Reference(s) from risk register 

 
Describe existing or new risks as a result of this paper and any mitigations 
which are available. 
 

 
 

 

 
4.3. Financial 

 

 Existing Budget  No Budget 

 
No Financial Implications 
 

 

Budget code to be used to fund:    

If capital, specify capital funding source 
available: 

£ 

If virement specify which budget code:  

Have Finance been consulted? Yes  No  

Person contacted in Finance [Name] 

Date Finance consulted [Date] 

    
4.4. Legal and Freedom of Information Act 

 Y N 

Does the report contain information which is potentially exempt from   

the Freedom of Information Act?   

   

Are there any exceptions to Standing Orders which need approval?   

   

Other Legal Implications   

  
Description of any implications if box ticked: 

 

  
 

 
4.5. Information Technology Implications 
 

Have IT been consulted on the proposals in this paper and do the 
recommendations require amendments or new IT software systems or 
infrastructure? 
 

Page 32



 Yes 

 No 

 
If yes, please describe: 

 

 
 

 
4.6. General Data Protection Regulation 

 Y N 

Does the paper have implications for the handling, transfer,    

processing or management of customer or other personal 
data? 

  

   
Is there a requirement to conduct a Privacy Impact 
Assessment?  

  

If so, please include as an appendix.   

   

Data retention requirements   

   

Other Data implications   

   

Description if any box 
ticked:  
 

  
4.7. Human Resource Implications 
 

Have HR been consulted on the proposals in this paper? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
Does the paper have implications for any of the following: 

 

 
Individual job 
roles/responsibilities/grades 

 Resources 

 Skills requirements, e.g. training needs  Policies and procedures 

 
4.8. Equality and Diversity 
 
 Does the paper have implications for any of the following: 
 

 Age  Disability 

 Gender   Gender reassignment 

 Marriage and civil partnership  Religion or belief 

 Pregnancy and maternity  Race 

 Sexual orientation   

 
 

Page 33



Is an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
needed 

Yes  No  

If yes, please ensure EIA is attached to the report and that legal 
advice is taken and the position covered in report and/or legal 
implications 

 
4.9. Communications and Stakeholder Management 
 

Does the paper have implications for any of the following: 
 

 Stakeholders  Internal communications  

 
Media and Press (including 
reactive communications) 

 
Marketing plans and 
campaigns 

 
Mayoral activities (presenting 
either a risk or opportunity) 

 
No communications and 
stakeholder implications 

 
If the paper has Mayoral implications, consider if a Mayoral Briefing 
Document is required. 

 
4.10. Environmental Strategy Implications 
 

Do the recommendations in this paper change SYMCA’s environmental 
impact? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
If yes, please describe: 

  

 
 

 
4.11. Change Management Implications 
 

Does the paper result in any significant change management activity: 
 

 
A Business Case is required to 
proceed 

 
A Project Initiation Document 
is required to proceed 

 
Managed through BAU change 
activities 

 
No change management 
implications 

 
Describe the scale and complexity of any change management activity 
which would result following the approval of any recommendations in the 
document, including necessary decision making and approval requirements 
and documentation to proceed.  

 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 34



Author: Lynne Sutton 
Tel:  07919 111376 
Email: lynne.sutton@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk    
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1 

 

Health & Safety Tracking – Riddor Incidents 

 

The following are the RIDDOR reportable incidents from 01/10/2022 to 31/12/2022 

Ref: 28324 – Meadowhall Interchange – 7/11/2022 

An elderly male fell backwards on the escalator, going from Ground to First level, 

and sustained a small cut to his head.  The cut was deep enough for staff to be 

concerned so, after applying First Aid, an ambulance was called.  However, due to 

the estimated wait time, the male’s family were contacted and they came and took 

him to hospital.  There were no defects to cause the male to fall and whilst speaking 

with staff he told them he had put his walking stick too far forward which meant it 

was on a different step to him and that had made him unsteady and he had fallen. 

Ref: 28331 – Barnsley Interchange – 12/11/2022 

A male, suspected to be under the influence of alcohol, fell banging his head and 

cutting it.  Staff applied a bandage to the injury and an ambulance was requested.  

Upon arrival the ambulance took the male to the local hospital.  No defects were 

found to cause the male to fall and CCTV clearly shows the male being very 

unsteady on his feet before falling.   

Ref: 28362 – Meadowhall Interchange – 19/12/2022 

A male slipped and injured his ankle whilst attempting to pass another member of 

the public on the ramp from the rail bridge to the Upper Mall.  Staff were with the 

male almost immediately to assess his injury and an ambulance was called.  The 

male was kept warm with blankets and was given privacy by staff providing barriers 

as the ambulance took over 7 hours to turn up.  Upon assessing him the ambulance 

staff took the male to the local hospital.  There were no defects to cause the man to 

fall. 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Type_of_Incident

Number 
Incidents

Arundel Gate TIC Barnsley 
Interchange

Barnsley Rail 
Station

Dinnington Mini 
Interchange

Hillsborough 
Mini Interchange

Meadowhall 
Interchange

Off-Site Rotherham 
Interchange

Sheffield 
Interchange

Medical/Illness 20 5 1 2 1 8 3
Miscellaneous - Substance Abuse 4 2 1 1
Moving Vehicle - Bus 1 1
Moving Vehicle (Other) 1 1
Near Miss 6 1 1 2 2
Off Site Incident 6 1 2 2 1
Other - Not Classifiable 7 1 2 2 1 1
Slip/Trip /Fall 18 7 1 1 4 1 2 2

Medical/Illness Miscellaneous -
Substance Abuse

Moving Vehicle -
Bus

Moving Vehicle
(Other) Near Miss Off Site Incident Other - Not

Classifiable Slip/Trip /Fall

Number Incidents 20 4 1 1 6 6 7 18
Arundel Gate TIC 1
Barnsley Interchange 5 2 1 2 7
Barnsley Rail Station 1
Dinnington Mini Interchange 1 1 1
Hillsborough Mini Interchange 1
Meadowhall Interchange 2 2 2 4
Off-Site 1 2 1
Rotherham Interchange 8 1 1 2 2 1 2
Sheffield Interchange 3 1 1 1 1 2

20

4

1 1

6 6

7

18

1

5

2

1

2

7

11 1 11

2 2 2

4

1

2

1

8

1 1

2 2

1

2

3

1 1 1 1

2

0

5

10

15

20

25

Annex 2 - Accidents & Incidents Analysis

Number Incidents

Arundel Gate TIC

Barnsley Interchange

Barnsley Rail Station

Dinnington Mini Interchange

Hillsborough Mini Interchange

Meadowhall Interchange

Off-Site

Rotherham Interchange

Sheffield Interchange

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Incident_Type

Number Incidents Adwick Mini 
Interchange

Barnsley 
Interchange

Barnsley Rail 
Station

Broad Street 
West

Dinnington Mini 
Interchange

Halfway Park 
and Ride

Hillsborough 
Mini 
Interchange

Meadowhall 
Interchange

Meado
whall 
Rail 
Station

Off-Site Rotherha
m 
Interchan
ge

Sheffie
ld 
Interc
hange

Begging/ Homeless 8 1 6 1
Inapprop. Behaviour 5 1 2 2
Individuals threatening self-harm/ suicide 6 2 1 1 1
Not Classified 4 1 3
Substance Abuse 13 2 1 8 2
Trespass - Other 3 1 2
Violence - Anti-Social Behaviour 61 10 7 3 40 1
Violence - Physical Assault 21 6 1 1 2 9 2
Violence - Theft 11 1 1 3 2 2 1 1
Violence - Threatening Behaviour 24 6 1 1 3 1 10 2
Violence - Vandalism 26 1 5 2 1 3 2 7 4
Violence - Verbal Abuse 16 5 2 1 1 4 3

Inapprop.
Behaviour

Individuals
threatening self-

harm/ suicide
Not Classified Substance Abuse Trespass - Other Violence - Anti-

Social Behaviour
Violence -

Physical Assault Violence - Theft
Violence -

Threatening
Behaviour

Violence -
Vandalism

Violence - Verbal
Abuse

Number Incidents 5 6 4 13 3 61 21 11 24 26 16
Adwick Mini Interchange 1 1
Barnsley Interchange 1 1 10 6 1 6 5 5
Barnsley Rail Station 2 1 2
Broad Street West 1
Dinnington Mini Interchange 7 1 1
Halfway Park and Ride 3
Hillsborough Mini Interchange 1
Meadowhall Interchange 2 1 1 2 2 3 2 2 3 3 2
Meadowhall Rail Station 1 1 2 1 2 1
Off-Site 1 1
Rotherham Interchange 3 8 40 9 1 10 7 4
Sheffield Interchange 2 2 1 2 1 2 4 3

5 6
4

13

3

61

21

11

24
26

16

1 11 1

10

6

1

6 5 5

2 1 21

7

1 1
3

12 1 1 2 2 3 2 2 3 3 21 1 2 1 2 11 1
3

8

40

9

1

10

7

4
2 2 1 2 1 2

4 3

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Annex 3 - Crime & Disorder Analysis

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Barnsley Doncaster Sheffield Rotherham
Work orders raised as a result of vandalism 6 31 30 16

October

Annex 4

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Barnsley Doncaster Sheffield Rotherham

October

Work orders raised as a result of vandalism

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 

 
Wednesday, 25 January 2023 

 
External Audit Report on 2021/22 Accounts 

 
Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Hassan Rohimun, External Audit - Ernst & Young LLP 
 
Summary 
 
The report updates the Committee on the progress of the external audit to date and 
explains the remaining steps to the issue of a final opinion. 
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 
External Audit supports the organisation in helping to achieve its objectives by giving 
assurance on its internal control and governance arrangements. Good governance 
enables the Combined Authority to pursue its ambitions and objectives in the most 
effective and efficient way, bringing about better outcomes for residents and businesses in 
South Yorkshire. 
 
Recommendation(s)   
The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee are asked to note the External Audit Report on 
2021/22 Accounts. 
  
List of Appendices Included:   

 
A External Audit Report on 2021/22 Accounts 
 

Page 45

Agenda Item 9



South Yorkshire Passenger
Transport Executive
Audit results report

Year ended 31 March 2022
January 2023P

age 46



2

Private and Confidential 25 January 2023

South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive
11 Broad Street West
Sheffield
S1 2BQ

Dear Audit, Standards and Risk Committee Members

2021-22 Audit results report

We are pleased to attach our audit results report, summarising the status of our audit for the forthcoming meeting of the Audit, Standards and
Risk Committee. We will update the Committee at its meeting scheduled for 25 January 2023 on further progress to that date and explain the
remaining steps to the issue of our final opinion.

The audit is designed to express an opinion on the 2021-22 financial statements and address current statutory and regulatory requirements. This
report contains our findings related to the areas of audit emphasis, our views on the PTE’s accounting policies and judgements and material
internal control findings. Each year sees further enhancements to the level of audit challenge and the quality of evidence required to achieve the
robust professional scepticism that society expects. We thank the management team for supporting this process. We have also included an
update on our work on value for money arrangements.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Committee, other members of the PTE and senior management. It is not intended
to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss the contents of this report with you at the Committee meeting on 25 January 2023.

Yours faithfully

Hassan Rohimun

Partner

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

Encl

P
age 47



3

Contents
Executive
Summary01 Audit

Differences

Areas of Audit
Focus02 Audit Report03 04

05 09Other Reporting
Issues06 Independence07 Appendices08Value for Money Assessment of

Control
Environment

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued the “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the PSAA website (https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities/)).The
Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to
be expected of the audited body in certain areas.
The “Terms of Appointment and further guidance (updated April 2018)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit Office Code of Audit
Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.
This report is made solely to the Audit, Standards & Risk Committee and management of the PTE in accordance with the statement of responsibilities. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Committee and management of the PTE those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Committee and management of the PTE for this report or for the opinions we have formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent.

V
F
M

P
age 48



4

Executive Summary01

P
age 49



5

Executive Summary

Scope update

In our audit planning report tabled at the 18 October 2022 Audit, Standards and Risk Committee meeting, we provided you with an overview of our audit scope and
approach for the audit of the financial statements. [We carried out our audit in accordance with this plan, with the following exceptions]:

• Changes in materiality. The basis of our assessment has remained consistent with prior years at 2% of gross operating expenditure. Planning materiality was set at
£1.742m, and performance materiality at £1.306m. The level at which we report differences to you has been set at £87K.

Additional audit procedures as a result of Covid-19

Other changes in the entity and regulatory environment as a result of Covid-19 that have not resulted in an additional risk, but result in the following impacts on our
audit strategy were as follows:

Information Produced by the Entity (IPE): We identified an increased risk around the completeness, accuracy, and appropriateness of information produced by the
entity due to the inability of the audit team to verify original documents or re-run reports on-site from the Executive’s systems. We undertook the following to address
this risk:

• Used the screen sharing function of Microsoft Teams to evidence re-running of reports used to generate the IPE we audited; and

• Agreed IPE to scanned documents or other system screenshots.

P
age 50



6

Executive Summary

Status of the audit

Our audit work in respect of the PTE opinion is nearing completion. The following items relating to the completion of our audit procedures were outstanding at the date
of this report.
• Exit packages (awaiting information from HR to confirm the circumstances of the transactions)
• Cash and bank, and borrowing (awaiting third party confirmations)
• IAS19 procedures (awaiting one piece of information from the actuary to address our work under ISA540)
• PPE and Investment Property (confirmation of floor areas used in the valuation)
• Creditors (2 transactions to be resolved)
• Trade receivables cut-off (2 transactions with outstanding queries)
• Other expenditure testing (8 transactions to be resolved)
• Other income testing (1 transaction with an outstanding query)
• Final review of financial statements
• Obtain letter of representation
• Subsequent events review
• Going concern: 12 months’ cash flow forecast

Given that the audit process is still ongoing, we will continue to challenge the remaining evidence provided and the final disclosures in the Narrative Report and
Accounts which could influence our final audit opinion.

P
age 51



7

Executive Summary

Status of the audit – Value for Money

In the Audit Plan and subsequent update to the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee, we reported that we had completed our value for money (VFM) risk assessment
and not identified any risk of significant weakness against the three reporting criteria we are required to consider under the NAO’s 2020 Code. We have revisited our
assessment during the the audit of the financial statements and remain satisfied that we have not identified a risk of significant weakness. As a result, from completing
our planned VFM procedures we have no matters to report by exception in the auditor’s report.

We plan to issue the VFM commentary as part of issuing the Auditor’s Annual Report.

Auditor responsibilities under the new Code of Audit Practice 2020

Under the Code of Audit Practice 2020 we are still required to consider whether the PTE has ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on
its use of resources. The 2020 Code requires the auditor to design their work to provide them with sufficient assurance to enable them to report to the PTE a
commentary against specified reporting criteria (see below) on its arrangements to secure value for money through economic, efficient and effective use of its
resources for the relevant period.

The specified reporting criteria are:

• Financial sustainability
How the Executive plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to deliver its services;

• Governance
How the Executive ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks; and

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness:
How the Executive uses information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.P

age 52



8

Executive Summary

Audit differences

• We have identified one unadjusted misstatement relating to the valuation of the Pension Fund. We were informed by the auditor of the pension fund that the fund
assets were undervalued by approximately £35.2m: the PTE’s share of this, at 1.24% of the Fund, was £463K. This is not material but is above our reporting level.

• Subject to the completion of outstanding procedures we have no other misstatements which require us to report to you.
• The audit difference is explained in detail in Section 4.

Other reporting issues

We have reviewed the information presented in the Annual Governance Statement for consistency with our knowledge of the Executive. We have no matters to report as
a result of this work.

We have not yet performed the procedures required by the National Audit Office (NAO) on the Whole of Government Accounts submission. However, the PTE falls below
the threshold for requiring additional work.

We have no other matters to report.

P
age 53



9

Executive Summary

Control observations

During the audit, we identified one significant deficiency in internal controls.

When we carried out our audit of year-end material journal entries, we found that there was “blanket authorisation” for all of these given by one email (this was the term
used in the email to us giving the explanation). While this could be interpreted as explicitly covering the listing attached to the original email, any subsequent
amendments could potentially be actioned without specific appropriate management approval.

Areas of audit focus

In our Audit Plan we identified a number of key areas of focus for our audit of the financial report of the Executive. This report sets out our observations and status in
relation to these areas, including our views on areas which might be conservative and areas where there is potential risk and exposure. Our consideration of these
matters and others identified during the period is summarised within the “Areas of Audit Focus" section of this report.

We request that you review these and other matters set out in this report to ensure:
• There are no residual further considerations or matters that could impact these issues
• You concur with the resolution of the issue
• There are no further significant issues you are aware of to be considered before the financial report is finalised.

There are no matters, other than those reported by management or disclosed in this report, which we believe should be brought to the attention of the Audit, Standards
and Risk Committee or management.

Independence

Please refer to Section 8 for our update on Independence.  There are no issues to bring to your attention.

P
age 54



10

Areas of Audit Focus02

P
age 55



11

Areas of Audit Focus

Response to significant risks
What is the risk?

The financial statements as a whole are not free of material misstatements whether caused by fraud or error.

As identified in ISA (UK) 240, management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability to
manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding
controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. We identify and respond to this fraud risk on every audit
engagement.

What judgements are we focused on?

Misstatements that occur in relation to the risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition,
which could affect the reported income and expenditure accounts.

Misstatements due to fraud or error

What did we do?

We reviewed revenue and expenditure recognition accounting policies to ensure that the
treatment was consistent with the previous year.

We tested the valuation of accrued income recorded in the financial statements and performed
appropriate testing to ensure that all material amounts have been correctly recognised.

We tested revenue and expenditure cut-off at the balance sheet date.

We carried out substantive testing to identify unrecorded liabilities at the year-end.

Testing of income and expenditure has been supported by the use of data analytics tools to aid
sample selection. These tools enable the full population of income and expenditure to be included
in the sampling process. The population has been filtered to enable testing to be focused on higher
risk areas, high value, and unusual transactions.

What are our conclusions?

Our testing to date has not identified any material misstatements
for revenue and expenditure recognition.

Subject to the completion of outstanding procedures, our work
did not identify any material issues or unusual transactions which
might indicate misreporting of the PTE’s financial position.

P
age 56



12

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus

What is the risk/area of focus? What are we doing?

Valuation of Land and Buildings
The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) and Investment
Properties (IP) represent significant balances in the PTE’s accounts and are
subject to valuation changes, impairment reviews and depreciation charges.
Management is required to make material judgemental inputs and apply
estimation techniques to calculate the year-end balances recorded in the
balance sheet.

We have:
• Considered the work performed by the PTE’s valuers, including the adequacy of the

scope of the work performed, their professional capabilities and the results of their
work;

• Sample tested key asset information used by the valuers in performing their
valuation (e.g. floor plans to support valuations based on price per square metre);

• Considered the annual cycle of valuations to ensure that assets have been valued
within a 5 year rolling programme as required by the Code for PPE and annually for
IP. We have also considered if there are any specific changes to assets that have
occurred and that these have been communicated to the valuer (NB all assets were
revalued for the 2021-22 audit).

• Considered changes to useful economic lives as a result of the most recent
valuation; and

• Tested that accounting entries have been correctly processed in the financial
statements.

• On receipt of the statements, we also reviewed the material adjustment of train
rolling stock from infrastructure to Vehicles.

Pension Liability Valuation
The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and IAS19 require the PTE
to make extensive disclosures within its financial statements regarding its
membership of the Local Government Pension Scheme administered by
South Yorkshire Pensions Authority (SYPA).
The PTE’s pension fund deficit is a material estimated balance and the Code
requires that this liability be disclosed on the PTE’s balance sheet. At 31
March 2022 this was £23.2 million, a decrease of £10.8 million from
2020/21.
The information disclosed is based on the IAS19 report issued to the PTE by
the actuary.
Accounting for this scheme involves significant estimation and judgement
and therefore management engages an actuary to undertake the calculations
on their behalf. ISAs (UK) 500 and 540 require us to undertake procedures
on the use of management experts and the assumptions underlying fair value
estimates.

We:
• Liaised with the auditors of SYPA to obtain assurances over the information

supplied to the actuary for the PTE;
• Assessed the work of the Pension Fund actuary (Mercers) including the assumptions

they have used by relying on the work of PWC - Consulting Actuaries commissioned
by the National Audit Office for all Local Government sector auditors, and
considering any relevant reviews by the EY actuarial team;

• Evaluated the reasonableness of the Pension Fund actuary’s calculations by
comparing them to the outputs of our own auditor’s actuarial model; and

• Reviewed and tested the accounting entries and disclosures made within the PTE’s
financial statements in relation to IAS19.

• Because of changes to the valuation of the Pension Fund made resulting from the
audit, there is an unadjusted misstatement to the PTE’s own financial statements.

We have identified other areas of the audit, that have not been classified as significant risks, but are still important when considering the risks of material misstatement to the financial
statements and disclosures and therefore may be key audit matters we will include in our audit report.

P
age 57



13

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus (continued)
What is the risk/area of focus? What are we doing?

ISA 570 Going Concern and Disclosure considerations

There is a presumption that the PTE will continue as a going
concern for the foreseeable future based on the continued
provision of public services. However, the PTE is required to carry
out a going concern assessment that is proportionate to the risks it
faces. There is a need for the PTE to ensure its going concern
assessment, including its cashflow forecast, is thorough and
appropriately comprehensive. The PTE is required to ensure that
disclosures within the statement of accounts adequately reflects its
going concern assessment and in particular highlights any
uncertainties it has identified.

Our audit procedures comprise:

• Assessing the adequacy of disclosures required in 2021/22, and the impact on our opinion,
should these be inadequate;

• Obtaining management’s going concern assessment and undertaking a review for any
evidence of bias and consistency with the accounts;

• Reviewing the financial modelling and forecasts prepared by the PTE, including key
assumptions, stress testing applied to those assumptions and considered the risk to cashflow up
to at least 12 months after the signing date of the accounts and opinion;

• Ensuring that an appropriate going concern disclosure has been made within the financial
statements; and

• Considering the impact on our audit report and comply with EY consultation requirements, if
such are determined appropriate.

Accounting for Covid-19 grants

Central Government have provided a number of different Covid-19
related grants to local authorities during the year.

The PTE needs to review each of these to establish the correct
accounting treatment. It needs to assess whether it is acting as a
principal or agent, with the accounting to follow that decision. For
those where the decision is a principal, it also needs to assess
whether there are any outstanding conditions that may also affect
the recognition of the grants as revenue during 2021/22.

On a sample of the Covid-19 grants and funding population we:
• Reviewed the accounting guidance applied by the PTE and assess whether the appropriate

guidance was considered and correctly applied;
• Reviewed whether any conditions are attached to grants impacting their recognition;
• Assessed whether the accounting appropriately follows those judgements; and
• Ensured that sufficient and appropriate disclosures are included in the accounts.

P
age 58



14

Audit Report03

P
age 59



15

Audit Report

Draft audit report

Our opinion on the financial statements will be communicated to the Audit Standards and Risk Committee on the completion of outstanding procedures

P
age 60



16

Audit Differences04

P
age 61



17

Audit Differences

In the normal course of any audit, we identify misstatements between amounts we believe should be recorded in the financial statements and the disclosures and
amounts actually recorded. These differences are classified as “known” or “judgemental”. Known differences represent items that can be accurately quantified and
relate to a definite set of facts or circumstances. Judgemental differences generally involve estimation and relate to facts or circumstances that are uncertain or open to
interpretation.

There is one uncorrected misstatement relating to the valuation of the Pension Fund. We were informed by the auditor of the pension fund that the Fund assets were
undervalued by approximately £35.2m: the PTE’s share of this, at 1.24% of the Fund, was £436K. This is not material but is above the level which we must report to
you.

There were some minor disclosure amendments agreed during the audit but none were significant enough to require reporting to you.

Summary of adjusted differences

P
age 62



18

Value for Money05 01

P
age 63



19

Value for money

The Executive’s responsibilities for value for money (VFM)

The Executive is required to maintain an effective system of internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives while
safeguarding and securing value for money from the public funds and other resources at its disposal.

As part of the material published with its financial statements, the Executive must bring together commentary on its governance framework and how this
has operated during the period in a governance statement. In preparing its governance statement, the Executive tailors the content to reflect its own
individual circumstances, consistent with the requirements set out in the CIPFA code of practice on local authority accounting. This includes a
requirement to provide commentary on its arrangements for securing value for money from their use of resources.

Arrangements for
Securing value for

money

Financial
Sustainability

Improving
Economy,

Efficiency &
effectiveness

Governance

V
F
M

Risk assessment

We have previously reported to the Committee the outcome of our assessment of the risk of
significant weaknesses in the Executive’s VFM arrangements: we did not identify any risks.

We have revisited our risk assessment and have not identified any additional risks.

Status of our VFM work

We have completed our VFM procedures over identified risks and we have not identified a significant
weakness in arrangements. Subject to the completion of outstanding audit procedures, we have no
matters to report by exception.

Under the Code of Audit Practice 2020 we are required to issue our commentary on the Trust’s VFM
arrangements in the Auditor’s Annual Report (AAR). The AAR is issued on the conclusion of the audit.

P
age 64



20

Other reporting issues06 01

P
age 65



21

Consistency of other information published with the financial statements, including the Annual Governance Statement

We must give an opinion on the consistency of the financial and non-financial information in the Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2022 with the
audited financial statements.

We must also review the Annual Governance Statement for completeness of disclosures, consistency with other information from our work, and whether it complies
with relevant guidance.

Financial information in the Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2022 and published with the financial statements was consistent with the audited
financial statements.

We have reviewed the Annual Governance Statement and can confirm that it is consistent with other information from our audit of the financial statements and we
have no other matters to report.

Other reporting issues

Other reporting issues

Whole of Government Accounts

Alongside our work on the financial statements, we also review and report to the National Audit Office on your Whole of Government Accounts return. The extent of
our review, and the nature of our report, is specified by the National Audit Office.

We are currently concluding our work in this area and will report any matters arising to the Committee.

P
age 66



22

Other powers and duties

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether to report on any matter that comes to our attention in the course of the audit,
either for the Authority to consider it or to bring it to the attention of the public (i.e. “a report in the public interest”). We did not identify any issues which required us
to issue a report in the public interest.

Other reporting issues

Other reporting issues

Other matters

As required by ISA (UK&I) 260 and other ISAs specifying communication requirements, we must tell you significant findings from the audit and other matters if they
are significant to your oversight of the financial reporting process. They include the following:

• Significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures;
• Any significant difficulties encountered during the audit;
• Any significant matters arising from the audit discussed with management;
• Written representations we have requested;
• Any other matters significant to overseeing the financial reporting process;
• Related parties;
• External confirmations;
• Going concern; and
• Consideration of laws and regulations.

We are still awaiting for some external confirmations for cash and bank and borrowing.

P
age 67



23

Assessment of Control Environment07

P
age 68



24

Assessment of Control Environment

It is the responsibility of the Executive to develop and implement systems of internal financial control and to have proper arrangements to monitor their adequacy and
effectiveness in practice. Our responsibility as your auditor is to consider whether the PTE has adequate arrangements to satisfy itself that the systems of internal
financial control are both adequate and effective in practice.

As part of our audit of the financial statements, we obtained an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan our audit and determine the nature, timing and
extent of testing performed. As we have adopted a fully substantive approach, we have not tested the operation of controls.

Although our audit was not designed to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control, we are required to communicate to you significant deficiencies in
internal control.

We have identified one deficiency: our review of material year-end journal entries identified that authorisation had been carried out using “blanket authorisation” in a
single email to cover all year-end journals. In our opinion, this does not provide evidence of sufficient consideration of year-end journals and whether they have been
appropriately approved.

We have not identified any other significant deficiencies in the design or operation of an internal control that might result in a material misstatement in your financial
statements of which you are not aware.

We considered whether circumstances arising from COVID-19 resulted in a change to the overall control environment of effectiveness in internal controls, for example
due to significant staff absences or limitations as a result of working remotely. We identified no issues to bring to your attention.

Financial controls

P
age 69



25

Independence08

P
age 70



26

Appendix A

Fees

Final fee
2021/22 Scale fee 2021/22 Final Fee

2020/21

£ £ £

Total Fee – Code work 27,613 27,613 (Note 2) 27,613 (Note 1)
Increased cost of regulation TBC 17,867 17,867
Pensions work TBC 2,500 – 3,500 2,500
Value for money work TBC 2,500 – 3,500 2,500
PPE and IP valuation TBC £5,000 - £10,000
Total fees TBC TBC 50,480

The duty to prescribe fees is a statutory function delegated to Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local
Government.

This is defined as the fee required by auditors to meet statutory responsibilities under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in accordance with the requirements of
the Code of Audit Practice and supporting guidance published by the National Audit Office, the financial reporting requirements set out in the Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting published by CIPFA/LASAAC, and the professional standards applicable to auditors’ work.

All fees exclude VAT

(1) As highlighted in the Redmond Report, local government external audit fees
have not kept pace with regulatory change.  We believe that changes in the work
required to address professional and regulatory requirements and scope changes
associated with the risk of the organisation mean that the scale fee for the Council
should more realistically set at a level that reflects the complexity and risk profile
of the Council, and the resulting hours required to delivery the audit. The scale fee
is set by PSAA Limited.

We wrote to management and the Audit Sub-Committee Chair setting out our
considerations on the sustainability of UK local public audit. The 2020/21 Code
work includes an additional fee of £22,867, which relates to additional work listed
in the table above . Management did not agree to the variations in fees which are
subject to PSAA approval.

 Additional procedures to consider the PTE’s going concern assessment,
including our internal consultation requirement.

 Additional procedures to respond to VFM code of audit practice responsibilities

 The need to consider engaging EY Real Estates to review the valuation of PPE
and IP, and to look at infrastructure assets in depth

 The need to engage EY Pensions to review assumptions used in the Pensions
IAS19 liability.

(2) For 2021/22, in addition to the increased cost of regulation, additional work
was required in a number of areas. We set out an estimate of the potential
additional fee for these areas which will be discussed with management and be
subject to PSAA approval. The issues we have identified at the planning stage
which will impact on the fee include:

P
age 71



27

Independence

EY Transparency Report 2020

Ernst & Young (EY) has policies and procedures that instil professional values as part of firm culture and ensure that the highest standards of objectivity, independence
and integrity are maintained.
Details of the key policies and processes in place within EY for maintaining objectivity and independence can be found in our annual Transparency Report which the firm
is required to publish by law. The most recent version of this Report is for the year end 30 June 2020:
EY UK 2022 Transparency Report | EY UK

Other communications

P
age 72



28

Appendices09

P
age 73



29

Appendix A

Required communications with the Committee
There are certain communications that we must provide to the those charged with governance of UK entities. We have detailed these here together with a
reference of when and where they were covered:

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Terms of engagement Confirmation by the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee of acceptance of terms of
engagement as written in the engagement letter signed by both parties.

The statement of responsibilities serves as the
formal terms of engagement between the
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies

Our responsibilities Reminder of our responsibilities as set out in the engagement letter. Audit planning report

Planning and audit
approach

Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit, any limitations and the
significant risks identified.
When communicating key audit matters this includes the most significant risks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) including those that have the greatest effect on
the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts
of the engagement team.

Audit planning report

Significant findings
from the audit

• Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures

• Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit
• Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management
• Written representations that we are seeking
• Expected modifications to the audit report
• Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process

Audit results report

P
age 74



30

Appendix A

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

• Subject to compliance with regulations, any actual or suspected non-compliance with
laws and regulations identified relevant to the audit committee

• Subject to compliance with regulations, any suspicions that irregularities, including fraud
with regard to the financial statements, may occur or have occurred, and the
implications thereof

• The valuation methods used and any changes to these including first year audits
• The scope of consolidation and exclusion criteria if any and whether in accordance with

the reporting framework
• The identification of any non-EY component teams used in the group audit
• The completeness of documentation and explanations received
• Any significant difficulties encountered in the course of the audit
• Any significant matters discussed with management
• Any other matters considered significant

Going concern Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern, including:
• Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty related to going

concern
• Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation

and presentation of the financial statements
• The appropriateness of related disclosures in the financial statements

Audit results report

Misstatements • Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion, unless prohibited
by law or regulation

• The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods
• A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected
• Material misstatements corrected by management

Audit results report

Subsequent events • Enquiry of the audit committee where appropriate regarding whether any subsequent
events have occurred that might affect the financial statements.

Audit results report

P
age 75



31

Appendix A

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Fraud • Enquiries of the audit committee to determine whether they have knowledge of any
actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the entity

• Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that a
fraud may exist

• Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity, any
identified or suspected fraud involving:
a. Management;
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c. Others where the fraud results in a material misstatement in the financial statements.

• The nature, timing and extent of audit procedures necessary to complete the audit when
fraud involving management is suspected

• Any other matters related to fraud, relevant to the Committee’s responsibility.

Audit results report

Related parties Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s related parties
including, when applicable:
• Non-disclosure by management
• Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions
• Disagreement over disclosures
• Non-compliance with laws and regulations
• Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the entity

Audit results report

Independence Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s, and all individuals
involved in the audit, objectivity and independence.
Communication of key elements of the audit engagement partner’s consideration of
independence and objectivity such as:
• The principal threats
• Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness
• An overall assessment of threats and safeguards
• Information about the general policies and process within the firm to maintain objectivity

and independence

Audit Planning Report

Audit Results Report

P
age 76



32

Appendix A

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Communications whenever significant judgements are made about threats to objectivity and
independence and the appropriateness of safeguards put in place.
For public interest entities and listed companies, communication of minimum requirements
as detailed in the FRC Revised Ethical Standard 2019:
• Relationships between EY, the company and senior management, its affiliates and its

connected parties
• Services provided by EY that may reasonably bear on the auditors’ objectivity and

independence
• Related safeguards
• Fees charged by EY analysed into appropriate categories such as statutory audit fees,

tax advisory fees, other non-audit service fees
• A statement of compliance with the Ethical Standard, including any non-EY firms or

external experts used in the audit
• Details of any inconsistencies between the Ethical Standard and Group’s policy for the

provision of non-audit services, and any apparent breach of that policy
• Where EY has determined it is appropriate to apply more restrictive rules than permitted

under the Ethical Standard
• The audit committee should also be provided an opportunity to discuss matters affecting

auditor independence

External confirmations • Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations
• Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures.

Audit results report

Consideration of laws
and regulations

• Subject to compliance with applicable regulations, matters involving identified or
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, other than those which are clearly
inconsequential and the implications thereof. Instances of suspected non-compliance
may also include those that are brought to our attention that are expected to occur
imminently or for which there is reason to believe that they may occur

• Enquiry of the audit committee into possible instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements and that the
audit committee may be aware of

Audit results report

P
age 77



33

Appendix A

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Significant deficiencies in
internal controls identified
during the audit

• Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit. Audit results report

Written representations
we are requesting from
management and/or those
charged with governance

• Written representations requested from management and/or those charged with
governance

Audit results report

Material inconsistencies or
misstatements of fact
identified in other
information which
management has refused
to revise

• Material inconsistencies or misstatements of fact identified in other information which
management has refused to revise

Audit results report

Auditors report • Key audit matters that we will include in our auditor’s report
• Any circumstances identified that affect the form and content of our auditor’s report

Audit results report

P
age 78



EY  |  Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver
on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for
our clients and for our communities.
EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or
more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each
of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a
UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to
clients. For more information about our organization, please visit
ey.com.

© 2017 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not
intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other professional advice. Please refer
to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.comP
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

Wednesday, 25 January 2023 
 

Mid-Year Treasury Management Report 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Governance 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Mike Thomas 
mike.thomas@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk  
 

 
Executive Summary 
 

The following report sets out the Authority’s performance as at Budget Revision 2 against 
the targets set in the 2022/23 treasury management strategy approved by the MCA Board 
in March 2022. 

 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 

The MCA’s treasury management strategy is an integral part of its budget, which provides 
the resource to deliver upon South Yorkshire’s aspirations. The developing business 
plans and accompanying budgets will determine how, where, and to what level the MCA 
invests in the region in the coming years and will set out how that investment is to be 
funded. 

 
Recommendations   
 

The Committee is asked to note the report, which was reviewed and approved by the MCA 
Board in November 2022. 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 10



Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
  
Mayoral Combined Authority Board 14 November 2022 
  
1.  Background 
  

1.1 The Authority is required to report on its treasury management activities three 
times a year, including at the halfway mark. 

  

1.2 Treasury Management activity covers the management of the debt portfolio and 
the investment strategy for cash held in advance of need. 

  

2. Key Issues 
  

2.1 Over the year-to-date the investment strategy has out-performed expectations, 
largely due to higher cash balances and higher interest rates. This had led to 
significantly increased investment income forecasts. 

  

2.2 No new requirements have been identified for debt, with loans being retired as 
planned. Over the year-to-date one £3m loan has been repaid which will save 
£0.16m per annum. This saving is built into medium-term projections. 

  

2.3 The MCA has submitted to Government its borrowing cap proposals based upon 
the maximum debt it could service within its gainshare allocations. This approach 
provides the MCA with flexibility to take debt without committing itself to any 
course of action. All borrowing plans will be agreed with the Board in advance. 

  

2.4 The full report is attached at Appendix 1. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  

3.1 Not applicable – this report is for noting only. 

  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
  

4.1 Not applicable – this report is for noting only. 

  
5. 
 

Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   

5.1 Not applicable – this report was approved by the MCA Board on 14 November 
2022. 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  

6.1 This is a financial report, the details of which are in the supporting appendix. 

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  

7.1 None 

  
  

Page 82



8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  

8.1 Not applicable 

  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  

9.1 None 

 
10. 

 
Climate Change Implications and Advice 

  

10.1 None 

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  

11.1 None 

  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   
  

12.1 None 

  
List of Appendices Included:   
 

A Mid-Year Treasury report 

 
Background Papers 
 

None 

 
 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Appendix A 
 
South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority  
 
2022/23 mid-year treasury management review 
 
The following report sets out the Authority’s performance as at Budget Revision 2 against the 
targets set in the 2022/23 treasury management strategy approved by the MCA Board in March 
2022. 
 
Investment strategy  
 
Given the risks and uncertainties in the current economic climate, the Authority’s focus will 
continue to be on maximising returns from traditional types of investment rather than  on 
diversification. 
 
This approach is consistent with the MCA’s investment priorities which are: security first, 
portfolio liquidity second and then yield (return). The MCA will aim to achieve the optimum 
return (yield) on its investments commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and 
with the MCA’s risk appetite. 
 
Investment Performance  
 
The MCA’s treasury advisors Link Group periodically produce interest rate forecasts. The most 
recent forecast was produced on 27 September 2022, 5 days after the Bank Rate was 
increased from 1.75% to 2.25%.  
 
The previous interest rate forecasts were produced by Link on 9 August 2022. Table 1 below 
shows a significant shift in the advisors’ view of future rate rises, as indicated by the figures in 
the dark orange row entitled ‘Change’.  
 
As shown in the forecast table below, the Bank Rate is expected to increase from the current 
level of 2.25% announced on 22 September 2022 to 5.00% by March 2023 as the Bank of 
England takes action to counter the threat of inflation. During this period, economic recovery is 
expected to be only gradual and, therefore, prolonged. 
 
Based on forecast rates in December 2022, returns on investments are therefore expected to 
improve, at or below 4.7% on investments of shorter duration and at 5.3% on investments of 12 
months. 
 
PWLB interest rates on borrowing are expected to rise to around 4.8% to 5.1%, depending on 
the term of the loan, by December 2022, before falling to between 3.1% and 3.4% over the next 
three years. 
 
 
Table 1 - Prospects for interest rates 
 

 

Page 85



 

 

 
 
Overall return on investments  
 
Forecast outturn performance against the target return on the investment portfolio as a whole 
set in the Treasury Management Strategy is as follows as at Mid Year: 
 
 
 
Table 2 – Overall returns on investments 
 

Returns on investments   

2022/23 2022/23 

Indicator Mid Year  

% % 

Target return on treasury investments  0.70 1.52 

 
The weighted average return on investments forecast outturn performance is 0.82% above the 
target set at the start of the year.  
 
We expect the target return to be exceeded further by year-end because the Bank Rate will 
continue to rise as per Link Group’s projections, and this in turn will push up rates on short term 
investments which comprise the lion’s share of all investments, as can be seen in Table 3 
below. 
 
Table 3 – Return on investments split between short- and long-term 
 

  

2022/23 

Mid Year  

£'000 

L T investments  103,000 

S T investments  362,686 

All investments 465,686 

    

L T investments return  1.39% 

S T investments return  1.56% 

All investments – weighted 
average 

1.52% 

 
In spite of the rapid rise in the Bank Rate, the returns on short term investments have remained 
low throughout the period, for instance 1% on notice accounts, 1.25% on Money Market Funds, 
and around 0.74% for fixed term deposits. This is because the significant changes to the Bank 
Rate only took place towards the end of the second quarter (0.5% in August and 0.75% in 
September) and therefore the increases will impact on our MMF’s and notice accounts in the 
last 6 months of 2022/23.      
 
However, after taking advice from the MCA’s treasury advisors, officers have also taken 
proactive steps to improve yield without compromising on the principles of security and liquidity. 
For example, the MCA will soon withdraw its investments from two notice accounts which will 
improve the rate of return from 1% currently to up to 4% based on the latest projections for 
December 2022.  

Page 86



 

 

 
Returns on long term investments are currently forecast to outturn at 1.39%, but this is on track 
to improve. For instance, £22m of investments which had been offered at an average rate of 
0.26% several years ago (when the Bank Rate was at 0.1%) matured in October and have been 
re-invested at 4%. 
 
In conclusion, returns are projected to exceed the budgeted treasury investment income for the 
year by £4m. 
 
 
Investment portfolio 
 
The MCA Group has continued to hold a substantial investment portfolio throughout the first half 
of 2022/23. 
 
At the start of the 2022/23 financial year, the investment portfolio stood at £371.8m and has 
remained at or above this level throughout the first 6 months rising to £465.7m at the end of 
September 2022. The change is represented by an increase in short term investments of 
£30.9m and an increase in long term investments of £63m. 
 
The increase in the size of the portfolio is due to the inflow of major funding streams which have 
been received in advance of delivery. These include, for example, 2022/23 Gainshare 
allocation, devolved Adult Education Budget funding, Brownfield Housing, and City Region 
Sustainable Transport Settlement capital funding which has not yet been defrayed. 
 
 
Investment portfolio by type of investment  
 

Table 4 - Analysis of investments by type as at Period 6 

Investments by type  

Mid 
Year  

Mid 
Year  

Actual  Actual  

£'000 % 

Fixed term local authority deposits - long 
term  

103,000 22% 

Fixed term local authority deposits – 
short term  

57,000 12% 

Fixed term bank deposits - short term  40,000 9% 

Call accounts  60,000 13% 

Money Market Funds 205,686 44% 

      

Total investments  465,686 100% 

 

The investment strategy of investing in a relatively narrow range of financial instruments with 
highly rated counterparties in order to maximise security during the pandemic, together with the 
depressed state of the local authority to local authority market due to Central Government 

Page 87



 

 

support for local government to support the response to Covid, has limited opportunities to 
diversify out of Money Market Funds.   

It is worth noting that the Money Market Funds, although technically equity instruments, are 
treated as cash equivalents as they are instant access, very low risk funds with a high credit 
rating which are subject to only minimal risk of price fluctuation. 
 
By keeping nearly half of the MCA’s investments in instant access accounts, this gives officers 
sufficient flexibility to take advantage of high yield offers for short term investments which 
exceed the current Bank Rate, as opposed to the opportunity cost of being tied into long term 
investments which may soon fall behind the rapidly increasing Bank Rate.  
 
 
Longer term investments of more than 365 days 
 
The table below summarises the current level of longer-term investment instruments against the 
maximum limit approved in the 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
As at the end of September 2022, there were fixed term deposits with a duration of more than 
365 days of £103m. A further £63m of long-term investments have made in the course of the 
first half of 2022/23, still leaving £47m of headroom.   
 
 
 
 
 
Table 5 – Investments greater than 365 days 
 

  2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 

Investment greater 
than 365 days 

Outturn Estimate 
Mid 

Year 

  £m £m £m 

Maximum - end of the 
year 

£80 £150 £150 

Existing long-term 
investments 

£40 £40 £103 

Balance available to 
invest 

£40 £110 £47 

 
All of the longer-term investments are fixed term deposits held with local authorities.  
 
 
Security  
 
The risk of default in respect of the current narrow range of investment types is considered to be 
very low. Potential default risk is assumed to be zero on local authority deposits and was 
estimated to be c. 0.012% in respect of reputable banks with a high credit rating based on 
historic default rates.  
 
This is considered an acceptable level of risk against an investment portfolio of £465.7m as at 
the 30th  September 2022. 
 

Page 88



 

 

 
Liquidity  
 
The 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy stated that a balance of £25m should be 
maintained in highly liquid instant access investments / the bank in order to manage day to day 
treasury activity. This relatively high balance is considered necessary given the uncertainty of 
the timing of expenditure on the MCA’s major capital investment programmes and major 
initiatives that the MCA is responsible for delivering.  
 
The £25m minimum threshold has been maintained throughout the year to date.  
 
 
 
 
  

Page 89



 

 

Borrowing Strategy  
 
The current borrowing strategy is to meet any borrowing need for the year internally from 
treasury investments rather than taking out external borrowing. This is in the expectation that 
the cost of new borrowing will continue to exceed likely investment returns.  
 
By way of example, the latest fixed term PWLB rates forecast for December 2022 as per the 
Link Group range from 5.0% for ‘short term’ borrowing (5 years) rising to 5.1% for 20-year 
borrowing falling back to 4.8% for 50 year borrowing.  
 
By comparison, returns on relatively short-term investments of three to twelve months duration 
are forecast to decrease from a range of around 4.5% - 5.3% in December 2022 to 4.0% - 4.2% 
by the end of 2023/24. Accordingly, the differential between borrowing rates and returns on 
investment remains such that the cost of borrowing remains higher than returns on investments.  
 
In addition, the current strategy is to repay debt as it falls due rather than to refinance debt. This 
assumption has been built into the medium-term financial strategy, resulting in a projected fall in 
debt servicing costs as debt is repaid. 
 
The borrowing strategy also seeks to take the opportunity to reschedule existing debt where this 
will lead to an overall saving. However, for the reasons described further on in this report it is 
considered unlikely that any such opportunities will arise in the short to medium term.  
 
Lending arrangements introduced in November 2020 tightened the rules governing access to 
PWLB borrowing. The new rules do not allow access to PWLB where a local authority intends to 
buy commercial investment assets held primarily or partially to generate a profit for yield within 
its capital plans at any point in the next three years regardless of whether the transaction would 
notionally be financed from a source other than PWLB. The definition of commercial investment 
assets in this case is that contained within MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Local Government 
investments and includes, for example, investment property portfolios whose main purpose is to 
generate a profit.  
 
The MCA Group’s investment property portfolio is a legacy of bus deregulation and comprises 
former transport assets which are not being actively managed to achieve commercial returns. 
Accordingly, they are not considered to fall within the definition of commercial investment assets 
under the Statutory Guidance. This will however be kept under review should there be any plans 
to expand or diversify the portfolio. 
 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) estimates 
 
The table overleaf shows that as at the end of Period 6, there is no change in forecast for the 
MCA Group’s underlying need to borrow (Capital Financing Requirement). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



 

 

 
 
 
 
  
 
Table 6 – Capital Financing Requirement 
 

Group Capital Financing Requirement  2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 

  Outturn Estimate  
Mid 

Year 

  £m £m £m 

Opening CFR  £109 £110 £110 

        

Movement in CFR        

Additional borrowing requirement   £4* £0 £0 

(*deferred due to use of GBF in 2020/21)       

MRP  -£3 -£3 -£3 

Capital receipts set aside for the repayment 
of debt 

£0 £0 £0 

Other adjustments  £0 £0 £0 

        

Closing CFR  £110 £107 £107 

 
Amount of external debt against the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)  
 
The purpose of this indicator is to assess the extent to which borrowing is only being used in the 
medium to longer term to finance capital expenditure.  
 
Table 7 – Group external borrowing 
 
Group external borrowing 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 

  Outturn Estimate  
Mid 

Year 

  £m £m £m 

        

MCA Loans £25 £25 £25 

Expected change in MCA 
Loans 

£0 £0 £0 

SYPTE Debt £108 £100 £100 

Expected change in SYPTE 
Debt 

-£8 -£8 -£8 

        

Gross Debt £125 £117 £117 
Capital Financing 
Requirement 

£110 £107 £107 

Debt in excess of CFR £16 £11 £11 
 
The benchmark recommended by CIPFA is that the estimated amount of gross debt should not 
exceed the estimated CFR for the current and following two years. 

Page 91



 

 

 
The Group’s gross debt is in excess of CFR due to the fact that historic debt taken out in the 
1990s has only recently started to fall due for repayment whereas over the same period MRP 
has been charged annually to the transport levy to write down the CFR.  
 
This situation is now starting to rebalance as debt matures and significant loan repayments are 
being made. Further substantial loan repayments will be made thereafter as debt matures as 
illustrated in the table below.  This will bring gross debt below the CFR. 
 
 
 
 
 
Table 8 – Maturity of Group borrowing 
 

Maturity of Group 
borrowing: 

Amount     

£m % 

 
2022/23 8 6%  

2023/24 50 40%  

2024/25 4 3%  

2025/26 4 3%  

2026/27 4 3%  

2027/28 22 18%  

2028/29 0 0%  

2029/30 4 3%  

2030/31 4 3%  

2043 to 2056 25 20%  

Total £125 100%  

 
 
Borrowing limits 
 
There are two indicators on borrowing limits: the authorised limit and operational boundary. 
 
The authorised limit represents a control on the maximum amount of debt that can be borrowed 
for capital investment and temporary cash flow purposes. It reflects the level of external debt 
which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the long 
term. 
 
Table 9 – Authorised limit 
 

Authorised Limit 

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 

Outturn Estimate  
Mid 

Year 

£m £m £m 

Loans £673 £665 £665 

Other Long-Term 
Liabilities 

£11 £11 £11 

Page 92



 

 

Total £684 £676 £676 
  
The Other Long-Term Liabilities figure set out in the table above represents the PFI liability in 
respect of Doncaster Interchange. 
 
The operational boundary is the maximum amount of money that the MCA group expects to 
borrow during the financial year. It acts as a useful warning if breached during the year that 
underlying spend may be higher than expected or income lower than budgeted.  
 
Table 10 – Operational boundary 
 

Operational Boundary 

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 

Outturn Estimate  
Mid-
Year 

£m £m £m 

Loans £658 £650 £650 

Other Long-Term Liabilities £11 £11 £11 

Total £669 £661 £661 
 
Both the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary allow for up to a £500m increase in 
borrowing capacity to accelerate delivery of the Gainshare funded Investment Programme by 
bringing forward all uncommitted Gainshare capital that the MCA is due to receive in years 3 to 
30 so that it can be invested upfront in the near term. The figure of £500m represents the upper 
limit of what is potentially affordable to enable the associated debt financing costs to be 
contained within the overall 30-year Gainshare allocation. It will also be subject to the borrowing 
cap that the MCA agrees on an annual basis with HM Treasury and DLUHC for non-transport 
purposes. 
 
In addition, the authorised limit allows for an additional £40m headroom over the maximum 
expected amount of gross debt in 2022/23 (excluding the £500m referred to above) - the 
operational boundary allows for an additional £25m headroom. The headroom provides capacity 
for short term temporary borrowing to manage the MCA’s cash position rather than having to 
realise higher yield longer term investments early before they are due to mature. 

The MCA has ready access to temporary borrowing should the need arise through local 
authority to local authority lending. Currently, borrowing rates in the local authority to local 
authority market are around 4% for 1-2 year borrowing. In this context, having headroom of up 
to £40m is considered affordable in the short term. However, no temporary revenue borrowing 
has been necessary or is anticipated.  

The amount of external debt is scheduled to reduce to £117m by the end of the financial year. 
Hence, borrowing is well within the revised Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary based 
on the proposed debt cap, and no difficulties are foreseen in remaining within these limits.  
 
Debt Rescheduling / Early Repayment 
 
Opportunities for debt rescheduling depend on the difference between the repayment rates on 
early redemption and the interest rates on existing debt. 
 
Where repayment rates on early redemption are lower, a premium (cost) is payable. Where 
repayment rates are higher, a discount (saving) can be obtained. 
 

Page 93



 

 

Even in the present environment of rising interest rates, PWLB rates for early repayment are still 
significantly lower than rates on the Group’s existing PWLB debt portfolio which range from 
4.25% to 8.50%. Early repayment would therefore incur a very substantial premium. 
 
The interest rates on the Group’s market loans range from 4.50% to 4.95%. As these are 
considerably higher than the prevailing rates it is considered unlikely that the lender would 
exercise their call option which would trigger an opportunity to repay the debt early and 
refinance it by cheaper PWLB debt. 
 
The prospect of refinancing or paying off early some of the underlying PFI debt relating to 
Doncaster Interchange in order to reduce future unitary payments over the remainder of the PFI 
term is discussed at the regular review meetings with the PFI Operator. No such opportunities 
have presented themselves to date. 
 
 
Financing Costs 
 
The affordability of decisions taken to finance capital investment is assessed by the ratio of 
Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream. 
 
As illustrated below, the Mid-Year forecast shows a significant reduction in net financing costs 
due to the surplus investment income generated through the rising Bank Rate and additional 
cash held on deposit. Financing costs as a percentage to net revenue income is therefore 8% 
lower than at the time that 2022/23 Treasury Management strategy was set.   
 
Table 11 – Financing Costs 
 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue streams 

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 

Outturn Estimate  
Mid-
Year 

£m £m £m 

Interest £8 £8 £8 

MRP £3 £3 £3 

Less Investment Income -£1 -£1 -£5 

Net Financing Costs £11 £11 £6 
Income - transport levy £54 £54 £54 

Finance Costs/Unrestricted Revenue Income % 20% 20% 12% 

 
Managing Exposure to the Risk of Interest Rate Changes 
 
Borrowing 
 
The MCA Group’s debt portfolio as at Period 6 comprises the following: 
 

Gross Debt   

2022/23 2022/23 
Mid-
Year 

Mid-
Year 

£m % 
Fixed Rate PWLB  105 78% 
Market Loans   20 15% 
Doncaster PFI    11 8% 

Page 94



 

 

Total  136 100% 
 
All of the PWLB debt is fixed rate. As such there is no risk to the amount of interest payable 
from interest rate fluctuations. The interest payable is therefore a function of the maturity profile 
and future interest can be forecast accurately. 
 
The £20m of market loans include an option for the lender to change the interest rate 
periodically on specified call dates, typically every 6 months. As the interest rates currently 
being paid on these loans range from 4.50% to 4.95%, it seems unlikely in the current interest 
rate environment that the option will be exercised. However, we will monitor this carefully as the 
Bank Rate continues to rise.  
 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

Wednesday, 25 January 2023 
 

Draft Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

No 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Mike Thomas 
Mike.Thomas@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk  
 

 
Executive Summary 
 

This paper provides an update to the Committee on the development of the 2023/24 
Treasury Management Strategy for the SYMCA group. This draft Strategy will shape the 
MCA’s approach to managing its cash and debt portfolios over the course of the following 
financial year. 

 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 

The MCA’s treasury management strategy is an integral part of its budget, which provides 
the resource to deliver upon South Yorkshire’s aspirations. The developing business 
plans and accompanying budgets will determine how, where, and to what level the MCA 
invests in the region in the coming years and will set out how that investment is to be 
funded. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Mike.Thomas@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk


Recommendations   
 

The Committee is asked to: 

 Endorse the draft Treasury Management Strategy for onward approval by the MCA 
Board, alongside the proposed 2023/24 Revenue Budget and Capital Programme, 
in March 2023; 

 Endorse the borrowing strategy set out in Section A of Appendix 1; 

 Endorse the capital expenditure estimates and associated prudential indicators set 
out in Section B of Appendix 1; 

 Endorse the minimum revenue provision policy set out in Section C of Appendix 1; 

 Endorse the annual investment strategy set out in Section D of Appendix 1; 

 Endorse the granting of delegated authority to the Group Finance Director in 
consultation with the Chief Executive to provide a financial guarantee in favour of 
the SCR Financial Interventions Holding company; 

 Note the intention to negotiate with HM Treasury and DLUHC to agree a borrowing 
cap for 2023/24 for all functions (transport & non-transport), and; 

Endorse the draft treasury management practices at Appendix 2. 
 

 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
  
Mayoral Combined Authority Board 06 March 2023 
  
1.  Background 
  

1.1 The treasury management strategy is forward looking and seeks to ensure that: 

 The MCA’s overarching borrowing strategy is appropriate in the context of 
the current economic climate;  

 The MCA capital plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable (as 
measured via a series of prudential indicators); 

 Prudent charges are made to revenue for the repayment of debt by 
adopting a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy that is compliant with 
statutory MRP guidance; 

 Investments and borrowings are organised in accordance with the MCA’s 
risk appetite (as measured via a series of treasury indicators); and  

 The MCA’s investment strategy pays due regard to security (the 
management of risk and the protection of the principal sums invested) and 
liquidity (availability of cash to meet liabilities as they fall due) as first 
priorities and then what level of return (yield) can be obtained based on risk 
appetite and the contribution each investment activity makes. 

  

2. Key Issues 
  

2.1 In common with constituent member authorities, regulation and the MCA’s 
Constitution require that the MCA approve the adoption of an Annual Treasury 
Management Strategy (TMS) which must comply with the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA Prudential Code, DLUHC MRP Guidance, 
the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and DLUHC Investment Guidance.    

  

Page 98



2.2 Several significant changes to CIPFA’s Prudential Code and Treasury 
Management Code will come into effect in 2023/24, including: - 

 New performance indicators to demonstrate the proportion of speculative 
investments in commercial properties;  

 A new liability benchmark to outline the financing risk management of the 
capital financing requirement;  

 A new requirement to report on the progress on performance indicators on 
a quarterly basis;  

 A specific requirement to re-assess training provision for Officers and 
Members to ensure it is appropriate to the role carried out; 

 The need to address environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues 
within the Authority’s treasury management policies and practices. 

  

2.3 The annual treasury management strategy is set in the wider context of the MCA’s 
medium and longer-term capital investment plans. At this stage, whilst business 
investment, capital infrastructure and transport programmes beyond 2022/23 are 
still being developed, the financial planning horizon has been limited to the three-
year minimum specified by the Code based on existing commitments.  

  

2.4 The TMS sets the parameters within which the MCA will deliver its cash and debt 
management activities. The key sections of the draft TMS are appended to this 
report, including an Investment Strategy and Prudential Indicators. Progress 
against this proposed strategy will be reported to this Committee and to the MCA 
on a quarterly basis (as required under the revised Prudential Code) as well as at 
the customary mid-year point and at outturn. 

  

2.5 The MCA’s approach to its Investment Strategy is determined by a hierarchy of 
considerations designed to protect the public purse. This hierarchy places greater 
focus on the security and the liquidity of the MCA’s investments rather than on the 
yield generated from them. 

  

2.6 The key advantage of this approach is to limit the MCA’s exposure to losses 
arising from counterparty default. However, it also has the potential to limit the 
returns that can be generated from investing cash resource until it is required. An 
appropriate balance is therefore required, with continuous refinement of risk-
appetite. Given the significant uncertainties in financial markets, the draft TMS 
proposes to maintain the current stance, limiting investments to the safest of 
counterparties. 

  

2.7 Interest rates have increased at pace in 2022/23, and they are forecast to increase 
over the coming financial year. In this context it is probable that yields on returns 
will continue to grow. However, as capital programme slippage begins to unwind 
and a significant amount of debt falls due for repayment, the cash balances held 
on deposit will begin to fall. Forecasts suggest that whilst investment income 
generated from cash held on deposit will be higher in the new year than had 
previously been forecast it will not reach the scale seen in the current financial 
year. At this stage, income generated over forecast will be held to meet an 
anticipated loss of revenue grant funding and be used to meet inflationary 
pressures particularly around utilities. 

  

  

Page 99



2.8 The draft TMS notes that £50m of borrowing will be retired as planned during the 
year, following the £69m repaid over the past two years. The repayment of this 
borrowing in 2023/24 reduces the cost of debt by c. £2.2m. 

  

2.9 Repaying legacy debt will reduce the overall burden of financing costs on the 
revenue budget and the transport levy. This trend is matched to the release of 
reserves from the Levy Reduction Reserve, meaning that when that reserve is 
exhausted the cost of debt will have fallen to such an extent that, all things being 
equal, the revenue budget will be much less dependent on the reserve subsidy. In 
practice, emerging pressures since the Covid-19 pandemic affecting bus and light 
rail patronage mean that the transport levy will need to increase in 2023/24. This 
decision was approved by the MCA Board on 16 January 2023. 

  

2.10 Committee members should note that the draft TMS proposes to reduce the 
operational boundary and the authorised limit on debt the MCA can hold, until such 
time as requirements to finance new expenditure from borrowing are identified. HM 
Treasury have been asked to agree to a debt cap of c.£594m for the 3 years to 
2024/25 which, if successful, would mean that the only approval required to 
increase the operational boundary and the authorised limit is from the MCA Board. 
Officers would also consult with the Audit Standards & Risk Committee, should the 
need or opportunity arise in-year. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  

3.1 The option to adopt a less conservative approach to its investment strategy was 
discounted on the basis of prudency. 

  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
  

4.1 N/A 

  
5. 
 

Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   

5.1 The proposed TMS must be approved by the MCA Board before the forthcoming 
financial year. 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  

6.1 The financial implications are clearly set out in the main body of this report as well 
as in Appendix 1. 

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 In the opinion of the Section 73 Officer, the draft TMS is fully compliant with all 

relevant legislation.  

  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  

8.1 N/A 

  
  
  

Page 100



9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  

9.1 N/A 

 
10. 

 
Climate Change Implications and Advice 

  

10.1 N/A 

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  

11.1 N/A 

  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   

 

12.1 The key principles underpinning this draft TMS will be tested on the four South 
Yorkshire Directors of Finance, their technical teams and the MCA’s external 
treasury management advisers.  

  
List of Appendices Included:   
 

A Principal Sections of the Draft TMS 

  

B  Proposed Treasury Management Practices 

 
Background Papers 
 

N/A 

 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1  

Appendix A 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority  
 
2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
 

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



Page 2  

 

 

 
 
 
INDEX 
 
             Page 
 
1 Introduction & Recommendations        3 

 
       

2 Background            5 
       

 
 
Section A – Borrowing Strategy         7 
 
Section B – Capital Plans & Prudential Indicators       8 
 
Section C – MRP Statement          15 
 
Section D – Investment Strategy          16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



Page 3  

1 Introduction 
 

The Annual Treasury Management Strategy is forward-looking and seeks to ensure that: 
 

 The MCA’s overarching Borrowing Strategy is appropriate in the context of the 
current economic climate; 

 The MCA Group’s capital plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable (as measured via a 
series of prudential indicators); 

 Prudent charges are made to revenue for the repayment of debt by adopting a Minimum 
Revenue provision (MRP) policy that is compliant with statutory MRP guidance; 

 Investments and borrowings are organised in accordance with the MCA’s risk appetite (as 
measured via a series of treasury indicators); and 

 The MCA Group’s Investment Strategy pays due regard to security (the management of risk 
and the protection of the principal sums invested) and liquidity (availability of cash to meet 
liabilities as they fall due) as first priorities and then what level of return (yield) can be obtained 
based on risk appetite and the contribution each investment activity makes. 

 

The Annual Treasury Management Strategy is set in the wider context of the MCA’s medium and 
longer-term capital investment plans.  At this stage, whilst business investment, capital 
infrastructure and transport programmes beyond 2023/24 are still being developed, the financial 
planning horizon has been  limited to the three-year minimum specified by the Code based on 
existing commitments. 
 
In addition, the annual treasury management strategy sets out the MCA Group’s position on: 
 

 borrowing in advance of need; 
 debt rescheduling; and 

 use of external service providers. 
 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA Prudential 
Code,   the CIPFA  Treasury Management Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance and MHCLG Investment 
Guidance. The requirements of the updated Treasury Management and Prudential Codes on 20th 
December 2021 are provided in more detail in the next section – Background.  

 

The Annual Treasury Management Strategy is the first of a minimum of five reports that will be 
reported  in respect of 2023/24 treasury activity.  As a minimum the four other reports will comprise: 

 

 three quarterly reports (a new requirement of the 2021 Treasury Management Code) 
which will provide an update on treasury activity for the first 9 months of the  2023/24 
financial year; and

 an annual report which will provide actual performance against the treasury 
management strategy after the end of the 2023/24 financial year. 

 
In addition, should there be any material changes to the strategy or associated indicators these 

will be  brought back for approval before being implemented. 

Recommendations (for the MCA Board in March 2023) 
 

Members are asked to: 
 

 Approve the Annual Treasury Management Strategy;
 

 Approve the Borrowing Strategy set out in Section A of the Annual Treasury 

Management    Strategy;

 Approve the capital expenditure estimates and associated prudential indicators set out 

in Section      B of the Annual Treasury Management Strategy;

 Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy set out in Section C of the 

Page 105



Page 4  

Annual Treasury  Management Strategy;

 Approve the Annual Investment Strategy set out in Section D of the Annual Treasury 

Management               Strategy;

 Grant delegated authority to the Executive Director of Resources and Investment in 

consultation with the Chief Executive  to provide a financial guarantee in favour of the 

SCR Financial Interventions Holding company; and

 Support the intention to negotiate with HM Treasury and DLUHC to agree a borrowing 

cap for all   MCA functions (transport & non-transport) for 2023/24.







Page 106



Page 5  

2 Background 

The MCA is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised during the year 
will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is 
adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low-risk 
counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Authority’s low-risk appetite, providing adequate 
liquidity initially before considering investment return. 
 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Authority’s capital 
plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Authority, essentially the longer-
term cash flow planning, to ensure that it can meet its capital spending obligations.  This management of 
longer-term cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans or using longer-term cash flow surpluses. 
On occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet 
risk or cost objectives.  
 
The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Authority is critical, as the balance of debt 
and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, 
either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects.  The treasury operations will see a balance of 
the interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from cash deposits affecting the available 
budget.  Since cash balances generally result from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure 
adequate security of the sums invested, as a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General 
Fund Balance. 
 
CIPFA defines treasury management as: 
 
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, including its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 
 
2021 Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code and Prudential Code Changes 
 
CIPFA published the revised Codes on 20 December 2021 and has stated that revisions need to be 
included in the reporting framework from the 2023/24 financial year.  This Authority, therefore, has to 
have regard to these Codes of Practice when it prepares the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
and Annual Investment Strategy, and also related reports during the financial year, which are taken to the 
MCA Board for approval. 
 

The revised Treasury Management Code requires all investments and investment income to be 
attributed to one of the following three purposes: - 
 

Treasury Management 
Arising from the organisation’s cash flows or treasury risk management activity, this type of investment 
represents balances which are only held until the cash is required for use.   
 
Service Delivery 
Investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services including housing, regeneration 
and local infrastructure.  Returns on this category of investment which are funded by borrowing are 
permitted only in cases where the income is “either related to the financial viability of the project in 
question or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose”. 
 
Commercial Return 
Investments held primarily for financial return with no treasury management or direct service provision 
purpose.  Risks on such investments should be proportionate to an authority’s financial capacity – i.e. 
that ‘plausible losses’ could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without unmanageable detriment to local 
services. The MCA does not hold, or intend to hold, any commercial investments.  
 
The revised Treasury Management Code will require an authority to implement the following: - 
 

 Adopt a new debt liability benchmark treasury indicator to support the financing risk 
management of the capital financing requirement; this is to be shown in chart form for a 

Page 107



Page 6  

minimum of three years, with material differences between the liability benchmark and actual 
loans to be explained; 

 

 Long-term treasury investments, (including pooled funds), are to be classed as 
commercial investments unless justified by a cash flow business case; 

 

 Pooled funds are to be included in the indicator for principal sums maturing in years 
beyond the initial budget year; 

 

 Amendment to the knowledge and skills register for officers and members involved in the 
treasury management function - to be proportionate to the size and complexity of the 
treasury management conducted by each authority;  

 

 Reporting to members is to be done quarterly.  Specifically, the Chief Finance Officer 
(CFO) is required to establish procedures to monitor and report performance against all 
forward-looking prudential indicators at least quarterly. The CFO is expected to establish a 
measurement and reporting process that highlights significant actual or forecast deviations 
from the approved indicators; and 

 

 Environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues to be addressed within an 
authority’s treasury management policies and practices (TMP1).  

 
The main requirements of the Prudential Code relating to service and commercial investments are: -  
 

 The risks associated with service and commercial investments should be proportionate to 
their financial capacity – i.e. that plausible losses could be absorbed in budgets or reserves 
without unmanageable detriment to local services; 

 

 An Authority must not borrow to invest for the primary purpose of commercial return; 
 

 It is not prudent for local authorities to make any investment or spending decision that will 
increase the CFR, and so may lead to new borrowing, unless directly and primarily related to 
the functions of the authority, and where any commercial returns are either related to the 
financial viability of the project in question or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose; 

 

 An annual review should be conducted to evaluate whether commercial investments should 
be sold to release funds to finance new capital expenditure or refinance maturing debt; 

 

 A prudential indicator is required for the net income from commercial and service 
investments as a proportion of the net revenue stream; and 

 

 Create new Investment Management Practices to manage risks associated with non-
treasury investments (similar to the current Treasury Management Practices). 

 
Economic Background – Summary  



Against a backdrop of stubborn inflationary pressures, the easing of Covid restrictions in most 
developed economies, the Russian invasion of Ukraine, and a range of different UK Government 
policies, UK interest rates have been volatile from the base rate through to 50-year gilt yields, for all of 
2022.  The UK base rate was increased to 3.5% in December 2022 which represents a rise of 3.4% 
since December 2021. Forecasted UK rates are shown in Table 1 p18. 
 
This has also been a global phenomenon. In December, the US Fed decided to push up rates by 0.5% 
to a range of 4.25% to 4.5% and Eurozone rates have also increased to 2% with further tightening in 
the pipeline. 

  
In addition, the £ has strengthened of late, recovering from a record low of $1.035, on the Monday 
following the Truss government’s “fiscal event”, to $1.22 (10 January 2023).   



Page 108



Page 7  

Section A 
 

Borrowing Strategy 
 
In early 2022 the MCA received approval from the Government to borrow money for non-transport 
purposes, thus complementing its existing powers to borrow for transport purposes. At the same time 
the MCA agreed with HM Treasury to a new borrowing cap (as required by the new legislation) of 
£170.8m in 2022/23. However, no new borrowing has been taken to date, and the MCA is in the 
process of agreeing a new cap with the Government for 2023/24.  
 
Our borrowing strategy will remain draft until the new cap has been approved and the MCA’s emerging 
investment strategy firmed up. As such, at this stage, it will follow the same borrowing strategy as 
previous years namely: where possible to meet any borrowing need for the year internally from 
treasury investments rather than taking out external  borrowing.  This is in the expectation that the cost 
of new borrowing will continue to exceed likely investment returns.  

 
In addition, the draft strategy is to repay debt as it falls due rather than to refinance debt.  This 
assumption has been built into the financial plans resulting in a projected fall in debt servicing costs as 
debt is repaid (i.e. £50m of debt that matures in 2023/24).   

 
The strategy also seeks to take the opportunity to reschedule existing debt where this will lead to an 
overall saving.  However, for the reasons described further on in this report it is considered unlikely 
that any such opportunities will arise in the short to medium term. 

 

Lending arrangements introduced by the government in November 2020 and latterly by the 2021 
Prudential Code tightened the rules governing Local Authorities, including MCAs, access to PWLB 
borrowing.  The new rules do not allow access to PWLB where a Local Authority intends to buy 
commercial investment assets held primarily or partially to generate a profit for yield within its capital 
plans at any point in the next three years regardless of whether the transaction would notionally be 
financed from a source other than PWLB.  The definition of commercial investment assets in this case is 
that contained within DLUHC Statutory Guidance on Local Government investments and includes, for 
example, investment property portfolios whose main purpose  is to generate a profit. 

 
The MCA Group’s investment property portfolio is a legacy of bus deregulation and comprises former 
transport assets which are not being actively managed to achieve commercial returns and do not fall 
within the definition of commercial investment assets under the Statutory Guidance.   

Page 109



Page 8  

Section B 
 

Capital Expenditure Plans and Prudential Indicators: 2023/24 to 2026/27 

Indicator 1 - Group Capital Expenditure Estimates 

The table below summarises the MCA Group’s capital investment plans for the forthcoming year and 
indicative estimates for the following two years. 

 

The estimates are based on known commitments at this point in time.  It is highly likely that these 
commitments will change as new Government funding streams announced in the Spending Review 
come on-line, and the MCA begins to shape its own gainshare funded investment strategy. The 
estimates may also materially change should the MCA be successful in its bid into Government for 
additional transport capital funding in the new year, such as Levelling Up Fund.  The estimates 
below  reflect known commitments: 

 

Group Capital Expenditure Estimates 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate 

 £m £m £m £m 

     

Total Capital Investment £158 £153 £tbc £tbc 

 
Indicator 2 – Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) Estimates 

 
The table below shows how the planned capital expenditure is expected to be financed.  Any capital 
expenditure not funded by capital grants, capital receipts, or revenue contributions, results in a need for 
borrowing. 

 

 Group Capital Financing Estimates 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate 

 £m £m £m £m 

Total capital investment £158 £153 £tbc £tbc 

     

     

Total capital funding £158 £153 £tbc £tbc 

     

Net borrowing needed for the year £0 £0 £0 £0 
 

Based on the above draft capital investment plans and capital financing proposals, the Group’s 
overall forecast underlying need to borrow or Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is forecast to 
change as shown in the following table. This includes the Doncaster PFI scheme under Other Long 
Term Liabilities (OLTL) from 2023/24 in accordance with Local Government criteria as the PTE will 
formally dissolve as an entity as at 31 March 2023.  
 

Group Capital Financing 
Requirement  

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  Forecast Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

  Loans  Loans  OLTL Loans  OLTL Loans  OLTL 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Opening CFR  £110 £107   £103 £10 £100 £10 

Opening adjustment - Doncaster 
Interchange PFI 

    £10         

Implementation of IFRS 16         £0     

                

Page 110



Page 9  

movement in CFR                

Additional borrowing 
requirement   

£0 £0   £0   £0   

MRP  -£3 -£3 -£0 -£3 -£0 -£3 -£0 

Capital receipts set aside for the 
repayment of debt 

£0 £0   £0   £0   

Other adjustments  £0 £0   £0   £0   

                

Closing CFR  £107 £103 £10 £100 £10 £96 £9 
 
 
 

 
Indicator 3 - Amount of external debt against the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 

 
The purpose of this indicator is to assess the extent to which borrowing is only being used in the medium 
to longer term to finance capital expenditure.  The benchmark recommended by CIPFA is that the 

estimated amount of gross debt should not exceed the estimated CFR for the current and following two 
years. 

 

 

 

Group external borrowing 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  Forecast Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

  Loans  Loans  OLTL Loans  OLTL Loans  OLTL 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

                

MCA Loans - start of the year £25 £25   £21   £17   

Expected change in MCA Loans £0 -£4   -£4   -£4   

SYPTE Debt - start of the year £100 £92   £46   £46   

Expected change in SYPTE Debt -£8 -£46   £0   £0   

Doncaster Interchange PFI - 
start of the year 

    £10   £10   £10 

Expected change in PFI liability     -£0   -£0   -£0 

Implementation of IFRS 16         £0     

                

Gross Debt - end of the year £117 £67 £10 £63 £10 £59 £9 

Capital Financing Requirement £107 £103 £10 £100 £10 £96 £9 

Gross Debt in excess of / (less 
than) CFR 

£11 -£36 £0 -£37 £0 -£37 £0 

 
Historically, gross debt has exceeded CFR because MRP has been charged annually to the Transport 
Levy to write down the CFR but no significant loan repayments had taken place.  As illustrated in the 
table above, the MCA’s borrowing position will be in line with CIPFA guidance in 2023/24 when £50m of 
debt will be repaid. 
 

The repayment of borrowing is also drawing down on the cash investments built up in previous years for 
the repayment of debt with the consequence that the level of investments is also forecast to fall - see 
Investment Strategy - Table 2. 
 
 
 

Page 111



Page 10  

Indicator 4 - Liability Benchmark 

A new prudential indicator for 2023/24 is the Liability Benchmark.  The Authority is required to estimate and 
measure the Liability Benchmark for the forthcoming financial year and the following two financial years, as 
a minimum. (nb: it is intended to extend this to 10 years as part of developing this benchmark over the course 
of 2023/24). 

There are four components to the Liability Benchmark: - 

1. Existing loan debt outstanding: the Authority’s existing loans that are still outstanding in future 
years.   

2. Loans CFR: this is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR definition in the Prudential Code and 
projected into the future based on approved prudential borrowing and planned MRP.  

3. Net loans requirement: this will show the Authority’s gross loan debt less treasury management 
investments at the last financial year-end, projected into the future and based on its approved 
prudential borrowing, planned MRP and any other major cash flows forecast.  

4. Liability benchmark (or gross loans requirement): this equals net loans requirement plus short-term 
liquidity allowance.  

 
 
 
 
The purpose of the Liability Benchmark is to present pictorially, how the authority’s existing loans outstanding 
(the black line) compare against its future need for loan debt, or liability benchmark (the broken red line). If 
the black line is below the broken red line, the existing portfolio outstanding is less than the loan debt 
required, and the authority will need to borrow to meet the shortfall. If the black line is above the broken red 
line, the authority will (based on its current plans) have more debt than it needs, and the excess can be 
invested.  
 
The chart above shows that the MCA will have existing loans outstanding in excess of future need for loan 
debt over the next 3 financial years, and that therefore there is surplus cash available for investment.  
 
The solid red line represents the net loan requirement. This is below the liability benchmark (broken red line) 
because the liability benchmark makes allowance for a liquidity buffer of £25m – an estimate of the level of 

-£300,000

-£250,000

-£200,000

-£150,000

-£100,000

-£50,000

£0

£50,000

£100,000

£150,000

2022 2024 2026 2028 2030 2032 2034 2036 2038 2040 2042 2044 2046 2048 2050 2052 2054 2056

To
ta

l A
m

o
u

n
t 

(£
'0

0
0

)

Liability Benchmark

PWLB Loans LOBO Loans

Net Loans Requirement (forecast net loan debt) Loans CFR

Liability Benchmark (Gross Loans Requirement)

Page 112



Page 11  

short-term investments needed to provide an adequate (but not excessive) level of liquidity for daily cash 
flow management currently held in Money Market Funds / Cash at Bank.    
 
Indicator 5 - Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

 

This indicator is a measure of the affordability of decisions taken to finance capital investment borrowing 
in the context of the Group’s overall financial sustainability. 
 

Ratio of financing costs to net 
revenue streams 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Forecast Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

£m £m £m £m 

Interest £8 £5 £4 £4 

MRP £3 £4 £4 £4 

Financing Costs £11 £9 £8 £8 

Income - transport levy £54 £55 £55 £55 

Other unrestricted income £21 £20 £18 £18 

Net Revenue Stream £76 £75 £73 £73 

Finance Costs/net Revenue Stream                           15% 12% 11% 10% 

 
Interest payable is principally fixed-rate PWLB borrowing.  The reduction in the amount of interest 
payable is therefore a function of PWLB debt being repaid as it matures.  A significant amount of 
PWLB  debt is scheduled to be repaid over the period to 2024/25 as illustrated in Indicator 3, hence, 
the downward trend. 

 

The return on investments is a function of the average level of treasury investments and target returns 
which are expected to be achieved.  Investment income will fall to reflect the fact that investments  are 
being used to settle loan repayments as they fall due (in accordance with the borrowing strategy) thereby 
reducing the level of core funds. This position is partially mitigated by a rising interest rate environment 
which should generate higher returns from the remaining core investments. 

 

External Debt – borrowing limits – Indicators 6 and 7 
 

There are two indicators on borrowing limits: the authorised limit and operational boundary. 
 

The authorised limit represents a control on the maximum amount of debt the Group can borrow for 
capital investment and temporary cash flow purposes.  Under Section 3 of the Local Government Act 
2003 this limit is agreed by the MCA and cannot be revised without that body’s agreement. 

 

The authorised limit reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the 
short term, but is not sustainable in the long term. 

 

The operational boundary is the maximum amount of money the Group expects to borrow during the 
financial year.  It acts as a useful warning if breached during the year that underlying spend may be 
higher than expected or income lower than budgeted. 
 

Authorised Limit 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Forecast Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

£m £m £m £m 

Loans £665 £132 £82 £78 

Headroom for potential new borrowing  £50 £50 £50 

Other Long Term Liabilities £11 £11 £10 £10 

Total £676 £193 £142 £138 

 
 
 

Page 113



Page 12  

Operational Boundary 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Forecast Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

£m £m £m £m 

Loans £650 £117 £67 £63 

Headroom for potential new borrowing  £50 £50 £50 

Other Long Term Liabilities £11 £11 £10 £10 

Total £661 £178 £127 £123 
 

In the current financial year the authorised limit and operational boundary was adjusted to reflect the 
receipt of both borrowing powers and the long-term financial commitment made through the South 
Yorkshire Devolution Deal. 

 

These powers and resource could have enabled the region to afford to borrow upwards of £0.5bn. 
Accordingly, the limits in this indicator were set to this level to provide sufficient scope to take on a sizeable 
amount of borrowing. 

 

Since this point, however, more work has been undertaken on the region’s investment strategy, particularly 
around practicalities of how resource would be dispersed amongst the MCA’s five constituent authorities 
and who and how borrowing may be taken to finance up-front investment. 

 

This work has led to much more conservative assumptions being made for the MCA’s authorised limit and 
operational boundaries. The authorised limit is adjusted this year to accommodate £50m of investment 
headroom on top of the existing debt. This level of headroom would accommodate investment that the 
MCA itself may wish to finance in the immediate term through borrowing. This borrowing would be repaid 
through the MCA’s gainshare allocation. 

 

The other constituent authorities of the MCA are likely to have adjusted their own indicators to reflect that 
they could take on borrowing that would be repaid through their own individual gainshare allocations.  
 

The Other Long-Term Liabilities set out in the table above represents the PFI liability in respect 
of     Doncaster Interchange. 

 

Major changes to local authority accounting rules under IFRS 16 in respect of accounting for leasing 
may lead to “right of use” leased assets being brought on balance sheet which would increase the value 
of Other Long-Term Liabilities.  The new accounting rules were due   to come into effect in 2020/21 but 
implementation has now been deferred until the start of 2024/25. However, finance officers have 
assessed the impact of IFRS16, and it is not expected that    any other long-term liabilities will need to be 
brought on balance sheet on 1 April 2024. 

 

Indicator 8 – Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
 

The maturity profile is important in ensuring there is sufficient liquidity to meet loan repayments as they 
fall due. 
 

Maturity of Group 
borrowing: 

Amount     

£m %  
2022/23 8 7%  

2023/24 50 40%  

2024/25 4 3%  

2025/26 4 3%  

2026/27 4 3%  

2027/28 22 18%  

2028/29 0 0%  

2029/30 4 3%  

2030/31 4 3%  

Page 114



Page 13  

2043 to 2056 25 20%  

Total £125 100%  

 
The level of core funds available up to and including 2023/24 (see Investment Strategy - Table 2) 
indicates that there are sufficient internal funds to meet loan repayments in the medium term without the 
need for external borrowing. 

 
In the period 2024/25 to 2026/27 the amount raised as MRP through the levy will more or less match the 
loan repayments of £4m p.a. in each of these years. Hence, it is not until 2027/28 that there is a potential 
need for external borrowing. This is on the assumption that: 

 

 Borrowing requirement is based on the position set out in Indicator 2:

 The need to repay Market loans will not be necessary. This has previously been 
considered very unlikely but as the base rate increases this becomes more probable (see 
Debt Rescheduling below)

 
 

Debt Rescheduling 

Opportunities for debt rescheduling depend on the difference between the repayment rates on early 
redemption and the interest rates on existing debt. 

 
Where repayment rates on early redemption are lower, a premium (cost) is payable.  Where 
repayment  rates are higher, a discount (saving) can be obtained. 

 

In the present low interest rate environment, PWLB rates for early repayment are currently in the range 
of 4.5% to 5%.  Whilst, rate have increased, these are still lower than rates on the Group’s existing 
PWLB debt portfolio which are up to 8.50%.  Early repayment would therefore incur a very substantial 
premium. 

 

The interest rates on the Group’s market loans range from 4.50% to 4.95%.  As prevailing rates are 
getting ever closer to market loan rates, there is an increased chance that the lender will exercise their 
call option which would require the MCA to refinance it. 

 

The prospect of refinancing or paying off early some of the underlying PFI debt relating to Doncaster 
Interchange in order to reduce future unitary payments over the remainder of the PFI term is discussed 
at the regular review meetings with the PFI Operator.  No such opportunities have presented 
themselves  to date. 

 

Borrowing in Advance of Need 
 

The MCA will not borrow more than, or in advance of, its needs purely in order to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed.  Any decision to borrow in advance will be within forward 
approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure that value 
for money can be demonstrated and that the MCA can ensure the security of such funds. 

 

Risks associated with any borrowing in advance will be subject to prior appraisal and reporting through 
the mid-year treasury report or annual report on treasury management. 

 

Financial Guarantee 
 
The MCA has a wholly owned subsidiary, the SCR Financial Interventions Holding Company, whose 
sole  purpose is to hold finance to support the delivery of the MCA’s capital programme.  The company 
does not trade, is controlled by the MCA’s Executive Leadership Board and only has intercompany 
transactions with the MCA. 

 

Under Companies Act legislation, the company can be made exempt from the requirement for audit, and 
therefore saves the public purse, if the MCA as parent provides a financial guarantee in the required 
format stating the financial year to which it relates. 

 

Page 115



Page 14  

The effect of the guarantee is that the MCA guarantees all outstanding liabilities to which the company is 
subject at the end of the financial year to which the guarantee relates until they are satisfied in full; and, 
the guarantee is enforceable against the MCA by any person to whom the company is liable in respect of 
those liabilities.  However, as the company’s only liability is to the MCA, there is no risk to the MCA 
group. 

 

It is therefore proposed that the MCA provides a financial guarantee in respect of the 2023/24 financial 
year and that this remains in force if and until such time that the company transacts with parties other 
than the MCA.  As the MCA’s Financial Regulations allow the Executive Director of Resources and 
Investment to enter into any borrowing, investment and financing arrangements on behalf of the 
Authority compliant with the Treasury Management Policy, it is recommended that delegated authority be 
given to the Executive Director of Resources and Investment to provide the financial guarantee on the 
MCA’s behalf for filing with Companies House. 

 
Use of External Advisors 

 

Link Group, Link Treasury Services, have been appointed as treasury advisors to the MCA to provide 

technical guidance and support on treasury matters, including providing a creditworthiness service to 

financial institutions and other potential counterparties. 

The MCA also has a service level agreement with Sheffield City Council to provide treasury services 

including managing the MCA’s investment portfolio on its behalf.  NB:  Banking was brought in-house 

during 2022/23.  

Where external advisors are appointed to provide specialist skills and resources, Officers will ensure 

that  the terms of their appointment and methods by which their value will be assessed are properly 

agreed and documented. 

Page 116



Page 15  

Section C 
 
 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement 
 
This Policy Statement has been prepared having regard to the Revised Statutory MRP Guidance issued 
in 2018.  This limited the maximum number of years over which MRP can be charged to 50 years unless 
a suitably qualified professional advisor advises that the related asset will deliver service functionality for 
more than 50 years. 

 
In practice, this change will have little or no practical effect on the existing profile of MRP charges. 

 
The broad aim of MRP is for an authority to make a prudent provision by charging revenue over time to 
reduce its Capital Financing Requirement.  In doing so, an authority should align the period over which 
they charge MRP to one that is commensurate with the period over which its capital assets/expenditure 
provides benefits either in terms of service potential or economic return. 

 
Regulation 28 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 [as 
amended] gives local authorities flexibility in how they calculate MRP, providing the calculation is 
‘prudent’.  In calculating a prudent provision, local authorities are required to have regard to statutory 
guidance on determining MRP which offers a number of options for meeting this requirement. 

 
In addition, an authority may charge an amount greater than the statutory minimum should it wish to do 
so.  The MCA has not elected to charge in excess of the minimum statutory amount to date. 

 

The MCA is recommended to approve the following MRP statement for financial year 2023/24: 
MRP on the residual Capital Financing Requirement at the end of 2015/16 relating to capital expenditure 
incurred before 1 April 2008, is being charged on a flat line basis over fifty years.  This is considered a 
more prudent approach to the “regulatory method” adopted up to and including 2015/16, as it better 
aligns the charges to revenue to the benefits the related assets deliver. 

 
MRP on capital expenditure incurred since 1 April 2008, financed by unsupported borrowing, will be 
based on the ‘asset life method’.  This means that MRP will be based on the estimated useful life of the 
assets created.  The MCA will apply a maximum life of 50 years to new assets unless a suitably 
qualified       professional advisor advises that an asset will deliver service functionality for more than 50 
years or where an asset is a lease or PFI asset, and the length of the lease/PFI contract exceeds 50 
years. 
 
MRP will commence in the year after an asset becomes operational to align charges to revenue to the 
economic benefits generated from those assets. 

 
MRP on capital loans and capital grants awarded to partners and third parties financed by borrowing will 
be charged over the useful life of the assets concerned. 

 
MRP on capital expenditure on assets not owned by the MCA or on assets for use by others will similarly 
be charged over the useful life of the assets concerned. MRP on expenditure capitalised by virtue of a 
statutory direction, repayment of capital grants or loans received, or acquisition of share capital, will be 
charged over a period not exceeding the maximum period specified by regulation. 

 

If, as noted in the section concerning the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary, the MCA agrees to 
use borrowing to accelerate delivery of the South Yorkshire Renewal Plan, Gainshare capital will be 
applied in the first instance to meet the requirement to set aside an amount to repay debt in lieu of charging 
revenue. 
 

Members are asked to note the consultation on MRP changes, the results of which have not yet been 
received. The draft proposals  on this consultation may preclude the use of capital grant in-lieu of 
charging revenue. The MCA has engaged DLUHC on this issue and believes it has a strong basis to 
challenge the proposals. 

Page 117



Page 16  

Section D 
 

Investment Strategy 
 
The MCA’s investment policy has regard to the following: 

 

 The  2021 Treasury Management Code;

 MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments; and

 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Guidance Notes 2021.
 

The MCA’s investment priorities will be security, portfolio liquidity second and yield (return) in that priority order. 
The MCA  will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments commensurate with proper levels of 
security and liquidity and with the MCA’s risk appetite. 

 

As mentioned in the Background section, changes to the 2021 Treasury Management Code require the MCA to 
incorporate Environmental Social and Governance (ESG) criteria into its Investment Strategy from 2023/24 – 
specifically in its Treasury Management Practice 1. The Code recognises that this is a developing area for public 
sector organisations as there are a diversity of market approaches to ESG classifications. As such and within this 
context, the requirement is for a broad policy statement at this stage rather than to include ESG scoring or other 
real-time ESG criteria at individual investment level.  
 

DLUHC and CIPFA place a high priority on the management of risk. Accordingly, the MCA has adopted    a 
prudent approach to managing risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means: 
 

 Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of highly creditworthy 
counterparties. This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk.  The 
key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short-term and long-term ratings.

 

 A defined list of types of investment instruments that the treasury management team are 
authorised to use.  These fall into two categories - ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ 
investments.

 
1. Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to a 

maturity limit of one year or have less than a year left to run to maturity if they were 
originally classified as being non-specified investments solely due to the maturity period 
exceeding one year. 

2. Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, maybe for periods in 
excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments which require greater 
consideration by members and officers before being authorised for use. 

 

Lending limits (amounts and maturity) for each counterparty will be set through applying the         matrix 
in Table 4

 
 A limit on investments which are invested for longer than 365 days - see Table 2

 

Given the risks and uncertainties in the current economic climate, the focus for the time being at least, 
has been and will continue to be on maximising returns from traditional types of investment rather than 
on diversification. 

 
However, as interest rate predictions from Link predict a peak of 4.5% before falling in March 2024 
(see table below) investments in alternative or longer-term options will be considered to ensure the 
best possible returns without jeopardising security or liquidity. Options that may be considered 
include:- 
 

 Short-dated bond funds (suitable for investors with a minimum time horizon of 2 to 3 years);

 Property Funds (suitable for investors with a minimum time horizon of at least 5 years); and

 Multi-asset income funds (suitable for investors with a minimum time horizon of at least 5 years).
 

Page 118



Page 17  

These types of investment can generate a higher rate of return but may create more risk than more 
‘vanilla’ investment options. A comprehensive understanding of the varying degrees of risks 
associated with these types of investment is therefore required to assess against the potential rewards 
having regard to appropriate professional advice from external advisors. 

 
Investment Performance 

 

Over the course of 2022/23 in the 9 months to December 2022, the average size of the investment 
portfolio was £453m with the weighted average return on investments averaging 1.45% - an increase of 
0.72% on the April 2022 figure of 0.73%. 

 
The types of investment included within the investment portfolio are the more traditional ones held by 
local authorities, namely: 

 

 Deposits with local authorities through the local authority to local authority market;

 Call accounts with reputable banks with a high credit rating; and

 Low volatility low risk highly liquid Money Market Funds which provide for instant access.
 

 
Table 1 - Prospects for Interest Rates 

 

 
 
As mentioned and shown in Table above, the Bank Rate is expected to increase to 4.50% by summer 2023 
before falling in March 2024 as the Bank of England takes action to counter the threat of inflation.  During 
this period, the UK is expected to fall into a prolonged period of recession, albeit relatively shallow.  

 
PWLB interest rates on borrowing are expected to peak to between 4.2% to 4.6% (depending upon 
the term of the loan) in summer 2023 but fall to a range 3.1% and 3.5% in 3 years’ time.  

Page 119



Page 18  

Table 2 - Core Funds and Balances and Longer Term Investments of More Than 365 days 

 

Core Funds 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Forecast Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

£m £m £m £m 

Reserves and balances - revenue and capital £107 £75 £72 £66 

-Under/Over borrowed position £11 -£36 -£37 -£37 

Capital grant received in advance £100 £100 £100 £100 

Sub-total £218 £139 £135 £129 

Short term cash / working capital £15 £15 £15 £15 

Total £233 £154 £150 £144 

 
 

The level of core funds available beyond 2022/23 will remain reasonably constant until 2027/28 when (as 
illustrated in Indicator 7) £22m of borrowing is due to be repaid. 

 

Investment greater than 365 days 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Forecast Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

£m £m £m £m 

Maximum - end of the year  £150 £144 £143 £124 

Existing long term investments  £73 £33 £0 £0 

Balance available to invest  £77 £111 £143 £124 

 
The table above shows the estimated amount available to invest in longer-term investments of more than 
365 days duration based on the estimated level of core funds available (excluding short-term cash and 
working capital) measured against the existing longer-term investment portfolio as at the end of 
December 2022. 

 
It shows that some significant capacity remains for further longer-term investments in the next three 
years due to the substantial balance on capital grants received in advance, even after forecast capital 
expenditure of £158m in 2022/23 – see Table 2 above. 

 

Table 3 - Target Return on Investments (Yield) 
 
Using the prospects for interest rates, returns on longer-term investments and core funds available to 
investment set out above, the target return on the investment portfolio as a whole (short and long-term) 
is as follows: 

 

 
Returns on investments 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate 

% % % % 

Target return on treasury investments 0.37% 2.62% 2.18% 1.99% 

 
NB: the target is based on gross investment returns but does not take into account running down investments to cover off maturing debt.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 120



Page 19  

 
Security 

 
The risk of default varies according to the type of investment. Local authorities are assumed to have a 
zero default rate. The default risk attached to other counterparties depends on their creditworthiness and 
duration of investment.  The MCA’s treasury advisors provide historic default rates for different types of 

counterparty as a guide.  The risk of default on non-local authority investments in the investment 
portfolio  as at March 2022 using historic default rates provided by the MCA’s treasury advisors at the 
end of 2021/22 is c. 0.012% or £9k. 

 

This is considered an acceptable level of risk against an average portfolio of £453m. 
 
Liquidity 

 
A balance of £25m will be maintained in highly liquid instant access investments/the bank to manage 
day to day treasury activity. 

 
Creditworthiness Policy 

 
The MCA has adopted the creditworthiness service provided by its external treasury management advisors 
to manage counterparty risk. 

 
The service involves a risk weighted scoring of the three main credit rating agencies to arrive at a colour 
coding system to recommend the maximum duration of investments.  This is summarised in the table 
below: 

 
Colour Band Duration 

Yellow 5 years * 

Dark pink 5 years for Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25 

Light pink 5 years for Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5 

Purple 2 years 

Blue 1 year (only applies to nationalised/semi nationalised UK Banks) 

Orange 1 year 

Red 6 months 

Green 100 days 

No colour not to be used 

 
The Lending limits (amounts and duration) for each counterparty are unchanged from 2022/23 except to 
increase the limit on UK banks for 6 month terms from £20m to £40m. This is based on 10% of the 
average investment balance over the past 2 years. The change reflects the increased level of available 
funding that the Authority now has to deal with alongside a reducing scope to place investments due to 
factors such as creditworthiness.  

 

At the foot of the matrix table, other investment options have been introduced. These include, for example, 
short-dated bond funds, property funds and multi-asset income funds.  No limits have been specified for 
these new investment types as yet, subject to further investigation into the risks and suitability of these 
options. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 121



Page 20  

 
 
 
 

 
Table 4 - Lending Limits 

 

 
Colour (and long 
term rating where 
applicable) 

Maximum sum 
and/or % 
Limit (per 
institution) 

 

Time 
Limit 

Banks * Yellow 100% 5 years 

Banks Purple £30m 2 years 

Banks Orange £30m 1 year 

Banks – part nationalised** Blue £50m 1 year 

Banks (UK Banks) Red £40m 6 months 

Banks (non-UK Banks) Red £15m 6 months 

Banks Green £10m 100 days 

Banks No colour Not to be used  

 
Colour (and long 
term rating where 
applicable) 

Maximum sum 
and/or % 
Limit (per 
institution) 

 

Time 
Limit 

MCA’s banker (Barclays) in the 
event of the bank being ‘no 
colour’ 

 

- 
100 % 5 days*** 

DMADF AAA 100% 6 months 

Local authorities and other 
suitable public bodies or bodies 
delivering public services 
funded by the government 

 
N/A 

£50m 10 years 

Money market funds – CNAV 
**** 

AAA 
100 % Liquid 

Money market funds – LVNAV 
***** 

AAA 
100 % Liquid 

Money market funds – VNAV 
****** 

AAA 
100 % Liquid 

Ultra short dated bond funds 
with a credit score of 1.25 

Dark pink / AAA 
100 % Liquid 

Ultra short dated bond funds 
with a credit score of 1.5 

Light pink / AAA 
100 % Liquid 

Short dated bond funds/ 
Property Funds/ Multi Income 
Asset Funds 

TBD TBD TBD 

* Please note: the yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, constant net asset value money market 
funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt. 
** When placing deposits with part nationalised banks the MCA will take care to review when it expects the UK Government to 
divest its interest in the institution, and the impact this move would have on the MCA’s view of the institutions security. 
*** to cover period to next working day allowing weekends and bank holidays such as Easter 
**** CNAV refers to Constant Net Asset Value Money Market Funds when investors will be able to purchase and redeem at a 
constant Net Asset Value (£1 in / £1 out) 
***** LVNAV refers to Low Volatility Net Asset Value Money Market Funds when investors will be able to purchase and redeem 
at a stable Net Asset Value to two decimal places, provided the fund is managed to certain restrictions 
****** VNAV refers to Variable Net Asset Value Money Market Funds where the price may vary 

Page 122



Page 21  

 

The MCA is alerted to changes to ratings through the creditworthiness service provided by its external 
treasury advisors. 
 
If a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no longer meeting the MCA’s minimum 
criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn immediately.  Any existing investment will 
be redeemed as soon as it is economically viable. 
 
Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-
specified’ investments categories.  Counterparty limits will be as set through the MCA’s treasury 
management practices. 

 
Country Limits 
 
The MCA has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from countries with a minimum 
sovereign credit rating of “AA-” from Fitch.  The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at 
the date of this report are as shown below.  Should ratings change, this list will be added to, or deducted 
from, by officers in accordance with this policy. 
 

AAA 

 Australia 

 Denmark 

 Germany 

 Luxembourg 

 Netherlands 

 Norway 

 Singapore 

 Sweden 

 Switzerland 

 
AA+ 

 Canada 

 Finland 

 U.S.A. 

 
AA 

 Abu Dhabi (UAE) 

 France 

 
AA- 

 Belgium 

 Hong Kong 

 U.K. 

 
Specified and Non-Specified Investments 
 
The distinction between specified and non-specified investments is important because of the additional 
procedures that need to be undertaken in considering the risk attached to non-specified investments. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 123



Page 22  

 

 

Specified Investments 
 
Statutory Guidance on Investments defines specified investments as ones having the following 
characteristics: 
 

 Denominated in sterling 

 The duration is 12 months or less 

 The investment is high quality or is with the UK Government or a Local Authority 
 

High quality is determined by reference to the matrix table included in the creditworthiness policy. 

 
Table 5 - Limits on Specified Investments 

 

 
 Minimum 

credit 
criteria / 
colour band 

** Max % of total 
investments / £ 
limit per 
institution 

 
Max. maturity period 

 
Money Market Funds CNAV 

 
AAA 

 
100% 

 
Liquid 

 
Money Market Funds LNVAV 

 
AAA 

 
100% 

 
Liquid 

 
Money Market Funds VNAV 

 
AAA 

 
100% 

 
Liquid 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds 
with a credit score of 1.25 

 
AAA 

 
100% 

 
Liquid 

Page 124



 Minimum 
credit 
criteria / 
colour band 

** Max % of total 
investments / £ 
limit per 
Institution 

 
Max. maturity period 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit 

score of 1.5 

 
AAA 

 
100% 

 
Liquid 

 
Local authorities 

 
yellow 

 
100% 

 
12 months 

 

 
Term deposits with banks and building societies 
or housing associations 

 

Blue 
Orange 

Red 
Green 

No Colour 

 

 
As per lending 

limits table 

 

12 months 
12 months 
6 months 
100 days 
Not for use 

 

 
CDs or corporate bonds with banks and building 
societies 

 

Blue 
Orange 

Red 
Green 

No Colour 

 

 
As per lending 

limits table 

 

12 months 
12 months 
6 months 
100 days 
Not for use 

UK government debt Yellow 100% 12 months 

Non-Specified Investments 

 
These are any investments which do not meet the specified investment criteria. 
 
As far as the MCA is concerned, Non-specified investments represent those with a 
duration of more than one year, and/or are more complex instruments which 
require greater consideration by members and officers before being authorised for 
use. 

 

The table below illustrates the types of non-specified investments that are 
currently being invested in or could be considered at a future date.  The list is not 
however intended to be exhaustive and may be expanded as other types of 
investment are investigated. 

 
Table 6 - Limits on Non-Specified Investments 

 

Duration of more than one year 
* Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

** Max % of total 
investments 

Max. maturity period 

Term deposits – local authorities N/A 100% 10 years 

Term deposits – banks and building 
societies 

Purple £30m 2 years 

 

UK Government Debt 

 

Yellow 

 

100% 

 

5 years 

 
NB: The Authority will review the limits for other ‘non specified’ investments such Short dated bond funds/ Property 
Funds/ Multi Income Asset Funds as during 2023/24  

 
 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Appendix B 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority  
 

           

 

 

Treasury Management Policy & Practices 2023/24  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 127



 

 

 

Version Control: 

Version No Date Changed Changed By 

1.0 19/01/22 M Thomas 

2.0 11/02/2023 I Rooth 

   

   

   

   

   

 

 

Page 128



 

 

Contents 

 
 
 

Treasury Management Policy Statement..... 

 

 
Treasury Management Practices..... 

 
TMP 1 Treasury risk management 

 
TMP 2 Performance measurement 

 
 

TMP 3 Decision–making and analysis 

 
 

TMP 4 Approved instruments, methods and techniques 

 

TMP 5 
Authority, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, and 

dealing arrangements 

 

TMP 6 
Reporting requirements and management information 

arrangements 

 
TMP 7 Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements 

 
 

TMP 8 Cash and cash flow management 

 
 

TMP 9 Money laundering 

 
 

TMP 10 Training and qualifications 

 
 

TMP 11 Use of external service providers 

 
 

TMP 12 Corporate governance 

 
TMP13 

Investment management practices for non-treasury 

investments 
 
 
Annex A SYMCA’s Approach / Policy to ESG Issues 

 
 

Page 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
4 

 

14 

 
 

16 

 
 

18 

 

 
20 

 

 
24 

 
 

27 

 
 

28 

 
 

29 

 
 

31 

 
 

32 

 
 

34 

 
 

35 
 

36 
 

 

Page 129



 

 

The Treasury Management Policy Statement 

The treasury management policy statement 

South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority (SYMCA) defines its treasury management activities 
as: 

1. The management of the Authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money 

market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 

those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

2. This Authority regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to  be 

the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be 

measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will 

focus on their risk implications for the Authority, and any financial instruments entered 

into to manage these risks. 

3. SYMCA acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support towards 

the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore committed to the 

principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, and to employing 

suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within the context of 

effective risk management. 

 
 

Clauses to be formally adopted 

1. SYMCA will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury management: 

 a Treasury Management Policy Statement (TMSS), stating the policies, objectives 

and approach to risk management of its treasury management activities 

 suitable Treasury Management Practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in which 

the Authority will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how 

it will manage and control those activities. 

The content of the policy statement and TMPs will follow the recommendations 

contained in Sections 6 and 7 of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code (the Code), 

subject only to amendment where necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of 

this Authority. Such amendments will not result in the Authority materially deviating from 

the Code’s key principles. 

2. SYMCA will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and 

activities, including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, 

quarterly monitoring reports and an annual report after its close, in the form prescribed 

in its TMPs. 

3. SYMCA delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring of its 

treasury management policies and practices as well as the execution and administration 

of treasury management decisions to the Executive Director Resources and Investment, who 

will act in accordance with the Authority’s policy statement and TMPs. 

4. This Authority nominates the Audit Standards and Risk Committee to be responsible 

for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 

Page 130



 

 

TMP 1 RISK MANAGEMENT 

The responsible officer (in the case of SYMCA, the Executive Director Resources and 

Investment) will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the identification, 

management and control of treasury management risk, will report at least annually on the 

adequacy/suitability thereof, and will report, as a matter of urgency, the circumstances of any 

actual or likely difficulty in achieving the Authority’s objectives in this respect, all in accordance 

with the procedures set out in TMP6 (‘Reporting requirements and management information 

arrangements’). In respect of each of the following risks, the arrangements which seek to 

ensure compliance with these objectives are set out in the schedule to this document. 

1. Credit and Counterparty Risk Management 

Credit and counter-party risk is the risk of failure by a counterparty to meet its contractual 

obligations to the Authority under an investment, capital project or partnership financing, 

particularly as a result of the counterparty’s diminished creditworthiness, and the resulting 

detrimental effect on the Authority’s capital or current (revenue) resources. 

This Authority regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the security 

of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its counterparty lists and limits 

reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with whom funds may be deposited, and will 

limit its investment activities to the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP4 

(‘Approved Instruments Methods And Techniques’) and listed in the schedule to this 

document. It also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal 

counterparty policy in respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, or with whom                       

it may enter into other financing arrangements. 

             Policy on the use of credit risk analysis techniques 

1. SYMCA will use credit criteria in order to select creditworthy counterparties for placing 

investments with. 

2. Credit ratings will be used as supplied from all three rating agencies - Fitch, Moodys and 

Standard & Poors. 

3. Treasury Management Consultants will provide regular updates of changes to all ratings relevant 
to SYMCA. 

4. The responsible officer will formulate suitable criteria for assessing and monitoring the credit risk 
of investment counterparties and shall construct a lending list comprising maturity periods, type, 
group, sector, country and counterparty limits. This Authority will use the Link Group 
creditworthiness service based on using colours determined by minimum combinations of ratings 
to derive maturity limits as follows: - 

 
 

 

Colour Band Duration 

Yellow 5 years * 

Dark pink 5 years for Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25 

Light pink 5 years for Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5 

Purple  2 years 

Blue  1 year   (only applies to nationalised/semi nationalised UK Banks) 

Orange 1 year 

Red  6 months 

Green  100 days   

No colour  not to be used  

 

Page 131



 

 

  

5. In addition, a credit default swap overlay is used as a further safeguard to give early warning 

of potential creditworthiness problems which may only belatedly lead to actual changes in 

credit ratings. As this methodology is complex, readers are referred to the Suggested 

Credit List produced by Link Asset Services which lists counterparties by creditworthiness 

under the Link Group’s colour rating scheme.  

 
6. Credit ratings for individual counterparties can change at any time. The Executive Director 

Resources and Investment is responsible for applying approved credit rating criteria for 

selecting approved counterparties. Treasury management staff will add or delete 

counterparties to/from the approved counterparty list in line with the policy on criteria for 

selection of counterparties. 

7. This Authority will not rely solely on credit ratings in order to select and monitor the 

creditworthiness of counterparties. In addition to credit ratings it will therefore use other 

sources of information including: - 

 The quality financial press;
 Market data;
 Information on government support for banks; and

 The credit ratings of that government support.

8. Maximum maturity periods and amounts to be placed in different types of investment 

instrument are shown below. At present the maximum investment period for Specified 

Investments is 3 months. That limit reflects SYMCA’s funding arrangements. 

9. Diversification: this Authority will avoid concentrations of lending and borrowing  by 

adopting a policy of diversification. It will therefore use the following: - 

 Maximum amount to be placed with any one institution - limits 

considered annually having regard to creditworthiness rating and 

specified in the Investment Strategy.

 Country limits – a minimum sovereign rating of AA- is required for an 

institution to be placed on our approved lending list. However, UK banks 

will be considered regardless of the UK’s sovereign rating at the time of 

investment.

10. Investments will not be made with counterparties that do not have a credit rating in their 

own right. 

11. The definition of ‘high credit quality’ in order to determine what are specified investments 

as opposed to non-specified investments which do not have high credit ratings is set out at 

the end of TMP1 in schedule 1. SYMCA will not use non-specified investments. 

12. In line with the 2021 Treasury Management Code, SYMCA will adopt an ethical, social and 

governance (ESG) approach to its future investments. However this a developing area with 

a diversity of market approaches to ESG classification.  This means that a consistent and 

developed approach to ESG for SYMCA/ all public service organisations is currently difficult. As 

such, a specific Investment Policy and Practice for ESG will be developed over the course 

of 2023/24. 

 
1.2 Liquidity Risk Management 

This is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective 

management of liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the Authority’s 

Page 132



 

 

business/service objectives will be thereby compromised. 

This Authority will ensure it has adequate cash resources to enable it to discharge its 

affairs and mitigate insolvency risk. SYMCA will maintain a reserve strategy designed to 

enable the Authority  to react to financial shock. 

Amounts of approved minimum cash balances and short-term investments 

SYMCA’s current accounts with its own bank are interest bearing. SYMCA will aim to hold 

not less than £1m at any time with its own bank in same day access accounts and will aim 

to hold not more than £10m to limit its exposure risk. SYMCA recognises that there will be 

occasions when both aspirations may not be able to be met due to unforeseen cash flow 

adjustments. In those circumstances SYMCA will redress the situation as soon as 

practicably possible. 

 Details of: 

a. Standby facilities 

SYMCA’s investment strategy is designed to ensure it has ready access to 

sufficient cash balances to both manage its day-to-day business and manage 

financial shock. SYMCA will retain at least £1m in liquid cash with its own bank 

at any point. 

b. Short-term borrowing facilities 
SYMCA has a net overdraft facility of £50k. It also has access to the highly liquid inter 
local authority market, and has access to borrowing for periods of between 1 and 50 
years from PWLB (Public Works Loan Board). 

c. Insurance/guarantee facilities 

Whilst retaining general insurance provisions, SYMCA does not specifically 

insure financial transactions nor enter into factoring arrangements. SYMCA’s 

operations are underpinned by an effective guarantee from its four constituent 

member authorities.  

 

1.3 Interest Rate Risk Management 

This represents the risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest rates create an 

unexpected or unbudgeted burden on the Authority’s finances, against which the 

Authority has failed to protect itself adequately. 

 
For SYMCA, this risk is relatively negligible as its loan portfolio entirely comprises fixed 

interest rate arrangements. Instead, interest rate fluctuations only impact upon the rate 

of interest generated on short-term deposits held to manage cash flow. 

 
To limit this exposure, SYMCA takes an extremely prudent view of deposit investment 

income when setting the budget for the forthcoming year. Accordingly, fluctuations in 

interest rates and cash balances does not have a material impact upon SYMCA’s ability 

to resource its expenditure plans. 
 

Policies concerning the use of instruments for interest rate management. 

a. forward dealing 

Consideration will be given to dealing from forward periods dependent upon 

market conditions. 

b. callable deposits 

Page 133



 

 

SYMCA may use callable deposits as part as of its Annual Investment Strategy (AIS). 

 
1.4 Exchange Rate Risk Management 

This represents the risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates create an unexpected 

or unbudgeted burden on the Authority’s finances, against which the Authority has failed 

to protect itself adequately. 

SYMCA does not have material expenditure denominated in foreign currencies and does 

not expect  to do so into the future. 

1.5 Refinancing Risk Management 

SYMCA routinely explores options for repayment of expensive legacy debt. The previous 

low interest rate environment meant that early redemption costs would not have 

represented good value for money but as rates have risen significantly over the past 12 

months, this will be considered in more depth in future. SYMCA is not exposed to risk 

around the refinancing of maturing debt. 

 

Debt/Other Capital Financing, Maturity Profiling, Policies and Practices 

SYMCA has adopted a Minimum Revenue Provision Policy, the aim of which is to ensure 

that the Authority generates sufficient cash to repay all legacy debt.  

 

Projected Capital Investment Requirements 

The Executive Director Resources and Investment will prepare a three-year plan for 

capital expenditure for SYMCA. These expenditure plans will be presented to the MCA 

Board as part of the annual budget report. The Authority will seek to reduce borrowing 

by maximizing the use of capital grant wherever possible. 

The definition of capital expenditure used in the Code will follow recommended 

accounting practice as per the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 

 

Policy Concerning Limits on Affordability and Revenue Consequences of Capital 

Financing 

The Authority will agree an annual borrowing limit with HM Treasury. When negotiating 

the limit, the Authority will have regard to the long-term affordability of its capital 

expenditure plans. 

 
1.6 Legal and Regulatory Risk Management 

This represents the risk that the Authority itself, or an organisation with which it is dealing 

in its treasury management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or 

regulatory requirements, and that the Authority suffers losses accordingly. 

This Authority will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with its 

statutory powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such compliance, if 

required to do so, to all parties with whom it deals in such activities. In framing its credit 

and counterparty policy under TMP1[1] credit and counterparty risk management, it will 

ensure that there is evidence of counterparties’ powers, authority and compliance in 

respect of the transactions they may affect with the Authority, particularly with regard to 

Page 134



 

 

duty of care and fees charged. 

This Authority recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on  its 

treasury management activities and, so far as it is reasonably possible to do so, will seek 

to minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the Authority. 

References to Relevant Statutes and Regulations 

The treasury management activities of SYMCA shall comply fully with legal statute, 

guidance, Codes of Practice and the regulations of SYMCA. These are: 
 

 Local Government Finance Act 1988 section 114 – duty on the responsible officer 
to issue a report if SYMCA is likely to get into a financially unviable position. 

 Requirement to set a balanced budget - Local Government Finance Act 1992 
section 32 for billing authorities and section 43 for major precepting authorities. 

 Local Government Act 2003 

 S.I. 2003 No.2938 Local Government Act 2003 (Commencement No.1 
and Transitional Provisions and Savings) Order 2003 13.11.03 

 S.I. 2003 No.3146 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 and associated commentary 10.12.03 

 S.I. 2004 No.533 Local Authorities (Capital Finance) (Consequential, Transitional 
and Savings Provisions) Order 2004 8.3.04 

 S.I. 2004 No.534 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2004 8.3.04 

 S.I. 2004 no. 3055 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (Amendment) (England) (No. 2) Regulations 2004 

 S.I. 2006 no. 521 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2006 

 S.I. 2007 no. 573 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2007 

 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 s238(2) – power 
to issue guidance; to be used re: MRP 

 S.I. 2008 no. 414 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2008 

 S.I. 2009 no. 321 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2009 

 S.I. 2009 no. 2272 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance And 
Accounting) (England) (Amendment) (No.2) Regulations 2009 

 S.I. 2009 no. 3093 The Local Government Pension Fund Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 

 S.I. 2010 no. 454 (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) (England) 
Regulations 2010 

 Localism Act 2011 
 S.I. 2012 no. 265 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 

(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 

 S.I. 2012 No. 711 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2012 

 S.I. 2012 No. 1324 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) (Amendment) (No.3) Regulations 2012 

 S.I. 2012 No. 2269 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) (Amendment) (No. 4) Regulations 2012 

 S.I. 2013 no. 476 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 

 S.I. 2015 no. 234 Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

  

Page 135



 

 

 

Guidance and codes of practice 
 CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 2021 
 CIPFA Treasury Management Code 2021 
 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Guidance Notes for Local 

Authorities 2021  
 MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Local Authority Investments in England 2018 
 MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision 2018 
 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: A 

Statement of recommended Practice 
 The Market in Financial Instruments Directive II 
 CIPFA Practitioners’ Guide to Capital Finance in Local Government 2018 

 CIPFA Local Authority Capital Accounting - a reference manual for practitioners 
2014 Edition 

 CIPFA Guide for Chief Financial Officers on Treasury Management in 
Local Authorities 1996 

 CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management 2002 

 CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Continuous professional Development 
2005 

 CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Ethics 2006 
 The Good Governance Standard for Public Services 2004 
 LAAP Bulletins 
 PWLB circulars on Lending Policy 
 The Non-Investment Products Code (NIPS) - (formerly known as The London 

Code of Conduct) for principals and broking firms in the wholesale markets. 
 Financial Conduct Authority’s Code of Market Conduct 

 SYMCA’s Standing Orders relating to Contracts 

 SYMCA’s Financial Regulations 

 SYMCA’s Scheme of Delegated Functions 
 

Procedures for Evidencing SYMCA’s Powers/Authorities to Counterparties 

Under the terms of the Devolution Deal SYMCA can extend its borrowing powers to non-
transport activity, subject to legislation being laid before Parliament and agreement on an 
annual borrowing limit with HM Treasury. The Authority will use the legislation as evidence of 
its borrowing powers, along with its treasury management strategy approved by the MCA 
Board.  

SYMCA will make available on request the scheme of delegation of treasury  management 
activities contained in this document, which states: 

 which officers carry out specified duties 

 which officers are the authorised signatories 
 

Required Information on Counterparties 

Lending shall only be made to counterparties on the Approved Lending list. This list has 

been compiled using advice from SYMCA’s treasury advisers (Link Asset Services) 

based upon credit ratings supplied by Fitch, Moodys and Standard & Poors. 

Statement on SYMCA’s Political Risks and Management of Same 

The Executive Director Resources and Investment shall take appropriate action with 

SYMCA, the Chief Executive Officer  and the Chair of SYMCA to respond to and manage 

appropriately political risks. 

 

Monitoring Officer 

Page 136



 

 

It is the duty of the monitoring officer to ensure that the treasury management activities 

of SYMCA are lawful. 

Chief Financial Officer 

The Chief Financial Officer is the Executive Director Resources and Investment, also 

referred to as the Section 73 Officer. The duty of this officer is to ensure that the financial 

affairs of SYMCA are conducted in a prudent manner and to make a report  to SYMCA if 

he/she has concerns as to the financial prudence of its actions or its expected financial 

position. 

 

1.7 Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency Management 

This represents the risk that SYMCA fails to identify the circumstances in which it may 

be exposed to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its 

treasury management dealings, and fails to employ suitable systems and procedures 

and maintain effective contingency management arrangements to these ends. It 

includes the area of risk commonly referred to as operational risk. 

SYMCA will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the 

risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its treasury 

management dealings. Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and 

will maintain  effective contingency management arrangements, to these ends. 

SYMCA will therefore:- 

a) Seek to ensure an adequate division of responsibilities and maintenance at all 
times of an adequate level of internal checks which minimises such risks. 

b) Fully document all its treasury management activities so that there can be no 
possible confusion as to what proper procedures are. 

c) Staff will not be allowed to take up treasury management activities until they have 
had proper training in procedures and are then subject to an adequate and 
appropriate level of supervision. 

d) Records will be maintained of all treasury management transactions so that there 
is a full audit trail and evidence of the appropriate checks being carried out. 

 
 

Details of Systems and Procedures to be Followed, Including Internet Services 

Authority 

 The Scheme of Delegation to Officers sets out the delegation of duties to officers. 
 All investments are negotiated by the responsible officer or authorised persons. 

 

Procedures 

 The Barclays.net electronic banking procedures includes internet access to 
SYMCA’s  bank account for both account information and payment transactions. 

 Access to the Barclays.net system, and all approvals thereon, are secured 
through chip/pin cards and/or  biometric scanners unique to the fingerprint of 
each individual. 

 Authorisation of payments, the creation and amendment of bank templates, 
and administrative changes all require two approvers to consent. 

 Individual payment transactions require two individuals: one transaction 
originator, and one approver. 

 Encrypted payment files are generated from the Epicor system into a secure 

Page 137



 

 

location, and then uploaded into the APT BACS payment website. Once 
uploaded and signed by the processor then approver must also sign to send 
the payment file to BACS. 

 Upon upload to APT the program automatically compares supplier bank details 
within the file against those from the previous payment to the suppliers(s) and 
highlights any changes. These are then then investigated for authenticity. 

 Manual bank payments not generated from the Accounts Payable module will be 
supported by a package of information and electronic signatures from 
appropriate approvers to mimic the Accounts Payable approval process. These 
are keyed manually into Barclays.NET and follow the same dual card 
input/approval process. 

 
 

Investment transactions 

 All investment placements, carried out by Sheffield City Council (SCC) officers, must 
be pre-approved by two authorised approvers, with transaction templates being 
completed by a third officer. 

 Investment redemptions must be approved by one approver, with transaction 
templates being completed by a second officer. 

 Investment redemptions must only be made into the same account that funds 
were transmitted from unless prior approval has been secured from two of 
SYMCA's authorised signatories (Executive Director Resources and Investment 
and Monitoring Officer). 

 The Financial Controller will retain access to documentation of all investment 
decisions held by SCC Treasury, whilst bank transactions will also be retained to 
show approvals of cash transactions through the Barclays.net system. 

 

 
Regularity and security 

 Investments are only made to institutions on the Approved List of 
Counterparties. 

 Funds available for investment will be swept into a specific 
Barclays account held by the SYMCA (sweep account). SCC 
Treasury team will have access to this account in order to make 
investments on behalf of the Authority, under the terms of its 
service legal agreement. 

 All investments will be returned to SYMCA’s sweep account.  

 Counterparty limits are set for every institution that SYMCA invests with. 

 Brokers, agents, and direct bank contacts have a list of named officials 
authorised to agree deals. 

 There is a separation of duties between dealers and the checking and 
authorisation of all deals. All deals require pre-approval by two approvers with 
an independent third check on details. 

 SYMCA’s bank holds a list of officials who are authorised signatories for 
treasury management transactions. 

 The Barclays.net system can be accessed by either a chin/pin card or a 
biometric scanner    recognising the unique fingerprint of an authorised user. 

 All transactions that involve cash leaving the bank account require one  
approver and one processor. 

 All administrative changes within the Barclays.net system require two system 
administrators. 

 All inter-account transfers require one approver and one processor. 

 There is adequate insurance cover for employees involved in loans 
management and accounting. 

Page 138



 

 

 

Checks 

 The bank reconciliation is carried out monthly from the bank statement to 
the  financial ledger and presented to the Financial Controller for review. 

 An analysis of the investment portfolio is prepared to support each investment 
decision. 

 An investment income listing is produced monthly by SCC Treasury 
and reviewed on a quarterly basis against the budget for interest 
earnings and debt costs. 

 

Calculations 
 The Financial Controller will maintain analysis to ensure investment income paid to 

SYMCA    is correct. 

 
Emergency and Contingency Planning Arrangements  -  
Disaster Recovery Plan. 

 

SYMCA’s main Business Continuity Plan includes a detailed section covering the 
essential financial systems and procedures, including banking, payments and revenue 
collection. All members of the Finance team are familiar with this plan and new members 
will be briefed on it. The plan is reviewed and updated at regular intervals with both paper 
and electronic copies being available. 

 
SYMCA’s plan is based upon remote working and access to Cloud and web-based systems. 

All computer files are backed up in the Cloud to enable files to be accessed from remote 
sites. 

 

Insurance Cover Details 

A full suite of insurance policies is maintained by SYMCA insurance brokers including: 

 Premises 

 Business Interruption Employers liability 

 Legal expenses 

 Terrorism 

 Directors’ and officers’ liability 

 Employment practices liability 

 Corporate legal liability 

 Business travel 
 Cyber security and 
 Professional Indemnity Insurance 

 
1.8 Market Risk Management 

 
 This represents the risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the 

principal sums an Authority borrows and invests, its stated treasury management 

policies and objectives are compromised, against which effects it has failed to protect 

itself adequately. 

SYMCA will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and objectives 

will  not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums 

it  invests, and will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations. 

 
 Details of Approved Procedures and Limits for Controlling Exposure to 

Investments Whose Capital Value May Fluctuate (Gilts, CDs, Etc.) 

Page 139



 

 

SYMCA will not invest in instruments which are susceptible to capital fluctuations. 

SYMCA will limit its investments to term deposits and constant and low volatility net 

asset money market funds. 

Page 140



 

 

TMP 2 PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 

 
2.1 Evaluation and Review of Treasury Management Decisions 

SYMCA has a number of approaches to evaluating treasury management decisions, including: 

a. Weekly review reports from our treasury management consultants detailing 
current markets, forecasts and model portfolio returns. 

b. Monthly reviews carried out by the Executive Director Resources and Investment and the 
Financial Controller. 

c. Annual review of performance and strategy with our treasury management 
consultants. 

d. Comparative reviews. 

 
2.2 Reviews with our treasury management consultants 

The Financial Controller meets with Link Asset Services every 6 months to review the 

performance of the investment portfolios and discuss emerging market issues. 

2.3 Annual Review after the end of the financial year 

In addition to the mid-year Treasury Management report to the MCA Board, the end of 

March out-turn report includes an annual treasury management report which reviews the 

performance of the investment portfolio. This report contains the following: 

 total investments at the beginning and close of the financial year and average 
investment rates 

 investment strategy for the year compared to actual strategy 
 explanations for variance between original strategies and actual 
 actual investment rates available through the year 
 comparison of return on investments to the investment benchmark 
 compliance with Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

 
2.4 Comparative reviews 

When data becomes available, comparative reviews are undertaken to see how the 
performance of the Authority on investments compares to other comparable 
authorities. Data can be sourced from CIPFA Treasury Management statistics 
published each year for the last complete financial year and Link Asset Services’ 
model portfolio. 

 
Any comparative review will note the particular funding arrangements which 
define SYMCA’s  approach to cash flow management and its resulting investment 
strategy.

Page 141



 

 

2.5 Benchmarks and Calculation Methodology: 

 
Investment 

The performance of investment earnings will be measured against the suggested target 

investments returns on short term deposits of c. 3 months duration provided by the 

Authority’s treasury advisors from time to time in their Updated Interest Rate Forecasts.  

 
2.6 Policy concerning methods for testing Value for Money in Treasury Management 

 

            Frequency and processes for tendering 

SYMCA’s bank was appointed on a three-year contract, and its Treasury Advisors on a one- 

year contract with options for extension. The length of future appointments will be considered 

at the point of retender exercises. 

Banking services 

SYMCA’s banking arrangements were procured by Sheffield City Council and SYPTE’s 

banking arrangements were procured by officers of SYPTE - via competitive tenders. SYPTE’s 

bank (Barclays) was appointed in April 2021 for a 3-year period and this banking contract will 

incorporate SYMCA bank accounts in readiness for the formal integration of the two 

organisations. 

Money-broking services 

SYMCA may use money broking services in order to make deposits and will establish charges 

for all services prior to using them. SYMCA will also make use of money-market fund portals, 

and will review options prior to contracting. 

Consultants’/advisers’ services 

SYMCA retains professional external advice from Link Asset Services. 
 

Policy on External Managers (Other than relating to Superannuation Funds) 

SYMCA’s policy is not to appoint external investment fund managers. 

Page 142



 

 

TMP 3 DECISION-MAKING AND ANALYSIS 

3.1 Investment and New Instruments/Techniques: 
 

 Records to be kept 
The following records will be retained:- 
 Internal investment decision templates. 
 Investment confirmation documentation received from direct investments. 
 Broker confirmation slips as necessary. 
 Bank approval documentation. 

 
Processes to be pursued 
 Cash flow analysis. 
 Investment maturity analysis. 
 Ledger reconciliation. 
 Investment returns review 

 

 
3.2       In respect of every treasury management decision made SYMCA will: 

 Above all, be clear about the nature and extent of the risks to which SYMCA 
may  become exposed; 

 Be certain about the legality of the decision reached and the nature of the 
transaction, and that all authorities to proceed have been obtained; 

 Ensure that the appropriate internal approvals have been secured; 

 Be content that the documentation is adequate both to deliver SYMCA’s 
objectives and protect SYMCA’s interests, and to deliver good housekeeping; 

 Ensure that third parties are judged satisfactory in the context of 
SYMCA’s  creditworthiness policies, and that limits have not been 
exceeded; and 

 Be content that the terms of any transactions have been fully checked against 
the market and have been found to be competitive. 

Page 143



 

 

TMP 4 APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES 

4.1  Approved Treasury Management Activities 

 Investment management 

 Cash management, including the management of cash flows 

 Bank account management and administration 

 Borrowing 

 
4.2  Approved Instruments for Investments 

Refer to the Treasury Management Strategy. 
 

4.3  Approved Techniques 

 Forward dealing 
 The use of structured products such as callable deposits 

 
4.4  Investment Limits 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the limits and the guidelines for 

use of each type of investment instrument. 

 

4.5  Borrowing Strategy 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the Authority’s borrowing 

strategy which, in summary, is to meet any borrowing need for the year internally from 

treasury investments rather than taking out external borrowing.

Page 144



 

 

TMP 5 Authority, Clarity and Segregation of Responsibilities, and 

Dealing Arrangements 

 
5.1 Allocation of responsibilities 

 

 SYMCA Board 

 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and 
activities. 

 approval of annual treasury management strategy. 

 approval of capital strategy and capital programme. 

 approval of annual revenue budget. 

Audit & Standards Committee 
 

 recommendation of amendments to the Authority’s adopted clauses, treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices 

 approval of the division of responsibilities 

 reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the responsible body. 

 

5.2 Principles and Practices Concerning Segregation of Duties 

 SYMCA ensures a division of duties in the following manner: 
 

Investment placement – internal parameters 
Deals must be pre-approved by two authorised approvers, with documentation reviewed in 
advance by a third officer. 

 
Investment placement – money market funds 
The ICD money market portal is configured to allow for a pool of traders and a pool of 
approvers. All transactions require one individual from the pool to enter transactions, and one 
individual from the pool to approve the transaction. 

 
Bank transactions 
All transactions must be approved by authorised approvers. An approver cannot also be 
a transactor for the same transaction. 

 

Investment redemption 
All redemptions must be pre-approved by one authorised approver, with documentation 
reviewed in advance by a second officer. 

 
Ledger input 
All banking journals require approval from an officer different to he/she who entered the 
journal. 

 
Bank reconciliations 
Bank reconciliations must be approved by the Financial Controller or nominated deputy. 

 

Bank administration 
Bank administration changes can only be proposed by the Executive Director Resources 
and Investment or the Assistant Director. 

 

Page 145



 

 

Authorised officers for account opening 
The Executive Director Resources and Investment, the Monitoring Officer, and the Chief 
Executive are authorised officers for the purposes of account opening. Changes to account 
conditions requires approval from those officers signatory to the account opening. 

 
5.3  Treasury Management Authority Chart 

 
Approver Group: 
Executive Director Resources and Investment, Assistant Director, Financial Controller, Senior 
Finance Business Partner, Financial Services Manager, Principal Accountant. 
 
Transaction Group: 
Financial Services Manager, Senior Revenues Officer, Payments Officer 

 
 The responsible officer 

The responsible officer is the person charged with professional responsibility for the 

treasury management function and in SYMCA is the Executive Director Resources and 

Investment (This post is also  the S73 officer.) This officer will carry out the following duties:- 

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting cyclical treasury management policy reports; 
 submitting budgets and budget variations; 
 receiving and reviewing management information reports; 

 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 
 recommending the appointment of external service providers; 

 The responsible officer has powers to make the most appropriate form of investments 
in approved instruments; 

 The responsible officer may delegate his power to invest to members of his staff, 
principally the Financial Controller, to act as temporary cover for leave/sickness; 

 The responsible officer will ensure that Treasury Management Policy is adhered to, 
and if not, will bring the matter to the attention of elected members as soon as possible; 
and 

 It is also the responsibility of the responsible officer to ensure that SYMCA complies  
with the requirements of The Non Investment Products Code (TMP13). 

Page 146



 

 

 (formerly known as The London Code of Conduct) for principals and broking firms in 
the wholesale markets. 

 

 Financial Controller 

The responsibilities of this post will be: - 
 adherence to agreed policies and practices on a day-to-day basis; 
 maintaining relationships with counterparties and external service providers; 
 supervising staff; 
 monitoring performance on a day-to-day basis; 
 submitting management information reports to the responsible officer; 
 identifying and recommending opportunities for improved practices. 

 

 The Head of the Paid Service – the Chief Executive 

The responsibilities of this post will be: - 

 Ensuring that the system is specified and implemented; 

 Ensuring that the responsible officer reports as required to SYMCA Board 
and                          Audit Standards and Risk Committee on treasury policy, activity and 
performance. 

 

 The Monitoring Officer 

The responsibilities of this post will be: - 

 Ensuring compliance by the responsible officer with the treasury management 
policy statement and treasury management practices and that they comply 
with the law; 

 Being satisfied that any proposal to vary treasury policy or practice complies 
with law or any code of practice; 

 Giving advice to the responsible officer when advice is sought. 
 

 Internal Audit 

The responsibilities of Internal Audit will be: - 

 Reviewing compliance with approved policy and treasury management 
practices; 

 Reviewing division of duties and operational practice; 
 Assessing value for money from treasury activities; 

 Undertaking probity audit of treasury function. 
 

5.5 Absence Cover Arrangements 

The Assistant Director is also the deputy S73 Officer. The Assistant Director will also 

ensure that cover is available for the Financial Controller role and other officers as  

necessary. 

 

5.6 Dealing Limits 

The following posts are authorised to approve transactions. At all times at least two pre- 
approvals must be granted to enter into transactions: 

 

 The Executive Director Resources and Investment. 

 The Assistant Director. 

 The Financial Controller. 

Page 147



 

 

5.7 Policy on Brokers’ Services 

It is SYMCA’s policy to rotate business between brokers. 
 

5.8 Policy on Taping of Conversations 

It is not SYMCA’s policy to tape brokers conversations. 
 

5.9 Direct Dealing Practices 

SYMCA will deal directly with counterparties if it is appropriate and SYMCA believes 

that better terms will be available. Direct dealing includes transactions with money 

market funds and banks through fixed-term deposit accounts. 

 
5.10 Settlement Transmission Procedures 

All investments will be settled through Barclays.net using the segregation of duties 

detailed. 

5.11 Documentation Requirements 

For each deal undertaken a record should be prepared giving details of dealer, 

amount, period, counterparty, interest rate, dealing date, payment date(s), broker. 

5.12 Arrangements Concerning the Management of Third-Party Funds. 

SYMCA does not currently manage any third-party funds. 
 

5.13 Authorised Signatories 

The SYMCA Finance Director (S.73 officer) and Assistant Director (Deputy S.73 

officer), are authorized  signatories on the bank mandate for the time being to enable 

SCC to provide treasury services under the SLA. 

Page 148



 

 

TMP 6 Reporting Requirements and Management 

Information Arrangements 

6.1 Annual programme of reporting 
 

a) Annual reporting requirements before the start of the year: - 

 review of the Authority’s approved clauses, treasury management policy 
statement and practices; and 

 strategy report on proposed treasury management activities for the 

year comprising of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 

the Annual Investment Strategy. 

b) Quarterly Treasury Management update reports; 
c) Annual review report after the end of the year within the out-turn Financial Monitoring 

Report. 

 

6.2 Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) 

1. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the specific expected treasury 
activities for the forthcoming financial year. This strategy will be submitted to the 
SYMCA Board for approval before the commencement of each financial year. 

 
2. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement seeks to ensure that: 

 
a) The MCA’s overarching Borrowing strategy is appropriate in the context of the current 

economic climate;  
b) The MCA Group’s capital plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable (as measured 

via a series of prudential indicators); 
c) Prudent charges are made to revenue for the repayment of debt by adopting a Minimum 

Revenue provision (MRP) policy that is compliant with statutory MRP guidance; 
d) Investments and borrowings are organised in accordance with the MCA’s risk appetite 

(as measured via a series of treasury indicators); and  
e) The MCA Group’s Investment Strategy pays due regard to security (the 

management of risk and the protection of the principal sums invested) and 
liquidity (availability of cash to meet liabilities as they fall due) as first 
priorities and then what level of return (yield) can be obtained based on risk 
appetite and the contribution each investment activity makes. 

 

3. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement will establish the expected move in 
interest rates against alternatives (using all available information such as published 
interest rate forecasts where applicable) and highlight sensitivities to different 
scenarios. 

 
 

6.3 The Annual Investment Strategy 

Included within the Treasury Management Strategy Statement is the report on the 
Annual Investment Strategy which sets out the following: - 

a) SYMCA’s risk appetite in respect of security, liquidity and optimum performance; 

b) The definition of high credit quality to determine what are specified investments 
as distinct from non-specified investments; 

c) Which specified and non-specified instruments SYMCA will use – if at all; 

d) Whether they will be used by the in-house team, external managers or both (if 

Page 149



 

 

applicable); 

e) SYMCA’s policy on the use of credit ratings and other credit risk analysis 
techniques to determine creditworthy counterparties for its approved lending list; 

f) Which credit rating agencies SYMCA will use; 

g) How SYMCA will deal with changes in ratings, rating watches and rating outlooks; 

h) Limits for individual counterparties and group limits; 

i) Country limits; 

j) Levels of cash balances; 

k) Interest rate outlook; 

l) Budget for investment earnings; and 

m) Policy on the use of external service providers. 
 

6.4 Policy on Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

1. SYMCA approves, before the beginning of each financial year, a number of treasury 
limits which are set through Prudential and Treasury Indicators. 

2. The responsible officer (Section 73 officer)  is responsible for incorporating these limits 
into the Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement, and for ensuring 
compliance with the limits. Should it prove necessary to amend these limits, the 
responsible officer shall submit the changes for approval to the SYMCA Board 

 

6.5 Mid-year review 

SYMCA will review its treasury management activities and strategy on at least a 
quarterly basis. This review will consider the following: 

a) activities undertaken; 

b) variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices; 

c) interim performance report; 

d) regular monitoring; and 

e) monitoring of treasury management indicators for local authorities. 
 

6.6 Year-end performance report 

A year-end performance report will go to SYMCA Board as part of the year-end outturn 
report. This report will contain the following information: - 

 
a) any non-compliance with Prudential limits or other treasury management limits; 
b) the position on cash and cash equivalents. 

 
6.7 Publication of Treasury Management Reports 

 

The Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement, the Mid-Year (quarterly 
from 2023/4 onwards) Treasury Management Strategy Update and the Annual 
Treasury Management Report is reviewed at the SYMCA Board. Meeting 
documents are available on SYMCA’s website at https://southyorkshire-
ca.gov.uk/governance 

Page 150



 

 

TMP 7 BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS 

 

7.1 Statutory/Regulatory Requirements 

The accounts are drawn up in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in Great Britain that is recognised by statute as representing proper 
accounting practices. SYMCA has also adopted in full the principles set out in CIPFA’s 
2021 ‘Treasury Management in the Public Services - Code of Practice’ (the ‘CIPFA 
Code’), together with those of its specific recommendations that are relevant to SYMCA’s 
treasury management activities. 

7.2 Sample Budgets / Accounts / Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

The Executive Director Resources and Investment will prepare at least a three-year 
medium-term financial plan with Prudential and Treasury Indicators for treasury 
management which will incorporate the budget for the forthcoming year and provisional 
estimates for the following two years. This will bring together all the costs involved in 
running the function, together with associated income. The Executive Director Resources 
and Investment will exercise effective controls over this budget and  monitoring of 
performance against Prudential and Treasury Indicators and will report upon  and 
recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP6. 

7.3 List of Information Requirements of External Auditors. 
 Calculation of interest on working balances; 
 Interest accrual calculation; 
 Annual Treasury Report; 
 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential and Treasury Indicators; 
 Review of observance of limits set by Prudential and Treasury Indicators; and 
 External fund manager(s) valuations including investment income schedules and 

movement in capital values (if applicable). 

7.4 Monthly Budget Monitoring Report 

Monthly Budget Monitoring reports are produced for the Executive Director Resources 
and Investment and are the basis of the financial information provided to Board members 
and other stakeholders via the Monthly Operating Report. 

Page 151



 

 

TMP 8 Cash and Cash Flow Management 

8.1 Arrangements for Preparing/Submitting Cash Flow Statements 

Cash flow projections are prepared annually and also prepared to support investment 
decisions. The annual cash flow projections are prepared according to known changes 
in levels of income and expenditure and also changes in payments and receipts dates. 
These details are supplemented on an ongoing basis for new or  revised amounts to be 
paid or received as and when they are known. 

8.2 Bank Statements Procedures 

SYMCA reviews its bank accounts on a daily basis, and performs a monthly bank 
reconciliation exercise. These are prepared by the Senior Revenues Officer and reviewed 
by the Financial Controller. 

8.3 Payment Scheduling and Agreed Terms of Trade with Creditors 

SYMCA’s policy is to pay all creditors within the agreed terms of trading. Standard terms within 
the MCA’s purchase orders are 30 days. 

8.4 Arrangements for Monitoring Debtors / Creditors Levels 

The Financial Controller is responsible for monitoring the levels of debtors and creditors. 

8.5 Procedures for Banking of Funds 

SYMCA accepts cash payments via secure on-site retail ticket machines. 
Collection, carrying, and counting of cash is performed by an outsourced cash 
processing contractor. Limited volumes of low value cheques are received and 
banked by a postal service offered by our bankers. 

8.6 Practices Concerning Prepayments to Obtain Benefits 

SYMCA does not prepay liabilities unless there is a sound business reason that is 
aligned  to SYMCA’s risk appetite. Prepayments of liabilities would be authorised by 
the Financial Controller and where necessary the Executive Director Resources and 
Investment. 

Page 152



 

 

TMP 9 Money Laundering 

 

9.1 Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 
 

Money laundering has the objective of concealing the origin of money generated 
through criminal activity. Legislation has given a higher profile to the need to report 
suspicions of money laundering. The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002 
established the main offences relating to money laundering. In summary, these are: 

 concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property 
from England and Wales, from Scotland or from Northern Ireland; 

 being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows or suspects facilitates 
the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property; 

 acquiring, using or possessing criminal property. 

These apply to all persons in the UK in a personal and professional capacity. Any 
person involved in any known or suspected money-laundering activity in the UK risks a 
criminal conviction. Other offences under the POCA include: 

 failure to disclose money-laundering offences; 

 tipping off a suspect, either directly or indirectly; and 

 doing something that might prejudice an investigation – for example, falsifying a 
document. 

9.2 The Terrorism Act 2000 

This act made it an offence of money laundering to become concerned in an 
arrangement relating to the retention or control of property likely to be used for the 
purposes of terrorism, or resulting from acts of terrorism. All individuals and businesses 
in the UK have an obligation to report knowledge, reasonable grounds for belief or 
suspicion about the proceeds from, or finance likely to be used for, terrorism or its 
laundering, where it relates to information that comes to them in the course of their 
business or employment. 

9.3 The Money Laundering Regulations 2012, 2015 & 2017 
 

Organisations pursuing relevant business (especially those in the financial services industry 
regulated by the FCA) are required to do the following: - 

 identify and assess the risks of money laundering and terrorist financing; 

 have policies, controls and procedures to mitigate and manage effectively the risks of money 
laundering and terrorist financing identified through the risk assessments; 

 appoint a nominated officer; 

 implement internal reporting procedures; 

 train relevant staff in the subject; 

 obtain, verify and maintain evidence and records of the identity of new clients and transactions 
undertaken; and 

 report their suspicions.  

9.4 Local authorities 
 

Public service organisations and their staff are subject to the full provisions of the 
Terrorism Act 2000 and subsequent Terrorism Acts and may commit most of the 
principal offences under the POCA, but are not legally obliged to apply the provisions of 
the Money Laundering Regulations 2007, 2012 and 2015. However, as responsible 
public bodies, they should employ policies and procedures which reflect the essence of 

Page 153



 

 

the UK’s anti-terrorist financing, and anti-money laundering, regimes. Accordingly 
SYMCA will do the following: - 

a) evaluate the prospect of laundered monies being handled by them; 

b) determine the appropriate safeguards to be put in place; 

c) require every person engaged in treasury management to make themselves aware 
of their personal and legal responsibilities for money laundering awareness; 

d) make all its staff aware of their responsibilities under POCA; 

e) appoint a member of staff to whom they can report any suspicions. This person is 
the Assistant Director; 

f) in order to ensure compliance is appropriately managed, SYMCA will require senior 
management to give appropriate oversight, analysis and assessment of the risks of 
clients and work/product types, systems for monitoring compliance with procedures 
and methods of communicating procedures and other information to personnel; and 

g) The officer responsible for the creation and monitoring the implementation of a 
corporate anti money laundering policy and procedures is the Assistant Director and 
it shall be a requirement that all teams implement this corporate policy                         and 
procedures. 

9.5 Methodologies for Identifying Deposit Takers 

In the course of its treasury activities, SYMCA will only lend money to or invest with those 

counterparties that are on its approved lending list. These will be local authorities, the 

DMADF, and authorised deposit takers under the Financial Services and Markets Act 

2000. The FSA register can be accessed through their website on 

www.fca.gov.uk. 
 

All transactions will be carried out through the Barclays.net system. 

Page 154

http://www.fca.gov.uk/


 

 

TMP 10 Training and Qualifications 

 

SYMCA recognises that relevant individuals will need appropriate levels of training in 

treasury  management due to its increasing complexity. There are two categories of 

relevant individuals: - 

 Finance officers employed by SYMCA 

 Members charged with governance of the treasury management function 

All treasury management staff should receive appropriate training relevant to the 

requirements of their duties at the appropriate time. SYMCA operates a Personal 

Development Review system which identifies the training requirements of individual 

members of staff engaged on treasury related activities. 

Additionally, training may also be provided on the job and it will be the responsibility of the 

Executive Director Resources and Investment to ensure that all staff under his / her 

authority receive the level of training  appropriate to their duties. This will also apply to those 

staff who from time to time cover for  absences from the treasury management team. 

 
Finally, the 2021 Treasury Management Code also includes an amendment to the knowledge and 
skills register for officers and members involved in the treasury management function - to be 
proportionate to the size and complexity of the treasury management conducted by each authority. 
There will be a process of self assessment for all relevant members and officers during the course 
of 2023/24.   

10.1 Details of Approved Training Courses 

Treasury management staff and members will go on courses provided by our treasury 

management consultants, CIPFA, or other relevant bodies. 

10.2 Records of Training Received by Treasury Staff 

The HR team will maintain records on all staff and the training they receive. 
 

10.3 Record of Secondment of Senior Management 

Records will be kept of senior management who are seconded into the treasury 

management section in order to gain first-hand experience of treasury management 

operations. 

10.4 Statement of Professional Practice (SOPP) 

 Where the Executive Director Resources and Investment or Assistant Director 
is/are a member of ICAEW, there is a professional need for both parties to be 
seen to be committed to professional responsibilities through both personal 
compliance and by ensuring that relevant staff are appropriately trained. 

 All staff involved in treasury management activities must also comply with the SOPP. 

10.5 Member training records 

Records will be kept of all training in treasury management provided to members. 
 

10.6 Members charged with governance 

Members charged with diligence also have a personal responsibility to ensure that 

they have the appropriate skills and training for their role. 

Page 155



 

 

TMP 11 Use of External Service Providers 

 

11.1 Details of Contracts with Service Providers, Including Bankers, Brokers, 
Consultants, Advisers 

SYMCA will employ the services of other organisations to assist it in the field of 

treasury management. In particular, it will use external consultants to provide 

specialist advice in this ever more complex area. However, it will ensure that it fully 

understands what services are being provided and that they meet the needs of this 

Authority, especially in terms of being objective and free from conflicts of interest. 

It will also ensure that the skills of the in-house Finance team are maintained to a 

high enough level whereby they can provide appropriate challenge to external advice 

and can avoid undue reliance on such advice. 

 

Finance officers will therefore be required to allocate appropriate levels of time to 

using the following sources of information so that they are able to develop suitable 

levels of understanding to carry out their duties, especially in challenge and avoiding 

undue reliance. 
 

 The quality financial press; 

 Market data; 

 Information on government support for banks; and 

 The credit ratings of that government support. 
 

11.2 Banking Services 

 SYMCA’s banking provider is Barclays Bank. 

 Barclays Bank is authorised to undertake banking activities by the FSA. 
 

 

 SYMCA’s banking branch address is:  
   Barclays 
   Leicester 
   LE87 2BBB 

 

 The cost of banking services is variable depending on a schedule of 
tariffs set annually applied to volumes of transactions. 

 

 Banking charge payments are due monthly and quarterly. 

Page 156



 

 

 

11.3 Money-Broking Services 

SYMCA does not use the services of money- brokers. 

 

11.4    Treasury Consultancy Services 

SYMCA will seek to take expert advice on interest rate forecasts, annual treasury 

management strategy, timing for borrowing and lending, debt rescheduling, use of 

various borrowing and investment instruments, how to select credit worthy 

counterparties to put on its approved lending list etc. 

 The performance of consultants will be reviewed annually by the Executive 

Director Resources and Investment to check whether performance has met 

expectations. 

 Regulatory status: investment adviser authorised by the FCA 

 Name of supplier of service is Link Group, Link Treasury Solutions. Their address 
is 65 Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7NQ. 

 Contract cost is £2,875 per annum (2022/23) 

 
11.5   Procedures and Frequency for Tendering Services 

 

       As per SYMCA’s contract procedure rules. 

Page 157



 

 

TMP 12 Corporate Governance 

12.1 List of documents to be made available for public inspection 

a. SYMCA is committed to the principle of openness and transparency in its 
treasury management function and in all of its functions. 

b. It has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury management and 
implemented key recommendations on developing Treasury Management 
Practices, formulating a Treasury Management Policy Statement and 
implementing the other principles of the Code. The following documents are 
available for public inspection: 

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement; 

 Treasury Management Practices; 

 Annual Statement of Accounts;  

 Annual Revenue Budget & MTFS/ Capital Strategy ; 

 Capital Strategy; 

 Minutes of Board / committee meetings; 

 Third party expenditure via quarterly corporate spend analysis published on the 
website to comply with the coalition government’s transparency agenda. 

Page 158



 

 

 
 

TMP 13 Treasury management practices for non-treasury 

investments 

The proposed changes to the Prudential Code and Treasury management Code of Practice which 
are due to come into effect from 2023/24 define 3 categories of investment:- 

 Treasury Management investments that arise from cash flows or treasury risk management 
activity, and ultimately represent balances which need to be invested until the cash is 
required for use in the course of business 

 Service investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services (including 
housing, regeneration and local infrastructure) or in support of joint working with others to 
deliver such services. 

 Commercial investments held primarily for financial return and not linked to treasury 
management activity or the delivery of services. 

SYMCA does not hold or plan to invest in commercial investments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 159



 

 

Annex A 

SYMA’s Proposed Approach / Policy on ESG issues 

 

As mentioned at 1.11 the Authority will adopt an ethical, social and governance (ESG) approach to its 

future investments.  This will look to address the following criteria:- 

 

 Environmental: Emissions and air quality, energy and waste management, waste and hazardous 
material, exposure to environmental impact. 

 

 Social: Human rights, community relations, customer welfare, labour relations, employee wellbeing, 
exposure to social impacts. 

 

 Governance: Management structure, governance structure, group structure, financial transparency. 

 

However, ESG is an area that CIPFA is still working on after the 2022 revised codes. In particular, 

work will be needed to coordinate the priority which needs to be given to issues of security, liquidity 

and yield (SLY) while also accommodating ESG principles as a fourth priority and principle to apply.  

CIPFA, therefore, recommends authorities to consider their credit and counterparty policies in light of ESG 
information and develop their own ESG investment policies and treasury management practices consistent 
with their organisation’s own relevant policies, such as environmental and climate change policies.  

 

This means that a consistent and developed approach to ESG for SYMCA/ all public service organisations 

is currently difficult to implement. As such, a specific Investment Policy and Practice for ESG will be 

developed over the course of 2023/24. 

 

When drafting its ESG “policy”, SYMCA will need to understand that anything too “broad” in its approach 
could have a material impact on potential counterparties, which could then limit diversification and / or security 
considerations in investment processes. Furthermore, the SYMCA will also need to be clear that when 
choosing between two counterparties that pass all relevant “security” tests, that the additional implementation 
of an ESG policy may mean that a lower investment rate is achieved by choosing the counterparty that passes 
the council’s ESG requirements. CIPFA does not expect that the organisation’s ESG policy will currently 
include ESG scoring or other real-time ESG criteria at individual investment level. 
 
SYMCA also uses ratings from Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s to support its assessment of suitable 
counterparties and each of these rating agencies is a signatory to the ESG in credit risk and ratings statement,  
which commits signatories to incorporating ESG into credit ratings and analysis in a systemic and transparent 
way.  

 

Page 160



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

Wednesday, 25 January 2023 
 

Assurance Framework 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Governance 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Lyndsey Whitaker 
lyndsey.whitaker@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk   
 

 
Executive Summary 
 

Each year the MCA is required to review, update and publish its Assurance Framework to 
outline the robust, transparent and effective governance arrangements that are in place 
ahead of the next financial year.  Four Government spending departments need to 
consider and approve the Assurance Framework.  In addition, the MCA is required to 
produce and publish a Monitoring and Evaluation Framework alongside the Assurance 
Framework to outline how projects and programmes funded with devolved and awarded 
monies will be robustly monitored and evaluated. This also requires Government 
approval.   
 
This report outlines the process currently underway to review the 2022 Assurance 
Framework. 

 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 

The Assurance Framework outlines in detail how the MCA makes decisions and invests 
public money to develop and grow South Yorkshire’s economy and support its people, 
businesses and places. 

Page 161

Agenda Item 12

mailto:lyndsey.whitaker@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk


Recommendations   
 

ASRC Members are invited to input any views or suggestions on improvements that can 
be made to the assurance process or current Assurance Framework which is attached at 
Appendix 1. 

 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
  
Mayoral Combined Authority Board 06 March 2023 
  
1.  Background 
  

1.1 Each year the MCA is required by Government to review, update and publish its 
Assurance Framework by the 31 March.  The Assurance Framework sets out how 
the MCA will use public money responsibly, make robust decisions, achieve best 
value for money and act in an open and transparent manner.  It explains the 
governance structures in place for making decisions, outlines the policies and 
procedures that support decision-making, and summarises how investments and 
interventions are appraised, approved, published and managed. 

  

1.2 The Government requires MCAs with devolution deals to specify, in their 
Assurance Framework, how all devolved and awarded monies and powers, 
including Gainshare, the Adult Education Budget (AEB), the City Region 
Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) will be administered.  Four 
Government departments - the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS), the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC), the Department for Transport (DfT) and the Department for Education 
(DfE) - must also approve the Assurance Frameworks of all MCAs with devolution 
deals. 

  

1.3 The Government also requires MCAs with devolution deals to produce and publish 
an accompanying Monitoring and Evaluation Framework to detail how projects and 
programmes funded through devolved and awarded funding will be monitored and 
evaluated.    

  

1.4 The draft 2023 Assurance Framework will be written in accordance with the 
National Local Growth Assurance Framework guidance (issued in September 
2021) and the HM Treasury Green Book (November 2022).  It will be presented to 
the MCA for endorsement on 6 March 2023. 

  

2. Key Issues 
  

2.1 As is always the case, this year’s review of the Assurance Framework has been 
driven by general feedback from MCA officers and local authority partners on how 
the MCA’s assurance process can be streamlined to make it more efficient, and to 
implement the findings of the Business Process Re-engineering (BPR) exercise 
commissioned by the MCA in 2021/22.  This undertaken by PWC and it assessed 
the process for developing projects from an initial idea, through to Business Case 
submission and into delivery.  The BPR report made several recommendations for 
the MCA and the four local authorities which are now being applied to the 
assurance process for 2023/24. 

  

Page 162



2.2 The review of assurance began in October 2022, with the gathering of best 
practice on the assurance processes in other Combined Authorities and a 
workshop and follow-up meetings with MCA staff to gather feedback on how well 
the current assurance process is working and what improvements could be made.  
Further workshops with local authority officers are due to be held in February and 
March to obtain further feedback and to consult with them on the improvements 
that are being made to the assurance process as a result of their earlier input. 

  

2.3 Improvements made so far are listed below: 

 New Programme Management Office (PMO) established – a new team 
has been formed with experienced project managers and thematic area 
experts who are now working collegiately with all partners including local 
authorities to develop projects and to guide them through the assurance 
process.  The PMO maintains a much closer relationship with funding 
applicants; providing the required support at every stage of project and 
Business Case development, managing expectations, and ensuring that 
information is shared and that there are no surprises.   

 Programme Board set-up – the new Programme Board is chaired by the 
Group Finance Director and consists of senior MCA officers.  Its role is to 
provide officer level support and authorisation for project development, 
challenge assumptions and ensure that interventions are evidence-based to 
maximise taxpayers money whilst maintaining an overview of programme 
performance. 

  

2.4 The remainder of the assurance review will explore how the journey from project 
idea to delivery can be optimised such that emphasis is placed at the right points 
along the way.  For example, who is best placed to confirm strategic fit, can 
conditional approval be provided at Outline Business Case (OBC) stage for all 
projects, and how can the MCA and local authority partners work together at all 
levels across the process to deliver better outcomes? 

  

2.5 The next steps for the assurance review are: 

1. Consult the local authority Chief Executives Group on 17th January on 
improvements to the assurance process.   

2. Obtain feedback from ASRC members on improvements on improvements 
that can be made to the assurance process or current Assurance 
Framework following this meeting on 25 January. 

3. Draft the 2023 Assurance Framework for presentation and endorsement at 
the 6 March MCA Board meeting based on all feedback and input received, 
including the revised assurance process. 

4. Submit the draft 2023 Assurance Framework for comment and Ministerial 
sign-off to BEIS, DLUHC, DfT and DfE. 

5. Publish the 2023 Assurance Framework and Monitoring and Evaluation 
Framework on the SYMCA website in draft form on 31 March 2023. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  

3.1 Without an agreed Assurance Framework and Monitoring and Evaluation 
Framework, the MCA will be in breach of its statutory responsibilities and devolved 
funding would be at risk. Therefore, there is only a single option to update and 
submit the frameworks.    

Page 163



4. Consultation on Proposal  
  

4.1 Workshops and meetings are being held with MCA staff and local authority officers 
to discuss the current assurance process and to identify areas of improvement to 
make the process more efficient.  Further workshops will take place in February 
and March to gather additional feedback to inform the draft 2023 Assurance 
Framework and to explain the emerging revised assurance process from 1 April 
2023. 

  
5. 
 

Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   

5.1 Subject to endorsement by the MCA Board on 6 March, the updated draft 
frameworks will be submitted to the four Government departments for Ministerial 
approval and sign-off and will be adopted by the MCA from 1 April 2023. 

  

5.2 The draft Assurance Framework, and updated Monitoring and Evaluation 
Framework will be published on the SYMCA website on 31 March 2023. 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  

6.1 The MCA is required to demonstrate compliance with national guidance in order to 
receive devolved and awarded funding.  The release of Gainshare funding is 
dependent on the Government’s approval of the Assurance Framework. 

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 The Assurance Framework outlines the legal duties of the MCA and the policies 

and procedures that ensure the MCA and LEP make decisions through a legally 
compliant, robust and transparent process.  This includes referencing the 
responsibilities of the Section 73 Officer, the purpose of internal and external audit, 
the role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the project appraisal 
process. 

  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  

8.1 Not applicable 

  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  

9.1 The Assurance Framework outlines the MCA’s commitment to equality and 
diversity. 

 
10. 

 
Climate Change Implications and Advice 

  

10.1 Not applicable 

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  

11.1 Not applicable 

  
  
  

Page 164



12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   
 

12.1 The MCA is obliged to publish information on the decisions that are being made, 
particularly on investments, in an open and transparent way.  The MCA has 
always taken the approach of publishing as much information as possible on the 
website so that it is accessible.  This includes the publication of the Forward Plan 
of Key Decisions, meeting papers and financial and project performance 
information. 

  
List of Appendices Included:   
 

A 2022 Assurance Framework 

  

Background Papers 
 

None 

 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                       Page 1 of 70 
 

ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 
APRIL 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 167



SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                       Page 2 of 70 
 

Contents

 
 

1 Introduction 3 

2 About South Yorkshire 5 

3 Structures and Roles 10 

4 Accountability for Public Funds 27 

5 Robust and Transparent Decision-Making 32 

6 Contract Management 43 

7 Measuring Performance and Success 45 

8 Inclusive and Collaborative Working 48 

9 Publishing Information 51 

10 Glossary of Terms 55 

11 Appendix A: Summary of LEP Policies 56 

12 Appendix B: Joint Statement from LEP and MCA 58 

13 Appendix C: Key Performance Indicators 60 

 

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES 

Figure 1 South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority Timeline 5 

Figure 2 Map of South Yorkshire 6 

Figure 3 Strategic Economic Plan 2021-2041  7 

Figure 4 Renewal Action Plan 7 

Figure 5 The South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority Organisational Structure 11 

Figure 6 The Mayoral Combined Authority Executive Team Structure 25 

Figure 7 Business Case Development, Appraisal and Approval Process 35 

Figure 8 Assurance Route 36 

   

Table 1 Membership of the Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) 2022/23 13 

Table 2 Membership of the South Yorkshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 2022/23 15 

Table 3 Gender Composition of LEP Board (January 2022) 19 

Table 4 Membership of the Thematic Boards 2022/23 21 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

Page 168



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 3 of 70 
 

Purpose of the Assurance Framework 

1.1 The aim of this document is to set out how the South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) will 

use public money responsibly, both openly and transparently, and achieve best value for money.  This 

document outlines: 

 

 The respective roles and responsibilities of the Mayoral Combined Authority Board, the South 

Yorkshire Mayor, the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Board and other elements of the decision-

making and delivery structure; 

 The key processes for ensuring accountability, probity, transparency, legal compliance and value for 

money; 

 How potential investments will be prioritised, appraised, approved, and delivered; and 

 How the progress and impacts of these investments will be monitored and evaluated. 

 

1.2 The Assurance Framework sits alongside several key governance and policy documents – most notably the 

Devolution Agreement and Settlement Letter, the MCA Constitution, the LEP Terms of Reference, the 

Financial Regulations, the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP), Renewal Action Plan (RAP), Investment Plan 

and Monitoring and Evaluation Framework.   

 

1.3 The Assurance Framework has been developed in response to the National Local Growth Assurance 

Framework (September 2021), Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships Report (July 2018), the LEP 

Governance and Transparency Best Practice Guide (January 2018) and the Ney Review (October 2017). 

 

1.4 This Assurance Framework takes effect from 1 April 2022.  It will apply to all new funding bids, funding 

regimes and projects from this date.  For continuity and consistency purposes, some existing projects which 

are already part way through the 2021 Assurance Framework process, will conclude their approval through 

that route.  

 

 

Updating the Assurance Framework 

1.5 The Assurance Framework is reviewed and updated at the end of each year.  The next annual review of this 

document is scheduled to commence in October 2022.  However, this document may be amended and re-

published prior to the annual review date if improvements or significant changes are made to the MCA, LEP 

or its governance and assurance structures and processes, or if new guidance is received from the 

Government.     

 

1.6 A draft of the Assurance Framework is presented to the MCA and LEP Boards to approve any changes.  The 

Assurance Framework is then submitted to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and, Communities 

(DLUHC), the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), the Department for 

Transport (DfT) and the Department for Education (DfE) for approval.  

 

 

The Structure of this Document 

1.7 The remainder of this document is structured into the following sections: 

 

 Section 2 describes South Yorkshire, the funding devolved by Government to the Mayoral Combined 

Authority and the plan for economic growth. 

Page 169



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 4 of 70 
 

 Section 3 explains the structures, roles and responsibilities of the organisations that make up the 

decision-making bodies. 

 Section 4 outlines the processes for ensuring openness and accountability for public funds. 

 Section 5 describes how the MCA and LEP collaborate and engage with other MCAs, LEPs, partners 

and the public. 

 Section 6 illustrates how decisions are made in a robust, evidenced and transparent manner. 

 Section 7 explains how projects are delivered and monitored and evaluated. 

 Section 8 states how the Mayor, MCA and LEP work collaboratively and consult with others 

 Section 9 outlines how information is published. 

 Appendix A provides a summary of the policies that the LEP is governed by. 

 Appendix B is a joint statement from the LEP and MCA on their respective roles and responsibilities. 

 Appendix C lists the key performance indicators that the MCA assesses funding applications and 

programme, project and economic performance against. 

  

Page 170



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 5 of 70 
 

2. About South Yorkshire 

History 

2.1 The South Yorkshire geographical area (formerly known as the Sheffield City Region) consists of the four 

local authority districts in South Yorkshire: Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield.  

 

2.2 In 2008 the Sheffield City Region (SCR) Forum was created to formalise collaborative working between the 

South Yorkshire authorities that had taken place since 1986.  The SCR Forum evolved into the Local 

Enterprise Partnership (LEP) in 2010.  This was followed by the formation of the Mayoral Combined 

Authority (MCA) on the 1st April 2014 and the election of the first Mayor on the 4th May 2018 as shown in 

Figure 1 below.  

 

Figure 1: South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority Timeline 

 

2.3 The South Yorkshire Devolution Deal1 was signed into law on 27th July 2020.   

 

 

Geography 

2.4 The MCA and LEP’s boundaries are coterminous.  However, the wider functional economic area for South 

Yorkshire also covers five neighbouring districts in the D2N2 LEP area: Bassetlaw, Bolsover, Chesterfield, 

Derbyshire Dales and North East Derbyshire (Figure 2).  Prior to 1st April 2020, these districts were full 

members of the LEP, when revisions to the LEP’s geography were made to comply with the LEP Review 

recommendation on removing overlaps with other LEPs. 

 

                                                      
1 The Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield Combined Authority (Functions and Amendment) Order 2020  

Page 171

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/806/contents/made


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 6 of 70 
 

2.5 Whilst the five districts in Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire are no longer members of the LEP, they continue 

to be non-constituent members of the MCA in accordance with the 2014 Order2 that created the MCA, and 

collaboration is continuing with the non-constituent local authorities on cross-border economic issues.     

 

Figure 2: Map of South Yorkshire  

 

 

Plan for Economic Growth 

2.6 In 2020, the MCA and LEP completed work on developing a Renewal Action Plan (RAP) in response to the 

COVID Pandemic and its attendant socio-economic challenges, to outline the objectives and priorities for 

economic recovery and growth for South Yorkshire.  The RAP accompanies the Strategic Economic Plan 

(SEP) which was approved by the MCA and LEP Boards in January 2021.  

 

2.7 The SEP is a twenty-year economic strategy which sets out the vision and policy objectives for growing the 

economy at pace; ensuring that all people and places have a fair opportunity to contribute to and benefit from 

prosperity and protecting and enhancing our environment. 

 

2.8 The SEP is built on a broad range of socio-economic data and is the result of extensive consultation with 

business representatives, local industry leaders, local authorities, residents and stakeholder organisations.  

The vision and policy objectives for economic growth across South Yorkshire, are set out in Figure 3 below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3: Strategic Economic Plan 2021-2041  

 

                                                      
2 The Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield Combined Authority Order 2014 

Page 172

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/863/made


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 7 of 70 
 

 
 

 

 

2.9 The SEP will be reviewed and updated on a regular basis to ensure a sound strategic basis for investment. 

 

2.10 The RAP is a jobs-led plan that outlines £1.7bn of priority interventions for supporting our Employers, People 

and Places focusing particularly on the immediate term.  The priorities were shaped through consultation 

with the LEP Board and stakeholder partners on actions for economic recovery and are set out in Figure 4 

below:  

 

Figure 4: Renewal Action Plan  

 

 

 

2.11 Together, with the Transport Strategy, the Net Zero Work Programme, and the MCA’s priorities for 

Gainshare, the SEP and the RAP set the blueprint for how devolved and awarded funding from Government 

Page 173



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 8 of 70 
 

will be invested.  The SEP and RAP also set the criteria that all programmes, schemes and projects will be 

measured and assessed against; from application stage through to contracting and delivery.  

 

 

Devolved Powers and Funding 

2.12 The South Yorkshire Devolution Deal provides the ability to establish a single pot of funding to invest in 

economic development.   Known as the South Yorkshire Renewal Fund, this single pot of circa £500m 

includes Gainshare, the Adult Education Budget, a consolidated transport budget and other devolved monies 

as detailed below.  Further information on how decisions are made and assured to invest the fund is provided 

in Section 5 of this document. 

 

 

Gainshare 

2.13 The Gainshare (grant-based investment funding) allocation for South Yorkshire through the Devolution Deal 

is £30m per annum for a period of 30 years.  This consists of 60% capital and 40% revenue funding and is 

to be invested in the delivery of the MCA and LEP’s strategic and economic priorities.   

 

 

Adult Education Budget (AEB) 

2.14 From the start of the 2021/22 academic year, the MCA assumed responsibility for the revenue-based Adult 

Education Budget (AEB) in South Yorkshire. Devolution of AEB supports the delivery of high-quality adult 

education at NVQ Levels 1,2 and 3 to individuals aged 19 years and above. This equates to around £42m per 

academic year.   

 

 

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) 

2.15 The MCA is responsible for the consolidated devolved capital transport budget.  This includes the Highways 

Maintenance Block (excluding PFI) and Highways Maintenance incentive funding.  In October 2021, the 

MCA was awarded £570m for a period of 5 years. 

 

 

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 

2.16 Following a successful bidding process, in March 2020, the Government awarded £166m from the 

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) to South Yorkshire for a period of three years to improve public transport 

and support investment in active travel infrastructure.  The third year of TCF funding (approximately £72m) 

is incorporated in the CRSTS allocation.     

 

 

 

 

 

Getting Building Fund (GBF) 

2.17 In June 2020, the MCA was awarded £33.6m for a prioritised capital programme of Major Infrastructure 

Schemes under the Government’s Getting Building Fund.  The fund has been used to accelerate ‘shovel 

ready’ infrastructure schemes up to March 2022. 

Page 174



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 9 of 70 
 

 

 

Brownfield Fund (BF) 

2.18 The MCA was allocated £40m in June 2020 to deliver a capital programme of housing schemes on 

brownfield sites over the next 5 years through the Government’s Brownfield Fund. 

 

 

Community Renewal Fund (CRF) and UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 

2.19 In November 2021, following a national bidding process the Government awarded £8.2m of revenue funding 

to the MCA to fund eight projects in South Yorkshire as part of the Community Renewal Fund (CRF); a pilot 

and precursor programme for the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF).  The UKSPF will commence in 

2023 and is the replacement regeneration funding programme for the previous Local Growth Fund (LGF) 

programme and EU Structural Funds. 

 

2.20 More detailed information on the UKSPF pilot will be published in 2022 but, like the CRF programme, it is 

expected to be focussed on supporting infrastructure improvements and regeneration in areas of deprivation, 

tailored employment and skills development and supporting businesses with innovation and green 

technology adoption. 

 

 

Powers 

2.21 Under the South Yorkshire Devolution Deal, the MCA and Mayor were granted the following devolved 

powers from Government: 

 

 The full devolution of the 19+ Adult Education Budget for college and training providers; 

 The ability to borrow against funds;  

 To improve the supply and quality of housing and secure the development of land or infrastructure; 

 To create a non-statutory Spatial Framework for South Yorkshire; 

 The option to establish Mayoral Development Corporations; 

 To provide grants and make agreements with other bodies on the management of the strategic highway 

network; and 

 The option to introduce a Mayoral precept. 

  

Page 175



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 10 of 70 
 

3. Structures and Roles 

Overview  

3.1 The MCA and LEP governance model combines the best of private sector expertise and public sector 

capacity, transparency and accountability. 

 

3.2 The MCA and LEP form the core decision-making Boards. The private sector led LEP, supports and works 

alongside democratically elected Leaders on the MCA Board.  The Mayor, the Leaders of the four local 

authorities in South Yorkshire and LEP Chair sit on both Boards.  This has resulted in strong partnership 

between the MCA and LEP.  It also ensures that a single oversight is in place to deliver efficient, effective, 

accountable and informed decision-making.  

 

3.3 The Mayor, MCA Board and LEP Board are supported by four Thematic Boards and the MCA Executive 

Team.  The Thematic Boards are responsible for driving forward the agenda of their thematic area.  The 

MCA Executive Team advises the Mayor, MCA and LEP on policy, seeks agreement between those bodies 

and subsequently commissions, manages and monitors the delivery of projects.   

 

3.4 The MCA Executive Team and local authority Chief Executives also support the decision-making process, 

with the Chief Executives each leading an operational group which informs and advises the Thematic Boards.  

Two independent committees, the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, ensure that the MCA, LEP and Mayor are fulfilling their legal obligations, and developing and 

delivering strategies and public transport services that are in the best interests of local people. 

 

3.5 In 2021/22, work was undertaken to integrate the South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive (SYPTE) 

into the MCA.  Organisationally, much of this work was completed, particularly in terms of integrating 

staffing structures and decision making.  Formal legal dissolution via a Parliamentary Order is anticipated in 

2022/23. 

 

3.6 Figure 5 sets out the overall structure and how the Boards and Committees relate to one another. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 176



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 11 of 70 
 

Figure 5: The South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority Organisational Structure 

 

3.7 The following sections provide a description of the different elements of the structure and their respective 

roles and responsibilities. 

 

 

The Mayor 

3.8 The Mayor is directly elected by the electorate in South Yorkshire (Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and 

Sheffield) and serves a four-year term of office.  The Mayor was elected in May 2018 and the next Mayoral 

Election will take place in May 2022.     

 

 

Role of the Mayor 

3.9 The Mayor exercises powers and functions that are devolved to the MCA by central Government.  

 

3.10 The Mayor is the Chair of the MCA and leads the MCA in terms of proposing and agreeing the revenue and 

capital budgets of the MCA, including allocation of the consolidated transport budget, appropriate use of the 

Adult Education Budget and how Gainshare is utilised to support the MCA’s policies.  

 

3.11 The Mayor is a member of the LEP Board and also promotes South Yorkshire as a place to live, work, visit 

and invest in.  

 

 

Responsibilities of the Mayor 

3.12 The decision-making powers and functions of the Mayor are: 

 

 Development of a strategy and spending plan for the delivery of mayoral functions; 

 Responsibility for a consolidated, devolved transport budget, with a multi-year settlement; 

Page 177



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 12 of 70 
 

 Responsibility and the power to approve franchised bus services, to support the MCA’s delivery of smart 

and integrated ticketing across South Yorkshire; 

 Responsibility for an identified Key Route Network of local authority roads that will be collaboratively 

managed and maintained by the MCA on behalf of the Mayor; 
 Powers over strategic planning, including the responsibility to create a spatial framework for South 

Yorkshire; and 
 Ability to create Mayoral Development Areas or Corporations in agreement with the relevant MCA 

member. 

 

The Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) 

3.13 The Sheffield City Region Combined Authority was formally constituted in law in April 2014.  It comprises 

the four constituent local authorities for South Yorkshire of Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield, 

and five non-constituent local authorities from the neighbouring D2N2 LEP area (Bassetlaw, Bolsover, 

Chesterfield, Derbyshire Dales and North East Derbyshire).  With the election of the Mayor in May 2018, it 

became the Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA), and in 2022 the MCA changed its name to the South 

Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority 

 

 

Role of the MCA 

3.14 The MCA is the legal and Accountable Body for funding devolved and awarded to the MCA and LEP.  The 

MCA is also the Local Transport Authority for South Yorkshire.  This role and its accompanying 

responsibilities are defined in the MCA Constitution.   

 

 

Responsibilities of the MCA 

3.15 The MCA’s remit is strategic economic development, housing, skills, transport infrastructure and strategic 

and operational transport functions.   

 

3.16 The MCA is responsible for setting the policy direction in South Yorkshire and maximising financial 

investment to achieve economic growth.  The MCA is also responsible for making large investment decisions 

and ensuring that the policy and strategic objectives of the SEP are delivered.   

 

3.17 On this basis, typically the agenda for the MCA is focused on different elements of the SEP and takes 

decisions and oversees performance on items including: 

 

 Programme updates – on initiatives being delivered; 

 Investment decisions; 

 Monitoring of financial and output performance; 

 Public transport operations and services; 

 Assurance, strategic risk management and governance; and 

 Strategies and plans. 

 

3.18 The constituent members of the MCA are accountable for where and how public money is being spent.   

 

3.19 Additional responsibilities and further powers may be devolved to the Mayor and the MCA, pending 

agreement by Government, the Mayor, MCA and the constituent authorities. 

Page 178

https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=181&info=1&bcr=1


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 13 of 70 
 

Membership of the MCA 

3.20 Membership of the MCA is set out in Table 1 below.  This specifies the type of membership; constituent, 

non-constituent and observer. 

 

Table 1: Membership of the MCA 2022/23 

Member Post Membership Type 

South Yorkshire Mayor Constituent 

Barnsley Metropolitan Borough 

Council 

Leader Constituent 

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 

Council 

Mayor Constituent 

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 

Council 

Leader Constituent 

Sheffield City Council Leader Constituent 

Bassetlaw District Council Leader Non-constituent 

Bolsover District Council Leader Non-constituent 

Chesterfield Borough Council Leader Non-constituent 

Derbyshire Dales District Council Leader Non-constituent 

North East Derbyshire District 

Council 

Leader Non-constituent 

South Yorkshire LEP Chair Non-voting 

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 

Council 

Nominated Representative Rotational 

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 

Council 

Nominated Representative Rotational 

 

3.21 The MCA Constitution stipulates that substitute members will be nominated and agreed by the full members 

annually.   

 

3.22 Each year the MCA appoints two additional, rotational members from amongst the constituent councils. This 

is a requirement of the Order by which the Combined Authority was established to ensure that the majority 

of Members are from constituent councils.  In 2022/23, the rotational members are from Doncaster and 

Rotherham.  In 2023/24, they will be from Barnsley and Sheffield.  By convention these Members do not 

attend or vote. 

 

3.23 Organisations are invited to attend MCA meetings as an observer.  These can include Government agencies 

(such as Homes England or Network Rail) and other LEPs which have close economic links with South 

Yorkshire (for example but not restricted to, the Leeds City Region, Manchester and Humber LEPs). 

 

3.24 All MCA Board members are expected to conduct themselves in accordance with the Nolan Principles of 

Public Life.  These principles are embedded in the MCA Members’ Code of Conduct as detailed in the MCA 

Constitution.   

 

 

MCA Board Meetings 

3.25 The MCA Board meets on an eight-weekly cycle and the meetings are held in public.  

 

Page 179

https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s5455/A%20-%20Members%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 14 of 70 
 

3.26 All constituent members of the MCA Board and the Mayor have one equally weighted vote.  Non-constituent 

members have no automatic right to vote.  The MCA Constitution allows for voting rights to be extended to 

non-constituent members at the discretion of the constituent members.   

 

3.27 Decisions are made by a majority of the members present at MCA meetings and voting when using the 

powers held by the Authority when it was established in 2014.  For the new powers devolved to the MCA 

through the devolution deal, the Mayor must be part of the majority of members present and voting on the 

exercise of such functions.  These functions are: 

 

 Adult Education Budget; 

 Skills powers/duties; and 

 Housing functions. 

 

3.28 The Constitution sets the majority as the Mayor plus 75% of the Members from the constituent councils 

present at the meeting.  By convention, if 100% of the Members from the constituent councils are in favour 

of a resolution, then the Mayor will also vote in favour (as that is the will of the MCA), unless the Mayor 

gives minuted reason for not doing so. 

 

3.29 The approval of the non-statutory Spatial Framework will require a unanimous decision from all constituent 

members. The establishment of any Mayoral Development Corporation will require the agreement of the 

Mayor and the MCA member that represents that place.  

 

3.30 The Mayor’s budget proposals will be approved by the MCA in accordance with the Combined Authorities 

(Finance) Order 2017 and the Constitution.  

 

 

Quoracy for MCA Board Meetings 

3.31 At least three voting members of the MCA must be present for a meeting to be valid.  If a decision is required 

to meet agreed timescales and a meeting of the MCA is either not possible or scheduled, written procedures 

for decision making apply, in line with the MCA Constitution and the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 

regulations. 

 

 

The Local Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP) 

3.32 The Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) is a voluntary business-led partnership which brings together 

business leaders, local politicians and other partners to promote and drive economic growth across South 

Yorkshire.  The LEP was established in 2010.   

 

 

 

Role of the LEP 

3.33 The LEP leads on strategic economic policy development within the City Region and sets the blueprint for 

how the South Yorkshire economy should evolve and grow.  The LEP is the developer and author of the 

SEP.  The LEP works to raise the profile, image and reputation of South Yorkshire as a place to visit, live, 

work and invest in.    

 

 

Page 180



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 15 of 70 
 

Responsibilities of the LEP 

3.34 The LEP is responsible for setting strategy and acts as the custodian of the SEP.  Prior to the Devolution 

Deal, the LEP bid for funding and programmes from Government and was responsible for delivering these 

programmes.  This included delivering the Growth Deal programme of activity which concluded on 31 March 

2021. 

 

3.35 The LEP is also responsible for ensuring that policy and decisions both receive the input of key business 

leaders, and by extension, reflect the views of the wider business community.  The LEP fulfils this 

responsibility by leading on engagement with local businesses and policy makers at a City Regional, national 

and international level.  

 

3.36 The focus of the LEP Board is to discuss and make decisions on the following: 

 

 South Yorkshire Economy – such as research on how well the economy is performing and the issues 

and needs of different sectors and markets; 

 Performance - of LEP funded programmes; 

 Providing a Forum for Debate - between the public and private sectors; and 

 Economic Strategy and Policy Development – on new initiatives being brought forward. 

 

 

Membership of the LEP 

3.37 The LEP currently comprises 13 private sector representatives, the four Leaders of the Local Authorities, the 

Mayor, and a Trades Union Representative.  The LEP is able to appoint up to five co-opted private sector 

members who can act as specialist advisers on thematic issues.  There are currently no co-opted members on 

the LEP Board.  Membership of the LEP is set out in Table 2 below: 

 

Table 2: Membership of the South Yorkshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 2022/23 

Member Post Membership Type 

Lucy Nickson Interim LEP Chair – Permanent 

Member 

Private Sector 

Neil MacDonald LEP Vice Chair – Permanent Member  Private Sector 

Alexa Greaves Permanent Member Private Sector 

Gemma Smith Permanent Member Private Sector 

Professor Chris Husbands Permanent Member Private Sector 

Peter Kennan Permanent Member Private Sector 

Michael Faulks Permanent Member Private Sector 

Richard Stubbs Permanent Member Private Sector 

Joe Chetcuti Permanent Member Private Sector 

Cathy Travers Permanent Member Private Sector 

Angela Foulkes Permanent Member Private Sector 

Professor Dave Petley HE Representative Private Sector 

Dan Fell 
Chambers of Commerce 

Representative 

Private Sector  

Bill Adams Trades Union Representative Membership Body 

MCA Mayor Public Sector 

Page 181



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 16 of 70 
 

Barnsley Metropolitan Borough 

Council 

Leader Public Sector 

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 

Council 

Mayor Public Sector 

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 

Council 

Leader Public Sector 

Sheffield City Council Leader Public Sector 

 

3.38 Private sector LEP Board members are assigned a portfolio of work based on their expertise and knowledge.  

The portfolios are thematic based, and each LEP Board member leads on the LEP’s activity on that theme.   

 

3.39 The current composition of the LEP Board is 69% Private Sector members compared to 26% Public Sector 

members and 5% Membership Body members.  This equates to a ratio that is substantially higher than the 

Government requirement of a two-third, one-third split. 

 

3.40 All LEP Board members are expected to conduct themselves in accordance with the Nolan Principles of 

Public Life.  These principles are embedded in the LEP Code of Conduct.  LEP Board members are required 

to sign a document confirming that they will subscribe to Nolan principles as a condition of their 

appointment.  

 

 

LEP Board Meetings 

3.41 The LEP Board meets on an eight-weekly cycle and the meetings are held in private, with the exception of 

an Annual General Meeting (AGM).   

 

3.42 All Board members (apart from co-opted members) have equal voting rights, and decisions are taken on the 

basis of a simple majority.   

 

 

Quoracy for LEP Board Meetings 

3.43 Meetings of the LEP Board are considered quorate when at least one quarter of the Private Sector Members 

and at least one quarter of the constituent local authority members are present.   

 

3.44 A LEP Board Member may be counted in the quorum if they are able to participate in the meeting by remote 

means such as by internet, audio or video link.  The member must remain available throughout the agenda 

items where discussions and decisions are made. 

 

3.45 Co-opted members, and any LEP Board member who is obliged to withdraw under the LEP Code of Conduct, 

are not counted towards the quorum. 

 

3.46 To ensure that LEP Board members are suitably committed to the work of the LEP, consistent non-attendance 

at meetings is grounds for termination of membership.  This is outlined in the LEP Terms of Reference. 

 

3.47 If a decision is required to meet agreed timescales and a meeting of the LEP is either not possible or 

scheduled, the urgency procedure for decision making applies, as outlined in LEP Terms of Reference will 

be implemented. 

 

 

Page 182

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Code-of-Conduct-21-22v1.0.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Terms-of-Reference-21-22.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Terms-of-Reference-21-22.pdf


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 17 of 70 
 

LEP Chair 

3.48 The LEP Chair must have a private sector background. 

 

3.49 The LEP Chair leads on building the reputation and influence of South Yorkshire at a national and 

international level.  The LEP Chair is also a non-voting member of the MCA. 

 

 

LEP Vice Chair 

3.50 The LEP can appoint up to two Vice Chairs. 

 

3.51 The LEP Vice Chairs must have a private sector background.   

 

3.52 The LEP Vice Chairs provide day to day leadership and support to the LEP Board Members, lead on business 

relations within South Yorkshire, engage with the wider business community and deputise for the LEP Chair 

when necessary. 

 

 

Defined Term Limits   

3.53 The LEP Chair and LEP Vice Chairs have defined term limits of three years.  They can re-apply for a further 

term.   

 

3.54 All other private sector LEP Board members are appointed for an initial term of three years.  As set-out in 

the LEP Terms of Reference, the Chair may extend the appointment of an individual for a further term of up 

to three years.  With a clear rationale, and only in exceptional circumstances, a further extension not 

exceeding two years may be granted.    

 

3.55 Co-opted LEP Board members have a defined term limit of one year.  However, following a recommendation 

from the LEP Appointments Panel, the LEP Chair can at their discretion, extend the term of co-opted 

members for a further period.  

 

3.56 The Trades Union Congress (TUC), Chambers of Commerce and FE Colleges (via the Association of 

Colleges) nominate their named representatives on an annual basis.   

 

 

LEP Board Recruitment and Appointment 

3.57 Private sector LEP Board members are appointed through an open and transparent recruitment and selection 

process.  In the interests of continuity and succession planning, the recruitment is staggered so that the terms 

of all private sector members do not expire at the same time.   

 

3.58 When private sector members either approach the end of their term, or if a LEP Board member resigns mid-

term, the vacant positions on the LEP Board are promoted through the MCA website, social media channels 

and are advertised in local and regional media.  Local business representative organisations are also consulted 

about LEP Board vacancies and advertise and promote these vacancies through communications with their 

members.  

 

3.59 When recruiting new LEP Board members, consideration is given to achieving diversity on the LEP Board 

in line with the LEP Diversity Policy.  However, all Board appointments are made on merit, and within the 

context of the skills and experience required by the LEP Board. 

 

Page 183

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Diversity-Policy-2021-22.pdf


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 18 of 70 
 

3.60 Interested candidates are required to complete and submit an application form.  A LEP Appointments Panel, 

which is made-up of LEP Board Vice Chairs, reviews and assesses the applications against the LEP Board 

Member Job Description and Person Specification, with advice and support from the MCA Executive Team.  

Candidates are shortlisted for an interview by a panel including LEP Board members (usually the Vice 

Chairs), a member of an independent business representative body, and the MCA Chief Executive or Deputy 

Chief Executive. 

 

3.61 A combination of the completed application form and interview are used to judge each candidate’s 

experience, suitability and fit.  The LEP Appointments Panel makes the appointments which are then ratified 

by the LEP Board.   

 

3.62 Newly appointed LEP Board members are invited to attend an induction session with the MCA Executive 

Team to develop their understanding of South Yorkshire, the organisational and decision-making structure, 

the LEP’s priorities and plans and support available to LEP Board members from the MCA Executive Team. 

 

3.63 Vacant positions for the Chair and Vice Chair roles are promoted in the same way.  However, these positions 

are also advertised in national media outlets and on the Government’s Public Appointments website.  The 

Mayor leads the appointment panel for the LEP Chair, which also includes another LEP Board Member, an 

independent business representative organisation, a Local Authority Chief Executive and either the MCA 

Chief Executive or Deputy Chief Executive.  In the event that the Chair or Vice Chair stands down, the LEP 

Board appoints an interim Chair or interim Vice Chair from the current private sector members of the LEP 

Board to assume the role until recruitment for a permanent Chair or Vice Chair can take place.    

 

 

Equality and Diversity 

3.64 The LEP Diversity Policy seeks to ensure that the composition of the LEP Board is diverse and reflective of 

South Yorkshire in the broadest sense.  Consideration is given to gender, race, protected characteristics and 

areas of expertise including industry knowledge, geography, sectors and business size.  This is done with a 

view to obtaining an appropriate balance of membership.  Applications from under-represented groups are 

encouraged.   

 

3.65 The current gender composition of the LEP Board is detailed in Table 3 below.  It illustrates that 45.5% of 

the LEP’s permanent private sector members are women. 

 

 

 

Table 3: Gender Composition of LEP Board  

 

 

Page 184

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Diversity-Policy-2021-22.pdf


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 19 of 70 
 

3.66 The LEP will obtain an equal split of male and female private sector LEP Board members by March 2023.   

 

 

How the MCA and LEP Work Together 

3.67 A key facet of the governance arrangements in South Yorkshire is the strong inter-relationship between the 

LEP and MCA and overlap of membership.  Building on the best of the public and private sectors, this brings 

accountability, transparency and business insight together.  The configuration and membership of the LEP 

and MCA are designed to be mutually supportive. 

 

3.68 The MCA is the legally Accountable Body for all funds awarded to the LEP and approves the LEP annual 

capital and revenue budgets prior to the start of the financial year.  However, the LEP advises on how these 

funds are prioritised.  

 

3.69 The MCA tests the value for money of proposed projects, and makes decisions in a legally compliant, 

responsible and transparent manner. 

 

3.70 To maintain good communication and cooperation, the LEP and MCA are both served by the same team of 

staff (the MCA Executive Team).  Financial information and updates on programme delivery are reported to 

both the LEP and MCA Boards.  This includes details of applications received for LEP funded programmes 

and contracts awarded. 

 

3.71 Given the clarity in remit and strong controls being in place, there are minimal circumstances where the 

MCA would not comply with the LEP’s advice. However potentially this could occur if: 

 

 The LEP was seeking to influence a decision of the MCA, which is within the remit of the Accountable 

Body, specifically an operational decision as opposed to a strategic decision regarding the economic 

strategy; 

 The LEP was seeking to influence a decision which is non-compliant with public accountability 

requirements and procedures, or does not offer value for money; 

 The MCA was seeking to influence a decision which is within the remit of the LEP (for example, 

supporting a project that is not aligned with the objectives of the SEP); or 

 The MCA was refusing to operationalise a policy directive of the LEP in accordance with the SEP. 

 

3.72 A procedure is in place for managing conflicts in decision-making should they occur.  The three Statutory 

Officers (Head of Paid Service, Section 73 Officer and Monitoring Officer) would first attempt to resolve 

the conflict with the Chairs of the LEP and MCA Boards. If the conflict cannot be resolved, and depending 

on the nature of the conflict, this would be formally escalated to either the LEP Board or MCA Board to 

discuss and agree a resolution. 

 

3.73 A Memorandum of Understanding concisely and simply explains the respective roles and responsibilities of 

the LEP and MCA, and how they work together.  This is published and ensures that members of the public 

are clear on who is responsible for decision-making in South Yorkshire.  This document is contained in 

Appendix B. 

 

 

 

Thematic Boards 

3.74 To support decision-making and delivery, the MCA and LEP are supported by four Thematic Boards, which 

are based on the broad strategic priorities of the SEP.  The four Thematic Boards all have delegated authority 

to make financial decisions on behalf of the MCA up to defined limits.   

Page 185



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 20 of 70 
 

 

 

Role of the Thematic Boards 

3.75 The purpose of the Thematic Boards is to provide adequate and experienced capacity to review projects and 

make investment decisions.  These Boards bring together the public and private leadership of the MCA and 

LEP to drive the delivery of activity, ensuring that the focus remains on the outcomes being delivered. The 

Thematic Boards therefore enable the MCA and LEP Boards to operate strategically rather than merely as 

investment boards. 

 

3.76 The four Thematic Boards are accountable to the MCA and each one has a defined portfolio with distinct 

responsibilities for Business Recovery & Growth, Housing & Infrastructure, Education, Skills & 

Employability and Transport & the Environment.   

 

3.77 The Transport & the Environment Board has a broader role than the other three Thematic Boards; 

specifically, co-ordinating the transport activities, and overseeing the performance of public transport 

operations and services in South Yorkshire. 

 

 

Responsibilities of the Thematic Boards 

3.78 Each of the four Thematic Boards (Business Recovery & Growth; Housing &, Infrastructure; Education, 

Skills & Employability; and Transport & the Environment) has delegated authority to approve projects with 

a value of less than £2 million.  Decisions made by the Thematic Boards are presented to the MCA Board in 

a written Delegated Decisions Report.  As the delegating body, the MCA has the right to review decisions 

made by the Thematic Boards. 

 

3.79 The responsibilities of the four Thematic Boards are to: 

 

 Shape future policy, priorities and programmes for the LEP and MCA Boards to approve; 

 Review programme and funding applications of less than £2 million that have been through the appraisal 

process and decide whether to approve, defer or reject the application; 

 Review programme and funding applications of £2 million or more that have been through the appraisal 

process and make a recommendation to the MCA Board for approval, deferment or rejection of the 

application; 

 Accept grants with a value of less than £2 million; and 

 Monitor programme delivery and performance on their thematic area. 

 

3.80 The Transport & the Environment Board has the following additional responsibilities:   

 

 Shaping the development of the transport strategy and strategies for its implementation; 

 Overseeing the performance of operational transport services and providing political direction; 

 Recommending the transport capital programme for approval to the MCA; and 

 Recommending the transport revenue budget for approval to the MCA. 

 

 

Membership of the Thematic Boards 

3.81 The members of the four Thematic Boards are set out in Table 4 below:   

 

Table 4: Membership of the Thematic Boards 2022/23   

Page 186

https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=181&MId=428&Ver=4&Info=1
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s2879/Appendix%205%20-%20Housing%20Board%20-%20Terms%20of%20Reference.pdf
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s2881/Appendix%207%20-%20Skills%20and%20Employment%20Board%20-%20Terms%20of%20Reference.pdf
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s2881/Appendix%207%20-%20Skills%20and%20Employment%20Board%20-%20Terms%20of%20Reference.pdf
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s2882/Appendix%208%20-%20Transport%20Board%20-%20Terms%20of%20Reference.pdf


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 21 of 70 
 

Business Recovery & 

Growth 

Education, Skills & 

Employability 

Housing & 

Infrastructure 

Transport & the 

Environment 

One Leader from a 

South Yorkshire local 

authority as Chair 

(Mayor Ros Jones, 

DMBC) 

One Leader from a 

South Yorkshire local 

authority as Chair (Cllr 

Sir Steve Houghton 

CBE, BMBC) 

One Leader from a 

South Yorkshire local 

authority as Chair (Cllr 

Terry Fox, SCC) 

One Leader from a 

South Yorkshire local 

authority as Chair (Cllr 

Chris Read, RMBC) 

A lead private sector 

LEP Board member as 

Co-Chair (Neil 

MacDonald) 

A lead private sector 

LEP Board member as 

Co-Chair (Dan Fell) 

A lead private sector 

LEP Board member as 

Co-Chair (Gemma 

Smith) 

A lead private sector 

LEP Board member as 

Co-Chair (Peter 

Kennan) 

A nominated elected 

representative for each 

of the South Yorkshire 

local authorities 

A nominated elected 

representative for each 

of the South Yorkshire 

local authorities 

A nominated elected 

representative for each 

of the South Yorkshire 

local authorities 

A nominated elected 

representative for each 

of the South Yorkshire 

local authorities 

A lead Chief Executive 

from a South Yorkshire 

local authority 

A lead Chief Executive 

from a South Yorkshire 

local authority 

A lead Chief Executive 

from a South Yorkshire 

local authority 

A lead Chief Executive 

from a South Yorkshire 

local authority 

A private sector LEP 

Board member 

A private sector LEP 

Board member 

A private sector LEP 

Board member 

A private sector LEP 

Board member 

Head of Paid Service 

(or their nominated 

representative) 

Head of Paid Service 

(or their nominated 

representative) 

Head of Paid Service 

(or their nominated 

representative) 

Head of Paid Service 

(or their nominated 

representative) 

A non-voting 

representative for the 

other non-constituent 

local authorities from 

the MCA 

A non-voting 

representative for the 

other non-constituent 

local authorities from 

the MCA 

A non-voting 

representative for the 

other non-constituent 

local authorities from 

the MCA 

A non-voting 

representative for the 

other non-constituent 

local authorities from 

the MCA 

 A representative from 

the Skills Advisory 

Network 

 Executive Director of 

Infrastructure and Place 

 

 

3.82 Board decisions are made on the basis of consensus.  Where consensus cannot be reached the issue is 

escalated to the MCA.   

 

3.83 Operational Groups sit under each of the Thematic Boards to assist in the management and monitoring of 

individual programmes or projects, for example transport and the Business Growth Hub Board.   The 

Operational Groups are each chaired by a Chief Executive Officer from a South Yorkshire local authority 

and they consist of key stakeholders and thematic experts who can advise the Thematic Board.  The 

Operational Groups have no responsibilities for decision-making. 

 

 

Thematic Board Meetings 

3.84 Thematic Boards meet on an eight-weekly cycle and the MCA Executive Team provides the secretariat 

function. 

 

 

Page 187



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 22 of 70 
 

Quoracy for Thematic Board Meetings 

3.85 Meetings of the Thematic Boards (with the exception of the Transport & the Environment Board) are quorate 

when five members are present; of which two are from South Yorkshire local authorities and one is a LEP 

private sector member. 

 

3.86 Transport & the Environment Board meetings are quorate when six members are present. of which two are 

from South Yorkshire local authorities and one is a LEP private sector member.  

 

3.87 A member who is obliged to withdraw under the MCA Code of Conduct or LEP Code of Conduct shall not 

be counted towards the quorum. 

 

3.88 If a decision is required to meet agreed timescales and a meeting of the Thematic Board is either not possible 

or scheduled, written procedures for decision making apply, in line with the Thematic Boards Protocol for 

Decisions Between Meetings. 

 

 

 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee  

3.89 The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee ensures that the MCA, LEP and Mayor are operating in a legal, 

open and transparent way. 

 

3.90 In accordance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance, the 

Committee provides a high-level focus on assurance and governance arrangements.   

 

3.91 The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee monitors the operation of the organisation and public transport 

operations.  Their role is to ensure that the MCA is fulfilling its legal obligations, complies with statutory 

requirements, is managing risk effectively and has robust control measures in place for all devolved powers 

and funding.  The Committee scrutinises, reviews and endorses the Treasury Management Strategy, Financial 

Regulations and statutory accounts, before they are finalised and presented to the MCA Board for approval, 

as well as identifying any risks.  

 

3.92 Membership of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee is politically balanced and consists of 8 elected 

Councillors (or their nominated substitute) from the four South Yorkshire local authorities and two 

independent members.   

 

3.93 A sub-committee of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee was established in 2021 to focus on 

operational public transport and the integration of SYPTE into the MCA to ensure that risk assurance and 

oversight was maintained. The independent members lead a non-executive Audit and Risk Advisory Panel 

which reports into and advises the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee. 

 

3.94 The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee meets at least quarterly and reports into the MCA on both financial 

and non-financial performance.  The Chair of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee is invited to present 

the work that the committee is undertaking to the MCA Board at least once per year.  The Chair also meets 

with the Mayor on a six-monthly basis and also meets the Management Board of the MCA Executive Team 

on a regular basis.  

 

 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 188

https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s5455/A%20-%20Members%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Code-of-Conduct-21-22v1.0.pdf
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s5446/C%20-%20Audit%20and%20Standards%20Committee.pdf


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 23 of 70 
 

3.95 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee holds the MCA, Mayor, LEP and Thematic Boards to account for all 

decisions taken, including devolved powers and funding.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the 

authority to review and scrutinise any decision made, or action taken by the MCA, LEP, Mayor, Thematic 

Boards or MCA Executive Team.  The Committee can, at their discretion, produce reports and make 

recommendations for change or improvements.   

 

3.96 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for checking that the MCA and LEP are delivering 

their objectives, and that policies, strategies and plans are made in the best interests of residents and workers 

in South Yorkshire.  They provide independent scrutiny of initiatives and LEP activities and public 

consultation on draft strategies. 

 

3.97 Membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is politically balanced and consists of 10 elected 

Councillors from the four South Yorkshire local authorities (or their nominated substitute); typically, the 

Chair of each local authority’s overarching Scrutiny Committee.  

 

3.98 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee meets on a quarterly basis.  The MCA is required to consider the 

conclusions of any review by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at the next available meeting.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Statutory Officers 

3.99 The MCA appoints three Statutory Officers to discharge duties and obligations on their behalf.  The Statutory 

Officers ensure that the MCA is acting in accordance with its legal duties and responsibilities, operating 

within the financial regulations and receiving appropriate advice on policy and governance.  

 

 

3.100 The Statutory Officer roles are defined in the MCA Constitution and comprise: 

 

 Head of Paid Service – The Chief Executive of the MCA fulfils the role of the Head of Paid Service.  

The Head of Paid Service discharges the functions in relation to the MCA as set out in section 4 of the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and acts as the principal advisor to the LEP. 

 Section 73 Officer – The Group Finance Director fulfils the role of Section 73 Officer in accordance 

with the Local Government Act 1985.  The Section 73 Officer administers the financial affairs of the 

MCA and LEP.  The Section 73 Officer is equivalent to the Section 151 Officer that other LEPs have in 

place.  

 Monitoring Officer – The Monitoring Officer discharges the functions in relation to the MCA as set 

out in section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 

 

 

Remuneration Panel 
 

3.101 An independent Remuneration Panel convenes to identify the salary and allowances that should be paid to 

the Mayor and Deputy Mayor for their term of office.  The MCA does not currently have a Deputy Mayor.    

 

Page 189

https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s5447/D%20-%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/mgMemberIndexGroup.aspx?G=ExecutiveTeam&M=OurSCRExecutiveTeam&bcr=1
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s5439/Art%2011%20-%20Officers.pdf


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 24 of 70 
 

3.102 The Remuneration Panel reports their recommendations in a report to the MCA Board who decide the salary 

and allowances that will be paid.  

 

 

 

The MCA Executive Team 
 

3.103 The MCA Board, LEP Board and Thematic Boards are supported by the MCA Executive Team.  The MCA 

Executive Team is a dedicated resource that provides impartial advice and works in collaboration with 

partners and stakeholders.  

 

3.104 The role of the MCA Executive Team is to advise and support the MCA, Mayor, LEP and Thematic Boards 

and to execute the decisions made.   

 

3.105 The MCA Executive Team of staff are employed by the MCA and the current functions are shown in Figure 

6 below.   

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 6: The MCA Executive Team Structure 

 

3.106 The MCA Executive Team supports the following activities: 

 

 Develop and Propose Policy - supporting the MCA, Mayor and LEP to draft key policies to inform 

decision-making on investment; 

 Initiate and Recommend Project Ideas – support project applicants in identifying and bringing 

forward viable project ideas that will deliver the MCA’s strategic objectives; 

 Develop and Commission Solutions – ensure projects in the funding pipeline are fully developed and 

that delivery options are fully explored; 

 Advise Funding Applicants – on how to develop a robust and comprehensive Business Case and advise 

on the assurance process; 

 Manage the Assurance Process – ensure that funding applications follow the correct process,  manage 

the independent review and appraisal of business cases and funding applications including contracting 

specialists and subject experts to undertake technical reviews as required, and supporting the MCA’s 

Assurance Panel; 

 Advise the MCA, Mayor, LEP and Thematic Boards – on the value for money, risk and deliverability 

of funding applications; 

 Programme and Project Design and Development – design and develop investment programmes and 

projects to deliver the agreed policy objectives of the Mayor, MCA and LEP, in line with the agreed 

Investment Plan, including the preparation and submission of funding bids to Central Government or in 

response to specific calls and opportunities that may arise; 

 Programme and Project Monitoring – monitor and report on the delivery, performance and 

achievements of programmes and projects to the MCA and LEP Boards and DLUHC, DfT and DfE as 

per the Government’s requirements; 

 Manage the Evaluation Process - manage the monitoring and evaluation framework, ensure that all 

programmes and projects are appropriately evaluated and provide regular reports and updates to the 

Thematic, MCA and LEP Boards, individual Government departments and nationally appointed 

evaluators; 

Page 190



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 25 of 70 
 

 Administration and secretariat function for the Boards – ensuring MCA, LEP and Thematic Board 

meetings are planned and arranged in a timely fashion and communicated;  

 Compiling Papers and Reports - for the Mayor and Board members; 

 Enquiries – dealing with the media and handling general enquiries from the public;  

 Publishing Information – ensuring that minutes, agendas and papers of the meetings of the LEP, MCA 

Board, Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee are published 

promptly on the MCA website and publishing information on MCA and LEP policies and procedures; 

and 

 Promoting South Yorkshire – to potential investors and the public as a place to invest, work and live. 

 

3.107 The functions of the MCA Executive Team are organised to maintain ‘ethical walls’ and ensure that there 

are no opportunities for conflicts of interest between project and programme commissioning and project 

appraisal. 

 

  

Page 191



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 26 of 70 
 

4. Accountability for Public Funds 

4.1 Several measures are in place to ensure that the Mayor, MCA and LEP are managing and administering 

public funds in a responsible, efficient, transparent and accountable manner.    

 

 

The Accountable Body 

4.2 The MCA is the legal and Accountable Body for powers and funding devolved by Government.  The MCA 

is also the legal and accountable body for the LEP and is therefore responsible for all decisions and 

expenditure.    

 

4.3 The MCA holds all funding, enters into contractual arrangements and processes payments.  The MCA also 

provides programme management to account for the funding and ensures that the impact of investment is 

assessed.   

 

4.4 The MCA is accountable for: 

 

 Ensuring that its decisions and activities conform with legal requirements regarding equalities, 

environmental and European legislation (such as State Aid), and that records are maintained so that this 

is evidenced; 

 Retaining overall responsibility for the appropriate use of public funds by the MCA, LEP and Thematic 

Boards; 

 Ensuring that the approved Assurance Framework is being adhered to; 

 Ensuring that all contracts entered discharge their duties; and 

 Maintaining and publishing annual accounts (including devolved and other funding sources received 

from Government), in accordance with the relevant regulations, each year in draft form by 31 May and 

finalised in July. 

 

4.5 In accordance with section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, and The Openness of Local Government 

Bodies Regulations 2014, the MCA delegates certain decisions to the Statutory Officers.  The Scheme of 

Delegation in Part 4. E of the Constitution specifies the delegations for funding and decision-making that are 

available to the Head of Paid Service (the Chief Executive of the MCA), the Section 73 Officer (Group 

Finance Director), and the Monitoring Officer.     

 

 

Section 73 Officer 

4.6 The Section 73 Officer is fully engaged in the operation of the organisation, ensuring that devolved funds 

are managed responsibly and allocated through a robust application process.  

 

4.7 The Section 73 Officer is accountable for: 

 

 Ensuring that devolved funds, including the AEB, are used legally, appropriately and are subject to the 

usual local authority checks and balances, including discharging financial duties under the Financial 

Regulations; 

 Ensuring that the MCA acts in a manner that is lawful, transparent, evidence based, consistent and 

proportionate, including the publication of annual audited accounts; 

Page 192

https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s5448/E%20-%20Scheme%20of%20Delegation%20of%20Functions%20to%20Officers%20and%20Schedule%20of%20Proper%20Officers.pdf
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s5448/E%20-%20Scheme%20of%20Delegation%20of%20Functions%20to%20Officers%20and%20Schedule%20of%20Proper%20Officers.pdf
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s5465/Appendix%202%20-%20Financial%20Regulations.pdf
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s5465/Appendix%202%20-%20Financial%20Regulations.pdf


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 27 of 70 
 

 Signing-off Value for Money Statements for all funding applications during the appraisal process as true 

and accurate;  

 Certifying that funding can be released under the appropriate conditions (in line with statutory duties);   

 Accepting grants for funding on behalf of the MCA, where the MCA has approved the submission of a 

funding bid to Government;  

 Accepting tenders or quotations for the supply of goods, materials or services provided that the spend is 

within the MCA approved budget or capital programme; 

 Signing-off quarterly reports to the DLUHC on programme performance and expenditure;    

 Ensuring that the established professional codes of practice are applied; and 

 Ensuring that strong governance arrangements and LEP policies are in place to ensure that the LEP is 

operating robustly and transparently (by providing an Annual Assurance Statement and letter to the 

DLUHC Accounting Officer). 

 

Internal and External Audit 

4.8 The MCA has an established process for internal and external audit.  Internal audit is a contracted service 

provided by Grant Thornton.  Ernst Young are the appointed external auditors.  As the MCA is the 

Accountable Body, the audit arrangements cover both the MCA and LEP’s funding and activities, including 

devolved monies, and transport operations. 

 

4.9 In conjunction with the internal audit team, the MCA Head of Paid Service, Section 73 Officer and 

Monitoring officer prepare an annual Internal Audit Plan at the start of each financial year, which is reviewed 

towards the end of the financial year.  The Internal Audit Plan includes all aspects of the appraisal, assurance, 

monitoring and evaluation processes and transport operations.  This provides independent and objective 

assurance to the MCA.  The Plan is approved by the MCA and is considered by the Audit, Risk and Standards 

Committee.  The current plan was approved by the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee in June 2021.  

 

 

 

Audit, Standards and Risk 

4.10 The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee reviews in detail the opinions of the internal and external auditors 

on behalf of the MCA.  The Committee holds the Statutory Officers to account for any improvements 

identified and required and contribute to the audit opinion at the end of each financial year. 

 

4.11 The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee has an annual Work Programme that they deliver against, which 

includes undertaking a detailed review of the strategic risk management and financial management processes 

that are in place, assessing the level of risk, reviewing elements of the MCA and LEP funded programmes 

in detail and contributing to the setting and approval of the Internal Audit Plan.  The Audit and Risk Advisory 

Panel supports the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee in delivering the annual Work Programme and 

setting of the Internal Audit Plan.  

 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 

4.12 The independent Overview and Scrutiny Committee holds the MCA, Mayor, LEP and Thematic Boards to 

account on behalf of the public.  They have the authority to review and scrutinise any decisions made 

including the investment of devolved funds, or actions taken.  The Committee can at their discretion, make 

recommendations for change or improvement. 

 

Page 193



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 28 of 70 
 

4.13 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has an annual Work Programme of topics that they will scrutinise.  

Committee members are encouraged to propose additional topics for scrutiny.   

 

 

Assurance Panel 

4.14 The Assurance Panel conducts a technical review of all business cases for projects that are seeking funding.  

The Panel currently consists of a private sector LEP Board member who acts as a non-executive Chair, the 

MCA’s three Statutory Officers or their representatives (Monitoring Officer, Section 73 Officer and Head of 

Paid Service) and relevant officers from the MCA Executive Team.  The Panel makes recommendations to 

the appropriate decision-making Board on the value for money and level of risk of a project and whether to 

endorse, approve, defer or reject funding applications.  The Assurance Panel also advises on any conditions 

that should be placed on the funding and advises on the merits of potentially competing funding applications 

by considering the net impact of the overall investment programme. 

 

4.15 The Statutory Officers ensure that the Accountable Body duties are discharged through their representation 

on the Assurance Panel. This embeds the roles and functions of the Statutory Officers in the project appraisal 

process.  All projects seeking funding are reviewed by the Assurance Panel and are subject to independent 

technical scrutiny.   

 

4.16 The Assurance Panel meets every two weeks, or more frequently if necessary, to ensure the pipeline of 

project proposals continues at the required pace.   

 

4.17 A Programme Management Board consisting of senior officers from the MCA, oversees both the 

development and delivery of all MCA investment programmes.  The Programme Management Board also 

provides technical support and advice to the Assurance Panel, such as the identification and mitigation of 

risk and considerations of funding, for example the setting of an appropriate interest rate on loans to funding 

applicants. 

 

4.18 The appraisal process is detailed in Section 5. 

 

 

Ensuring Value for Money 

4.19 All projects and programmes that apply for funding are appraised and assessed for Value for Money (VfM) 

using the HM Treasury Green Book and appraisal guidance published by individual Government departments 

such as the Department for Education, Department for Transport and the Department for Levelling Up, 

Housing and Communities. 

 

4.20 The VfM assessment considers the potential costs, benefits, risks, uncertainties and impacts of the project.  

A Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is calculated for the project wherever possible but this is just one of the basket 

of metrics considered in the VfM assessment.  All of the wider monetised and non-monetised impacts and 

benefits of a project are quantified wherever possible and non-quantifiable benefits are also assessed 

qualitatively.  Non-monetised costs and disbenefits are also qualitatively assessed.    

 

4.21 A VfM Statement is completed by the Assurance Panel at every stage of the appraisal process (Strategic 

Business Case, Business Justification Case, Outline Business Case and Full Business Case) and published 

on the MCA website with the business case to enable partners and members of the public to comment.  The 

initial, adjusted and final BCR for transport projects is calculated in accordance with the DfT’s Value for 

Money Advice Note for Local Transport Decision Makers.      

 

4.22 The VfM statements are on a proportionate basis relative to the level of risk, complexity and funding sought. 

 

Page 194



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 29 of 70 
 

4.23 The Section 73 Officer is responsible for signing-off VfM Statements and this must be done before a project 

can progress to the next stage of the appraisal process.  The VfM Statement is also signed-off by the MCA 

at each stage of the appraisal process.   

 

4.24 The VfM Statement for each project, is presented to the appropriate Board or Thematic Board.  The Statement 

includes the Assurance Panel’s justification and recommendation on whether the project should be approved, 

deferred or rejected and any conditions that should be put in place. 

 

4.25 The ambition is always to support projects that demonstrate High VfM.  However, projects that are appraised 

as offering lower VfM, may still be funded if there is a strong strategic business case and the project will 

deliver the strategic and economic objectives in the SEP (for economic growth, inclusion and sustainability), 

or where the project is essential to unlock or enable other development to take place.  However, the MCA 

and/or LEP can decide to remove a project from the programme if the appraisal identifies Poor or Low VfM. 

 

 

Managing Risk 

4.26 The approach to risk management is comprehensive and in accordance with HM Treasury’s Orange Book 

principles and other project management guidance.  The Deputy Chief Executive of the MCA is the named 

officer for managing risk on the MCA and LEP activity. 

 

4.27 Robust control measures and a Risk Management Framework are in place to provide accountability and 

support due diligence.  The Risk Management Framework guides the identification, assessment and 

management of risks for all activities.     

 

4.28 Risk management controls and mitigation action plans are agreed and added to the Risk Registers.  A plan is 

then constructed to reduce the likelihood of the risk occurring and/or decrease the impact of a risk, should it 

occur.   

 

4.29 Funding applicants are required to include risk and contingency plans as part of their application for funding.  

Once a project has received funding approval, the MCA Executive Team works with project applicants to 

monitor delivery of the contract and risks.  Quarterly Monitoring reports are compiled for the Thematic 

Boards to identify any issues with delivery, perceived or actual risks to the project, any corrective action and 

any change requests (for example, a reduction in grant or an extension to the timescale for delivering key 

milestones).  Any risks to the delivery of the SEP Programme are reported to, and considered by, the Chairs 

and Vice Chairs of the MCA and LEP respectively. 

 

 

Annual Reviews by Government 

4.30 The MCA holds a review meeting with Government each year to discuss delivery of the Devolution Deal 

and investment of the Gainshare funding.  The meeting is an opportunity to identify achievements and 

successes and any areas for improvement. 

 

4.31 In addition, the MCA is required to submit annual reports to individual Government departments on specific 

devolved funding programmes including AEB and CRSTS to publicly state how the funding is being invested 

in South Yorkshire and to report on outputs and outcomes to date. 

 

4.32 The LEP is reviewed twice a year by Government; a Mid-Year Review and an Annual Performance Review.  

The review considers the governance arrangements that are in place, strategic approach and performance 

against profiled expenditure and outputs on funding awarded to the LEP.  A representative of the MCA 

attends the Annual Performance Review meeting, along with the LEP Chair and/or LEP Deputy Chair.      

Page 195



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 30 of 70 
 

 

  

Page 196



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 31 of 70 
 

 

5. Robust and Transparent Decision-Making 

 

5.1 In accordance with the Transparency Code and Government guidance on best practice, the Mayor, MCA 

Board, LEP Board and Thematic Boards act in the interests of South Yorkshire when making investment 

decisions.  All decisions are made via an approved process, free from bias or perception of bias.   

 

5.2 To ensure that decision-making is robust and transparent, all meetings of the MCA Board, Audit, Standards 

and Risk Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee are held in public.  The MCA also publishes a 

monthly Forward Plan of Key Decisions to alert the public to decisions that will be taken, in advance of the 

decision being made.  The decision-making process is detailed below. 

 

 

Budget Setting and Allocation 

5.3 The annual Mayoral Budget is developed by the Mayor, alongside the MCA revenue and capital budget.  The 

budgets are presented to the MCA Board in draft form in November and again for final approval each 

January.  The budgets must be agreed in accordance with the Combined Authorities (Finance) Order 2017 

and the Constitution. 

 

5.4 The budget for the allocation and investment of Gainshare funding for the 2022/23 financial year was agreed 

by the MCA Board in 2021/22 and was set in accordance with the agreed investment priorities identified and 

agreed by members in the Covid Renewal Action Plan (RAP).  Activities funded with Gainshare are managed 

and accounted for alongside all funding devolved and awarded to the MCA and LEP.    

 

5.5 The MCA, in consultation with the LEP where appropriate, is responsible for setting the annual capital and 

revenue budgets for any funding allocated to the LEP prior to the start of the financial year.   

 

5.6 All approved capital and revenue budgets are published on the MCA website.  Budgets are monitored on a 

quarterly basis with reports submitted to the Boards.  Quarterly financial monitoring reports on individual 

programmes and projects are also submitted. 

 

5.7 The South Yorkshire Renewal Fund (SYRF), established in March 2021, brings all MCA funds under a 

single umbrella.  Deployment of the SYRF will be governed by an Investment Strategy which will be 

completed and approved in 2022.  This will set out the principles and conditions of the Fund and confirm the 

focus and process.  Detailed delivery plans identify how budgets will be spent in each of the thematic areas 

(for example, skills, business growth and housing).  The Investment Strategy and delivery plans are informed 

by information on the performance and health of the South Yorkshire economy, and analysis of economic, 

social and environmental needs.  This ensures that the development of new interventions will address 

weaknesses and opportunities in the economy. Individual Delivery Plans will identify how budgets will be 

spent in each of the thematic areas (for example, skills, business growth and housing).   

 

5.8 Investment decisions on the allocation and use of the Adult Education Budget (AEB) in South Yorkshire are 

made with full consideration to the statutory entitlements.  Approximately half of the AEB is allocated to the 

delivery of the following statutory entitlements: 

 

 English and Maths, up to and including Level 2, for individuals aged 19 and over, who have not 

previously attained a GCSE grade A* to C or grade 4, or higher, and/or; 

Page 197

https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=137&RD=0&bcr=1


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 32 of 70 
 

 First full qualification at Level 2 for individuals aged 19 to 23, and/or; 

 First full qualification at Level 3 for individuals aged 19-23. 

 

5.9 The remainder of the AEB is allocated to non-statutory training and is procured through an open, 

commissioning process.   

 

5.10 The MCA Board is the final decision-making body for AEB funding awards.   

 

 

 

Commissioning and Open Calls 

5.11 In accordance with the agreed policy, programme and project applications for funding usually originate from 

three sources: 

 

 A Thematic Board – the Thematic Boards will proactively identify potential projects which satisfy the 

policy objectives of the SEP and thematic Delivery Plan.  These are subject to funding being available.   

 MCA Executive Team – the MCA Executive Team, in discussion with partners and stakeholders, may 

identify a need for a programme or project that either meets the policy objectives and strategic outcomes 

of the SEP or other strategies which will respond to an economic shock. These details may be held 

within an agreed Commissioning Framework or Delivery Plan.  

 Via a targeted Open Call for Project Applications – open calls inviting applicants to bid for funding 

or propose a project are published on the MCA website.  Calls have a specific focus, such as delivering 

an investment priority or targets in the SEP.  Project applicants will then submit a response or bid.  

 

5.12 Commissioning for AEB delivery first took place between December 2020 and June 2021.  The MCA took 

a dual approach to commissioning, including funding for South Yorkshire based providers who had received 

grants prior to devolution, and targeted procured provision.  Commissioning for the 2022-23 academic year 

is expected to start in January 2022.  All AEB training providers are required to submit a Delivery Plan for 

approval as part of the commissioning process.   

 

5.13 The procurement process for AEB delivery follows established rules and best practice for procurement 

including the latest HM Treasury Green Book and AEB funding and appraisal guidance and will seek best 

value for money. 

 

 

The Appraisal Process 

5.14 All schemes seeking investment undergo a proportionate process and appraisal to assess the merits of the 

application, its strategic fit and value for money. 

 

5.15 Each project and application for funding is assessed on its own merit, including where there are potentially 

competing applications for funding.   

 

5.16 For transport schemes, central case assessments must be based on forecasts which are consistent with the 

definitive version of NTEM (DfT’s planning dataset). This requirement does not stop MCAs and LEPs 

considering alternative planning assumptions as sensitivity tests and considering the results of these in 

coming to a decision about whether to approve a scheme. 

 

5.17 The steps involved in the appraisal process are detailed and illustrated in Figure 7. The MCA can occasionally 

agree a bespoke process for project development and assurance which may omit some of the stages shown 

Page 198



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 33 of 70 
 

below if circumstances demand this.  This will be in situations where for example, a national funding 

allocation demands such changes to meet the eligibility criteria or where urgency is needed to address 

strategic issues.  The MCA may also enable urgent investment propositions that present exceptional 

opportunities to be developed, progressed and expedited through the assurance process.  In such 

circumstances, the MCA will agree a revised process and will ensure that it complies with the requirement 

on publishing key decisions at least 28 days before the decision is made. 

 

5.18 In any cases where there is a departure from the full process, the MCA will agree a revised process based on 

the existing stages laid out in this document and MCA Statutory Officers will confirm the assurance route 

based on an assessment of risk, complexity, value for money, uniqueness and funding availability.  This will 

always be in line with HM Treasury advice and best practice. 

 

Page 199



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 34 of 70 
 

Figure 7: Business Case Development, Appraisal and Approval Process 

P
age 200



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 35 of 70 
 

Stage 1 Submission: Mandate For Pipeline Entry 

5.19 A Mandate Form is used to capture the essence of prospects to allow for suitable consideration before an 

investment idea or concept to enter the MCA programme investment pipeline.  It sets out the rationale for 

the programme or project, its alignment and contribution to the MCA’s policy objectives and the SEP, its 

outcomes and the estimated cost.  This acts as a filter and an early check on the expectations of all parties. 

 

5.20 The Mandate Form is assessed by the relevant Director at the MCA, and, provided that alignment with the 

MCA’s strategic objectives and investment priorities can be proven, it will be presented to the MCA’s 

Management Board.  If endorsed, the relevant Thematic Board will consider the recommendation to accept 

the proposal onto the programme pipeline.  The MCA will then have the opportunity to make a formal and 

binding decision to accept, defer or reject it. 

 

5.21 The MCA Assurance Panel will recommend the most appropriate next steps for all projects and programmes 

once they enter the pipeline.  The recommendation will depend on the nature, scale, risk and complexity of 

the proposal.  Ordinarily, if the project/programme is seeking up to £1m finance from the MCA, the next 

step will be for a Business Justification Case to be prepared.  For all other prospects seeking more than £1m 

from the MCA, the next step will be to prepare a Strategic Business Case, as detailed in figure 8 below. 

 

Figure 8: Assurance Route 

 

  

5.22 Furthermore, once in the Pipeline, projects may be supported with their development costs to reduce risk and 

improve quality and timeliness.  A proportion of total project costs may be released at key gateways. 

 

a. Gateway Zero – at Mandate Approval – up to 2% of estimated total project costs can be released if 

required, to assess the feasibility of the project or to develop the Strategic Business Case.  

Projects/programmes seeking up to £1m finance from the MCA which meet key tests and tolerances 

may receive up to 14% of total project costs at Mandate Approval. 

b. Gateway One – at Strategic Business Case Approval – up to 2% of estimated total project costs can 

be released if required, to develop the Outline Business Case or to support any statutory processes 

Page 201



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 36 of 70 
 

or impact assessments.  Projects/programmes seeking between £1m and £5m finance from the MCA 

which meet key tests and tolerances may receive up to 12% of total project costs at Strategic Business 

Case Approval. 

c. Gateway Two – at Outline Business Case Approval – up to 10% of estimated total project costs can 

be released if required to develop the Full Business Case or to complete any statutory processes.  

 

The MCA may consider releasing more than 14% of the total estimated project costs to fund project 

development or feasibility studies, or impact assessments, however this will be by exception on a case-by-

case basis and project applicants would be required to justify why additional development funding is 

required. 

 

5.23 Full Business Case approval is Gateway Three, and no development funding should be required at this stage.  

Development funding awarded is entirely subject to clawback at the discretion of the MCA Board if the 

conditions agreed at the time of approval are not met. 

 

 

Stage 2 Submission: Strategic Business Case 

 

5.24 The purpose of the Strategic Business Case (SBC) is to establish the case for change and should provide a 

first detailed (albeit high level) view of the ‘how, what and when’ the project will deliver.  It is important 

that an SBC can demonstrate its alignment with the SEP and other strategies.  The SBC requests the following 

information from the applicant: 

 

 Project objectives and the rationale for investment; 

 Project outputs and outcomes against the SEP; 

 High level timescales; 

 High level cost estimate of project (a range will suffice at this stage); 

 Initial estimate of funding required; 

 Project sponsor; and 

 Identifying risks, initial options analysis and the preferred way forward.     

 

 

Stage 2 Appraisal: Strategic Business Case 

5.25 The SBC is assessed in line with the five-dimension model in the HM Treasury Green Book and appraisal 

guidance published by individual Government departments, and is therefore appraised against the following 

criteria: 

 

 Strategic Dimension – contribution to strategic objectives and national policy objectives; 

 Economic Dimension – impact on local and national growth, likely BCR category, the social, 

distributional and environmental impacts, and an assessment of the value the project adds; 

 Financial Dimension – cost estimate and sources of funding e.g. identified scheme promoter, private 

sector and other contributions; 

 Commercial Dimension – proven marketplace for the project, certainty in outcomes, procurement 

processes and commercial viability, consideration of social value; and 

 Management Dimension – demonstration that the project is capable of being delivered successfully, 

including Delivery Plans, statutory processes, programme, risk management (with appropriate 

Page 202



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 37 of 70 
 

mitigation plans), State Aid and benefit realisation. 

 

5.26 The biggest emphasis at this stage is on the Strategic Dimension and to an extent the Economic Dimension. 

It is at this stage that a decision is made regarding the strategic fit of the proposed intervention’s objectives, 

outcomes, impact and benefits relative to the SEP. This needs to be proven and agreed at this stage. An early 

assessment of the potential value for money offered by the preferred way forward, relative to the current 

situation and the do minimum option, is also made at this stage. 

  

5.27 To assess complex, transport or land related schemes, a series of approved and bespoke testing tools and 

models may be used (such as FLUTE 18, SCRTM1) to better understand the potential outcomes and value 

for money of an application.  A proportionate TAG assessment may be undertaken, relative to the size of the 

project, to consider aspects such as the quality of the built environment.     

 

5.28 The MCA Executive Team assesses the SBC and presents draft conclusions to the Assurance Panel.   

 

 

Stage 2 Assurance Panel Recommendation: Strategic Business Case 

5.29 The Assurance Panel reviews the conclusions presented by the MCA Executive Team and then agrees what 

recommendations will be made to the appropriate Board; to either progress to Outline Business Case or 

Business Justification Case, based on the total project value and the assessment of risk, or to defer the SBC 

for further work.   

 

5.30 Depending on the nature, risk and complexity of the project, and if the project is seeking between £1m and 

£5m finance from the MCA, the next step may be for a Full Business Case to be prepared.  Certain key 

conditions will also need to be met before this recommendation can be made.  These include confirmation 

of value for money position, completion of any ground investigation and detailed design, satisfying statutory 

requirements, cost certainty and confirmation of other financial and management arrangements.  For all other 

prospects seeking more than £5m from the MCA, the next step will be to prepare an Outline Business Case. 

 

 

Stage 3 Submission: Outline Business Case and/or Business Justification 

Case 

5.31 The aim of an Outline Business Case (OBC) or Business Justification Case (BJC) is to: 

 

 Identify the investment option which optimises value for money; 

 Prepare a scheme for procurement 

 Ensure that statutory processes are undertaken; and 

 Put in place the necessary finance and management arrangements for the successful delivery of the 

scheme. 

 

For BJC’s the following also applies: 

 

 Identify the procurement opportunity which offers optimum value for money; 

 Agree the commercial and contractual arrangements for the successful delivery; and 

 Put in place the detailed management arrangements for successful delivery 

 

Once an OBC or BJC has been developed, there will be a clear understanding of the project plan, project 

management and governance arrangements, benefits realisation and risk management arrangements. Project 

Page 203



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 38 of 70 
 

assurance and post-project evaluation details will be fully worked-up.  In regards to the BJC, there will also 

be 95% cost certainty and any statutory processes will have been completed. 

 

5.32 The OBC and FBC build on the foundations of the Strategic Business Case in that they provide considerably 

more detail on each of the five dimensions outlined in the latest HM Treasury Green Book guidance.  The 

MCA Executive Team will provide guidance to project applicants and scheme promoters to assist them in 

developing an OBC and FBC, including DfT business case guidance for transport projects. 

 

5.33 The five dimensions help to ensure that all impacts of a project (monetised and non-monetised) are presented 

in the OBC and FBC for consideration.  The OBC and FBC templates and guidance set out the basis for 

capturing impacts, including Optimism Bias.  The Optimism Bias for transport projects is calculated in 

accordance with the DfT’s Value for Money Advice Note for Local Transport Decision Makers.      

 

5.34 It is essential that project applicants and scheme promoters agree the scope of costs and benefits before any 

substantive business case development is undertaken.   

 

5.35 Project applicants and scheme promoters must also ensure that the commercial, financial and management 

arrangements are appropriate for effective delivery. 

 

5.36 For all transport projects a summary of the OBC is published on the MCA’s and applicant’s websites to allow 

members of the public to comment.  All comments received must be considered and reflected in the next 

stage of the application process.  For all other projects, a summary of the BJC or OBC (whichever is 

applicable) must be published prior to submission to the MCA, and all comments received must be 

considered and reflected in the final submission.  

 

5.37 A fully developed OBC will have determined the preferred option, potential value for money, ascertained 

affordability and funding requirements and be preparing the potential deal which enables successful delivery. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stage 3 Appraisal: Outline Business Case and/or Business Justification Case 

5.38 An independent assessment is undertaken of all OBCs and BJCs to quality assure and scrutinise the project 

as well as undertaking all necessary due diligence checks.  Any comments received via the MCA website on 

the published business case are considered. 

 

5.39 When technical expertise or specialist advice is required to appraise the project, the MCA Executive Team 

uses experts – the Central Independent Appraisal Team (CIAT) - to assist in appraising the Business Case.  

The MCA Executive Team ensures there is always a clear distinction and adequate separation between the 

scheme promoters and the decision makers.  

 

5.40 Transport projects undergo a proportionate TAG compliant appraisal.  An Appraisal Scoping Report template 

is used to assess such schemes, comprising the: 

 

 Level of analytical detail to be applied to approve a scheme against overarching Government transport 

objectives and the rationale for this; 

 Modelling tools to be applied; 

 Alternative interventions to be considered; and 

Page 204



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 39 of 70 
 

 Timescales for business case development. 

 

5.41 The MCA Executive Team completes a Value for Money (VfM) Statement and submits the appraisal report 

and VfM Statement to the Assurance Panel for their assessment.  For BJC’s the VfM Statement is finalised 

at this stage. 

 

 

 

Stage 3 Assurance Panel Recommendation: Outline Business Case and/or 

Business Justification Case 

5.42 The Assurance Panel reviews the technical analysis undertaken by the MCA Executive Team and CIAT 

(where applicable), including the VfM Statement.  The Assurance Panel then agrees what recommendation 

they will make to the Thematic Board; either to approve the project or defer the project for further work.  At 

this stage it is still possible that an application could be recommended for rejection on the grounds of Poor 

VfM (determined as having a BCR rating of below 1, along with other indicators also showing poor levels 

accounting for significant non-monetised impacts and key uncertainties) or presenting significant uncertainty 

or risk.   

 

5.43 The Thematic Board can fully approve the BJC and/or the OBC if it is within their delegated limit, and grant 

authority to enter into a Funding Agreement.  Projects which exceed the delegation are endorsed by the 

relevant Thematic Board and then submitted to the MCA Board for approval. 

 

5.44 Meeting papers for the MCA or relevant Thematic Board are published on the MCA website a week before 

the meeting, including the project summaries and VfM assessments of applications seeking OBC approval. 

 

5.45 At OBC stage, the funding decision of the MCA (or Thematic Board with delegated authority) will be 

notionally allocated, subject to appropriate conditions being met within an agreed timeframe.  All funding 

decisions are communicated in writing to project applicants. 

 

5.46 Following approval of an OBC or BJC, it is necessary that any statutory processes are underway (OBC) or 

are completed (BJC), to ensure that the project is ready to start following full approval.  This could include 

for example, obtaining planning permission, initiating a Compulsory Purchase Order, or satisfying a number 

of conditions agreed as part of the OBC.  Compliance checks on any conditions of funding specified by the 

MCA, LEP or Thematic Board are then carried out by the MCA Executive Team, and updated documents 

on the project including the VfM Statement is published on the MCA website.  

 

5.47 For all projects seeking £5m and above from the MCA, the MCA Board can at its discretion provide an in-

principle decision at OBC stage, providing that the eventual FBC is within agreed tolerances and thresholds.  

These tolerances and thresholds will be determined by the MCA Board as part of the in-principle approval 

on a project by project basis.  Ordinarily, the final costs will be expected to be within 1% of the cost estimate 

given by the applicant at OBC submission.  In the event of an in-principle approval, delegation will be given 

to the MCA’s Statutory Officers to enter into a funding agreement providing that the FBC complies with the 

conditions set. 

 

 

Stage 4 Submission and Appraisal: Full Business Case 

5.48 Much of the work involved in producing the FBC focuses on revisiting and updating the conclusions of the 

OBC and documenting the outcomes of the procurement.  The purpose of the FBC is to: 

 

 Identify the procurement opportunity which offers optimum value for money; 

Page 205



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 40 of 70 
 

 Agree the commercial and contractual arrangements for the successful delivery; and 

 Put in place the detailed management arrangements for successful delivery. 

Any pre-contract conditions which were put in place as part of the OBC approval should be cleared during 

the development of an FBC. 

 

5.49 The Assurance Panel reviews the technical analysis undertaken by the MCA Executive Team and CIAT 

(where applicable), including the VfM Statement.  The Assurance Panel then agrees what recommendation 

they will make to the Thematic Board; either to approve the project or defer the project for further work.   

 

Stage 4 Agreement: Full Business Case 

5.50 Meeting papers for the MCA or relevant Thematic Board are published on the MCA website a week before 

the meeting, including the project summaries and VfM assessments of applications seeking FBC approval. 

 

5.51 The Thematic Board can approve the Full Business Case if it is within their delegated limit.  Projects which 

exceed the delegation are endorsed by the relevant Thematic Board and then submitted to the MCA Board 

for approval. 

 

5.52 At this point, the MCA, or Thematic Board if it is within their delegation limits, will be asked to grant 

authority to enter into a Funding Agreement once funding approval is given.  Updated documents on the 

project including the VfM Statement are published on the MCA website. 

 

 

Complaints and Appeals 

5.53 All applicants for funding are made aware of the recommendations made by the Assurance Panel and the 

decision of the relevant approving Board, along with the rationale for the recommendations.  Complaints can 

be made if the applicant deems that due process has not been followed. 

 

5.54 Decisions made by the Mayor, MCA, LEP and Thematic Boards can be scrutinised by the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee.  All decisions on funding must follow the appraisal process outlined above to be valid.   

 

5.55 If a complaint is made, the MCA Chair and Monitoring Officer will convene an independent committee to 

review the issue and make a recommendation to the MCA/LEP Board as appropriate.   

 

5.56 In any case where it is alleged that the MCA, LEP or Thematic Board is (a) acting in breach of the law, (b) 

failing to adhere to the process outlined in this Assurance Framework, or (c) failing to safeguard public funds, 

complaints are directed to the MCA’s Monitoring Officer or their deputy.  This includes complaints from 

stakeholders, members of the public or internal whistleblowers.  

 

5.57 As the MCA is the accountable body for all funding decisions, the Monitoring Officer will address the 

allegation following the protocols set out in the MCA Constitution. 

 

5.58 If the MCA or LEP cannot resolve the issue to the complainant’s satisfaction, and the complaint relates to 

funding allocated to South Yorkshire, the issue may be passed to the relevant Government department (such 

as the DLUHC, or the Department for Transport (DfT). 

 

 

Conflicts of Interest and Decision-Making 

Page 206

https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=181&info=1&bcr=1


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 41 of 70 
 

5.59 At all stages of decision-making, the national guidance on registering conflicts of interest is adhered to. This 

includes any interests declared by members of the MCA, LEP and Thematic Boards, the Assurance Panel, 

and Statutory Officers.  This is detailed in the LEP Declarations of Interest Policy.    

 

5.60 Each member of the MCA, LEP and Thematic Boards is required to declare their pecuniary and non-

pecuniary interests (whether they are a member in their individual capacity or representing an organisation).  

Members are also responsible for reviewing and updating their register.  This includes declaring any gifts or 

hospitality received.  Declarations of interest are also sought and recorded in the minutes of each MCA, LEP 

and Thematic Board meeting. The Individual Register of Interest forms and the Register of Declarations 

Made at Meetings are regularly updated and published on the MCA website.   

 

5.61 Senior members of staff within the MCA Executive Team and Statutory Officers also complete and maintain 

an Individual Register of Interest and update it when circumstances change.  These are also published on the 

MCA website.  

  

Page 207

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Declaration-of-Interests-Policy21-22.pdf
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/mgMemberIndexGroup.aspx?G=Cmembers&M=SCRCommitteeMembers&bcr=1
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/mgListDeclarationsOfInterest.aspx?XXR=0&DR=01%2f01%2f2019-12%2f11%2f2019&ACT=Find
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/mgListDeclarationsOfInterest.aspx?XXR=0&DR=01%2f01%2f2019-12%2f11%2f2019&ACT=Find


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 42 of 70 
 

6. Contract Management 

 

6.1 Once funding is approved for a project, either for project development costs or full award,  contracts are 

issued and regular communication with the project applicant or scheme promoter is maintained throughout 

the project’s lifetime. 

 

 

Contracting  

6.2 A Grant Letter (for project development costs) or Funding Agreement (for full award) between the MCA 

and project applicant/scheme promoter sets out the conditions relating to the MCA’s agreement to fund the 

project and the responsibilities of the MCA and applicant/scheme promoter in managing, delivering and 

monitoring the project.  A Grant Letter will only be required where projects are drawing down development 

cost funding ahead of full approval and full award.   

 

6.3 The Funding Agreement specifies that grants and loans are capped, and applicants/scheme promoters bear 

the risk for all overspend on the project beyond the approved amount. 

 

6.4 The Funding Agreement also stipulates the expected outputs and outcomes that the project will deliver.    

 

 

Payment Against Claims 

6.5 Payment milestones are agreed with the project applicant/scheme promoter at the point of contract.  The 

milestones depend on the complexity, cost and timescales of the project.  This forms part of the programme 

management role of the MCA, which is subject to external audit. 

 

6.6 Each grant claim is crosschecked against the approved project baseline information as part of the reporting 

processes.  Prior to payment of grant, evidence checks are conducted on approximately 10% of the claim 

value.  The value of the required checks is determined by the level of risk and project performance to date.  

 

 

Managing Contract Performance 

6.7 The MCA Executive Team manages the delivery of the contract and works with the applicant/scheme 

promoter to monitor the project’s progress and risks. Monitoring conditions are set out initially in a grant 

determination letter from Government for each funding source, so the MCA Executive Team is required to 

adopt a flexible approach to managing contract performance. This may be dependent on the funding source, 

value or risk of a particular programme or project.  

 

6.8 The MCA Executive Team monitors the delivery of the project, and the progress made in achieving the 

outputs and outcomes, in line with the Monitoring and Evaluation Framework.  

 

6.9 The MCA Executive Team is responsible for immediately addressing any slippages or concerns regarding 

project delivery and taking corrective action, including updating the Risk Register as necessary.   

 

6.10 A change control process is in place to ensure that variations to an approved project are discussed with the 

project applicant and agreed with the MCA Executive Team.  Variations to a project are logged on the 

project’s file and reported to the LEP, MCA and Thematic Boards when appropriate.  Minor changes can be 

Page 208



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 43 of 70 
 

agreed between the project applicant and MCA Executive Team where the change does not affect the 

principles of the project and does not exceed the MCA funding allocated for the year.  The relevant Board is 

however, notified of any changes that are significant or contrary to the terms of the Funding Agreement.    

 

6.11 Where there is significant underperformance or cause for concern, a project will be referred to the MCA, 

LEP or Thematic Boards for a decision.  

 

 

Clawback 

6.12 The Grant Letter and Funding Agreement include a mechanism for clawback based on an assessment of risk.  

This ensures that funding is only spent on the specified eligible activity and is linked to the delivery of outputs 

and outcomes.  It also gives the MCA the option of clawing back funds for poor performance or misuse of 

funds.   

  

Page 209



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 44 of 70 
 

7. Measuring Performance and Success 

7.1 Monitoring and measuring the performance of projects and programmes provides important lessons which 

are used to improve future decision-making.  This increases the likelihood of successful delivery of future 

projects.   

 

 

Monitoring and Evaluation Framework 

7.2 A comprehensive monitoring and evaluation framework is in place which has been designed in accordance 

with the most recent HM Treasury’s Magenta and Green Book principles and other monitoring and 

evaluation guidance, such as that published by the What Works Centre. 

 

7.3 The Monitoring and Evaluation Framework sets out how projects and programmes including devolved funds 

such as AEB and TCF will be assessed both during their delivery and post-delivery phases, to understand the 

inputs, outputs and impacts of investment made in South Yorkshire.  The framework outlines in detail the 

processes in place to enable the MCA Executive Team to gather robust feedback on delivery performance 

and identify the lessons learnt from projects and programmes and any best practice that can be applied to 

future activity, programmes and policy.  The Framework supports the Government’s five-yearly Gateway 

Review process for evaluating investment funds.   

 

7.4 The framework sets out several logic models, and identifies the performance metrics and indicators that are 

used to assess the impact of a project or programme and its contribution to delivering the Devolution Deal, 

and SEP and RAP objectives and output and outcome targets for economic growth.  This includes the specific 

objectives and targets for devolved funding such as AEB and TCF. 

 

7.5 The SEP includes a broad range of economic, social and environmental indicators that new MCA and LEP 

funded schemes and projects will be measured against.  The SEP indicators are also used to regularly track 

the overall performance and health of the South Yorkshire economy.  This quantitative data helps to inform 

the development of new schemes and interventions to address weaknesses and challenges in the local 

economy.    

 

7.6 The process for monitoring and evaluating project and programme performance is summarised in the sections 

below.  

 

 

Monitoring 

7.7 All project applicants/scheme promoters and AEB delivery partners are required to provide regular financial 

and delivery information, including progress made in achieving the expected outputs and outcomes, to the 

MCA Executive Team.    Performance Reports are expected quarterly as a minimum, however, reporting 

frequency is based on the assessment of risk.  Where a project or programme is considered high risk, the 

frequency of formal monitoring increases to monthly.  The frequency of reporting on the delivery of outputs 

and outcomes can reduce to every six months following the completion of works or activity.  Again, the 

frequency is determined by the level of risk.         

 

7.8 The applicant/scheme promoter and AEB delivery partner submits quarterly reports to MCA Executive 

Team.  All quarterly reports are signed-off by the Section 73 Officer and LEP Board.  This enables the MCA 

and LEP to fulfil their duties on reporting and accounting for public monies.  

 

Page 210



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 45 of 70 
 

7.9 Site visits to project applicant/scheme promoters and delivery partners are conducted once per year as a 

minimum.  Site visits may by exception, be conducted more or less frequently based on an assessment of 

risk. 

 

7.10 Project Applicants/scheme promoters and delivery partners are responsible for informing the MCA 

Executive Team of any changes to the scope, costs and implementation timescales for their project.  The 

MCA Executive Team assesses the impact of any changes on the overall programme, budget and expenditure.  

Cost increases, financial slippage and significant changes to outputs and outcomes are reported to the 

appropriate Board where necessary.  The MCA does not guarantee that it will meet any cost increases either 

in full or in part. 

 

7.11 The MCA Executive Team presents Performance Reports on project and programme delivery, including 

AEB, to the MCA, LEP and relevant Thematic Board.  This ensures that LEP members are informed of 

progress on projects and are sighted on any issues that will result in financial slippage or underperformance. 

 

7.12 Performance Reports are also submitted to the relevant Government department, specifically DLUHC, the 

Department for Education and the Department for Transport.  The frequency of reporting is determined by 

the relevant Government department although it usually consists of the submission of quarterly updates to 

the department and a formal annual report.  

 

7.13 Following devolution of the AEB in 2021/22 academic year, the MCA will submit an annual report to 

Government each January on the delivery of AEB functions from the previous academic year to date 

including: 

 

 South Yorkshire policies for adult education 

 Expenditure against AEB 

 Data analysis of AEB delivery in South Yorkshire 

 

 

Evaluation 

7.14 The frequency and type of evaluation conducted, depends on the contract value, duration and complexity of 

the project.  The level of evaluation required is determined at Outline Business Case stage so that adequate 

resource can be allocated to fund the cost of evaluation prior to the project’s approval.  This enables 

evaluation to be factored into a project and programme’s design from the outset. 

 

7.15 Pilot projects and major schemes such as AEB, TCF and CRSTS, are subject to more extensive and frequent 

evaluation; typically, annual interim evaluation and a final evaluation after the project has ended. 

 

7.16 As a minimum, all projects are evaluated post-delivery on the project’s impact on the South Yorkshire 

economy, to ascertain whether the project’s objectives, outputs and outcomes were achieved, the reasons and 

results of any under or over performance, and to identify any lessons or recommendations that should be 

applied to future projects.  The evaluation assesses the economic, social and environmental impact against 

the core and supplementary key performance indicators listed in the SEP, RAP and the individual Monitoring 

and Evaluation Plans developed for specific programmes such as TCF, as well as the national key 

performance indicators for Gainshare, AEB and CRSTS.  The MCA’s core and supplementary Key 

Performance Indicators are listed in Appendix C.    

 

7.17 The MCA Executive Team procures external and independent evaluation of all MCA and LEP funded 

programmes and projects, including AEB and TCF through an open and competitive process to evaluate the 

impact of specific funding streams, significant investments and pilot projects. 

Page 211



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 46 of 70 
 

 

7.18 Research and evaluation consultants are invited to apply to be part of an Evaluation Panel and deliver 

independent evaluation of projects, schemes and programmes.  Experts are contracted based on their subject 

and thematic expertise and evaluation experience.   

 

7.19 The use of external evaluation experts to provide technical expertise and specialist advice on conducting 

project and programme evaluation, ensures that all evaluation conducted on projects and programmes funded 

by the MCA and LEP is as objective and impartial as possible. 

 

7.20 Project evaluation provides accountability for the investment made.  It also provides local evidence on which 

to base future projects and programmes.  The MCA Executive Team reviews the results of the evaluation 

against the objectives of the project as set out in the business case and Funding Agreement and the most 

appropriate counterfactual.  Evaluation results for all projects are published on the MCA website. 

 

7.21 Where there is a variation between a project’s objectives and its outcomes, the MCA Executive Team works 

with the promoter to agree corrective action.  If the corrective action is unsuccessful, clawback clauses in the 

Funding Agreement can be invoked as a final resort and to secure the desired outcomes via alternative 

measures. 

 

7.22 The MCA Executive Team compiles a summary report for the MCA of all projects that have completed 

during the previous quarter.  This report confirms whether the project has delivered against its spending 

profile and achieved the outputs and objectives in the Funding Agreement.  The report also recommends 

whether each project can be closed.   

 

7.23 As part of the annual report to Government on the delivery of AEB functions from the previous academic 

year to date, the MCA will also provide an update on interim evaluation findings on the impact that AEB has 

had in South Yorkshire.  These findings will be derived from qualitative data such as employer and learner 

survey responses and quantitative data on the take-up of AEB funded provision in South Yorkshire and 

improvements in participation, progression and attainment in statutory and non-statutory training.  

 

7.24 In addition, other devolved investment funds to Mayoral Combined Authorities are subject to the 

Government’s Gateway Review process to evaluate how Gainshare money has been invested.  An 

independent panel assesses and evaluates the impact of investments on the economy and economic growth 

every five years.  The first Gateway Review for the MCA is expected to take place in 2025.  

  

Page 212



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 47 of 70 
 

8. Inclusive and Collaborative Working 

8.1 The strength and success of the MCA and LEP in South Yorkshire is founded on good governance and 

partner collaboration.  Collaboration and a true partnership approach have been a cornerstone of the MCA 

and LEP achieving what they have to date.  This collaboration is resulting in a focused programme of 

engagement; designed to accelerate the delivery of the SEP and harness South Yorkshire’s latent potential. 

 

 

The LEP Network 

8.2 The LEP is an active member of the national LEP Network and is committed to developing and sharing best 

practice with the LEP Network and its members.  The LEP is also committed to learning and embedding the 

best practice of other LEPs within South Yorkshire.  

 

 

 

Collaboration with Other LEPs, Metro Mayors and the Northern 

Powerhouse 

8.3 The Mayor, MCA and LEP are committed to working in collaboration with other LEPs, Mayoral Combined 

Authorities and the Northern Powerhouse to pool knowledge and resource and enhance the effectiveness, 

transparency, decision-making and leadership in local economic development. 

 

8.4 The Mayor, MCA and LEP have achieved the following by working across geographical borders:  

 

 A series of joint lobbying by the Northern Mayors on transport funding including Northern Powerhouse 

Rail (NPR), the National Rail Plan and Levelling-Up; 

 Led work to support the Metro Mayors (M10) network; 

 Collaborated with Public Health England and the integrated care system on health issues throughout the 

Covid-19 pandemic; 

 Explored a pilot project on innovation with peer MCAs including the West Midlands; 

 Collaborated with Transport for the North (TfN) and LEPs across the North of England to inform the 

development of TfN’s Strategic Transport Plan.  TfN also contributed to the development of the South 

Yorkshire Transport Strategy and Integrated Rail Action Plan; 

 Worked in partnership with the Metro Mayors on an Air Quality Summit and joint lobbying to 

Government for increased powers and funding;  

 Collaborated on Working Win, the health-led employment trial;  

 Led a trade delegation to India in conjunction with NP11 members (the 11 LEP areas in the Northern 

Powerhouse) and led the NP11’s presence and programme at MIPIM 2020; and 

 Shared intelligence on AEB procurement. 

 

Engaging with Other Partners  

8.5 Regular meetings are held with partners to ensure an open and two-way dialogue on activity being undertaken 

across South Yorkshire, and to discuss the development of strategies and progress in delivering the SEP 

priorities and objectives.  These meetings take place with business representative organisations, including 

the Chambers of Commerce, Federation of Small Business, CBI, Institute of Directors and Make UK, as well 

as local authority partners and the universities, such as the Business Advisory Group meetings. 

 

Page 213



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 48 of 70 
 

8.6 A programme of engagement events is also held with partners across South Yorkshire.  Typically, these 

events are thematic based, and are used to obtain input and feedback from partners to inform South 

Yorkshire’s policies, strategies and project formulation.  These engagement events are advertised on the 

MCA website and social media channels and through partners such as the business representative 

organisations. 

 

8.7 Examples of collaboration with partners and agencies have included: 

 

 Establishing a series of boards with key stakeholders and partners from the public, private and voluntary 

and community sectors to inform policy direction in South Yorkshire, including the Music Board, 

Innovation Board, Art and Culture and Public Health; 

 Establishing a Policy Advisory Group to share and pool economic evidence and data to inform the 

development of the new SEP;    

 Establishing a Local Resilience Forum to collaborate on the response to the COVID-19 pandemic; 

 Development of a Renewal Action Plan to direct investment towards economic recovery and growth;  

 Having representation on the Northern Powerhouse Investment Fund Board;  

 Playing an active role in the north of England Growth Hub network, which is designed to share best 

practice; 

 Playing an active part of the national network established for the devolution of the Adult Education 

Budget (AEB).  The LEP has led the work around data analysis/labour market intelligence and the 

contractual arrangements for the operation of the AEB in a devolved model; and 

 Developing a strong working relationship with Department for International Trade (DIT) on the 

Northern Powerhouse agenda, including trade missions and having three exciting investment 

propositions showcased through the Northern Powerhouse Investment portfolio/pitchbook. 

 

8.8 Local and national partners have been, and will continue to be, fully engaged throughout the development 

phase of AEB devolution.  A Skills Advisory Network brings together employers representatives, local 

authority and further education providers with other partners from South Yorkshire.  The Network assists in 

the identification of skills priorities across South Yorkshire and feeds into the processes of setting the 

priorities for AEB commissioning, and the development of a Regional Skills Strategy.  

 

 

 

Engaging with the Public 

8.9 The MCA publishes a plan on key decisions that will be taken at least 28 days before the decision is due to 

be made.  The Forward Plan of Key Decisions includes decisions that have a financial implication (such as 

projects that are seeking investment from the MCA and LEP, new programmes or schemes that would be 

delivered across South Yorkshire, or new strategies) and non-financial decisions which impact on two or 

more local authority areas.  The plan is refreshed and published on the MCA website every month and it 

enables members of the public to view information on decisions before they are made so that they can 

comment on them. 

 

8.10 The plan provides brief information on the project, programme or strategy, the date the decision will be 

taken, the lead officer’s contact details and information on how to access any relevant reports (subject to 

restrictions on their disclosure). 

 

8.11 In addition to publishing information on potential investment decisions in the Forward Plan of Key 

Decisions, the VfM Statement and business case for each project is published and publicised on the MCA 

website at every stage of the appraisal process.  This enables members of the public and stakeholders to 

comment on proposed projects before funding decisions are made.  All comments received are considered 

Page 214

https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=137&RD=0&bcr=1


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 49 of 70 
 

by the Assurance Panel in deciding whether to recommend a project for approval, deferment or rejection, 

and are made available to the MCA, LEP and Thematic Boards.  

 

8.12 The MCA website also explains how members of the public can request information as well as providing 

feedback and submitting questions for MCA meetings.   

 

8.13 The LEP holds an Annual General Meeting (AGM) each year which is open to the public and publicised 

through the MCA’s website and social media networks and press.  

 

8.14 The MCA holds its AGM in June each year. 

 

 

 

Formal and Public Consultation  

8.15 In accordance with the MCA’s statutory obligations, the MCA Executive Team undertakes a public 

consultation exercise when revising or developing a new strategic document.  The consultation period runs 

for between 6 and 12 weeks.  Information on the consultation is posted on the homepage of the MCA website 

with a draft document and details of how to submit views, comments and supporting evidence electronically 

and by post.  Information on any scheduled consultation events are also displayed. 

 

8.16 Comments and evidence submitted by partners and individuals during the public consultation period are 

logged, analysed and categorised, with records kept on how the final draft of the strategy has been amended 

to reflect the comments and evidence received. 

 

8.17 In 2020 the public were consulted on the draft Strategic Economic Plan.  In 2022 the MCA will publicly 

consult on Enhanced Partnerships, an agreement between the MCA as the Local Transport Authority and bus 

operators in South Yorkshire on delivering bus service improvements.  

 

 
  

Page 215



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 50 of 70 
 

9. Publishing Information 

9.1 The MCA is subject to the same Transparency Code that applies to local authorities.  To deliver the 

responsibilities under the code, the MCA and LEP has developed a robust, but proportionate, approach to 

sharing and publishing information so that it is accessible to the public.   

 

 

Access to Information 

9.2 The MCA Constitution includes a publication scheme which sets out how and when agendas, minutes, papers 

and other documents produced by the MCA, LEP and MCA Executive Team will be made available to the 

public.  It also sets out any exceptions to publishing information, such as not disclosing information that is 

prohibited by law or which is exempt under the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 12A or Freedom of 

Information Act 2000.   

 

9.3 The Publication Scheme, which applies to both the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and MCA, is 

published on the MCA website.  MCA, LEP and Thematic Board papers clearly state whether the paper will 

be published under the Publication Scheme and whether any exemptions apply. 

 

9.4 The MCA is subject to the Local Government Act 1972, Freedom of Information Act 2000, Data Protection 

Acts of 1998 and 2018, the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and the Environmental Impact 

Regulations 2004.  As Accountable Body, the MCA fulfils these functions on behalf of the LEP.   

 

9.5 The public are made aware of their right to access information through the MCA website.  Requests for 

information are dealt with in accordance with the relevant legislation and information is not unreasonably 

withheld.  The MCA Executive Team elects to publish more information on activities and decisions than is 

stipulated in Government guidance, so that Freedom of Information requests are less necessary.   

 

9.6 All data supplied to the MCA, LEP and MCA Executive Team, including personal, financial, confidential 

and sensitive information is processed and handled in line with data protection legislation.  Personal 

information is stored securely to maintain privacy.  This process is detailed in the Privacy Policy. 

 

 

MCA Website 

9.7 Core information regarding activity being undertaken by the MCA, LEP and Mayor is available on the MCA 

website.   

 

9.8 The MCA website is structured into the following sections: 

 

 Investors – this section is targeted at potential inward investors and contains information on the 

portfolio of land available for investment in South Yorkshire;   

 Business – this section is aimed primarily at indigenous businesses and explains the schemes and 

initiatives available to support businesses to start-up, thrive and grow, including the Growth Hub;  

 Governance – this is a dedicated section on how the MCA and LEP function, including sub-sections on 

the Board structure and Board membership (Who We Are), LEP and MCA policies, procedures, 

processes, decision-making and expenditure (How We Make Decisions), agendas and papers for 

meetings of the different Boards (Meetings), statutory notices on the Mayoral Election (Democracy and 

Elections) and the LEP Board Recruitment process and vacancies;   

Page 216

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/requests-for-information/
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/terms-and-privacy/


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 51 of 70 
 

 What We Do – this section provides information on the SEP, thematic priorities, public consultations 

on draft strategies, mini-portfolios on LEP funded projects and initiatives and a resources library of key 

documents and policies; and 

 Mayor – this section contains information on the elected Mayor including the Mayor’s role, powers, 

priorities and plans. 

 

 

Meeting Papers 

9.9 The schedule of MCA Board, LEP Board, Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee meetings for the year ahead are published on the MCA website. 

 

9.10 The notice of the meeting, the agenda and accompanying papers are published five clear working days in 

advance of the meeting.  Where papers contain commercially sensitive information or are subject to one of 

the exemptions under the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 12A or Freedom of Information Act 2000, 

they are not published and are categorised as a private item.  Decisions on whether individual agenda items 

are private items are made by the LEP Chair in consultation with the Head of Paid Service and Monitoring 

Officer using existing local authority regulations. 

 

9.11 Draft minutes of meetings are published no more than ten working days after the meetings on the MCA 

website.  All MCA minutes are signed at the same or next suitable meeting of the Authority and published 

within ten clear working days.   

 

 

Notice of Decisions 

9.12 As stated in previous sections, the MCA publishes a Forward Plan of Key Decisions that will be taken by the 

MCA, LEP or Thematic Boards at least 28 days before the decision is made to enable members of the public 

to view and comment on them.   

 

9.13 Details of all project approvals made by the MCA, LEP and Thematic Boards are recorded in the Minutes of 

the meetings.  In addition, the MCA Executive Team maintains and publishes a Grants and Contracts Register 

on the MCA website which provides details of all contracts and agreements signed, a brief summary of the 

project, and the value of the contract. 

 

9.14 A Delegated Authority Report for decisions taken by each Thematic Board is produced for the MCA which 

documents all decisions that the Board has taken, including any approval they have given to projects within 

their delegated authority limit (up to £2 million) and any endorsement, deferment or rejection of projects that 

exceed their delegation.  Delegated Authority Reports is a standing agenda item for discussion at each MCA 

meeting and they are published in the meeting paper pack on the MCA website.    

 

 

Information on Board Members 

9.15 The following information on LEP and MCA Board Members is published on the MCA website: 

 

 Biography – including name, job title, organisation represented, membership of Committees and any 

lead roles; 

 Individual Register of Interests; 

 Declarations at Meetings; 

 Attendance Record; 

 Gifts and Hospitalities Record; and 

Page 217

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/our-decisions-expenditure/


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 52 of 70 
 

 Term of Office 

 

9.16 LEP Board members are not remunerated.  Members are entitled to claim back travel and subsistence costs 

incurred whilst undertaking duties and responsibilities on behalf of the LEP.  The MCA Executive Team 

publishes details of all expenses and subsistence claimed by LEP Board Members and authorised by the 

Head of Paid Service in Quarterly Expenses Reports.   

 

9.17 The MCA Executive Team also publishes any gifts or hospitality accepted and received by LEP Board 

members with a notional or actual value that exceeds £50.  Gifts and hospitality are recorded in each LEP 

Board Members’ Individual Register of Interest.   

 

 

Financial Information 

9.18 A range of budgetary and financial information is published on the MCA website so that it is transparent and 

accessible to the public. 

 

9.19 MCA, Mayoral and LEP budgets are set prior to the start of the financial year within the Budget and Policy 

Framework.  As the Accountable Body, the MCA is responsible for setting and approving the annual budgets 

for the organisations within the MCA governance structure.  This includes approving the transport revenue 

budget for transport operations in South Yorkshire and setting the transport levy.   

 

9.20 The MCA is also responsible for agreeing an annual programme of capital expenditure, together with 

proposals for the financing of that programme.  This includes projects promoted and projects directly 

managed by the MCA. 

 

9.21 Quarterly updates on the performance of the LEP capital and revenue programmes are provided to the MCA 

and LEP Boards and these are published in meeting papers. 

 

9.22 As stated previously in this section, funding decisions are also published on the MCA website in the Grants 

and Contracts Register.  Payments to general suppliers that have a value of more than £250 are published 

every month in the Payments Made to Suppliers register.  

 

9.23 The LEP’s finalised capital and revenue income and expenditure is published every year as part of the  Group 

Accounts.  The draft accounts are considered by the MCA and LEP Boards in June/July each year.  The 

finalised accounts which include the Annual Governance Statement, are published alongside the Independent 

Audit Certificate for the financial year.  

 

9.24 The roles and salary bands of all staff employed in the MCA Executive Team which exceed £50,000 per 

annum are also published on the MCA website. 

 

Procurement and Funding Opportunities  

9.25 The MCA Executive Team publishes calls for projects on a regular basis on the MCA website and social 

media feeds.  The application templates and guidance documents for each commissioning call are available 

via the MCA website. Calls for ESIF funded activity are also advertised on the www.gov.uk website. 

 

9.26 An open and competitive procurement process is in operation.  When undertaking any procurement, all 

Boards, officers and staff must comply with the Contract Procurement Rules.  Opportunities to supply goods 

and services are advertised on the YORtender website with a link from the MCA website.  

 

Page 218

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/expenses/
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/our-decisions-expenditure/
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/our-decisions-expenditure/
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/items-of-combined-authority-expenditure-over-250/
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/monitoring/
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/monitoring/
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/09ii-AGS-Annex-A-v3-clean.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/monitoring/
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/monitoring/
http://www.gov.uk/
https://www.yortender.co.uk/


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 53 of 70 
 

9.27 Information on how businesses can access advice and support services, including applying for grant-funded 

programmes, is advertised in the Business section of the MCA website. 

 

 

Branding 

9.28 In accordance with branding guidance on awarded and devolved funding, the MCA Executive Team ensures 

that the correct logos and wording are displayed in all promotional materials for MCA and LEP funded 

projects and programmes.  Promotional materials include the MCA website, websites of project 

applicants/scheme promoters, signage, social media posts, press notices and marketing literature. 

 

 

LEP Delivery Plan 

9.29 The LEP publishes an Annual Delivery Plan and End of Year report in May each year.   

 

9.30 The Annual Delivery Plan outlines the LEP’s priorities and planned activities for the coming year including 

developmental work and any public consultation that is expected to take place.   

 

9.31 The End of Year report provides an assessment of the LEP’s activity and achievements against the Annual 

Delivery Plan and an assessment of how the South Yorkshire economy has changed over the course of the 

year.  This sets the baseline economic position to measure future performance against. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 219

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/business
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/our-decisions-expenditure/


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 54 of 70 
 

Glossary of Terms 
 

AEB Adult Education Budget 

AGM Annual General Meeting 

BCR Benefit Cost Ratio 

BEIS Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 

BF Brownfield Fund 

BJC Business Justification Case 

BMBC Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 

CIAT Central Independent Appraisal Team 

CRF Community Renewal Fund 

CRSTS City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement 

D2N2 Derby, Derbyshire, Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

DfE Department for Education 

DfT Department for Transport 

DLUHC Department for Levelling Up, Housing and, Communities 

DIT Department for International Trade 

DMBC Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 

FBC Full Business Case 

FLUTE Forecasting the interactions of Land-Use, Transport and Economy 

GBF Getting Building Fund 

LEP Local Enterprise Partnership 

LGF Local Growth Fund 

LTA Local Transport Authority 

MCA Mayoral Combined Authority 

OBC Outline Business Case 

R&D Research and Development 

RMBC Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 

SBC Strategic Business Case 

SCC Sheffield City Council 

SCR Sheffield City Region 

SCRTM1 Sheffield City Region Transport Model 1 

Section 73 Equivalent to a Section 151 Officer 

SEP Strategic Economic Plan 

SYMCA South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority 

SYPTE South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive 

TAG Transport Appraisal Guide (formerly known as WebTAG) 

TCF Transforming Cities Fund 

UKSPF UK Shared Prosperity Fund 

  

Page 220



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 55 of 70 
 

Appendix A: Summary of LEP Policies 

The South Yorkshire MCA and LEP are strongly committed to putting in place robust decision-making and financial 

management policies and procedures to ensure that public money is being spent responsibly and is accounted for.   

 

Each year, the suite of LEP policies are reviewed and refined in an effort to continually improve governance and 

accountability.  The LEP’s policies are listed below and published on the MCA website at 

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/about-us-governance-policy/how-we-make-decisions-2/. 

 

 

LEP Terms of Reference 

The LEP Terms of Reference outlines the role and aims of the LEP Board and the duties of LEP Board members.  It 

also details the LEP’s Board member recruitment and appointment process, the roles of the Chair and Deputy Chair, 

and the decision-making process.    

 

 

LEP Board Recruitment 

The LEP Board Appointment Process explains how vacancies on the LEP Board will be openly advertised, and how 

Board appointments will be made by a LEP Appointments Panel in a transparent, competitive and non-discriminatory 

way.   

 

 

Equality and Diversity 

The LEP’s commitment and approach to ensuring equality and diversity is detailed in the LEP Diversity Policy.  The 

policy covers recruitment and selection and all engagement with individuals and organisations.  The policy also 

outlines the LEP Board’s commitment to nominating a LEP Board member to act as Diversity Champion. The policy 

applies to LEP Board members, the MCA Executive Team and any Thematic Board members. 

 

 

Code of Conduct 

All LEP Board members proactively sign-up to the LEP Code of Conduct when they are appointed to the Board, as 

a condition of their appointment.  The Code of Conduct explicitly requires LEP Board members to conform with the 

Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan principles) – selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, 

honesty and leadership.  MCA Executive Team staff are required to sign the employee’s Code of Conduct as a 

condition of their employment which requires them to carry out their duties in accordance with the Nolan principles. 

 

 

Remuneration and Expenses 

LEP Board members are not remunerated.  Members are entitled to claim back travel and subsistence costs incurred 

whilst undertaking duties and responsibilities on behalf of the LEP.  The LEP Expenses Policy explains the 

requirement for travel and subsistence to be pre-approved by the Head of Paid Service prior to being incurred and 

the process for claiming expenses.  

 

 

Gifts and Hospitality 

Page 221

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/about-us-governance-policy/how-we-make-decisions-2/
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Terms-of-Reference-21-22.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/lep-board-recruitment-process/
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Diversity-Policy-2021-22.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Code-of-Conduct-21-22v1.0.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Expenses-Policy-2021-22.pdf


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 56 of 70 
 

LEP Board members are required to notify the Head of Paid Service in writing of all offers of hospitality and gifts 

received with a value of more than £50.  The LEP Gifts and Hospitality Policy aligns with Local Authority systems 

and standards on accepting and declaring gifts.  The policy also applies to the MCA Executive Team and any Sub-

groups involved in advising on or making decisions. 

 

 

Conflicts of Interest 

The LEP Declarations of Interest Policy requires all LEP Board members and senior officers to complete and 

maintain an up to date Register of Declarations to avoid any conflicts of interest when advising on, or making 

decisions.   

 

 

Whistleblowing 

The LEP Whistleblowing Policy provides information on how concerns about the LEP, LEP Board members and the 

MCA Executive Team should be raised, how the concerns will be handled and how concerns will be dealt with 

sensitively and in confidence. 

 

 

Complaints 

The LEP Confidential Complaints Policy explains how complaints about the LEP, LEP Board members and the MCA 

Executive Team should be submitted and how complaints will be dealt with and responded to. 

 

 

Data Management 

The Privacy Policy explains how and why information provided by service users and members of the public is 

collected and used.  This includes data that is provided to the MCA Executive Team via the MCA website, 

information provided to funded services and projects (e.g. Growth Hub, Skills Bank, Working Win) and data provided 

over the telephone.  The policy ensures that the LEP and MCA Executive Team will only process data in a legally 

compliant way, and that personal information will be handled in confidence and stored securely to maintain privacy. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 222

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Gifts-and-Hospitality-Policy-21-22.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Declaration-of-Interests-Policy21-22.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Whistleblowing-Policy-21-22-1.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LEP-Confidential-Complaints-Policy-21-22.pdf


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 57 of 70 
 

Appendix B: Joint Statement from LEP and MCA 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) sets out the respective roles and responsibilities of the South Yorkshire 

Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) and the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  It has been produced to provide 

clarity on how decisions on public funds are made within South Yorkshire. 

 

 

Roles 

The MCA is the legal and Accountable Body for funding devolved by Government to the MCA and LEP, including 

the Growth Deal.  The MCA is also the Local Transport Authority for South Yorkshire. 

 

The LEP is a voluntary business-led partnership which drives economic growth and advises how LEP funding should 

be invested in developing and growing the South Yorkshire economy.    

 

The Mayor is directly elected by the electorate in South Yorkshire to lead the region and to promote it as a place to 

live, work and invest in.  The Mayor is Chair of the MCA and is a member of the LEP Board.  

 

 

Responsibilities 

The Mayoral Combined Authority is required to: 

 

 Approve all annual capital and revenue budgets prior to the start of the financial year;   

 Accept proposed projects onto the programme pipeline;  

 Ensure that decisions on proposed projects are aligned with the objectives of the SEP and RAP; 

 Test the value for money of proposed projects;  

 Ensure that the legal duties of the MCA as the LEP’s Accountable Body, operate in a responsible and 

transparent manner; and 

 Inform the LEP of any operational decisions made.  

 

 

The Local Enterprise Partnership is required to: 

 

 Produce and publish the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP); 

 Support the Mayor in producing the Local Industrial Strategy; 

 Advise the MCA on decisions of how any capital and revenue budgets allocated to the LEP are prioritised 

and spent; and 

 Oversee the delivery of any LEP funded programmes and projects. 

 

 

Operating Practices and Policies 

The MCA and LEP will be served by a central team of impartial staff (the MCA Executive Team) who will provide 

advice and report on financial information and programme delivery to both the MCA and LEP Boards.   

 

The MCA and LEP agree to conform with the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan principles) – selflessness, 

integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 

Page 223



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 58 of 70 
 

 

The MCA and LEP are opposed to all forms of unlawful, unfair and inappropriate discrimination, and commit to 

provide equality and fairness to all those who wish to work with them and to not act less favourably on the grounds 

of any protected characteristic. 

 

 

Amendments 

This MoU can be amended at any time with agreement of both the MCA and LEP. 

 

 

 

 

The Mayoral Combined Authority and Local Enterprise Partnership affirm to know, understand and agree to this 

Memorandum of Understanding as negotiated together. 

 

Signed on Behalf of the South Yorkshire Mayoral 

Combined Authority: 

Signed on Behalf of the South Yorkshire Local 

Enterprise Partnership: 

 

 

Signature:  Signature:  

 

Name: 

 

Mayor Dan Jarvis MP MBE 

 

Name: 

 

Lucy Nickson 

 

Position: 

 

South Yorkshire Mayor and Chair of 

the Mayoral Combined Authority 

 

Position: 

 

Interim LEP Chair 

 

Date: 

 

 

 

Date: 

 

 

 

Page 224



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 59 of 70 
 

Appendix C: Key Performance Indicators 

The core and supplementary key performance 

indicators that the MCA assesses funding applications and monitors programme, project and economic performance against are detailed below: 

Stronger 

Performance Management Reporting 

Core 

Indicator 

Outcome Data Source 2027 Target 2040 Target Gap Approach Reviewer Frequency Director 

Responsible 

Productivity 

per hour 

worked 

A higher 

productivity 

workforce 

Labour productivity 

measured in GVA 

per employee. 

Annual Population 

Survey 

 Increase 

productivity rate 

in South 

Yorkshire by 

£6.80 per hour 

(24%) to match 

the UK average  

South Yorkshire: 

£28.3  

UK: £35.2 

 

GAP: £6.8 per hour  

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

High growth 

businesses 

A larger proportion 

of high growth 

businesses. 

 

Business 

Demography Table 

7.1 

 

 Increase 

proportion of 

high growth 

businesses in 

South Yorkshire 

by 25 (0.5%)  

South Yorkshire: 

3.9% 

Range: Barnsley 

(3.3%) – S/R (4.0%) 

UK: 4.3% 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Business 

density 

A higher density is 

economically 

beneficial in terms 

of GDP 

Nomis UK Business 

Counts 'Business 

density (businesses 

per 10,000 people 

 Increase the 

number of 

businesses in 

South Yorkshire 

by 20,600 

(42%) 

Barnsley (312), 

Doncaster (363), 

Rotherham (346), 

Sheffield (335), 

England (648) 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Higher-level 

occupations 

Higher proportion 

of employees in 

managerial, 

technical & 

professional 

occupations (SOC 

1 – 3)  

Nomis  Additional 

42,000 (6.3%) 

16-64 year olds 

working in 

higher level 

occupations 

South Yorkshire: 

43.7% 

GB: 50.0% 

 

Gap: 6.3 p.p 

(equivalent to 

40,500)  

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Supporting Indicator 

P
age 225

https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/activitysizeandlocation/datasets/businessdemographyreferencetable
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/activitysizeandlocation/datasets/businessdemographyreferencetable
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/activitysizeandlocation/datasets/businessdemographyreferencetable


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 60 of 70 
 

Economic 

output per 

worker 

The size of our 

economy relative to 

our workforce (and 

population) will 

increase. 

Labour productivity 

measured in GVA 

per worker. Annual 

Population Survey. 

 Parity with UK 

average 

 

South Yorkshire: 

range £42,620-45,434 

UK: £56,670 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Employment More working-age 

people are in 

employment.  

 

Annual Population 

Survey 

 

 Parity with GB 

average 

 

South Yorkshire: 

70.8% 

GB: 74.4% Gap: 3.6 

p.p. (equivalent to 

33,000 people) 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Enterprise 

birth rate 

Higher density and 

growing business 

base 

Business birth rate. 

ONS Business 

Demography data. 

 

 Exceed UK 

average 

South Yorkshire: 

14% (range 12.6 

[Sheffield]-17.1% 

[Doncaster])  

UK: 13% 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Enterprise 

survival rate 

Higher density and 

growing business 

base 

 

New business 1-year 

survival rate. ONS 

Business 

Demography data. 

 

 Exceed UK 

average 

South Yorkshire: 

89.5% 

SY range: Sheffield 

(88.3%) – B/R 

(91.1%), UK (88.3%) 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

R&D 

expenditure 

A greater 

investment in R&D 

indicates an 

innovative 

economy 

R&D expenditure as 

a % of the economy 

using ONS and 

Eurostat data 

 2.4% of GDP by 

2027 

 

South Yorkshire: 

£440m 

UK: £69,600m 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Digital 

connectivity 

A higher 

proportion of SY is 

covered by full 

fibre. 

Gigabit capable 

 

 Parity with 

England average 

 

South Yorkshire: 

range (9-38%) 

England: 36% 

 

Board 

Report 

LEP / 

MCA 
Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Urban centres Consistent or 

improving levels of 

footfall in town and 

city centres. 

(Potentially 

‘Locomizer’ 

commercial data – 

currently exploring 

possibilities)  

 TBC TBC 

Board 

Report 

LEP / 

MCA 
Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 
 

 

P
age 226

https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/activitysizeandlocation/datasets/businessdemographyreferencetable
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/activitysizeandlocation/datasets/businessdemographyreferencetable
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/activitysizeandlocation/datasets/businessdemographyreferencetable


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 61 of 70 
 

 

 

  

P
age 227



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 62 of 70 
 

Greener 

Performance Management Reporting 

Core Indicator Outcome Data Source 2027 Target 2040 Target Gap Approach Reviewer Frequency Director 

Responsible 

Flooding Flood risk 

demonstrably 

reduced overall by 

xx% compared to 

2020 baseline 

TBC  17,000 

additional 

homes and 

businesses 

protected from 

flooding 

TBC 
 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Carbon Reduce carbon 

emissions. 

 

UK local authority 

and regional carbon 

dioxide emissions 

national statistics 

 

 Reduction of 

carbon dioxide 

emissions in 

each local 

authority to be 

equal to or 

lower than the 

England average 

of 4.9/capita 

South Yorkshire 

(range): 3.8 to 

6.4/capita 

England: 4.9/capita 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Modal shift Car usage and 

motor traffic falls, 

indicating mode 

share and lower 

pollution due to 

transport. 

Either using DfT 

source for miles 

driven, or more local 

(SYPTE) data 

 

 Additional 

29,000 workers 

using public 

transport to 

commute and 

14,000 using 

active travel 

modes to 

commute 

TBC - net reduction 

in line with strategy  

 
 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Supporting Indicator 

Bus patronage Increase bus 

patronage  

BUS0110 passenger 

journeys on local 

bus services per 
head 

  South Yorkshire: 
20.9 journeys per 
head 
England: 27.8 
journeys per head  

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

TEB Quarterly 

Corporate 

Director of 

Public 

Transport 

 

Bus time More buses on 

time 

Increase in 

cumulative journey 

-4.0% (BSIP 

2025 target) 

-4.0% +0.3% compared to 

2017 levels (current) 

Board 

Report 
TEB Quarterly 

Corporate 

Director of 

P
age 228



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 63 of 70 
 

times for an agreed 

set of frequent 

services compared to 

2017 baseline 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

Public 

Transport 

Reliability More reliable 

transport 

infrastructure 

Bus operator data 99.5% (BSIP 

2025 target) 

99.5% 98.8% (current) Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

TEB Quarterly 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Bus 

satisfaction 

More satisfied 

users 

Transport Focus 

annual survey 

92% (BSIP 

2025 target) 

92% 89%(current) Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

TEB Quarterly 

Corporate 

Director of 

Public 

Transport 

Ecosystem 

services 

The value of total 

ecosystem service 

flows increases 

Natural Capital 

Solutions report for 

South Yorkshire 

(2021) 

 Increasing value 

of ecosystem 

service 

provision 

relative to 2021 

benchmark 

Barnsley (£117m), 

Doncaster (£131m), 

Rotherham (£100m) 

Sheffield (£171m) 

Board 

Report 

 

MCA Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Commuting 

mode of travel 

More people use 

public transport 

and active travel 

Census (QS701EW)  TBC Bicycle (9,395), on 

foot (63,724) 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

MCA Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Renewable 

energy 

generation 

Increase Annual generation 

(MWh), BEIS 

 TBC South Yorkshire 

(1,174 GWh) 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

MCA / 

LEP 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Net Zero 

Carbon 

Emissions 

(Scope 1 and 

2) for the 

region 

Reduction CO2e – ONS  Net Zero TBC 
Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

MCA / 

LEP 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Air quality Reduction Air emissions Nitrous 

Oxide (N2O) CO2e – 

ONS  

 TBC TBC 

Board 

Report 
MCA Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

P
age 229



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 64 of 70 
 

Carbon 

intensity 

Reduction per capita and per 

km2 

 TBC TBC 

Board 

Report 
MCA Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Woodland 

coverage 

Increase % coverage – Natural 

Capital Mapping 

 TBC South Yorkshire 

(10.6%) 
Board 

Report 
MCA Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Housing stock 

energy 

efficiency 

All new homes in 

South Yorkshire 

are built to Energy 

Performance 

Certificate Grade 

C standard and 

above 

TBC  TBC TBC 

Board 

Report 

MCA / 

LEP 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Active travel Increase % using ‘active’ 

modes of travel 
Walking and Cycling 

Statistics, England – 

ONS  

 TBC TBC 
Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

MCA Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

 

 

 

  

P
age 230



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 65 of 70 
 

Fairer 

Performance Management Reporting 

Core Indicator Outcome Data Source 2027 Target 2040 Target Gap Approach Reviewer Frequency Director 

Responsible 

Economic 

inactivity 

Fewer people are 

economically 

inactive 

% who are 

economically inactive 

- aged 16-64 

  

Annual Population 

Survey 

 

 Reduction of 

31,600 (2.2%) 

16-64 year olds 

classified as 

economically 

inactive 

 

South Yorkshire 

(24.0%) 

UK (21.8%) 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Qualifications 

& skills 

Delivering a local 

workforce for 

future growth. A 

higher proportion 

of working-age 

population (16-

64) possess 

higher 

qualifications, 

indicating 

progression in 

education and 

employment 

NVQ 3 and above. 

Nomis. 

 

 Additional 

12,000 (2.8%) 

16-64 year olds 

in South 

Yorkshire 

obtaining a 

higher level 

qualification 

(NVQ 3+)  

 

South Yorkshire: 

58.1% 

GB: 61.3% 

Gap: 2.8 p.p 

(equivalent to 12,000 

people) 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Wage levels A lower 

proportion of 

employees on 

low earnings 

(further work to 

assess lowest pay 

gap within 20th 

percentile of 

earnings 

distribution). 

 
 

Annual Survey of 

Hours and Earnings. 

Hourly pay (gross) all 

workers 

 

 Gap of £1.38 

per hour 

between South 

Yorkshire and 

UK average is 

reduced by all 

workers 

receiving a 14% 

pay increase  

South Yorkshire: 

£14.28  

UK: £15.71 

Gap: £1.48 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Personal 

wellbeing 

Estimated levels 

of worthwhile, 

life satisfaction, 

happiness and 

Self-reported 

wellbeing – people 

with high anxiety 

 Reduction in 

South Yorkshire 

residents self-

reporting high 

South Yorkshire: 

range (20.1-24.1%) 

England 21.9% 

 

 

Board 

Report 

 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

 

Annual 

 

Deputy CEX 

P
age 231



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 66 of 70 
 

anxiety are 

indicators of 

personal well-

being. 

 

score (NHS 

Fingertips) 

 

anxiety to 

below 2020 

level or to 
England average 

Programme 

Dashboard 

Thematic 

Boards 

Supporting Indicator 

NVQ – all levels Increasing 

 

Nomis  Parity with GB 

average 

TBC  

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Health Our population 

live increasingly 

long, healthy 

lives. 

Healthy life 

expectancy at birth - 

PHE/ONS 

 Parity with 

England average 

South Yorkshire: 

range 77.8-79.3, 

(male) 81.8-82.5 

(female) 
England: 79.8 (male) 

83.4 (female) 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Deputy CEX 

Housing costs The housing 

system and wider 

economy means 

that earning 

power is not 

being eroded by 

inflating house 

prices. 

MHCLG House Price 

(existing dwellings) 

to residence-based 

earnings ratio. 

 Net decrease in 

relative housing 

costs 

South Yorkshire: 

range (4.66-5.92)  
England: 7.84 Board 

Report 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

Annual 

 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

  

P
age 232



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 67 of 70 
 

Education & 

schools 

More children 

leave secondary 

school with better 

attainment to 

boost their 

prospects in FE 

and employment. 

Attainment 8 scores 

average. DfE data. 

 Parity with 

England average 

South Yorkshire: 

Attainment 8 range 

(44.0-44.9) 
England: 46.8  
Gap to average: 649 

students 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Higher-level 

occupations 

Higher 

proportion of 

employees in 

managerial, 

technical & 

professional 

occupations 

(SOC 1-3). 

Nomis  Parity with GB 

average 

South Yorkshire: 

43.7% 
GB: 50.0% 
Gap: 6.3 p.p 

(equivalent to 40,500 

people) 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Fuel poverty Fewer 

households living 

in fuel poverty. 

BEIS Fuel Poverty 

Statistics use Low 

Income Low Energy 

Efficiency (LILEE) 

indicator. 

 Parity with 

England average 

South Yorkshire: 

17.7% 
England: 13.4% 
Gap: 4.3 p.p 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Deputy CEX 

Child poverty Lower proportion 

of children living 

in poverty. 

End Child Poverty 

derived data 

 Parity with UK 

average 

Barnsley (33.3%), 

Doncaster (34.7%0, 

Rotherham (34.3%), 

Sheffield (35.5%), 

UK (31%) 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Deputy CEX 

Cultural 

participation 

Gap for overall 

participation in 

cultural activity 

between SCR and 

national average 

closes. 

DCMS 

 

Active Lives Survey 

Variable 'Spent time 

doing a creative, 

artistic, theatrical or 

music activity or a 

craft' 

 Parity with 

England average 

South Yorkshire: 

69.7% 
England: 76.1% 
Gap of 6.4 p.p 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Deputy CEX 

Deprivation Lower share of 

local areas in 

deprivation. 

MHCLG Index of 

Multiple Deprivation 

(2019) - Proportion 

of LSOAs in most 

deprived 10% 

 Parity with 

England average 

South Yorkshire has 

18.59% areas in 

‘bottom 10% index’. 

By definition this is 

 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Deputy CEX 

P
age 233

http://www.endchildpoverty.org.uk/local-child-poverty-data-2014-15-2019-20/


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 68 of 70 
 

nationally (converted 

to %) 

8.59% higher than 

average. 

Out-of-work 

benefit claimant 

rate 

Lower 

percentage of 

people claiming 

out-of-work 

benefits 

CCO1 Regional 

Labour Market 

 Parity with UK 

average 

South Yorkshire: 

5.6% 
Range: Barnsley 

(5.1%) – Doncaster 

(6.2%) 
UK: 5.0% 

Board 

Report 

MCA / 

LEP 
Annual 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Connect to jobs (a) Increasing the 

number of 

economically 

active people 

living within 30 

minutes of key 

employment 

locations and 

universities by 

public transport. 

 

Improving 

journey times to 

employment 

centres. 

Talk to transport 

team about data 

sources. 
 

Note: if these come 

from Census, better 

using sources that 

refresh much more 

regularly. 

 Decrease in 

journey times 

relative to 2020 

level. 

Baseline year to be 

established. 

Board 

Report 

MCA / 

LEP 
Annual 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Affordable 

housing 

delivery 

Increasing 

number of 

affordable 

housing 

completions 

Live Table 1008C  Increase on 

2020 level 

Barnsley (228), 

Doncaster (74), 

Rotherham (240), 

Sheffield (207) 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

Annual 

 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Net additional 

dwellings 

Increasing 

number of net 

new dwellings 

Live Table 122  Increase on 

2020 level 

Barnsley (590), 

Doncaster (761), 

Rotherham (566), 

Sheffield (1,850) 

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

Annual 

 

Director of 

Transport, 

Housing, 

Infrastructure 

& Planning 

Avoidable 

mortality 

Decreasing Premature 

preventable deaths – 

ONS  

 TBC TBC  

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Deputy CEX 

P
age 234

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peoplenotinwork/unemployment/datasets/claimantcountbyunitaryandlocalauthorityexperimental/current
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peoplenotinwork/unemployment/datasets/claimantcountbyunitaryandlocalauthorityexperimental/current
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-affordable-housing-supply
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-net-supply-of-housing


 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 69 of 70 
 

Common 

mental health 

disorders 

Decreasing Fingertips – ONS    TBC TBC  

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Deputy CEX 

Gross 

disposable 

household 

income 

Increasing ONS    TBC TBC  

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Deputy CEX 

Key stage 4 

destination 

measures 

Increasing  Higher % sustained 

education, 

apprenticeship or 

employment 

destination – ONS  

 TBC TBC  

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

Apprenticeships 

and trainees  

Increasing  DfE apprenticeships 

and trainees data 

 TBC TBC  

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

NEET Decreasing  DfE ‘NEET and 

participation’ 

 TBC TBC  

Board 

Report 

 

Programme 

Dashboard 

 

LEP / 

MCA 

 

Thematic 

Boards 

 

Annual 

 

Director 

Business and 

Skills 

 

 

P
age 235



 

 

 

Page 236



 
Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 

 
Wednesday, 25 January 2023 

 
Internal Audit Plan Progress Report 

 
Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Lisa McKenzie, Internal Audit – Grant Thornton 
 
Summary 
 
This report provides an update on the progress of the 2022/23 Internal Audit Plan. 
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 
Internal Audit supports the organisation in helping to achieve its objectives by giving 
assurance on its internal control and governance arrangements. Good governance 
enables the Combined Authority to pursue its ambitions and objectives in the most 
effective and efficient way, bringing about better outcomes for residents and businesses in 
South Yorkshire. 
 
Recommendation(s)   
The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee are asked to note the progress of 2022/23 
audit activity and approve any changes to the Internal Audit Plan.  
  
List of Appendices Included:   

 
A Internal Audit Plan Progress Report January 2022 
 

Page 237

Agenda Item 13



P
age 238

mailto:emily.j.mayne@uk.gt.com
mailto:lisa.p.mackenzie@uk.gt.com


Commercial in confidence

P
age 239



Commercial in confidence

P
age 240



Commercial in confidence

P
age 241



Commercial in confidence

P
age 242



P
age 243



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 

 
Wednesday, 25 January 2023 

 
Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report 

 
Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Lisa Mackenzie, Internal Audit – Grant Thornton 
 

 
Summary 
The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee is responsible for overseeing and 
reviewing the Authority’s internal audit strategy, and receiving reports as 
appropriate, from the Internal Auditor. This report presents an update on the 
implementation of the recommendations made by Internal Audit. 
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 
Internal Audit supports the organisation in helping to achieve its objectives by giving 
assurance on its internal control and governance arrangements. Good governance 
enables the Combined Authority to pursue its ambitions and objectives in the most 
effective and efficient way, bringing about better outcomes for residents and 
businesses in South Yorkshire. 
 

 
 
 

Page 245

Agenda Item 14



Recommendation(s)   
 

Members are asked to review the progress of the implementation of internal audit 
recommendations. 

 
List of Appendices Included:   

 
A Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker January 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 246



P
age 247



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report | Year ending 31 March 2023

Commercial in confidence

2

8

2

3

2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Implemented Overdue Not Yet Due

Low Medium High

P
age 248



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report | Year ending 31 March 2023

Commercial in confidence

3

2

3

0

3

Not yet due Overdue High Medium Low risk

0

3

0

2

4

Director of Resources & Investment

Low Medium High

P
age 249



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report | Year ending 31 March 2023

Commercial in confidence

4

P
age 250



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report | Year ending 31 March 2023

Commercial in confidence

5

P
age 251



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report | Year ending 31 March 2023

Commercial in confidence

6

P
age 252



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report | Year ending 31 March 2023

Commercial in confidence

The table below describes how we grade our audit recommendations based on risks: 

Appendix 1: 

Our recommendation ratings

7

Rating Description Possible features

Findings that are fundamental to the management 

of risk in the business area, representing a 

weakness in the design or application of activities 

or control that requires the immediate attention of 

management

• Key activity or control not designed or operating effectively

• Potential for fraud identified

• Non-compliance with key procedures/standards

• Non-compliance with regulation

Findings that are important to the management of 

risk in the business area, representing a moderate 

weakness in the design or application of activities 

or control that requires the immediate attention of 

management

• Important activity or control not designed or operating effectively 

• Impact is contained within the department and compensating controls would detect errors

• Possibility for fraud exists

• Control failures identified but not in key controls

• Non-compliance with procedures/standards (but not resulting in key control failure)

Findings that identify non-compliance with 

established procedures, or which identify changes 

that could improve the efficiency and/or 

effectiveness of the activity or control but which are 

not vital to the management of risk in the business 

area. 

• Minor control design or operational weakness 

• Minor non-compliance with procedures/standards

•

•

P
age 253



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Recommendation Tracker October 2020

Commercial in confidence

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 254



 
Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 

 
Wednesday, 25 January 2023 

 
Internal Audit Report - Governance 

 
Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Lisa Mackenzie, Internal Audit – Grant Thornton 
 
Summary 
 
This report presents two reports from the internal audit report from the 2022/23 Internal 
Audit Plan.  
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 
Internal Audit supports the organisation in helping to achieve its objectives by giving 
assurance on its internal control and governance arrangements. Good governance 
enables the MCA to pursue its ambitions and objectives in the most effective and efficient 
way, bringing about better outcomes for residents and businesses in South Yorkshire.  
 
Recommendation(s)   
The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee are asked to consider the findings and 
recommendations of the internal audit on Governance. 
  
List of Appendices Included:   
 
A Asset Management Follow Up 
B  Net Zero Final Report 
 

Page 255

Agenda Item 15



P
age 256

mailto:peter.c.clark@uk.gt.com
mailto:lisa.p.mackenzie@uk.gt.com


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 257



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 258



Commercial in confidence

P
age 259



Commercial in confidence

P
age 260



Commercial in confidence

P
age 261



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 262



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 263



Commercial in confidence

P
age 264



Commercial in confidence

P
age 265



Commercial in confidence

P
age 266



P
age 267



Commercial in confidence

P
age 268



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 269



P
age 270



P
age 271

mailto:emily.j.mayne@uk.gt.com
mailto:lisa.p.mackenzie@uk.gt.com
mailto:john.owens@uk.gt.com


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 272



Commercial in confidence

P
age 273



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 274



Commercial in confidence

P
age 275



Commercial in confidence

P
age 276



Commercial in confidence

P
age 277



Commercial in confidence

1.

•

•

•

P
age 278



Commercial in confidence

2.

•

•

•

•

P
age 279



Commercial in confidence

3.

P
age 280



Commercial in confidence

4.

P
age 281



Commercial in confidence

5.

P
age 282



P
age 283



Commercial in confidence

P
age 284



Commercial in confidence

P
age 285



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 286



P
age 287



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

Wednesday, 25 January 2023 
 

Risk Management Monitoring Report 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Claire James, Head of Corporate Governance 
Claire.james@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

Liz Morris 
Liz.morris@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 

This report provides an update on the progress of the implementation of the Risk 
Management Framework and a revised Framework document (appendix A) 

 
A Risk Management Dashboard, incorporating risk registers is included at appendix B and 
includes: 

 The corporate risks of the Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA).   

 ‘High’ and ‘Medium/High’ risks at Directorate level (operational risk) 

 Risks with a health and safety ‘theme’ with a score of 5 or over. 

 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 

Effective risk management is a key principle of good governance and decision making, 
which enables the MCA to pursue its ambitions and objectives in the most effective and 

Page 289

Agenda Item 19

mailto:Claire.james@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Liz.morris@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk


efficient way, bringing about better outcomes for residents and businesses in South 
Yorkshire. 

 
Recommendations   
 

ASRC members are asked to note and comment on the progress of the implementation of 
the Risk Management Framework, the proposed revisions to the Framework and the Risk 
Management Dashboard. 

 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
  
Not applicable  
  
1.  Background 
  

1.1 Following the recommendation of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee, the 
MCA approved the new Risk Management Framework at their meeting in July. 
Subsequently, work commenced to embed the Framework and implement a new 
version of the IT risk management tool already operational within the PTE. During 
August and September, the system was configured to the requirements of the 
Framework, training sessions were delivered to risk owners across the organisation 
and risks input into the system. 

  

2. Risk Management Framework Implementation – Progress since October 
  

2.1 In October, alongside activity to continue to embed the Framework, a post- 
implementation self-assessment commenced. This review took into account the 
recommendations of the internal audit report on risk management previously 
considered by the Committee in July.  
 
The findings of the assessment culminated in a report to the Executive Leadership 
Board on 13th December providing an appraisal of the extent to which the Risk 
Management Framework had been embedded to that point in time and set out 
options for further activity along with potential amendments to the Framework. The 
revised Framework is included at appendix A. 

  

2.2 Outcome of the Post-implementation Review 
 
Reflecting on the findings of the post-implementation review and the 
recommendations from the previous Internal Audit report, the Executive Leadership 
Team agreed that the approach to risk management needed to be pragmatic and 
proportionate and that ownership and accountability for risk management should be 
aligned to the delivery of objectives. The following changes and clarifications were 
agreed: 
 
Risk reviews and reporting 
 
The Internal Audit report suggested that the flexibility built into the reporting 
schedule within the Framework could cause confusion or lead to an inconsistent 
approach and therefore recommended that all risks graded at the same level 
should be subject to the same oversight and frequency of review. In response to 
this recommendation the recording, reporting and monitoring and review timetable 

Page 290



within the Framework has been simplified. The approach now specifies that Risk 
Owners review all recorded risks on a monthly basis (prompted by an automated 
reminder from the IT system). Low scoring risks will be reported to Directorate and 
Leadership Team meetings on an annual basis and medium scoring risks on a six-
monthly basis. Medium and medium/high scoring risks will be reported to 
Directorate and Leadership Team meetings on a quarterly basis before progressing 
to the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee. Any Health & Safety risks with a score 
of 5 or above (over the agreed tolerance/exceeding the risk appetite) will be treated 
as ‘high’ and reported as such.  
 
Page 9 of the Framework document has been revised to reflect this change and the 
Executive Leadership Board agreed a timeline to operationalise the review and 
reporting cycle.  
 
Clarity on accountability, ownership and responsibilities for managing risk 

 
The Internal Audit report suggested that more clarity was needed on responsibilities 
for managing risk at an operational level. This is addressed in part by the revised 
review and reporting schedule referred to above. In addition, Executive Leadership 
clarified that Directors should have a strong lead on risk management ensuring 
they have an appropriate level of oversight of the risks being managed within their 
teams, monitoring the progress of any mitigating actions and should play a role in 
assessing any new risks before they are recorded. It was also agreed that the 
Corporate Governance Team would provide advice and guidance on the 
management of risk, the administration of the IT system (ensuring users are 
adequately trained, have the correct permissions etc) and generate the quarterly 
reports required by the Executive Leadership Team and the Committee.  
 

Target scores 
 
The Internal Audit report suggested that the use of target scores aligned to risk 
appetite should be introduced to provide assurance, or to measure when a risk has 
been mitigated to an acceptable or tolerable level. Whilst it is recognised that target 
scores can also assist in understanding whether mitigating actions are worth the 
time, effort and cost, it has been agreed that during this phase of embedding risk 
management practice, this could add too much complexity to the process and will 
therefore be re-considered at an appropriate point in the future. 
 

The risk appetite statement is included in the Framework at page 16 and is 
unchanged from the previous version. 
 
Escalation and de-escalation 
 
The Internal Audit report recommended that once directorate/team level risk 
registers were in place, any low scoring corporate risks should be de-escalated and 
managed at directorate level. The Framework defines corporate risks as risks that 
are ‘cross-cutting, on-going or longer-term and have an impact on SYMCA and its 
strategic objectives’ (page 6) rather than being defined by the risk score therefore, 
it has been agreed that low scoring corporate risks will continue to reside on the 
corporate risk register and will not be ‘de-escalated’. 
 

Page 291



Similarly, any high scoring directorate level risks will not automatically become 
corporate risks however, through monitoring at directorate and Executive 
Leadership level a decision may be taken to define a new corporate risk. 
 
Escalation and de-escalation are addressed in the Recording and Reporting 
section of the Framework (page 9).  
 

Thematic Boards 
 

The Internal Audit report suggested that consideration should be given to providing 
Thematic Boards with risk reports generated from the central risk management 
system. Given the remit of the Thematic Boards it has been agreed the current 
approach is appropriate that accountability for the monitoring and management of 
risk should continue to reside with the Executive.  
 

The role and responsibility of Thematic Boards in relation to risk is set out in the 
table on page 10 of the Framework. 

  

2.3 Following completion of the exercise to populate the IT system, the Executive 
Leadership Board also reviewed all corporate risks and directorate level risks with a 
‘high’ or medium/high’ residual score and all health and safety ‘themed’ risks with a 
score of 5 or above. Each Director took an action to work with their risk leads to 
review and moderate all risks within the system.     

  
3. Risk Dashboard 
  

3.1 The Risk Dashboard provided at appendix B provides the following information: 
 
Corporate Risks 
 
Corporate risks by ‘strategic group’ - a bar chart that demonstrates the volume 
of risks and respective ratings by strategic ‘group’ (the categories established by 
the Framework for reporting purposes) 
 
Corporate risks by ‘risk score’ – a bar chart that demonstrates the spread of 
corporate risks by current risk score.  
 
Corporate risks by ‘Directorate’ – a bar chart that demonstrates the risks and 
where they reside within the directorates of the MCA.  
 
Heat Map - The heat map provides a visual representation of the position of the 
risks within the probability and impact scoring grid an indicates the change in score 
from inherent to residual following the application of controls.    
 
Corporate Risk Register – provides the risk description, inherent risk score, 
controls, residual risk score and mitigating actions. Lists risks from high to low. 
 
Summary 
 
The table below summarises corporate risks with residual scores of ‘medium/high’ 
and ‘high’. More detail can be found within the Risk Dashboard Report Risk 
Register.  

Page 292



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

3.2 Directorate/Team Risks 
 
Volume of risks by risk score per Directorate - a bar chart that illustrates the 
volume of risks by residual risk score 
 
Volume of risks per team within each Directorate - a bar chart that illustrates the 
volume of risks by residual risk score distributed across teams within a Directorate. 
 
Directorate/Team level Risks Register - provides the risk description, inherent 
risk score, controls, residual risk score and mitigating actions for all risks scoring 
medium-high and high (amber and red). 
 
Summary 
 
There are 21 risks at directorate level with a residual risk score of ‘medium/high’ 
and ‘high’. There are no ‘medium/high’ and ‘high’ scoring risks within the Strategy 
and Development Directorate. More detail can be found within the Risk Dashboard 
Report Risk Register.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 293



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

3.3 Health & Safety Risks 
 
Risk Register of risks with a health and safety ‘theme’ – provides the risk 
description, inherent risk score, controls, residual risk score and mitigating actions 
for all risks with a score of 5 or above. There is a low appetite for any risks which 
have a health and safety element to them. 
 
Summary 
 
There are 19 risks scoring 5 or over, two of which have a residual score of 
‘medium/high’ the remaining 17 have a residual score of ‘medium’. More detail can 
be found within the Risk Dashboard Report Risk Register.  

  
4. Consultation on Proposal  

 

4.1 Not applicable 

  
5. 
 

Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   

5.1 The revised Framework will progress for MCA approval in March and will be 
applicable for the financial year 2023/24. 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  

6.1 There are no specific financial risk implications however, failure to effectively 
manage risk may have significant financial and reputational impact and for the 
MCA. 

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 There are no legal implications as a result of this report. 

  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  

8.1 There are no human resources implications as a result of this report. 

  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  

9.1 There are no equality and diversity implications as a result of this report. 

Page 294



10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  

10.1 There are no climate change implications as a result of this report. 

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  

11.1 There are no ICT implications as a result of this report other than the ongoing 
requirement to add IT users to the user group for the risk management IT system. 

  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   

 

12.1 There are no communications or marketing implications as result of this report. 

  
List of Appendices Included:   
 

A Revised Management of Risk Framework  

  

B  Risk Management Dashboard 

 
Background Papers 
 

None 

 

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 1 of 16 
 

 

Management of Risk Framework  

VERSION 0.1 DATE January 2023 

 

 

Page 297



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 2 of 16 
 

Document Control: 
 

Version Date  Brief Summary of Changes Author 

1 06/01/22 First draft prepared Liz Morris 

2 27/01/22 ASRC approve with caveat risk appetite 
statement to be re-considered 

Liz Morris 

3 11/02/22 Small number of edits and Risk Appetite 
Statement added at the request of the ASRC 

Liz Morris 

5 18/02/22 Risk Appetite Scores removed following 15th 
February Management Board request  

Liz Morris 

5 24/03/22 ASRC Approve revised Risk Management 
Framework 

ASRC 

6 25/07/22 MCA approval received 
 

Ruth Adams 

7 29/12/22 Name changes throughout and edits driven by 
the Executive Leadership Team decisions 
including clarification of roles & responsibilities. 

Liz Morris 

8 Click or tap to 
enter a date. 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap here  

9 Click or tap to 
enter a date. 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap here  

10 Click or tap to 
enter a date. 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap here  

 

  

Page 298



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 3 of 16 
 

MANAGEMENT OF RISK FRAMEWORK 
 

Introduction  
Management of risk is a planned and systematic approach to the identification, evaluation, prioritisation 
and control of risks and opportunities facing an organisation.  Effective management of risk is an integral 
part of good corporate governance and internal control arrangements and should be a part of everyday 
management processes throughout any organisation.  Corporate Governance processes and 
arrangements have evolved over time with UK and global enhancements Following ‘lessons learned’ 
from corporate failures. 
 
The requirement for management of risk in combined authorities is set out in the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015.  The Regulations are applicable to South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority 
(SYMCA) and contain provisions on financial management, annual accounts, internal control and audit 
procedures, which require a sound system of internal control to be maintained, which includes ‘the 
effective arrangements for the management of risk’ (Part2, para3).  The Regulations require, as part of 
the financial control systems measures ‘to ensure that risk is appropriately managed’ (Part2, para 4). 
 
SYMCA is committed to ensuring that robust arrangements for the management of risk are in place and 
operating effectively across the organisation.  This is particularly important as transformation has taken 
place and the two predecessor organisations have integrated to bring together different processes and 
ways of working to harmonise to embed a single operating model.  As the organisation reconsiders its 
structure, the continued management of risk will be an important continuity arrangement.  The Executive 
Leadership Team (ELT), and individual directors, will champion the management of risk and ensure that 
appropriate arrangements are in place, maintained and reported upon on a regular and on-going basis.   
 
This Framework sets out SYMCA approach to the management of risk, the roles and responsibilities and 
provides a proportionate process, which will provide a foundation for embedding Enterprise Risk 
Management.  This structured approach takes into account the maturity of SYMCA, it’s risk management 
knowledge, longevity and the operational challenges the organisation faces both internally and 
externally.  As part of the approach to develop and define this Framework, and as part of good project 
management, a post implementation review (PIR) has been undertaken.  This has considered if 
management of risk is operating as intended and ultimately resulted in this Framework, and operating 
processes, being adjusted to take account of the ELT’s defined direction.   
 

Management of Risk Definitions 
There are many definitions of risk, which fundamentally have at their heart that risk is the effect of 
uncertainty on objectives.  The technical recording of risk is expressed in terms of the cause(s), potential 
event(s) and the consequence(s).   

 Cause, has the potential to lead to risk(s) i.e. the source and this can be structured as ‘due to’. 
 

 Event, something planned that doesn’t happen or something not expected which may happen and this 
may be structured as ‘there is a risk that’ or ‘leads to’. 

 

 Consequence, the outcome of an event affecting objectives and this may be structured as ‘results in’. 
 
Management of risk is the co-ordinated activities designed and operated to manage risk and exercise 
internal control within an organisation. 
 
The core of the above has been taken from the Orange Book, as updated in 2020, and it should be 
noted that a risk can be based on a threat or an opportunity. 
 

Effective Management of Risk and its Benefits 

The ELT of SYMCA has agreed to embed effective management of risk throughout the organisation by: 

 ensuring this structured and consistent approach is embedded and roles and responsibilities are 
built into the organisational structure and reporting lines. 
 

 using the approach to facilitate effective prioritisation of resource. 
 

Page 299



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 4 of 16 
 

 using data and management information to build up a full picture of risks to facilitate good 
decision making and continuous improvement. 
 

 ensuring continuous review of risks and mitigations takes place and management of risk 
performance is reported on regularly. 
 

 ensuring that all risks are managed at the most effective and practical level and escalation takes 
place in line with the requirements.  
 

 commissioning further reviews, annually, to consider any lessons, whether intended benefits 
have been met and if adjustment is required due of feedback and external good practice to 
ensure arrangements remain fit for purpose and risks are managed effectively.  
 
 
 

 providing user friendly management of risk guidance and support based on good practice. 
 
Implementation of the above will help build effective management of risk and will enhance management 
functions and processes and corporate governance within SYMCA.  As such, management of risk works 
alongside financial management, performance management and business planning to enhance and 
demonstrate responsibility, transparency and accountability.  It also forms a key component of the 
delivery of SYMCA’s purpose and objectives including the Strategic Economic Plan and associated 
delivery plans. 
 
Through effective management of risk, SYMCA ELT can prioritise and manage both threats and 
opportunities to the delivery of objectives.  By implementing and embedding a continuous and 
standardised approach to the management of risk, a process is developed to prioritise resources, 
implement effective and proportionate controls to manage threats and exploit opportunities.  
Consequently, the aspiration of this Framework is that management of risk becomes a fundamental and 
demonstratable factor of all management decisions taken by SYMCA.   
 

  

Page 300



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 5 of 16 
 

Our approach, the Management of Risk Process 
The effective management of risk process is recorded below and covers each of the fundamental 
principles. 

Risk Assessment  

 

 

 

 
 
Each step is considered in more detail below. 
 
Scope and Context 
Management of risk in SYMCA is set against the delivery of the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) and the 
operations and activities the organisation takes to deliver that.  This means that risks are defined against 
the delivery of objectives which are set out within SYMCA plans aimed at leading to the achievement of 
the SEP priorities.  Risks may be either internal to SYMCA or externally facing as work is undertaken 
with partners and stakeholders to transform the economy of South Yorkshire for its people, business and 
places.  
 
Communication and Consultation 
Communication and consultation are key attributes of the Management of Risk Framework and aim to 
assist stakeholders in understanding risk and its role as a basis on which decisions are made.  
Communication in this context will enhance awareness of risk and its management and consultation will 
take place with stakeholders to seek feedback in agreeing the Framework and the recorded risks, 
resulting in the Framework and outputs being co-created.  Coordination across the two will ensure that 
the information contained within the Framework and the outputs including risk registers are relevant, 
accurate and timely and is set within the context of the organisation and its operating environment.   
 
Risk Assessment Process 
Risk Assessment is the overall process of risk identification, risk analysis and evaluation.  The 
assessment should be systematic, iterative and take place dynamically and collaboratively considering 
the views of related stakeholders.   
 
Objectives 
As part of the business planning process, risks may be identified, considered, and recorded within the 
risk register template (Appendix B).  In aligning risk registers to a business planning, where this is 

 
Risk 

Treatment 

The management of risk process is broken 
down into components, depicted in the 
diagram.  This implies the process is 
sequential however, it is more dynamic and is 
a continuous cycle of review and revisiting the 
steps as time and events develop and impact 
on the delivery and achievement of 
objectives.  It is presented in more detail in 
Appendix A, Management of Risk on a Page 
and within the following pages. 
 
The process has been influenced by the Risk 
Management Standard ISO 31000, The 
Orange Book, benchmarking of comparable 
organisations and previous processes along 
with experiential knowledge of good practice. 
 
There can be many applications of the 
management of risk within the organisation 
however, the fundamental principle is to 
support the achievement of objectives.  In the 
case of SYMCA this is focused on the 
delivery of the Strategic Economic Plan. 

 

Identify 

 
Mitigate  

and Control 

Scope and Context 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 C
o

n
s

u
lt

a
ti

o
n

 

Recording and Reporting 

M
o

n
ito

rin
g

 a
n

d
 R

e
v

ie
w

 

 
OBJECTIVES 

 

Assess 

Page 301



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 6 of 16 
 

undertaken, risk ownership will reside with the manager and most appropriate member of the respective 
team.   
 
Additionally, risks may be identified outside of the business planning process and as part of everyday 
operations or business as usual activity and added to the register, as necessary.  
 
Risk Identification 
The risk identification step aims to identify and describe risks that may help or prevent the achievement 
of objectives e.g. what might happen that could affect progress, it could be negative or positive i.e. an 
opportunity.   
 
There are many ways in which risks can be identified and aligned with core management including: 

 horizon scanning. 

 PESTLE analysis. 

 SWOT analysis considering Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats. 

 Learning lessons from internal experience and external events. 

 Root cause analysis, asking why five times to each risk event to identify a cause to be addressed. 

 Control & Risk Self-Assessment, collaboratively delivered with a range of stakeholders to seek the 
views of all parties creating a rounded approach to identifying risk. 

 Business planning and objective setting, which means that management of risk is at the heart of 
everything that is undertaken within the organisation. 

 
A useful process to help write a risk for inclusion in a risk register, board papers and more widely is to 
think about the risk in terms of the: 

 the reason for occurrence, source or cause of a risk ‘due to’. 

 the risk itself, an event or ‘there is a risk that’.  

 the consequence, the result, ‘results in’. 
 

Reason for a risk occurring  
The event or situation trigger 
(the cause / ‘due to’)  

Risk itself  
Area of   uncertainty, (what may 
happen – ‘leads to’ / ‘there is a 
risk that’) 

Consequence of the risk  
The effect should the risk 
materialise. (‘results in’) 

 Flooding leads to a delay in the 
progress of a  scheme 

resulting in outcomes not   being 
realised in the timescales. 

 Increased cyber attacks  leads to successful infiltration  results in operational disruption, data 
corruption, outage and financial loss. 

 
Each risk should be recorded within the 4Risk system following agreement with the relevant Director, 
Appendix B. 
 
Risk Registers 
Risk Registers will take the following forms: 

 Corporate Risk Register: this contains the main ELT held risks, which may be cross cutting, on-
going or longer-term and have an impact on SYMCA and its strategic objectives.  These risks are 
owned and updated by Executive Directors as part of their role within the ELT and reported into 
the ELT and ASRC quarterly.  ELT has taken the decision that it will report all corporate risks to 
ASRC regardless of the current / residual score. 
 

 Directorate and Team Risk Registers: these contain risks specific to SYMCA teams and can be 
reflective of objectives, business plans, processes and operating environments.  These risks are 
identified, owned and managed by directors, managers and operational employees.  Such risks 
are escalated and reported in line with the Recording and Reporting section of the Framework.  
This means high and medium / high level risks will be reported through the management 
hierarchy into ELT, ASRC quarterly and the MCA Board annually.  

 

Page 302



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 7 of 16 
 

Consequently, it is the responsibility of all employees to actively identify and manage risks and 
opportunities to the achievement of objectives.   
 
Grouping the Risks  
The following strategic groups have been established, in which risks will be brigaded and analysed to 
develop corporate and board level reports.  The Risk Appetite Statement (Appendix D) has been set 
against the groups, which were defined and adopted by the Executive Leadership Team in 2020.  It is 
important for each risk to be allocated to an appropriate category as follows:  

 Policy relates to the setting of interventions to tackle specific matters to develop the strategic 
objectives of the MCA. 

 Financial relates to establishment and maintenance of financial health and wellbeing to achieve 
strategic and financial objectives.  

 Organisational relates to the structure and makeup of the organisation to deliver the objectives 
and the corporate plan. 

 Commissioned Operations and Delivery incorporates the programmes and projects of the 
MCA to deliver the objectives set for the region.  

 Legal Compliance and Regulation relates to the obligations the MCA is required to adhere to 
including the upholding of laws, statutes and regulations e.g. professional standards, laws 
relating to ethics, bribery, corruption and fraud. 

 Transport relates to operational transport related matters that would have historically formed part 
of the Passenger Transport Executive risk register.   

 
Assess the Risk 
Each risk should be recorded within the 4Risk system the template at Appendix B replicates the information 
fields within the system and is provided as an aid. 
 
Once a risk has been identified, the risk owner is defined and captured within the risk register.  The risk 
owner is the person that takes responsibility for the management of the risk.  Assessment and evaluation 
of each risk is undertaken using a five by five Probability Impact Grid, as follows:   
 
 

Im
p

a
c
t 

5 
Critical 

5 10 15 20 25 

4 
Serious 

4 8 12 16 20 

3 
Moderate 

3 6 9 12 15 

2 
Minor 

2 4 6 8 10 

1 
Immaterial  

1 2 3 4 5 

    
1 

Highly 
Unlikely 

2 
Unlikely 

3 
Possible  

4 
Probable 

5 
Highly 

Probable 

  
Probability 

 
Each risk is assessed inherently, prior to any controls or actions being established, for probability and 
impact and an overall risk score is created by considering the probability of the risk occurring and also 
the impact if it did occur.  Simply, this requires the multiplication of the probability score (1-5) by the 
impact score (1-5) to reach an overall risk score (1-25).   
 
Further guidance on scoring is included within the Scoring Matrix at Appendix C, which has been 
established to help build consistency throughout the process and organisation. 
 
Mitigation and Control 

Page 303



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 8 of 16 
 

Each risk is assessed inherently, prior to any existing controls being applied, and again after the 
application of existing controls, captured in the risk system, to reach a current or residual risk score.  
Appendix B, the risk register template demonstrates the flow of this risk information.  The current or 
residual risk score provides an opportunity to rank risks and a means of prioritising to highlight risks 
posing the greatest threat or opportunity to the organisation.  The residual risk score is the basis for 
escalation and reporting.  
 
Within the risk system additional actions are recorded, which are deemed necessary to reduce the risk 
exposure to an acceptable level and within appetite, or to maximise the opportunity, which in turn may be 
used to create an action plan.  An action is any activity that is planned.  An action requires an owner, a 
deadline or timescales by when it will be completed. 
 
Risk owners, directors and ELT can monitor and review risks, controls and track the actions through to 
completion.  It is important that the actions are tracked to ensure that risks are treated in the right way 
and at the right time.  An action plan may also be included in reporting to directorate management 
teams, ELT, Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and more widely.  
 
Risk Treatment 
Once the risk has been recorded, existing controls have been established and a current or residual risk 
score defined then a decision needs to be made as to what to do next.  The risk treatment options below 
provide the alternatives to consider: 

 Treat, take action to further reduce a risk. 

 Tolerate, accept the risk. 

 Transfer, pass responsibility e.g. insurance.  

 Terminate, avoid the activity. 

 Take up, to maximise an opportunity. 

 Together, to share with partners e.g. public private initiatives/partnerships (PPI/PPP). 
 
Appetite  
The current or residual risk score should be related to the appetite the organisation has established, 
setting out how much risk the organisation is willing to accept.  The expectation is that a risk owner will 
manage each risk to its lowest practical level and where it is not possible to do so a risk will be escalated 
through the organisational reporting structure and ultimately to ELT and ASRC.  This is in line with the 
Recording and Reporting requirements set out below.  The Risk Appetite Statement is included as 
Appendix D and provides a guide to risk owners and employees across SYMCA.   
 
A further expectation is that directors and ELT will guide the executive teams into action or accept / 
tolerate the current level of risk i.e. the status quo.   
 
Monitoring and Review 
Monitoring and Review activities are continuous and applied across all levels of the management of risk 
process.  This provides for and leads to assurance and improvement of the quality and effectiveness of 
the process, its implementation and the output e.g. risk registers (held within the 4Risk system).  
Ongoing monitoring and regular review are built into the management of risk process and the 
requirements for escalation are captured in the Recording and Reporting section below.   
 
The Management of Risk Framework and operating practices have been subject to a post 
implementation review to consider lessons.  This has resulted in adjustments being made, as instructed 
by ELT.   
 
Subsequently, the Framework and outputs will be subject to an annual review for similar purposes, 
learning lessons and adoption of ongoing good practice, leading to the preparation of an ELT 
presentation and a paper to the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and MCA Board as part of an 
annual report. 
 
Recording and Reporting 
Regular reporting is required to demonstrate that action is being taken to manage risks and that this is 
regularly taking place.  It allows SY MCA to respond to situations as they arise and make appropriate 

Page 304



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 9 of 16 
 

decisions to avoid issues before they happen.  This forms a key aspect of the organisation’s approach to 
governance.  
 
The requirement is that the management of risk process and output will be documented and reported 
through appropriate mechanisms, in line with the table below and the arrangements for governance of 
the process and its output.  Escalation and de-escalation of risks is in line with the table below: 
 

Score 
 

Rating Monitoring and Review and Recording and Reporting * 
 

16-25  High Risk Owner Review = Monthly   
Reporting = Quarterly to directorate leadership team, ELT and to ASRC.  

11-15  Med/High Risk Owner Review = Monthly   
Reporting = Quarterly to directorate leadership team, ELT and to ASRC. 

5-10 ** Medium Risk Owner Review = Quarterly.   
Reporting = Quarterly to directorate leadership team.  

1-4  
 

Low Risk Owner Review = Six monthly.   
Reporting = Quarterly to directorate leadership team. 

*The frequency of Reporting may be shortened, by exception and where required, but it is not anticipated 
the frequency will be extended. 
**Risks which have a health and safety focus have a low appetite, any scored 5 and above will be 
escalated to ELT for visibility, guidance and to determine regularity of reporting. 
All corporate risks will be reported to ASRC. 
 
The expectation is that risks are escalated through directorate leadership teams and ELT for awareness 
and any additional decisions.  Executive escalation and reporting should always take place prior to 
reporting to the non-executive committees e.g. Audit, Standards & Risk Committee and MCA Board.  
 
The Framework and its implementation will result in all risks being reported annually to ELT.   
 
Directorate leadership teams, ELT and ASRC may request deep dives into the high-level risks that face 
the organisation on an ad-hoc basis and this will require risk owners to develop presentations, which 
provide an accurate representation and provide assurance focused on the management of risks.  The 
deep dives may be undertaken by working groups set up for a specific period or purpose.   
 
Where it is not possible to effectively control a risk to a score lower than 12 e.g. where effective 
management may be outside of the organisation’s control a risk may be tolerated and such risks will be 
reported to ELT where further action can be considered.  Minutes of meetings should capture the 
discussion and decision(s) made. 
 
Management of Risk Technical System 
SYMCA has procured the 4Risk system to administer the management of risk and to facilitate reporting 
through directorates to ELT and then to ASRC.  Risk owners are required to maintain their risks within 
the system in line with the above monitoring requirements.  Access permissions and training have been 
provided and an intranet page has been developed, which contains supporting materials.   
 
  

Page 305



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 10 of 16 
 

Governance  
The diagram below provides a visual representation of the flow of risk information within the standing 
structure of the MCA.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To supplement the above diagram, the table below provides an overview associated with risk register 
reporting and responsibilities to assist in decision making. 
 

Group 
 

Risk Reporting and Responsibility 

MCA Board  The MCA Board will receive an annual report on the risks, the type and 
exposure, which is within the context of the SEP, the Corporate Plan and 
Business Plans. 

 Risk Management is included as a heading within the standard MCA 
report format ensuring that it is available as part of decision-making.   

 The MCA will receive an annual report from the ASRC providing their 
commentary on the work undertaken in year.   

Audit, Standards and 
Risk Committee 

 The ASRC will receive risk reports as highlighted in the Recording & 
Reporting section of the Framework and commentary at each quarterly 
meeting. 

 The ASRC will also receive an annual report and commentary.  

 A Risk Management is included in the standard ASRC paper template.  

 Working groups may be set up, for a period or purpose, and risks reported 
with members seeking assurance as necessary. 

Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP)* 

 Management of risk is included within the standard board report format, 
forming a part of the decision-making process. 

Thematic Boards  Programme dashboard relevant to the thematic area, generated from the 
Programme Management System, are presented at each meeting. 

 Risk Management heading is included within the standard report format, 
ensuring risk information is available as part of the decision making. 

Statutory Officers and 
Executive Leadership 
Team 

 The Corporate Risk Register and risks scored high and medium / high will 
be presented to ELT quarterly, for awareness and guidance, in line with 
the Recording and Reporting requirements of the Framework. 

 Extraordinary risk reporting may take place for topical themes e.g. deep 
dive consideration and reporting for critical and escalating risk topics. 

 Management of risk is included within the standard report format, ensuring 
risk information is available in decision-making. 

Statutory Officers/Executive Leadership Team 

Project 
Boards 

Collaborative 
Teams 

Functional 
Teams

Procurement, Contracts & Controls 

Thematic Boards 

MCA 

Schemes 

Audit, Standards & Risk Committee 

Page 306



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 11 of 16 
 

Programme / Project 
Boards / Collaboration 
Teams 
 

 Programme and project risk registers presented at each meeting in line 
with good practice programme and project management. 

 The approach to programme and project level risks will incorporate 
aspects of the Framework, including the probability impact grid, to ensure 
alignment.  Risks will be escalated to the 4Risk system and reported 
accordingly where sufficient concern or opportunity warrant this.    

Directorate 
Leadership Teams 

 Directorate risks, including respective team-based risks, are presented 
and considered and takes forward the Recording and Reporting section of 
the Framework.  Each director is accountable for the management of risks 
within their area, escalating to ELT and ASRC.    

 Programmes and project risks may be included.  

Organisational Teams   Team based risks, owned by the manager and defined team members, 
considered and presented at team meetings and at directorate leadership 
meetings.  

 Likely to contain risks relating to the programmes and operations of 
SYMCA. 

Employees   Individuals are responsible for highlighting risks with their managers to 
facilitate discussion and action. Subsequent addition to the 4Risk system 
takes place either by the manager or nominated risk owner. 

Corporate 
Governance Team 

 The Corporate Governance team will administer the Framework and 4Risk 
system, providing support and guidance as required and draw out reports 
for escalation to ELT and ASRC based on the information that is held in 
the 4Risk system.  This is the extend of the Corporate Governance 
Team’s responsibility.   
 
(Directors will lead on the management of risks in their area of the 
business and self-serve to take forward the reporting requirements of the 
Framework). 

 
 

Page 307



Management of Risk Framework                                         January 2023                                              Page 12 of 16 
 

Management of Risk on a Page Appendix A 
Context and Scope 

The MCA and LEP have agreed a 20-year Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) to transform the South Yorkshire economy and society for People, Business and Places.  The SEP paves the way to a 
Stronger, Greener and Fairer economy as potential is unlocked to create prosperity and opportunity for all.  A Renewal Action Plan has been agreed setting out the actions needed to accelerate 

delivery of the SEP and a Corporate Plan and Business Plans exist to operationalise delivery and risks are in this context.  The scope of risk may be internal to the MCA or externally facing. 
 

Objectives Identify the Risks Assess the Risks  Mitigate and Control Risk Treatment 

Objectives which are clear and 
understood 

Threats and opportunities identified Score the risks and consider the 
appetite 

Controls identified to manage the 
risk (impact & probability) 

Select and implement options to 
address the risks. 

What will be achieved?  What 
does good look like?  How will we 
know we have achieved it? 

What could happen to hamper or 
enhance achievement of objectives.  
What concerns or opportunities exist? 

What is the likelihood of the risk 
occurring?  How serious is the impact?  

What is being done to control a risk? 
What more can be done? 
Who will do this and by when?  

What can be done, what are the 
options?  Can the options be 
implemented? Is treatment working? 

Objectives are set out in the SEP 
and respective plans to a business 
plan level incorporating 
deliverables. 
 
Objectives may be tiered by 
flowing from/to the SEP, RAP, 
Corporate & Business Plans. They 
can be incorporated into team and 
employee performance objectives. 
Defining risk is in this context. 

There are a number of ways to identify 
risk & opportunity to achieve objectives:  

 horizon scanning & past lessons.  

 SWOT analysis, Strengths to Threats. 

 Root cause, asking why five times. 

 Control, Risk Self-Assessment with a 
range of stakeholders. 

 
It is helpful to structure risk as the: 

 reason for occurrence (due to…) 

 risk itself (there is a risk that…) 

 consequence (results in…).  

A Risk Owner, the individual 
responsible for managing a risk, is 
defined.  An Inherent score is 
recorded, prior to controls, using a 5x5 
scoring matrix (Guide at Appendix C).  
 

Im
p

ac
t 

5 5 10 15 20 25 

4 4 8 12 16 20 

3 3 6 9 12 15 

2 2 4 6 8 10 

1 1 2 3 4 5 

    1 2 3 4 5 

  Probability 
 

Identify and record existing controls 
to mitigate each risk. 
 
A Current Risk Score is added, 
using the 5 x 5 matrix.  This is 
compared to the Risk Appetite to 
decide next steps and Treatment.   
 
Additional actions should be added 
to manage the risk to within 
Appetite.  An action owner and 
deadline is established.  

Treatment driven by comparing 
Current Risk Score and Risk Appetite. 
 
Options are: 

 Treat, take action to reduce. 

 Tolerate, accept the risk. 

 Transfer, pass responsibility e.g. 

insurance. 

 Terminate, avoid the activity 

 Take up, pursue an opportunity 

 Together, share with partners e.g. 

public private initiatives 

Monitoring and Review 

Risks, controls & process are monitored and reviewed leading to learning and improvement.  Has the action been taken?  If not, what next?  Has anything changed? 
This step is required to improve the effectiveness of the process, implementation, output and outcomes and should be planned and regularised.  The results of this should be incorporated within the 
management of risk processes, performance measurement and reporting activities.  This section includes the ongoing monitoring and review of risks by risk owners. 

Recording and Reporting  

This step is required to provide information for decision making, learning lessons and improving management of risk activities, process, output and outcomes.   
Processes, activities and output should be documented and reported through appropriate management structures. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Communication and Consultation 

Communication promotes awareness and understanding of risk management.  Consultation involves obtaining feedback and information to inform decision making.  Communication and Coordination 
with relevant stakeholders should take place during all steps of the Management of risk process and coordination between the two facilitates factual, timely, relevant, accurate and understandable 
exchanges of information, which should take account of data protection requirements.   

P
age 308



 

Management of Risk Framework                                                                                                                Page 13 of 16 
 

Risk Register Template Appendix B 

     
Pre-response assessment (inherent) 

 Current risk assessment (residual)  

  

Category Risk Description Owner Probability 
1 - 5 
L - H  

Impact 
1 - 5 

L to H 

Inherent 
Risk 

Score 
 

Existing Controls Probability  
1 - 5 

L to H 

Impact 
1 - 5 
L- H 

Current 
Risk Score 

Action Action 
Owner 

Due date 
00/00/00 

  Due to Risk Result                       

Organisation Cyber Security 
There is an increase in 
cyber-attacks which may 
lead to infiltration of our 
systems resulting in 
operational disruption, 
data corruption, outage 
and loss of finances. 

Ruth 
Adams 

5 5 2500% a. Anti virus software, updated hourly, 
installed across all infrastructure.  
b. Mimecast, Advanced Threat Protection, 
installed, evolves to address current threats, 
covers email filtering to identify and block 
impersonators and filtering attachments for 
abnormalities for the IT team to check prior to 
release. 

3 5 
 

a. Cyber 
Essentials 
accreditation. 

XXX a.01.04.22 
b.  

             

             

 

P
age 309



 

Management of Risk Framework                                                                                                                Page 14 of 16 
 

Risk Assessment  Appendix C 
The assessment of risk takes account of the probability or likelihood of a risk occurring at a point in the 
future and also the impact if it was to materialise.  Each risk is scored using a five by five scoring matrix, a 
guide to the scoring is included below: 
 
Probability, the following approach is used: 
 

Probability Descriptor 
 

Remote Unlikely Possible Probable Highly Probable 

Score  
 

1 2 3 4 5 

Description  Highly unlikely 
to occur 

Unlikely to 
occur 

Could occur at 
some point 

More likely to 
occur than not 

Very likely to 
occur 

 

 
Impact, the table below has been prepared to help guide colleagues, to describe the types of impact a risk 
may have and the different levels.  The table content is not meant to be absolute and is offered as a guide for 
employees, risk owners, managers and directors.  Additionally, where a risk has a different level of impact in 
several areas (or no impact at all), then the risk owner should use their professional judgement to define the 
impact score.   
 
Impact 
Description 

Immaterial Minor Moderate Serious Critical 

Score 
 

1 2 3 4 5 

Reputational 
relates to the 
perception of 
the MCA by 
employees, 
partners and 
stakeholders. 

Isolated, internal 
issue contained 
within the MCA 
no adverse 
publicity. 

Minor internal 
issue, minimal 
external 
publicity, a 
single adverse 
article 

Short term 
adverse local / 
regional publicity.  
Reduction in 
stakeholder 
confidence.  

Adverse regional / 
national publicity. 
Serious reduction 
in stakeholder 
confidence. 

Sustained 
adverse regional / 
national publicity. 
Stakeholder 
confidence lost.  

Environmental 
relates to 
worldwide 
+1.5°C 
temperature 
increase and the 
target to be net 
zero by 2040. 

No adverse 
impact on the 
environment.  
 
 

Minor levels of 
carbon output or 
impact on the 
environment. 

Modest levels of 
carbon output or 
adverse impact 
on the 
environment 
locally. 

Serious levels of 
carbon output or 
impact on the 
environment 
regionally.   

Critical levels of 
carbon output and 
extensive 
damage to the 
environment 
nationally. 

Financial  
relates to the 
financial viability 
/ health of the 
MCA and 
strength over 
time to achieve 
strategic and 
financial 
objectives 

Immaterial 
financial loss or 
cost, contained 
within budget. 

Minor loss or 
costs that can 
be contained 
within budget. 

Modest loss or 
costs that cannot 
be contained in 
budget requiring 
a new budget to 
be approved 

Loss or costs 
detrimental to the 
financial health of 
the MCA. 
Single year risk. 
 

Loss or costs that 

destabilise the 

financial health of 

the MCA.   

Multiple year risk. 

Legal and 
Regulatory 
Compliance 
adherence to 
laws and 
regulations incl. 
professional 
standards, 
ethics and fraud. 

No impact or 
statutory 
compliance 
breach. 

Minor breach in 
regulatory 
compliance. 

Single breach in 
statutory 
responsibility. 
External 
recommendations 
and Improvement 
notice applied. 

Multiple breaches 
in statutory 
responsibility. 
Improvement 
notices and 
enforcement 
action. 

Extensive 
breaches in 
statutory 
responsibility and 
sanctions.   
Prosecution. 

Page 310



 

Management of Risk Framework                                                                                                                Page 15 of 16 
 

Health & Safety 
relates to the 
health & safety 
of MCA 
employees, 
service users, 
partners and 
stakeholders 

No injury. Minor injury 
suffered, no 
professional 
medical 
treatment 
required. 
Small number of 
sick days. 

Injury to 
individual(s) 
requiring 
professional 
medical 
treatment. 

Multiple serious 
injuries requiring 
professional 
medical treatment 
or hospitalisation.  
Enforcement 
agency involved. 

Injury so severe 
that it results in 
fatality of 
individual(s).  
Prosecution from 
enforcement 
agency. 

Employees 
relates to 
workforce 
planning, 
capacity, 
capability and 
morale of the 
workforce 

No impact on 
employees, 
capacity or 
capability. 

Minor or short-
term reduced 
capacity, 
capability or 
morale. 

Low employee 
levels 
Insufficient 
experience.  
Modest employee 
engagement.   

Employee 
capacity or 
capability causes 
delivery failure.  
Low level of 
engagement  

Strategic 
objectives 
severely impacted 
due to capacity or 
capability. 
Critically low level 
of engagement. 

Digital Security  
relates to digital 
and cyber 
impacts 

No digital 
security breach. 
Digital assets 
maintained. 

A minor digital 
security breach 
of low level or 
non- sensitive 
data or system. 
Recovery quick. 

A single breach of 
operational data 
or systems.   
Recovered and 
contained. 

Multiple breaches 
of operational 
data or systems. 
Limited ability to 
recover or 
contain.  
Single breach of 
sensitive data or 
critical system. 

Multiple breaches 
of data or 
systems including 
sensitive systems 
and personal data 
or loss of data 
itself. 
Enforcement 
agency action 
and fine. 

Programmes 
and Projects 
relates to 
programmes 
and projects the 
MCA 
undertakes to 
deliver its 
objectives 
internal and 
external. 

Little or no 
slippage to 
delivery 
No threat to the 
intended 
benefits, output 
or outcome. 

Minor delay, 
which can be 
managed in the 
respective 
stage. 
No threat to 
intended 
benefits, output 
or outcome. 

Slippage delays 
delivery of 
milestone. 
No threat to 
intended benefits, 
output or 
outcome. 

Slippage causes 
significant delay 
to milestone 
delivery. 
Serious threat to 
intended benefits, 
output or 
outcome. 

Delivery of the 
entire programme 
or project 
threatened and or 
being cancelled. 

 

  

Page 311



 

Management of Risk Framework                                                                                                                Page 16 of 16 
 

Risk Appetite Statement Appendix D 
Risk appetite is the level of risk that SYMCA is prepared to tolerate or accept in the pursuit of its objectives.  
A risk owner is required to consider the appetite level set for each risk Group and take reasonable steps to 
manage each risk accordingly.  Where the ability to control a risk lies outside SYMCA’s control the risk may 
be tolerated however, reporting will need to take place in line with Recording and Reporting section of the 
Framework document.   
 

Risk Appetite 
Level 

Description 
 

Averse (A) To be averse to risk and avoid any uncertainty.  

Cautious (C) To prefer the safe option that has a small amount of residual risk or limited potential for 
reward. 

Open (O) Willing to consider all options for an acceptable level of reward and value for money.   

 
The following table provides the MCA guide. 

Strategic 
Group 

Relates to 
 

Risk Appetite 
Level 

What does this mean 

Policy The setting of interventions to tackle 
specific matters to develop the 
strategic objectives of the MCA. 
 

Open 

The MCA is willing to consider 
all options for an acceptable 
level of reward and value for 
money whilst maintaining 
oversight through 
management reporting. 

Organisational The structure and makeup of the 
organisation to deliver the objectives 
and the corporate plan. 
 

Open 

Financial Establishment and maintenance of 
financial health and wellbeing to 
achieve strategic and financial 
objectives. 
 

Cautious 

There is a preference for a 
safe option where the MCA is 
exposed to a reduced level of 
risk. 
 
Effective controls are required 
to address any remaining risk. 
 

Commissioned 
Operational 
Delivery 

The programmes and projects of the 
MCA to deliver the objectives set for 
the region. 
 

Cautious 

Transport Operational transport related matters 
that would have historically formed 
part of the Passenger Transport 
Executive. 
 

Cautious 

Legal 
Compliance & 
Regulation 

The obligations the MCA is required 
to adhere to including the upholding 
of laws, statutes and regulations. 
 

Averse 

The MCA has a very low 
appetite for risk and expects 
minimal exposure.  Therefore, 
effective control arrangements 
are required to manage risk. 
 
 

Outside of the Strategic Groups 
 

Health & 
Safety 

Matters with a focus on health and 
safety. 
 

Averse 

 

Page 312



Risk Dashboard 

January 2023

P
age 313



South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority
Corporate Risk Dashboard

Corporate Risks by Strategic Group

Corporate Risks by DirectorateCorporate Risks by Risk Score

Policy – Open

Organisational – Open

Operational Transport – Cautious

Legal Compliance & Regulation – Averse

Financial – Cautious

Commissioned Operational Delivery – Cautious

Corporate Risks are defined as being cross cutting, on-going or longer-term and have an impact on SYMCA and its strategic objectives.  These 
risks are owned and updated by Executive Directors as part of their role within the Executive Leadership Team and reported into the 
Executive Leadership Board and ASRC quarterly.

Scoring Matrix

Risk Appetite for Strategic Groups

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Low Medium Med/High High
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Resources & Investment

Business & Skills

Strategy & Development

Infrastructure & Place

Low Medium Med/High High

0 1 2 3 4 5

Commissioned Operations & Delivery

Financial

Legal Compliance & Regulation

Operational Transport

Organisational

Policy

Low Medium Med/High High

P
age 314



South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority

Corporate Risk Heat Map – lines demonstrate the risk score movement from inherent to residual

P
age 315



High

Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Martin Swales Reference: 2300    
Prefix: COR0022  

Doncaster Sheffield Airport Closure. Due to: the cessation of aviation operations    
There is a risk that: the area will be subject to direct and
indirect job losses    
Resulting in: a drag on the regional economy and the area
becoming less desirable for inward investment.    

High (25) The MCA continues to engage with all stakeholders to explore opportunities to maintain aviation. High (20)

John Dowie Reference: 1164    
Prefix: COR0015  

Tram Services Due to: A delay in concluding future operating model for tram
services beyond the current operating concession and then
completing transition    
There is a risk that: MCA is exposed to operational transport
provision and financial risks    
Resulting in: financial, capability and capacity pressures as
well disruption to tram services    

High (25) Appointment of an Interim Programme Director (IPD)- Light Rail Transport Operation.

 Light Rail Development Programme established and key milestones identified

Governance arrangements established to oversee the programme of work (Concession end, Financial 
Sustainability, Asset Renewal and Future Vision)

Reporting and engagement plan established encompassing Management Board, SY Chief Execs, TEB 
and MCA     

Tram Project Reserve created to support readiness activity.

On 18 October 2022, the MCA Board agreed that the operating model following the end of the current 
contract with SYSL in March 2024 would be an "arm's length wholly owned subsidiary" of the MCA. 

High (20) Monitor progress on work programme with regular 
review of milestones

Chris Coleman Chris Coleman 31 Mar 2023 The Mass Transit and 
Concession End Programmes 
are reviewed regularly as part 
of the LRP Governance 
process.  This includes 
meetings with the SRO at the 
LRP Steering Group and LRP 
Board.  

Recruitment underway for wider tram concession 
team, prioritising, operational/engineering and 
PMO roles

John Dowie To be allocated 31 Oct 2023

John Dowie Reference: 1105    
Prefix: COR0009  

Bus: Recovery Funding Due to: Reduced/terminated recovery funding from central
government and lower levels of patronage    
There is a risk that: The network suffers major cuts    
Resulting in: a spiral of decline    

High (25) Ongoing dialogue with DfT officials and ministers to shape the existing and future proposals.

Recovery funding secured until 31 March 2023

Continue payment of concessions at pre-COVID rates until April 2023 on the DfT deflator

Adjustments to pre-COVID rates proportionate to network mileage to allow underspend to be retained 
and potentially used for future network protection.

Service change/consultation process in place with operators to ensure early notice of potential changes.     

Maintenance of Protection of Priority Services from reserve and use of wider reserves across SYMCA to 
support short-term mitigations to June/July 2023

Monitor driver resources and recruitment to understand limitations on resource to deliver any uplift in 
service levels

High (20) Working with bus operators to identify services at 
most risk of reduction and prepare prioritised list of 
services for consideration.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Jul 2023 Prioritisation completed 
ahead of anticipated funding 
end in October 2022. 
Extension of BRG and 
additional local funding will 
secure services until end July 
2023. Further review will be 
required to determine any 
changes requiored at the end 
of funding.

Agree future arrangements for a return to 
concessionary payments (based on actuals) and 
opportunity to recycle any underspend to support 
services

Tim Taylor Suzanne 
Hutchinson

31 Mar 2023 Following the extension of 
BRG payments discussions 
with operators are 
progressing at different 
speeds depending on their 
patronage levels and their 
position with regard to 
funding.

John Dowie Reference: 1092    
Prefix: COR0007  

Net Zero, Sustainability/ Climate 
Change

Due to: an inability to galvanise the required level of support,
consensus and leadership across the region, from our
partners and stakeholders both private and public    
There is a risk that: the approach is fragmented    
Resulting in: a failure to achieve the net zero target, by 2040    

High (25) The MCA strategy requires that the Net Zero response runs through our core programmes.  

Working with partners / stakeholders to develop projects that take account of de-carbonisation.  

Initial focus on housing retrofit, Electric vehicles (electric buses, car charging) energy, tree planting

High (25) We are actively working with Sheffield University to 
develop regional data to understand the impact of 
our (& partners) programmes and projects to 
understand the current position and baseline. 

Richard Sulley Richard Sulley 31 Mar 2023 System default target dates 
have been applied, when the 
risk inputted. Action actually 
due 31/3/23

The most impactful interventions to focus the 
renewal fund upon are being determined through 
our work with partners e.g. should we carry out 
additional tree planting and promotion and usage 
of green power.

Richard Sulley Richard Sulley 31 Mar 2023 Default target dates were 
applied when the risk was 
inputted. Actual target date 
31/3/23

Integrating our response to net zero and climate 
emergency into investment decision making 
processes.   

Richard Sulley Richard Sulley 31 Mar 2023 Default target dates were 
applied when the risk was 
inputted. Actual target date 
31/3/23

Medium/High

Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Gareth Sutton Reference: 1224    
Prefix: COR0021  

Heightened Cyber Security Threat Due to: an increase in the number of cyber-attacks, due to the
increasing reliance on digital    
There is a risk that: there is a successful cyber attack    
Resulting in: operational disruption, data corruption, systems
outage and loss of finances.    

High (25) Anti-virus software, updated hourly, installed across all infrastructure.

Mimecast, Advanced Threat Protection, installed and always evolving to address current threats, covers 
email filtering to identify and block impersonators and filtering attachments for abnormalities for the IT 
team to check prior to release.  

Web-filtering to restrict and prohibit unauthorised access and data loss.

An IT Policy exists and is updated as necessary, last updated in 2021.

Password policy exists implementing good practice to build strong access controls including multi-factor 
authentication.

Activity monitoring takes place including how people access the system.  

Phishing attacks, internal testing takes place.

Software patching takes place to ensure software updates are carried out.

Annual outsourced penetration testing, which is part of the Cyber Essentials requirements.

Physical security enhancements including restricting a non-employee plugging a laptop into MCA 
network.   

Enhance Management Board reporting of attacks and their management. 

Achieved Cyber Essentials accreditation Basic by 31.12.22
.  

Medium/High (15) Enhance employee awareness and reporting of 
current threat types, volume and attacks prohibited.  

Nick Brailsford Nick Brailsford 31 Mar 2023 Dashboards are being 
prepared to highlight cyber 
issues.  These will be 
uploaded to the Intranet. 

IT are launching a phishing 
campaign to raise awareness 
further / provide training on

Reconsider the structure of the IT Team, to include 
administrator resource to support the generation of 
the reports for Management Board and wider 
executive management to raise awareness.

Nick Brailsford Nick Brailsford 30 Jun 2023 Proposal on hold and 
dependent of the recruitment 
of a Head of IT

John Dowie Reference: 1195    
Prefix: COR0017  

Transport Due to: The award of the CRSTS programme funding will
provide related regional capital funds for five years from April
2022 and will be closely monitored by DfT    
There is a risk that: the capacity and capability in the region is
insufficient to deliver extensive projects in the programme
within timescale    
Resulting in: the potential damage to the reputation of the
MCA and Mayor.    

High (20) Actions to implement the recommendations of the recent independent BPR implemented through the 
refreshed Assurance Framework 

Medium/High (15) Continue to work with Finance on LA submissions 
to create a pipeline of activity.

Laurie Thomas Laurie Thomas 01 Apr 2023

Additional team members to support the work will 
be requested through the annual business 
planning process.

To be allocated To be allocated 01 Apr 2023

Agreement reached with the MCA for disbursal of 
the CRSTS revenue grant, working with Districts to 
agree their individual plans.

To be allocated To be allocated 01 Apr 2023

Executive Director I & P to engage with problem 
areas to help unblock/troubleshoot 
project/programme delivery issues

John Dowie John Dowie 01 Oct 2022 Ongoing action - Executive 
Director I & P to engage with 
problem areas as and when 
problems arise

Medium

Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Gareth Sutton Reference: 1217    
Prefix: COR0020  

Organisational Capacity & Skills Due to: Inadequate organisational design, recruitment,
retention and training    
There is a risk that: the approach to resourcing is ineffective
and reactive    
Resulting in: an overstretched and under resourced workforce
incapable of meeting the organisational objectives.    

Medium (6) Introduction of a HR Business Partnering approach to work closely with teams to enable early 
identification of emerging risks or issues in capacity. 

Medium (6) Work on alternative approaches to recruitment to 
secure talent into the organisation to be developed 
and actions agreed.

Gareth Sutton Gareth Sutton 31 Mar 2023

Develop the Resource Strategy and approaches to 
build a pipeline of employees for the mid to long 
term. 

Gareth Sutton Gareth Sutton 31 Mar 2023

Utilisation of the MCA entitled Apprenticeship Levy 
to be considered for growing and energising the 
resource pool for the future. 

Gareth Sutton Gareth Sutton 31 Mar 2023 Approach to graduates and 
apps is under review and will 
be further considered by the 
Leadership Centre as part of 
the wider Review

An organisational review is underway which will 
test the resourcing model.

Gareth Sutton Gareth Sutton 31 Mar 2023 Links into the organisational 
Review 

Appointment of a HR Director (that will take 
responsibility for the actions once in post)

Gareth Sutton Gareth Sutton 12 Jan 2023

Steve Davenport Reference: 1202    
Prefix: COR0018  

Health and Safety- Major Accident or 
Injury

Due to: A major accident or injury occurs involving SYMCA
assets and / or people    
There is a risk that: leads to regulator intervention    
Resulting in: resulting in liability and adverse impact on the
workforce, budgets and reputation of the MCA.    

Medium (10) Health and safety policy and procedures in place and audited by independent H&S advisor.

Training provided to all staff.

Appropriate maintenance contracts in place to undertake fabric and Mechanical & Electrical repairs and 
inspections as required.

Monitoring of incidents and near misses undertaken, quarterly reports presented to Management Board 
and the ASRC.

Health and Safety in Transport Deep Dive with independent members of ASRC. 

Specific Tram related H & S officer post established, which incorporates H & S in the role - post filled.

Standard contracts of employment for all SYMCA people incorporate a section on H & S responsibilities

Medium (5)

Corporate Risk Register

P
age 316



Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Gareth Sutton Reference: 1179    
Prefix: COR0016  

Supply Chain Failure Due to: a contracted supplier entering into financial distress
and/or an insolvency event, the market being unable to
provide services, or the market being unable to deliver
services at contracted prices    
There is a risk that: the supply chain fails or is disrupted    
Resulting in: disruption to provision of service, leads to
delays, cost pressures, and reputational damage.    

Medium (9) MCA seeks to ensure a broad supplier basis through open market competition 

The MCA has access to a number of broad framework agreements to call off, in a timely fashion 

The MCA conducts pre-contract financial health due-diligence on major contracts including  seeking 
details of associated sub-contracting and proportion of delivery / contract. 

The MCA holds a prudent level of reserves to mitigate financial shock.

Standard Supplier Questionnaire completed by potential suppliers as part of the procurement process to 
ensure consistency of procurement and information provided by bidders.  Part of it is backward facing 
seeking assurance over previous experience and therefore quality, competency and financial health. 

Rules and standards are set through the Contract Procedure Rules and Financial Regs

Evidence sought to confirm responses e.g.  payment terms sought and Insurance levels

When bids received, further analysis is undertaken on the accounts and specifically around liquidity and 
the proportion of turnover which is MCA generated.  

The applicant is risk assessed and decisions made on that basis.

Appropriate security to cover risk is considered for example a charge may be applied on land or property 
as security for a loan.

Medium (6) Internal Audit have tested supplier resilience and 
offered a number of recommendations that will be 
implemented 

Gareth Sutton Sue Sykes 01 Jul 2022 Internal Audit Actions have 
not been implemented in full

New contract function to ensure the financial health 
of key suppliers is tested in contract as well as pre 
contract to provide early warning.

Gareth Sutton Sue Sykes 30 Jun 2023 In progress, however it is 
acknowledged to be behind 
schedule due to resourcing 
limitations

Business Continuity Plans to be re-tested for loss 
of key suppliers.

Gareth Sutton Sue Sykes 30 Jun 2023 Currently underway

John Dowie Reference: 1156    
Prefix: COR0014  

Enhanced Partnership - BSIP Due to: insufficient funding through BSIP    
There is a risk that: our aspirations for growing the bus
market are undermined    
Resulting in: no meaningful service improvements and
continued decline    

Medium/High (15)  EP scheme implemented and established based on available  funding (ie no BSIP allocation)

Stakeholder comms setting expectations around deliverable improvements shared and approved 
(MCA/TEB/STOB)

Ability to add/amend EP Scheme(s) if further funding becomes available.

Formal confirmation from DfT of CRSTS capex schemes that can support bus improvement 

Successful ZEBRA bid will provide around £15m of funding for new EV fleet

National £2 fare cap initiative announced to commence Jan 2023

Created new Director of Bus Partnerships role to drive forward short term (Q1,2,3) and med term (Q2-
Q4 2023) actions drawing on experience elsewhere.

Medium (9) Continue to lobby DfT officials/ministers on bus 
services challenges in SY.

Pat Beijer Pat Beijer 31 Mar 2023 Meeting with DfT officials to 
discuss updates to the BSIP 
and indication of a round 2 of 
BSIP funding. Agreed to 
submit an update to the BSIP 
in early 2023 following 
demand recovery action 
planning with the EP 
members in response to post 
Covid network changes

Await outcome of LUF bid submission Pat Beijer Pat Beijer 31 Mar 2023 The LUF bid was submitted to 
DHLUC in August 2022. The 
OBCs for the bid components 
are currently being developed 
and we have been advised 
that an update is expected by 
the end of 2022.

Gareth Sutton Reference: 1134    
Prefix: COR0012  

Financial Health Due to: a lack of quantum, breadth, and flexibility of funding to
deliver on all activities    
There is a risk that: there is a unsustainable call on reserves    
Resulting in: structural funding issues being exacerbated by
the inflationary environment and disruption to commercial
income streams    

Medium/High (15) The MCA Group undertakes annual integrated business and budget planning to ensure resource is 
effectively aligned to priorities 

The MCA Group undertakes cyclical budget monitoring to identify financial performance allowing for the 
reallocation of resource mid-year 

The MCA has undertaken a significant reserve refresh re-deploying resource to known risks and holding 
a prudent amount of resource to mitigate financial shock 

The MCA reports frequently to the Board and ensures partners remain apprised on financial matters 
through the Directors of Finance Group and Member budget engagement sessions 

The MCA Group has developed a new medium term financial strategy forecasting the requirements for 
greater local financial contributions from partners

The MCA continues to lobby government for ongoing financial support to the public transport network 
and the continuation of capacity funding for core activity alongside other peer authorities 

Medium (8) The MCA's developing Investment Strategy is 
couched within the context of the wider funding 
environment 

Gareth Sutton Mike Thomas 31 Mar 2023 Bulk Reassign

Key medium-term risk around the future exposure 
to tram performance is being considered through 
the tram workstream

Gareth Sutton Mike Thomas 30 Sep 2023 Finalisation of tram exposure 
to be complete by Sept 2023

Close attention is being paid to inflationary 
pressures and the impact on capital and revenue 
resource. Government have been engaged on 
capital funding pressures with in-programme 
flexibilities sought to enable the region to manage 
issues efficiently.

Gareth Sutton Mike Thomas 31 Mar 2023 To be reviewed again at the 
end of the financial year

Agree an increase to the transport levy for fin year 
23-24

Gareth Sutton Mike Thomas 31 Mar 2023

Gareth Sutton Reference: 1113    
Prefix: COR0010  

Failure to agree Investment Strategy Due to: Failure to agree an Investment Strategy    
There is a risk that: funding is used inefficiently and
ineffectively    
Resulting in: an inability to restructure the South Yorkshire
economy.    

Medium (9) The outcomes of the BPR workstream and steering group are beginning embedded into the overall 
Strategy

Board has approved the development of 4 individual local authority place plans and 1 region wide 
transformational plan. Revenue resource has been released to support this development.

Agree borrowing cap with HMT on an annual basis

MCA Board have agreed a phased approach to the release of Gainshare funding ahead of the 
development of the place and transformational plans

The use of new Shared Prosperity Funding is aligned to Investment Strategy activity      

Medium (6) Work will continue to develop Place Based 
Investment Plans and Transformational Plans

Gareth Sutton Mike Thomas 31 Mar 2024 In progress

Work will continue on the operationalisation of the 
Plans, including borrowing principles

Gareth Sutton Mike Thomas 30 Jun 2023 Place plans will be agreed by 
June 23

Work is underway to make new connections with 
institutional investors.

Gareth Sutton Mike Thomas 30 Jun 2023 This Action is ongoing and a 
reconsideration date of June 
23 added

Clare Monaghan Reference: 1020    
Prefix: COR0003  

Strategic Economic Plan Due to: Resource levels, external and unanticipated
pressures    
There is a risk that: we lose focus on delivering the SEP, and
its direction of travel    
Resulting in: an inability to regenerate the economy    

Medium/High (15) Borrowing powers secured to maximise funding.

The corporate policy is embedded to include its guardianship of the SEP.

Closer monitoring of the SEP outcomes, the Corporate Plan outcomes and development and delivery of 
the Business Planning framework.

Medium (10) Draft business plan, which aligns the Mayoral 
Manifesto to the existing MCA commitments has 
been prepared.  This will influence the next 
corporate plan (written early 2023) to be agreed by 
March 2023. 

Clare Monaghan Felix Kumi-
Ampofo

31 Mar 2023

Local Authorities are developing place plans 
setting out the action needed to grow their 
economy and local areas - informing the 
development of a new place based investment 
pipeline.

John Dowie Colin Blackburn 31 Mar 2024

Clare Monaghan Reference: 1015    
Prefix: COR0002  

Policy change causes disruption Due to: Changes to the political and policy operating
environment e.g. Devolution White paper    
There is a risk that: regional priorities shift    
Resulting in: disruption to the prospects of achieving our
mission    

Medium/High (15) Engaging with Government officials to shape proposed policy priorities and shifts.

Ongoing horizon scanning- to monitor the situation and respond quickly.

Leadership of the M10 network and knowledge sharing with other CAs.

Medium (10) Preparatory work on the next phase of devolution 
deals  - Target date is for reconsideration however, 
preparatory work is likely to be longer term.

Felix Kumi-
Ampofo

Andrew Gates 30 Jun 2023

Gareth Sutton Reference: 1005    
Prefix: COR0001  

Adult Education Budget Performance Due to: Performance monitoring of AEB provider delivery has
identified areas of underperformance within the programme    
There is a risk that: we fail to deliver all of the planned
academic year outputs for the region and its people within the
year    
Resulting in: back loading and adverse reputational impact on
the MCA and partners.    

High (16) Performance monitoring meetings with all providers are underway to understand planned delivery 
volumes and their delivery intentions.

Performance reporting to Management Board has taken place to highlight the delivery challenges.

Funding & Performance Rules set out the conditions of funding and how underperformance will be 
addressed. 

The MCA has audit step in rights should it need to undertake more robust reviews.

The MCA has some options to redeploy funding away from underperforming areas where necessary.  

Medium (8) Performance analysis and monitoring will inform 
remedial actions.

Sue Sykes Sue Sykes 31 Mar 2023 Ongoing and to be 
reconsidered at the end of the 
financial year

Review of capacity and capability requirements for 
AEB has been undertaken and subsequent 
recruitment, predominantly in the Skills Team,  is 
underway

Adam Greenwood Adam Greenwood 30 Jun 2023

Low

Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Martin Swales Reference: 1209    
Prefix: COR0019  

Post Integration Embedding of 
Organisational Design

Due to: staff understanding of roles and responsibilities in the
new organisation structure    
There is a risk that: there remains uncertainty about the
structure, processes and respective roles of staff    
Resulting in: a loss of momentum in delivering organisational
goals.    

Medium (9) structure developed, agreed and communicated.

operating model to shape internal responsibilities and ways of working agreed and communicated

Corporate Plan being updated and revised to provide clarity of outcomes, priorities and accountabilities

Annual business planning cycle will consider any resourcing gaps or risk areas

Management development has commenced with two sessions having taken place to May 2022.   

Low (4) Work on corporate culture and values in process of 
being designed and delivered

Clare Monaghan Clare Monaghan 31 Mar 2023 Restructure

Work on a Management Offer outlined to the 
organisation will be implemented and monitored.

Clare Monaghan Clare Monaghan 31 Mar 2023 Restructure

Gareth Sutton Reference: 1146    
Prefix: COR0013  

Borrowing leads to financial risk Due to: new borrowing vires    
There is a risk that: the MCA is exposed to new financial risk
around exposure to interest rates and debt management and
also a new compliance regime    
Resulting in: HM Treasury consents for annual borrowing
caps being required    

Medium (6) The MCA sets an Annual Treasury Management Strategy that is scrutinised by the Audit Committee and 
approved by Board. This governs its approach to borrowing and debt 

The MCA ensures it has access to professional support via a contracted arrangement with SCC and 
Link Treasury Advisors, and internally through officers with appropriate qualifications

The MCA reports on its Treasury performance to Audit Committee and Board through a forward, 
backward and mid-year review 

The MCA has developed good working relationships with HM Treasury officers and negotiated an initial 
borrowing cap.

The SY Directors of Finance Group has developed a number of principles around borrowing for the 
Investment Strategy activity that will need to be ratified by the Board.

The MCA has designed a new Treasury Management Strategy for the year that has been approved by 
the Audit and Standards Committee 

Low (4) The MCA to recruit a new Senior Finance Manager 
with appropriate Treasury Management experience

Gareth Sutton Mike Thomas 30 Jun 2023 In progress, aimed to recruit 
into the specified role and this 
has not yet been successful.

Corporate Risk Register

P
age 317



South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority
Directorate Risk Dashboard

Resources & Investment Directorate Strategy & Development Directorate

Infrastructure & Place Directorate Business & Skills Directorate

No. of H & S ‘themed’ risks scoring 5 or above = 5 (plus 1 at Corporate level)

No. of H & S ‘themed’ risks scoring 5 or above = 14

No. of H & S ‘themed’ risks scoring 5 or above = 0

No. of H & S ‘themed’ risks scoring 5 or above = 0

Directorate risks are defined as risks specific to SYMCA teams and can be reflective of objectives, business plans, processes and operating environments. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Low Med Med/High High

Volume of Risks by Risk Score

0 10 20 30 40

Finance
HR
IT

Legal & Gov
PCPC

Asset Mgmt & Facil
PMO

Risks by Team and Score

Low Med Med/High High
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Low Med Med/High High

Volume of Risks by Risk Score

0 10 20 30 40

Bus. Operations
Corporate Policy
Assurance & Eval
Data Intelligence

Ext Affairs
Mkting & Comms

Mayor's Office

Risks by Team and Score

Low Med Med/High High

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Low Med Med/High High

Volume of Risks by Risk Score

0 10 20 30 40

Trade & Inv

Bus. & Skills Inn

Skills & Emp

Dev & Bus. Support

Risks by Team and Score

Low Med Med/High High
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Low Med Med/High High

Volume of Risks by Risk Score

0 10 20 30 40

Housing & Infra

Net Zero

Public Trans Ops

Public Trans Dev

Strat Trans

Risks by Team and Score

Low Med Med/High High

P
age 318



Medium/High

Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Sue Sykes Reference: 1688  
Prefix: BP0091  

Programme Slippage Due to: Slippage in programme and project delivery    
There is a risk that: the MCA could lose existing and future
funding    
Resulting in: reputational damage and financial
unsustainability.    

High (20) PMO function established to work with partners to support timely project development and delivery.

Critical path analysis of bid submissions and business cases.

Quarterly monitoring of grant funding and contracted provision.

Established change control process internally and with sponsor government bodies.
.  
.  

 Performance reporting to thematic boards.

Thematic board papers include reference to risks and issues.

Medium/High (12) PCPC and PMO Business Partner approach to be 
operated to proactively identify risks associated 
with programmes and projects.
.

Sue Sykes Sue Sykes 31 Mar 2023

Implementation and role out of the Verto 
Programme Management System.

Sue Sykes Sue Sykes 31 Oct 2022

PMO business partners recruited and fully 
operational to work to improve timing and quality of 
delivery of the business cases for projects.

Laurie Thomas Laurie Thomas 31 Mar 2023

Nick Brailsford Reference: 1370  
Prefix: BP0027  

Operational Use of Non-corporate IT 
Business Tools 

Due to: Not using corporate agreed software or standards.    
There is a risk that: Unsupported legacy software / ways of
working continue eg sharing files via email and printing    
Resulting in: Data loss, security breaches, increased storage
and resource costs and ineffective and inefficient operations.  

High (16) The IT team steer and make recommendations to employees, when asked, to facilitate the use of 
effective tools.

Web filtering in place, which restricts access to unapproved sites and information sharing platforms e.g. 
drop box.

Mimecast installed for sharing large files, email filtering

Physical and access controls in place.

Cyber Essentials Accreditation has been obtained which shows that the organisation has controls in 
place.

Medium/High (12) An agreed common standard to be defined and 
agreed.

Nick Brailsford Nick Brailsford 31 Mar 2023 Approval to implement tighter 
controls around the use of 
SharePoint has been given.  

 IT are working with the Learning and Development 
team to define and deliver the training 
requirements for employees across the MCA. 

Nick Brailsford Nick Brailsford 31 Mar 2023

gmt Board to consider the need for a Chief 
Information Officer to champion technical 
standards and data security.

Nick Brailsford Nick Brailsford 31 Mar 2023 Recruitment for Head of IT is 
with HR

Data sharing agreements to be defined with 
partners that set out the agreed parameters of data 
use.

Nick Brailsford Nick Brailsford 31 Mar 2023

 Statement of Works prepared to bring in 
consultancy services to facilitate application of 
additional controls 

Nick Brailsford Nick Brailsford 31 Mar 2023 Approval to implement this 
has been given.

Nick Brailsford Reference: 1360  
Prefix: BP0026  

Lack of Common Standards Due to: Different platforms being used    
There is a risk that: The organisation has pockets of areas
that use different ways for working    
Resulting in: incompatible documents, increased volumes of
workloads as employees utilise non secure ways of working
resulting in data breaches and reputation damage    

High (25)  Web filtering in place restricting access to unapproved sites and tools e.g. drop box

Mimecast, Advanced Threat Protection, installed and always evolving to address current threats, covers 
email filtering to identify and block impersonators and filtering attachments for abnormalities for the IT 
team to check prior to release.

Mgmt Board have agreed the web categories to be used for content filtering.

Access requests and web filtering to the IT team for approval takes place where employees wish to 
access web sites/documents in third party sites.

Achievement of Cyber Essentials 

The common standard has been agreed upon as part of the CE accreditation.

Medium/High (15) Mgmt Board to consider the need for a Chief 
Information Officer to champion technical 
standards and data security.

Gareth Sutton Nick Brailsford 31 Mar 2023 Recruitment to Head Of IT to 
take place.  Currently sat with 
HR 

IT are working with the Learning and Development 
team to define and deliver the training 
requirements for employees across the MCA. 

Nick Brailsford Nick Brailsford 31 Mar 2023 IT and IG have raised 
awareness of Cyber attacks 
through internal comms.  IT 
will be testing users on this 
knowledge in due course.  

IT is producing dashboards to 
raise user awareness 

Data sharing agreements to be defined with 
partners that set out the agreed parameters of data 
use. Working with the Governance Team

Nick Brailsford Nick Brailsford 31 Mar 2023

To agree the Statement of Works, which has been 
prepared to bring in consultancy services to 
facilitate the application the additional controls 
within the MS Tenant  

Nick Brailsford Nick Brailsford 31 Mar 2023 The Director of Finance and 
Resources has approved the 
funding to proceed with this 
project. 

Mike Thomas Reference: 1302  
Prefix: BP0020  

Exposure to the commercial 
performance of the transport network

Due to: the systemic loss of commercial viability in the South
Yorkshire transport network as a result of patronage
reductions    
There is a risk that: the sector will require greater public
subsidy in a period of financial fragility    
Resulting in: budgetary pressures on the MCA. Re-
franchising of the Supertram mass-transit light-rail system in
2024 exposes the Group to commercial risk that it is has
previously been shielded from.    

High (25) Following ongoing engagement with the Department for Transport, Government support for both bus 
and tram has been guaranteed to the end of the financial year 2022/23.     

The Group's Medium Term Financial Strategy is predicated on the use of reserves to mitigate key 
financial risks. Members have approved the preferred operating model for the tram system at the end of 
the current concession. An efficient cost model, which has been developed as part of the Mass Transit 
OBC work, is being refined further, and this model will help to mitigate operational risk as well as shield 
the MCA from financial shock.

The MCA Board has agreed to invest additional resources, including reserves, gainshare and surplus 
investment income, to support public transport. Recent measures include the early introduction of £2 
fare-capping ahead of the central government initiative, and also the tendering of previously commercial 
non-statutory school services for the next two academic years. 

Medium/High (12) Explore options for capitalising tram operating 
losses 

Mike Thomas Mike Thomas 31 Mar 2023 Written advice has now been 
received from Grant 
Thornton, legal counsel and 
the MCA group's external 
auditor. The next step is to 
approach DfT/HMT.

Resources & Investment Directorate Risk Register - Medium/High & High Residual Score

P
age 319



High

Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

John Dowie Reference: 2007  
Prefix: BP0156  

Application of Regional Policies Due to: Inconsistent application of regional policies    
There is a risk that: efficient bus operation is undermined and
leads to continued usage of cars and patronage decline    
Resulting in: further network reductions, an increase in the
number of isolated communities and failing to deliver the
policy aspirations set out in our SEP. e.g. free car parking
undermines net zero and public transport aspirations.    

High (20)  Meetings with Leaders and CEXs to reinforce the importance of a supportive policy environment

Working with wider stakeholders to identify and reinforce the benefits of enabling efficient bus operation

 Inclusion of pro bus policies in our implementation plans

High (16) Work with Leaders to develop and apply pro bus 
policies 

John Dowie John Dowie 28 Feb 2026

 Work with Government and stakeholders to 
demonstrate and foster support to influence the 
approaches in the region.

Chloe Shepherd Chloe Shepherd 28 Feb 2026

Work with bus (and other e.g. tram, active travel) 
operators to influence and engage in the delivery of 
our plans

Chloe Shepherd Chloe Shepherd 28 Feb 2026

Tim Taylor Reference: 1975  
Prefix: BP0151  

Declining Patronage (463) Due to: declining quality and provision of bus services plus
societal change    
There is a risk that: patronage continues to decline    
Resulting in: increased support costs and subsidy
requirements and potential further reduction of services and
quality    

High (25) Enhanced concession/discount schemes implemented to promote public transport usage

Patronage data (actuals and forecast) reviewed on a quarterly basis, with action plans developed to 
reverse trend.

Research commissioned to investigate underlying causes of patronage decline

Robust patronage forecast developed for each mode of transport and linked to transport operator plans 
(inc bus partnerships)

Rolling funding package agreed to support pre-March 2020 network with DfT

Service development plans aligned to patronage forecasts and regional/local transport strategies and 
annual budget setting process.

High (20) Conduct network review of bus services to agree 
scope of both supported and commercial services 
and associated financial support based on post-
COVID passenger numbers (and in the absence of 
government support).

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Mar 2023 Network review completed. 
Extension of BRG funding will 
require a further review ahead 
of anticipated end to funding 
in April 2023

Negotiate extension of network with bus operators 
to allow a considered approach to network 
changes if government funding support ends

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Mar 2023 Action timescale extended to 
reflect extension of 
government funding.

Review medium/long term impacts of COVID- 19 
and bus usage and funding requirements

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Mar 2023 Action extended to reflect 
new funding window.

John Dowie Reference: 1491  
Prefix: BP0049  

Organisational agility to respond to 
people resource needs (517)

Due to: Tight labour market conditions (candidate's market),
relatively uncompetitive public sector salaries, stringent public
sector processes for recruitment and procurement (including
approvals)    
There is a risk that: Being unable to acquire required
additional resources in time and to budget    
Resulting in: The hard deadlines and other critical success
factors of major programmes not being achieved    

High (20) People resource, procurement and budget requirements included in the Infrastructure & Place plan and 
the Public Transport Development Business Plan specifically for 2022-23

Close liaison with support services (HR, legal, PCPC) to highlight the criticality of resource requirements 
for time-critical programmes and seek to accelerate the process of populating roles

High (20) Ensure appropriate specialists are recruited and/or 
trained. 

Pat Beijer Pat Beijer 31 Mar 2023 In 2021 it became apparent 
that in 2022, programme 
activity would ramp up 
significantly and adequate 
resourcing would be critical. 
Although resource 
requirements were identified 
in the Business Plan 2022-23, 
the vast majority of these 
resources have not yet been 
secured.

In the business planning process for 2023-24, 
ensure resource needs are clearly defined and 
budget is identified from vacancies.

Pat Beijer Pat Beijer 31 Mar 2023

Medium/High

Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Tim Taylor Reference: 2293  
Prefix: BP0206  

Tram Structures Inspections Identify 
Significant Remedial actions

Due to: Aging of the structures    
There is a risk that: structures inspections start to identify the
need for significant remedial works    
Resulting in: significant spend and/or suspension of tram
services whilst works are carried out.    

High (25) Detailed and General Inspections carried out in line with the requirements detailed in the Design Manual 
For Roads and Bridges (DMRB) so any potential issues should be identified and actioned.

Medium/High (15) Ensure all structures inspections due in 2022/23 
are compete.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Mar 2023

Ensure structures inspections for 2023/24 are 
procured.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 01 May 2023

Detailed Inspection Report received from AECOM 
for Commercial street Bridge

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 15 Dec 2022

AECOM to advise on next steps regarding the 
bearing at Commercial Street Bridge.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Jan 2023

Gareth Sutton Reference: 2023  
Prefix: BP0159  

Net Zero - increasing cost and devalued 
investments

Due to: The impacts of a changing climate and the need to
move to a low carbon economy    
There is a risk that: the MCA will be exposed to increased
lifecycle costs, additional mitigation costs and decreased
value of investments.    
Resulting in: additional pressures on budgets and reduced
financial performance of the MCA    

High (16) Existing business planning and budget controls are in place to minimise financial exposure to the MCA Medium/High (12) commission a climate impact assessment on the 
MCAs facilities.

Richard Sulley Richard Sulley 31 Dec 2022

Produce a costed proposal for the MCAs facilities 
to move to a low/zero carbon operation.

Richard Sulley Richard Sulley 31 Mar 2023

Tim Taylor Reference: 1993  
Prefix: BP0154  

Third Party Reliance on Bus Operators 
to deliver Net Zero targets

Due to: The Region's bus services being largely operated on
a commercial basis    
There is a risk that: leading to compromise and a limited
ability to shape the network and fleet    
Resulting in: challenges in delivering our strategic priorities in
relation to zero emissions buses by 2040    

High (20) Engagement with operators to deliver an Enhanced Partnership

Engagement with DfT to secure funding 

Decision taken to conduct a franchising assessment

Employees are aware of the State Aid rules and seek advice and guidance from legal colleagues as the 
need arises.

Early engagement with operators and legal colleagues to identify levels of funding and specific risk 
relating to a scheme.

Funding tapers are applied to each application to ensure remain within the law

Medium/High (15) Continue with the development and delivery of the 
Enhanced Partnership to deliver short term 
improvements

Chloe Shepherd Chloe Shepherd 04 Oct 2022

Undertake a Franchising Assessment to develop a 
longer term solution and gain additional control 
over the bus network

Pat Beijer Pat Beijer 04 Oct 2022

Martin Swales Reference: 1992  
Prefix: BP0153  

Net Zero - MCA Operation Due to: Physical changes to the environment which may
impact the organisation including: • Acute – extreme weather
events, which may cause damage to buildings. • Chronic –
slow changes such as sea level rise, changes to ambient
temperatures or levels of rainfall.    
There is a risk that: These events lead to interrupted service
delivery    
Resulting in: Delays and disruption to the work of the MCA.    

High (16) Existing business continuity plans are in place and reviewed for relevance regularly.

A Business Continuity Working Group has been established and meets regularly to consider 
arrangements.

The pandemic response protocols can be adapted for use in adverse weather events.

Medium/High (12) commission a climate impact assessment on the 
MCAs facilities.

Richard Sulley Richard Sulley 31 Dec 2022

Rebecca Roe Reference: 1918  
Prefix: BP0135  

Dilapidated Connect Totems - Sheffield 
City Centre (547)

Due to: the age of the Connect Totems in the Sheffield City
Centre, with obsolete live departure displays, unavailable
parts and inefficient information production    
There is a risk that: the live departure displays and other
components will fail and are unfixable    
Resulting in: long term outages on live departure displays, or
inability to post new information leading to poor customer
experience, increased customer complaints and increased
financial costs for repair/replacement    

Medium/High (12) Adequate stocks of spares are kept available to minimise outage duration, in addition it is being looked 
at to utilise totems at stops no longer in use to 'cannibalise' parts

Medium/High (12) A project is planned to look at the replacement of 
totems and at information as a whole in Sheffield 
City Centre.  The current information is paper 
based and inefficient to produce, therefore it is 
being looked at to provide fully digital information 
at these stops and other city centre locations to 
ensure the correct information is provided at key 
locations, efficiently and accurately.  Project yet to 
start,

Rebecca Roe Rebecca Roe 30 Nov 2024 Project in scope for Service 
Information Evolution 
proposal sent to JD & TT 
December 2022

Colin Blackburn Reference: 1814  
Prefix: BP0116  

Sporadic Funding Opportunities Due to: the Government's short term competitive programme
funding approach    
There is a risk that: We chase funding multiple small funding
opportunities rather than being able to take a strategic
approach    
Resulting in: greater proportional resources implications
applying and delivering multiple funding opportunities inability
achieve the SEPs strategic ambitions and goals    

High (16) we adopt an effective and prioritised SYMCA investment strategy and only apply for funding 
opportunities that will clearly contribute to delivering strategic priorities

seek further devolution of housing and infrastructure funding from Government

Medium/High (12)

Colin Blackburn Reference: 1806  
Prefix: BP0114  

Cost inflation Due to: weak economy, inflation and a lack of materials and
skills' supplies    
There is a risk that: capital schemes' costs rise    
Resulting in: schemes become more unviable and requiring
greater SYMCA funding and investment to enable them to be
delivered    

High (25) Filter out more effectively poor schemes at an early stage

co-design pipelines and schemes with LAs utilising SYMCA feasibility funding

build greater cost contingency into schemes 

Medium/High (15)

Pat Beijer Reference: 1563  
Prefix: BP0068  

Disruption due to concession handback 
(514)

Due to: weak contractual controls around co-operation and
obligations at handback    
There is a risk that: the handback is disruptive    
Resulting in: cessation of the light rail system, liability for
infrastructure and reputational damage    

High (20) Financial evaluation to understand financial impact taken place.

Review of the current Concession Agreement has identified strength areas and points of weakness.

Resource planning and need has been identified as part of the 2022/23 Business Plan.

Oversight strengthened through the fortnightly meeting with the CEO and wider MCA Management 
Board members.

Medium/High (15) Develop a Transition Agreement which provides 
appropriate terms and conditions, that sets out the 
approach to handback.

Chris Coleman Chris Coleman 30 Jun 2023 Discussions have 
commenced with Stagecoach 
via the Transition Agreement.  
A list of priority items have 
been agreed and both parties 
are working through the list of 
items.  This work will continue 
through to March 2024, when 
the transfer to NewCo takes 
place.  Review update June 
2023

Engagement with SYSL to understand current 
scale of sub-contracting. Analysis of risk and 
impact of these contracts. Risk will not materialise 
until nearer the end of the concession- to 
commence as part of the delivery programme.

Chris Coleman Chris Coleman 28 Feb 2023 Pending recruitment of a 
Procurement role for the 
Concession End Project.  The 
job role was sent to HR in 
Dec 22, with the aim to 
commence recruitment in 
early 2023.  Review February 
2023

Commence implementation of the Mobilisation 
programme delivery once the future operating 
model is confirmed by the MCA in July 2022.

Chris Coleman Chris Coleman 27 Jan 2023 Operating Model approved by 
MCA Board on 18.10.2022.  
Following this decision, a new 
programme, including a 
mobilisation plan is being 
developed with a target date 
to finalise in January 2023; 
subject to additional 
resources being in place to 
complete.

Infrastructure & Place Directorate Risk Register - Medium/High & High Residual Score 

P
age 320



Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Pat Beijer Reference: 1550  
Prefix: BP0065  

Inability to fund the costs of tram asset 
renewal (462)

Due to: not being able to identify suitable funding sources to
renew the life-expired trams assets    
There is a risk that: tram infrastructure and vehicles cannot be
life-extended or replaced    
Resulting in: deterioration in service and/or potential
unplanned disruption to service    

High (20) Development of Mass Transit OBC to achieve programme entry to allow the case for investment to be 
made in the tram system

Engagement with DfT around the process for OBC submission to ensure that the funding requirements 
are understood

Light rail funding requirements are included in as many capital bid programmes as possible (£100m 
CRSTS secured).

A capital investment prioritisation approach for the light rail asset renewal requirements has been 
developed, which reflects the shorter term operationally critical renewal requirements and allows for the 
longer term requirements to be identified through the asset condition assessment work for the Mass 
Transit OBC and FBC).

Agreement with the DfT on early (pre-OBC submission and approval) drawdown of CRSTS funding to 
mobilise and implement the most pressing asset renewal requirements 

£100m secured from CRSTS funding to implement part of the full infrastructure and tram vehicle renewal

Medium/High (15) Identification of repairs and maintenance 
requirements that are linked to the budget process.

Pat Beijer Chris Coleman 31 Mar 2023 Earlier renewal requirements 
for infrastructure and vehicles 
have been identified through 
ongoing contract 
management with the 
operator SYSL (trolley runs, 
vehicle inspections etc). 
These are being linked to 
requests from DfT for an early 
drawdown of CRSTS capital 
investment (before OBC 
submission), to create the 
budget for mobilisation and 
early implementation of 
renewal works.

Submit bid to DfT Pat Beijer Pat Beijer 02 Jun 2023

Develop a new asset management system for tram 
assets, which identifies ongoing asset renewal 
requirements once the significant renewal 
programme is concluded, and is linked to the 
SYMCA Asset Register

Pat Beijer Peter Elliott 30 Apr 2024 This project is being led by 
Peter Elliott and the PM is 
Andrew Parry.

Pat Beijer Reference: 1479  
Prefix: BP0046  

Inability to think strategically (523) Due to: Inability to develop existing resources to migrate from
day to day thinking to strategic thinking or to attract strategic
calibre recruits, owing to relatively low salaries in a
candidates' market, to support major public transport change
programmes    
There is a risk that: the development programmes around bus
and light rail will not be supported by the right calibre
resource to successfully deliver these high profile
programmes    
Resulting in: an impact on programme, time, other existing
resource and quality of the delivery of the light rail
development and bus franchising programmes    

High (20) Major Projects: Appointment of senior project lead roles to oversee major projects such as Bus 
Franchising and Tram End of Concession. Job descriptions written to build a more strategically 
competent team to support these lead roles.

Public Transport Capital Projects: Pro-active encouragement of permanent establishment team 
members to explore and get involved in development opportunities arising from the major projects. 

Inclusion of the strategic resource requirements for major programmes identified in Business Plan 2022-
23

Medium/High (15) Consider appropriate additional strategic resource 
support, identify individuals with the ability and 
willingness to pursue personal development 
opportunities that will over time support the 
requirements 

Pat Beijer Pat Beijer 31 Mar 2023 Actions are ongoing as the 
need for strategic resource 
remains critical for major 
programmes. Therefore it is 
proposed that this is reviewed 
on a six-monthly basis.

Ensure all options to attract the right calibre 
persons for the roles are explored with HR, which 
may at times mean looking for secondments or 
interim headhunting agency options

Pat Beijer Pat Beijer 30 Jun 2023

Tim Taylor Reference: 1400  
Prefix: BP0032  

Balance Anchor Weight Failures (553) Due to: failures with no root cause    
There is a risk that: there will be further balance anchor
weight system failures    
Resulting in: serious injury or fatality and service disruption  

Medium/High (15) Risk assessment carried out by SYSL to ensure controls put in place Medium/High (15) Work with SYSL to deliver the risk based removal 
of the balance anchor weight system and 
replacement with Tensorex

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 21 Mar 2024

SYSL to carry out survey of Balance Anchor weight 
tensions to support procurement of contractor and 
Tensorex devices.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 01 Apr 2023

Tim Taylor Reference: 1393  
Prefix: BP0030  

Road Traffic Collision at Bernard Road 
Junction (552)

Due to: the number of near miss incidents reported    
There is a risk that: there will be an actual Road Traffic
Collision at Bernard Road junction    
Resulting in: fatality and/or serious injury and damage to tram
vehicle and/or infrastructure    

High (20) Compulsory warning in place for all tram drivers

Self seeded trees and vegetation regularly cleared to improve sight lines at the junction

Tram speed limit reduced over the junction.

Medium/High (15) SYMCA, SCC and SYSL to share videos produced 
by LRSSB on their Social media channels in order 
to highlight the issues of highway safety.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Dec 2022

SYMCA to agree with SCC next steps regarding 
opportunity to look at changes to junction timings.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Jan 2023

Infrastructure & Place Directorate Risk Register - Medium/High & High Residual Score 

P
age 321



Medium/High

Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Adam Greenwood Reference: 2176  
Prefix: BP0191  

AEB - Workforce Due to: Resource levels and ways or working including
recruitment and retention are considered to be insufficient    
There is a risk that: the MCA cannot effectively procure and
deliver its obligations as part of the devolution deal    
Resulting in: the residents are unable to access training
opportunities aligned to MCA's strategic ambitions and
affecting the relationships the MCA has developed with the
providers and partners.    

High (25) The volume of employees devoted to skills and employment (incl AEB) has been increased and is 
included in the organisational structure.

Business cycle, setting out the process and which team does what and when, is in place and 
maintained.

Medium/High (15) A resource Plan has been developed and 
recruitment into the posts is ongoing, onboarding 
individuals is taking place to induct into the MCA

Adam Greenwood Adam Greenwood 31 Mar 2023 action underway

Business & Skills Directorate Risk Register - Medium/High & High Residual Score

P
age 322



Medium/High

Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Tim Taylor Reference: 1400  
Prefix: BP0032  

Balance Anchor Weight Failures (553) Due to: failures with no root cause    
There is a risk that: there will be further balance anchor
weight system failures    
Resulting in: serious injury or fatality and service disruption  

Medium/High (15) Risk assessment carried out by SYSL to ensure controls put in place Medium/High (15) Work with SYSL to deliver the risk based removal 
of the balance anchor weight system and 
replacement with Tensorex

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 21 Mar 2024

SYSL to carry out survey of Balance Anchor weight 
tensions to support procurement of contractor and 
Tensorex devices.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 01 Apr 2023

Tim Taylor Reference: 1393  
Prefix: BP0030  

Road Traffic Collision at Bernard Road 
Junction (552)

Due to: the number of near miss incidents reported    
There is a risk that: there will be an actual Road Traffic
Collision at Bernard Road junction    
Resulting in: fatality and/or serious injury and damage to tram
vehicle and/or infrastructure    

High (20) Compulsory warning in place for all tram drivers

Self seeded trees and vegetation regularly cleared to improve sight lines at the junction

Tram speed limit reduced over the junction.

Medium/High (15) SYMCA, SCC and SYSL to share videos produced 
by LRSSB on their Social media channels in order 
to highlight the issues of highway safety.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Dec 2022

SYMCA to agree with SCC next steps regarding 
opportunity to look at changes to junction timings.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Jan 2023

Medium

Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Gareth Sutton Reference: 2301  
Prefix: BP0207  

Assets Management Capacity Due to: The imminent exit of Head Of Facilities and Asset
Manager    
There is a risk that: the drive to make improvements to the
operational FM & Asset Management and control of the
commercial aspects of the Estate will stall    
Resulting in: A delay to the achievement of the Strategic
Asset Management Plan, etc    

Medium/High (15) None evident owner reviewing options available

Existing post holder has reviewed and sent updates for the new JD to Rachael Radford

Medium (9)

Philip Burgin Reference: 1940  
Prefix: BP0142  

Compliance with Statue Laws and 
Regulations

Due to: Due to there been no centralised compliance and
assets record system (such as a asset management
database)    
There is a risk that: we may not be able to quickly and
efficiently evidence compliance when challenged    
Resulting in: potential legal action and financial exposure
causing reputational damage    

High (16) Current information is kept in various spreadsheets and other databases, so although in existence the 
way it is stored is complicated and not available to all in the organisation

Medium (6) Actively looking to procure a new asset 
management software which will monitor 
compliance and risk rate each building.  This 
software will also future proof the organisation as it 
will ensure we are fully compliant with the new 
Building Safety Act"

Philip Burgin Philip Burgin 30 Jun 2023

Philip Burgin Reference: 1903  
Prefix: BP0131  

Land & Building Impairment Due to: Due to lack of investment and maintenance
arrangements    
There is a risk that: land and buildings become impaired or
unsuitable for SYMCA's need    
Resulting in: in unavailability or closure, exposure to
additional issues based on H&S, Finance and reputational
challenge.    

Medium/High (12) Asset management strategy prepared by Turner & Townsend.

Financial Valuation Report  prepared by Sanderson Weatherall

Asset and Lifecycle plan for assets in place for SYMCA occupied buildings

The asset and life cycle plan has been developed to give a 5 year capital investment plan

Medium (9) Bring the series of reports together and create one 
overall report

Philip Burgin Philip Burgin 31 May 2023 Variable date revised due to 
pending new head of service 
appointment

Gain understanding of the commercial profit and 
loss for each building to understand cost benefits 
whether to retain or sell

Philip Burgin Philip Burgin 30 Jun 2023 Variable date revised due to 
pending new head of service 
appointment

Philip Burgin Reference: 1633  
Prefix: BP0080  

Assets - Processes and Controls Due to: the fragmented approach to asset management
across SYMCA    
There is a risk that: inconsistency and weakness in controls    
Resulting in: sub-optimal performance, tenant dissatisfaction
and inefficient reactive expenditure.    

Medium/High (12) Asset Mgmty Strategy is in place which has been prepared by Turner & Townsend.

Financial valuation report has been prepared by Sanderson Weathrall  

Asset & Lifecycle plans are in place.

A 10 year capital investment plan is in place

Medium (8) To bring the various reports together to create one 
version, which creates visibility of the strategic 
position and viability of each asset in the group.

Philip Burgin Philip Burgin 31 May 2023 Variable date revised due to 
pending new head of service 
appointment

Gain understanding of the commercial profit and 
loss for each building to make cost benefit decision 
whether to maintain or sell. 

Philip Burgin Philip Burgin 30 Jun 2023 Variable date revised due to 
pending new head of service 
appointment

Delivery of Actions recorded within this risk register 
will mitigate the risk. 

Philip Burgin Philip Burgin 30 Jun 2023 Variable date revised due to 
pending new head of service 
appointment

Jeremy Kemp Reference: 1621  
Prefix: BP0077  

Inability to guarantee safe evacuation of 
interchanges in event of fire (530)

Due to: staffing levels falling below 3 for the service provided
by the current Customer and Cleaning Service provider and a
decrease in staff patrols    
There is a risk that: arson/anti social behaviour could
increase and evacuation may not be effective    
Resulting in: Injury/possible loss of life and reputational
damage to the MCA    

Medium/High (15) Fire Risk Assessment carried out annually and completion of actions monitored by Health & Safety 
Advisor 

PAT testing at recommended intervals 

Regular safety checks by Customer Service Managers 

A minimum or 3 staff (including SYMCA management as well as 3rd party management) are rota' d to 
ensure security patrols can be carried out at appropriate times and to ensure the safe evacuation of the 
public in the event of a fire

To continue to monitor the rota's and signing in sheets to check if there are a minimum of 3 staff on at 
anyone time, where there are shortfalls appropriate action is taken to mitigate 

Medium (10) Health and safety are carrying out a full 
assessment on the evacuation processes and 
procedures and a report is to be generated. 

Jeremy Kemp Jeremy Kemp 31 Mar 2023 Awaiting on final report from 
Health & Safety with regards 
to the evacuation procedures 
and the recommendations 
suggested. 

Tim Taylor Reference: 1617  
Prefix: BP0076  

Integration changes to the management 
of Health and Safety (525)

Due to: Integration of SYMCA and SYPTE and the transfers
of H&S accountability to the SYMCA Management Structure  
There is a risk that: management structures are unprepared    
Resulting in: an uncontrolled manner and without necessary
controls or processes to reflect the increase in H&S statutory
responsibilities on inheriting extensive customer-facing assets
and services (including a light rail system).    

Medium/High (12) Establishment of formal integration governance and controls (e.g. work packages, steering groups and 
project plan) allows for better planning of activity and can take in to account other resource pressures 
which arise across the group.

SYPTE has existing H&S policies, governance and reporting in place which can be transferred to MCA 
Group

Medium (9)

Tim Taylor Reference: 1587  
Prefix: BP0071  

Travel pass fraud challenge leads to 
assault (496)

Due to: unauthorised travel passes in circulation    
There is a risk that: challenge by operator staff i.e. conductors
is met with aggression    
Resulting in: verbal and physical assault    

Medium/High (15) processes in place to manage replacement card process.

SYSL carry out training to avoid conflict, accident investigation and ensure sufficiently competent staff 
and carry out risk assessments.

Medium (8) To identify opportunities to improve safety through 
the SCR Mass Transit renewals project.

Peter Elliott Peter Elliott 23 Dec 2022

Tighten up procedures regarding the replacement 
of lost or damaged passes to avoid unauthorised 
passes entering circulation.

Suzanne 
Hutchinson

Suzanne 
Hutchinson

31 Dec 2022

Jeremy Kemp Reference: 1516  
Prefix: BP0056  

Member of the public coming into 
contact with a moving vehicle on 
SYMCA property (483)

Due to: coming into contact with a moving vehicle on SYMCA
property    
There is a risk that: a member of the public may be injured    
Resulting in: legal action    

Medium/High (15) A programme to install fixed speed ANPR at Barnsley Interchange has now been completed. 

Actively review compliance with the general conditions of use following up on any violations identified

Additional metal barriers have been installed at Sheffield Interchange on one of the crossing points from 
the main concourse building to C platform to try encourage customers to stick to the designated crossing 
points. 

Audible warning message triggered by a sensor at the crossing of A platform from the concourse 
building (Sheffield Interchange only) 

Public Transport operators abide by SYMCA's general conditions of use designed to ensure the safe 
passage of the travelling public. 

Site Managers carry out speed checks on interchange vehicles using a speed radar gun, this radar gun 
is shared around sites on a four week rota, Any vehicle that is exceeding 13 mph the Customer Service 
Manager will send the operator a speeding violation notice which will give details of the offending vehicle 
allowing the operator to carry out appropriate action

SYMCA has customer wayfarer signage in place at all sites to identify safe walking routes. 

Medium (10) the installation of ANPR is currently in progress for  
Rotherham interchange and Meadowhall in 
2022/23.

Jeremy Kemp Jeremy Kemp 30 Apr 2023

the installation of ANPR at Sheffield Interchange in 
2023/2024

Jeremy Kemp Jeremy Kemp 30 Apr 2024

Tim Taylor Reference: 1513  
Prefix: BP0055  

Road Traffic Collision (489) Due to: trams operating as part of the regions public transport
system    
There is a risk that: a collision between a tram and member of
the public, a collision between a tram and a road vehicle at a
crossing, a collision between a tram and a vehicle in the road
section and a collision between a tram and a cyclist could
occur    
Resulting in: minor, moderate or serious injury (who is liable
here?)    

High (20) SYSL and SYPTE liaise with Sheffield CC as Highway Authority to review accident statistics to identify 
key hotspots and understand where additional controls could be implemented

SYSL carry out driver training, accident investigation and ensure sufficiently competent staff.

Medium (10) Continued liason with SCC and partners through 
the MoU meetings to identify hotspot areas and 
look to mitigate issues where achievable.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Dec 2022

Look at opportunities to design out risk where 
possible through CRSTS and Mass Transit 
renewals (OBC)

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Dec 2022

Work with the Light Rail Safety and standards 
Board (LRSSB) to identify opportunities for better 
collaboration between the LRSSB and Highway 
Authorities.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 02 Jan 2023

Philip Burgin Reference: 1495  
Prefix: BP0050  

Woodbourn Tunnel (531) Due to: the structural stability of Woodbourn Tunnel    
There is a risk that: SYMCA could be held liable for the partial
or full collapse of the tunnel    
Resulting in: unbudgeted costs, harm to reputation and
prosecution.    

Medium (10) SCC's contractor, (Amey) monitoring the bridge and Public Transport Project Delivery Team are in 
regular liaison with SCC.

Medium (8) There is an active project underway to infill the 
tunnel with concrete, removing the risk of any 
potential collapse. This is due to start in May 2023, 
with a proposed completion date of August 2023

Philip Burgin Philip Burgin 31 Aug 2023 Project established and 
project plan in place

Tim Taylor Reference: 1453  
Prefix: BP0043  

Disruption to Supertram operations as a 
result of extreme weather (538)

Due to: climate change and therefore the increase in extreme
weather events    
There is a risk that: there will be increased disruption of the
operation of the Supertram network    
Resulting in: poor public transport service, lower patronage,
increased costs for maintenance and repair.    

Medium/High (12) System was built during the 1990's so the infrastructure is relatively new and climate change was an 
emerging issue. 

Medium (8) SCR Mass Transit Renewal to act on the advice 
from the infrastructure advisors on suitable 
mitigation and to design those in to any renewals 
package. 

Tim Taylor Peter Elliott 02 Jan 2023

Infrastructure advisor to undertake a 
comprehensive review of the network to look at 
climate change impacts. 

Tim Taylor Peter Elliott 02 Jan 2023

Continued liaison with Stakeholders (e.g. Network 
Rail, SCC) to look at opportunities to input into 
wider climate change mitigations they may be 
planning. 

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 02 Jan 2023

AECOM to present findings of the River Don 
Bridge report to SYSL and SYMCA.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Jan 2023

Rachel Sprigg Reference: 1447  
Prefix: BP0040  

Loss of Rail Grant (418) Due to: DfT reducing/withdraw the Rail Admin Grant of
£1.183m    
There is a risk that: funding is insufficient to cover a number
of station activities such as cleaning and maintenance    
Resulting in: a loss of income to the SYMCA, consequential
budgetary pressures and adverse impact on delivery and
safety.    

Medium (9) Rail admin grant has been secured for 2022-23 at same level of previous years. 

Standardised funding model for DfT to award this Annualised allocation of rail admin grant from DfT 
(Ongoing for multiple years)

If the Rail grant was to be reduced or stopped we have a list of the service that would be affected and 
how these would impact rail users, stakeholders and staff and also how these could be addressed.

Medium (6) No further action at this point. Rachel Sprigg Rachel Sprigg 01 Apr 2023

Include in risk quantification of amount of grant at 
risk after discussion with SYMCA finance team 

Rachel Sprigg Rachel Sprigg 01 Feb 2023

Tim Taylor Reference: 1440  
Prefix: BP0038  

Injury whilst boarding or alighting a tram 
(495) 

Due to: the tram platform/vehicle interface    
There is a risk that: passengers boarding and alighting may
slip, trip or fall onto or off a vehicle    
Resulting in: injury    

Medium (9) Adhoc track patrols carried out by SYPTE and any defects raised with SYSL. 

SYSL carry out driver training, accident investigation and ensure sufficiently competent staff and carry 
out risk assessments. 

SYSL carryout maintenance of vehicles and tramstops. 

Medium (6) Review of Safety data on a period by period basis 
in order to identify trends.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Dec 2023

Risks with a H & S 'theme' with a residual score over 5

P
age 323



Owner Identifier Title Cause and Effects Inherent Priority Controls

Detail

Residual Priority Actions

Detail Owner Assignee Variable Target Last Update Text

Tim Taylor Reference: 1421  
Prefix: BP0037  

Tram infrastructure and tram vehicle 
failure (512)

Due to: Due to increased wear and age of assets    
There is a risk that: the tram infrastructure or vehicles will fail  
Resulting in: service disruptions, health and safety incidents
and increased financial exposure.    

High (16) Annual asset review carried out with 20 assets chosen to check that assets are been maintained in line 
with their maintenance regime. 

Concession Agreement includes clauses regarding operation of the network. 

Details of non-conformances detailed by SYSL Overview Report so we can start to understand problem 
areas and challenge SYSL in order that the necessary repairs are completed. 

SYSL currently monitor and act on obsolescence issues. 

SYSL provide details of their reactive maintenance and planned maintenance performance on a monthly 
basis. 

Medium (9) Complete negotiations with SYSL with a Transition 
Agreement to address emerging commercial risks 
for a seamless transfer in March 2024. 

Tim Taylor Chris Coleman 30 Jun 2023 Negotiations with Stagecoach 
via the TA will be ongoing 
during the mobilisation period 
through to March 2024.  
Variable review date June 
2023

Completion of Mott MacDonald and ATKINS 
condition surveys 

Tim Taylor Peter Elliott 31 Dec 2022 ATKINS vehicle condition 
survey completed. Mott 
MacDonald surveys 
completed work in processs 
of writing up.

Progress with new project to replace XVPlus with a 
new Enterprise Asset Management 
System /CMMS. 

Tim Taylor Peter Elliott 30 Mar 2023

Submission of the final Mass Transit renewals bid 
(OBC). 

Tim Taylor Peter Elliott 31 Mar 2023

Tim Taylor Reference: 1419  
Prefix: BP0036  

Serious tram accident (akin to 
Sandilands) (472)

Due to: inadequate operational and/or maintenance practices,
vandalism or object left in the swept path    
There is a risk that: a tram will overturn    
Resulting in: in injuries or fatalities    

Medium (10) Liaison with the Police to investigate high vandalism areas.

SYSL carry out driver training, accident investigation and ensure sufficiently competent staff and carry 
out risk assessments.

SYSL carry out regular track patrols and maintenance activities.

System signage reviewed and drop down speeds introduced at high risk areas.

Vigilance device now implemented on the Siemens fleet 

Vigilance device on the Citylink vehicles.

Medium (5) Investigate the viability of a speed control system 
on the Siemens fleet or incorporate as part of a 
new fleet, subject to the current review of the fleet 
as part of SCR Mass Transit Business Case.

Peter Elliott Peter Elliott 03 May 2024 Attached plan

Audit of Supertram Safety Management System 
(SMS) and control measures.

Gerry Masterson Gerry Masterson 01 Dec 2022

Implementation of the recommendations and 
processes adopted by the Light Rail Safety and 
Standards Board where applicable.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 23 Jan 2023

Work with LRSSB to understand Supertram's risk 
profile in relation to other tram systems, and look at 
continual improvement opportunities

Gerry Masterson Gerry Masterson 01 Apr 2023

Tim Taylor Reference: 1408  
Prefix: BP0033  

Failure of post tensioned structures on 
Supertram (528)

Due to: age and deterioration    
There is a risk that: post tensioned structures fail    
Resulting in: possible fatalities, injury or loss of service  

Medium/High (15) Ongoing principle inspections

The structures were constructed in the mid 90's when there was more understanding regarding the risks 
of post tensioned structures and better controls on workmanship. Additionally the structures are not that 
old compared to other post tensioned structures within the UK

Medium (10) Procure AECOM to carry out next phase of 
inspections.

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 01 Apr 2023

Tim Taylor Reference: 1387  
Prefix: BP0029  

Tramway highway interface (436) Due to: improperly designed, constructed or maintained tram
rails or other infrastructure integrated into the highway    
There is a risk that: road users may not be safe    
Resulting in: remedial work, accidents causing serious injury
or fatalities and claims against the MCA    

Medium/High (15) Supertram is authorised by statute to be present in its position

SYSL and SYPTE liaise with Sheffield CC as Highway Authority to monitor accident statistics to identify 
key hotspots and understand where additional controls could be implemented

SYSL carry out regular track patrols to check on any defects. Maintenance responsibility falls to SYSL.

Medium (10) Continue to liaise with partners (Sheffield City 
Council and SYSL) through the MoU to ensure 
high risk sites identified and mitigation introduced if 
required

Tim Taylor Tim Taylor 31 Dec 2022

Use capital funding (CRSTS etc.) to improve 
known hot spots.

Peter Elliott Peter Elliott 31 Dec 2022

Risks with a H & S 'theme' with a residual score over 5

P
age 324



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

Wednesday, 25 January 2023 
 

Governance Improvement Plan 2022/23 – Progress Update 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Claire James 
Claire.James@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 

This paper updates the Committee on progress against the 2022/23 Governance 
Improvement Plan. 

 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 

Continually improving governance enables the Combined Authority to pursue its ambitions 
and objectives in the most effective and efficient way, bringing about better outcomes for 
people and businesses in South Yorkshire. 

 
Recommendations   
 

The Committee is asked to consider progress against the plan to consider whether the 
monitoring updates provides the assurance required of progress against the 22/23 plan. 

 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
  
N/A  

Page 325

Agenda Item 20



1.  Background 
  

1.1 CIPFA guidance on the preparation of an Annual Governance Statement 
prescribes that the statement should include an ‘agreed action plan showing 
actions taken, or proposed, to deal with significant governance issues’ 
(Governance Improvement Plan). This paper provides an update on the progress 
of the Governance Improvement Plan for 2022/23 which forms part of the Annual 
Governance Statement for the previous financial year. The Governance 
Improvement Plan can be found at appendix A. 

  

2. Key Issues 
  

2.1 Members are asked to note that in addition to monitoring progress against the 
Governance Improvement Plan, in line with the Internal Audit recommendation 
(reported to the Committee in October) quarterly reviews of compliance with the 
Local Code of Corporate Governance how now been established. This will be 
reviewed as part of the Governance audit currently underway and will inform the 
Annual Governance Review which will be reported on at the March meeting. 

  
3. Consultation on Proposal  
  

3.1 The Committee originally consulted on the 2022/23 Governance Improvement 
Plan in July 2022. 

  
4. 
 

Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   

4.1 The Governance Improvement Plan will be implemented and monitored during the 
remainder of the finance year 2022/23. 

  
5. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  

5.1 There are no financial implications relating to the proposal set out regarding the 
annual governance review however, non-compliance with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations may result in a qualified audit opinion which could lead to a potential 
withdrawal or withholding of funding. 

  
6. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 There are no legal implications relating to the Governance Improvement Plan. 

  
7. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  

7.1 There are no human resources implications related to this report. 

  
8. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  

8.1 There are no equality and diversity implications related to this report. 

 
9. 

 
Climate Change Implications and Advice 

  

9.1 There are no climate change implications related to this report. 

  

Page 326



10. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  

10.1 There are no information and communication technology implications related to 
this report. 

  
11. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   

 

11.1 There are no communications or marketing implications related to this report. 

  
List of Appendices Included:   
 

A Governance Improvement Plan – Progress Update 

 
Background Papers 
 

None 

 

Page 327



This page is intentionally left blank



 Item 20 - Appendix A 
The Governance Improvement Plan consists of actions identified from the Annual Governance Review 21/22 which will support the organisation’s strategic 

priorities.  

CIPFA/SOLACE Framework – Principle B - Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement  
 

  

 Improve the way we engage with and listen to our 
customers by actively pursuing their views through an 
agreed and published plan of consultations based on the 
priorities of the Corporate Plan, including the Bus Service 
Improvement Plan and franchising.  

 

Enhanced Partnership Board established in April 2022 and EP Forum (passenger 
representation) formed in September 2022. Forum is being engaged to co-design a new 
passenger charter.  
 
MCA undertook a public consultation in August 2022 on the prioritisation of bus service 
attributes to inform tendered service awards in October 2022. Whilst these have been deferred 
until July 2023 (at the earliest) the data will still be used for future tendering activity. 

 Improve our responsiveness to customer enquiries and 
complaints by tracking and monitoring issues and making 
necessary process changes to improve customer 
experience at an operational level.  

 

Proposal to centralise further customer-facing services and activities (e.g. general enquiries) in 
to the existing transport Contact Centre (CC). Trial of using the CC for Mayoral Election was 
successful in April/May 2022.  
 
Enhanced Partnership Passenger Charter being developed with support from the EP Forum.  
 
Continued use of Director of PT Ops resources to support customer and elected member 
correspondence; Mayoral Correspondence Officer started in December 2022.   

 
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework - Principle C - Ensuring our outcomes are defined in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 
benefits   
 

  

 Improve our plans and strategies by ensuring they 
illustrate the contribution they will make to changing the 
regions’ economic outlook.   

 

The primary source of evidence will be the Outcomes Framework. This is supported by the 
new Data and Intelligence Hub (https://southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk/Data-Intelligence-Hub). This 
has been designed to be the single source of truth about the performance of the South 
Yorkshire economy and should provide the baseline for all plans and strategies. 

 Improve how we design and develop our programmes of 
activity, by including a suite of economic indicators and 
outcomes that clarify the impact the activity needs to 
achieve to realise the economic growth required.  

A framework of indicators has been developed and agreed with all LA partners. This is 
comprehensive set of evidence backed information which builds on the indicators and 
outcomes agreed in the SEP. The framework reflects the Stronger, Fairer and Greener 
objectives agreed by the MCA and its partners and stakeholders and shows, current relative 
performance, and the extent of the gap to our peers and the national average, (signalling the 
ambition needed to address this).   
 
This is the reference evidence base for all project design, development, and assurance. 

P
age 329

https://southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk/Data-Intelligence-Hub


 Item 20 - Appendix A 
 Improve the understanding our internal teams and 

partners have of the impact we are seeking from our 
programmes and investments.  

 

The agreed Outcomes Framework referred to above is important here too. Corporate Policy 
team has business partners working closely with all teams to ensure the data, evidence and 
insights needed to challenge ambition and ensure strategic fit is forthcoming.   
 
The MCA is also working closely with all LAs in the development of their Place Based 
Investment Plans   

CIPFA/SOLACE Framework - Principle D - Planning interventions that optimise the achievement of intended outcomes.  
 

  

 Improve how we shape and challenge the options and 
strategies open to South Yorkshire decision makers by 
developing relationships with national academics, 
research and development leaders and policy makers 
across all our agendas.  
 

Close working is underway with LAs and universities on the development of the Office of Data 
Analytics. This will, if successful, provide a valuable resource for using big data to answer the 
big questions of today. Some national research funding has been secured to begin to make 
some progress here.   

 Improve our approach to stakeholder engagement 
seeking to broaden our stakeholder base and develop 
significant new relationships with the financial sector to 
lever far greater investment in South Yorkshire.  

 

A number of strands of activity are underway to re-shape the way we engage with potential 
investors. This activity is taking place across sectors and at different scale.  
 
Within South Yorkshire the MCA has begun a working relationship with the South Yorkshire 
Pension Fund, with officers invited to sit on the Fund’s new levelling-up Committee. Work is 
also underway to shape a future Strategic Investment Partnership with the Fund.  
 
Discussions have also taken place with major institutional investors including L&G and Aviva, 
with future engagement planned.   
 
A commitment to support a challenger bank creating a regional hub in South Yorkshire was 
also approved, providing the potential to address access-to-finance issues at an institutional 
level. This proposal ultimately fell away due to the failure of a fund-raise amidst the market 
turmoil that followed the Government’s mini-budget.  
 
The Business Growth and Recovery Board has also approved the development of a number of 
pilot schemes working with angel investors to better stimulate smaller scale pre-revenue 
investment in the region.   

CIPFA/SOLACE Framework – Principle E - Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it  
 

  

 Improve the support given to our workforce by 
implementing the agreed Management Code, that sets 
out the management commitment to teams to ensure 

The MCA made a commitment to better support colleagues through a structured -
communication framework. This included a commitment to quarterly all staff events with the 

P
age 330



 Item 20 - Appendix A 
colleagues are supported and accountable, and receive 
feedback. To ensure a consistent and good experience of 
work and clear pathways to raise any issues.  

 

political leadership, monthly all staff briefings, and a commitment for every officer to have 
twice-yearly meetings with their Director along with monthly team meetings.  
 
This meeting cycle has now been embedded with all-staff events recorded where possible. 
Directors are meeting with their officers on a cyclical basis whilst individual teams are 
discharging the requirement to meet frequently in different ways best suited to their 
circumstance.   
 
Since the adoption of this framework management have further adjusted the approach to 
senior-manager meetings with the intention of better facilitating the development and 
ownership of ideas and tasks and creating dedicated space for strategic leadership. This has 
led to the creation of an Executive Board and a Corporate Delivery Board. These to Boards 
replace the previous Management Board and will both draw in a more holistic cadre of officers 
into discussions but also bring more coherency to which matters are discussed and dealt with 
where. 

 Improve our business operations by developing and 
agreeing a corporate development plan to embed, 
through a number of clearly defined business 
improvement projects, the vision of the integrated 
organisation and the core values into our ways of working 
and behaviour.  

 

A change in the political and executive level leadership of SYMCA during the 2022/23 has led 
to a fundamental review of the organisation. This review aims to re-test assumptions made 
during the first phase of integration regarding organisational structures, systems and 
processes to ensure the organisation is fit for purpose to deliver the body of activity required to 
make substantial and lasting change for South Yorkshire.   

 Improve the physical environment of the workforce to 
enhance the employee experience and support a culture 
of collaboration and innovation.  

During the course of the year, the MCA undertook to transform floor 2 of Broad Street West 
from rented accommodation to an open plan collaborative space. This space has been used 
throughout the year by project teams, individuals and groups for a range of activity including 
staff briefings, team building sessions and employee engagement sessions. A wider estate 
review is also considering how best to use facility capacity across the region. A key 
consideration in this activity is the aspiration to ensure all officers, regardless of location, work 
in appropriate and suitable accommodation.  

CIPFA/SOLACE Framework – Principle F - Risks and performance are managed through robust internal control and strong public financial 
management  
 

 Improve how we use management information to provide 
assurance on organisational performance.  

 

Work is underway to develop a set of metrics that will form a Corporate Health Dashboard and 
enable the Executive Leadership Team to monitor the performance of the organisation.  
 
SYMCA Enhanced Partnership Performance Dashboard has been established to understand 
bus service operations performance and is reviewed at EP Board quarterly.   

 Improve the management of risks by embedding the new 
risk management framework.  

 

The Risk Management Framework was approved by the MCA in July 2022. In parallel to the 
development of the Framework, a new version of the IT risk management system was trialled. 
A live system was configured and implemented in line with the project plan in August. Work 

P
age 331



 Item 20 - Appendix A 
has been undertaken to populate the system with Corporate and Business Plan level risks and 
to develop reports. Work continues to embed ways of working and review and refresh the 
Framework. 

 Improve the management of our corporate policies and 
procedures that provide a framework for our operating 
environment.  

 

A ‘Corporate Documentation Management Process’ was agreed by Management Board in May 
2022. A Corporate Document library managed by the Governance Team working in 
conjunction with the Communications Team is in place. The overall deadline for the library to 
be populated with up-to-date documentation that has a clear review cycle is 31st March 2023.  

 

P
age 332



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

Wednesday, 25 January 2023 
 

Annual Governance Review Process 2022/23 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Claire James 
Claire.James@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 

This paper sets out the proposed process for the Annual Governance Review of the 
financial year ending 31st March 2023 

 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 

Continually improving governance enables the Combined Authority to pursue its ambitions 
and objectives in the most effective and efficient way, bringing about better outcomes for 
people and businesses in South Yorkshire. 

 
Recommendations   
 

The Committee is asked to consider the proposed process for conducting the Annual 
Governance Review for the financial year ending 31st March 2023. 

 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
  
None  

Page 333

Agenda Item 21



1.  Background 
  

1.1 Regulation 6(1)(a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require an 
authority to conduct a review, at least once in a year, of the effectiveness of its 
systems of internal control and include a statement reporting on the review with 
any published Statement of Accounts.  
 
The scope of the MCA’s governance and internal control framework spans the 
whole of the organisation’s activities and, as recommended in the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 2016, is described 
in MCA’s Local Code of Corporate Governance. The Code demonstrates that 
governance arrangements comply with the core and sub-principles contained in 
the Framework.  
 
The proposed process for conducting the required annual review of MCA 
governance arrangements is outlined in section 2.1. The findings of the review will 
be reported to the Committee in March and inform the Annual Governance 
Statement which will be published with the 22/23 Accounts. 

  

2. Key Issues 
  

2.1 Review Process 
 
During February and March, the MCA Executive will conduct an assessment of 
compliance with the Local Code of Corporate Governance; to gain assurance the 
effectiveness of current arrangements and to; identify any opportunities for 
improvement. 
 
This process will include:  

 a review with MCA Statutory Officers 

 a review with the Executive Leadership Board 

 One to ones with Assistant Directors and specific team members where 
required. 
 

The initial findings of the review will be reported to the Committee in March 2023 
along with a draft Annual Governance Statement and revised Code of Corporate 
Governance.  
 
Members are asked to note that this review will be undertaken in the context of a 
wider organisation review, led by the Executive Leadership team. Following a 
change in the political and executive level leadership of SYMCA during the 
2022/23, this review aims to re-test assumptions made during the first phase of 
integration regarding organisational structures, systems and processes to ensure 
the organisation is fit for purpose.    
 
Members are also asked to note that in line with the Internal Audit 
recommendation (reported to the Committee in October) quarterly reviews of 
compliance with the Local Code of Corporate Governance have been established. 
This work will also inform the Annual Governance Review. 

  

  

  

Page 334



3. Consultation on Proposal  
  

3.1 The Executive Leadership Board of the MCA Executive and Statutory Officers 
have and will continue to be consulted in the undertaking of this review.  

  
4. 
 

Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   

4.1 The Annual Governance Review will be conducted and concluded by March 2023 
in order to prepare the Annual Governance Statement 22/23 and the Governance 
Improvement Plan for 23/24. 

  
5. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  

5.1 The outcome of the annual governance review will be published in the Annual 
Governance Statement as part of the Authority’s statutory accounts. It is important 
that the review assesses the adequacy of the Authority’s internal financial controls 
as per the Financial Regulations. Failure to do so could result in a qualified value 
for money opinion issued by the external auditor, thus undermining confidence in 
the Authority’s stewardship of public funding. 
 
Furthermore, the risk associated with poor governance practice could result in 
poor financial decision making and, could result in material financial penalties 
including the withholding or reduction in grant received. 

  
6. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 Failure to comply with the principles of good governance ultimately could lead to 

and External Audit opinion qualification. Additionally, in the context of LEP 
governance could result in MHCLG intervention. 

  
7. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  

7.1 There are no human resources implications related to this report. 

  
8. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  

8.1 There are no equality and diversity implications related to this report. 

 
9. 

 
Climate Change Implications and Advice 

  

9.1 There are no climate change implications related to this report. 

  
10. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  

10.1 There are no information and communication technology implications related to 
this report. 

  
11. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   

 

11.1 The activity described in this paper is internally focussed however it will culminate 
in the publication of the Annual Governance Statement alongside the Authority’s 
accounts. 

Page 335



List of Appendices Included:   
 

None 

 
Background Papers 
 

None 

 

Page 336



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

Wednesday, 25 January 2023 
 

Committee Work Plan 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

No 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Steve Davenport, Principal Solicitor/Monitoring Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Claire James  
Claire.James@SouthYorkshire-CA.gov.uk  
 

 
Executive Summary 
 

This report seeks feedback on the 2022/23 work plan.  

 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 

Good governance enables the MCA to pursue its ambitions and objectives in the most 
effective and efficient way, bringing about better outcomes for residents and businesses in 
South Yorkshire.   

 
Recommendations   
 

Members consider the work plan for 2022/23 and agree any changes or additional items 
to be scheduled. 

 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
  
N/A  
  

Page 337

Agenda Item 22

mailto:Claire.James@SouthYorkshire-CA.gov.uk


1.  Background 
  

1.1 The Audit and Standards Committee work plan for 2022/23, is required to facilitate 
the Committee in meeting its accountabilities. 

  

1.2 The work plan is reviewed at every meeting to ensure it remains on schedule. 

  

2. Key Issues 
  

2.1 Work Plan  
 
The proposed work plan is attached at appendix A. This document aims to ensure 
the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee are appropriately sighted on key 
governance issues and activities in a timely manner and ensure that items relevant 
to their statutory accountabilities are appropriately scheduled. 

  

2.2 Members are asked to note that the Performance Management Update has been 
deferred to the next meeting. Officers will work with the Chair to determine the 
requirements for this item. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  

3.1 Members consider work plan for 2022/23 and agree any changes or additional 
items to be scheduled. 

  
4. Consultation on Proposal  

  

4.1 N/A 

  
5. 
 

Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   

5.1 N/A 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  

6.1 N/A 

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 N/A 

  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  

8.1 N/A 

  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  

9.1 N/A 

  
  
  

Page 338



10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  

10.1 N/A 

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  

11.1 N/A 

  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   
  

12.1 N/A 

  
List of Appendices Included:   
 

A Work Plan 

 
Background Papers 
 

N/A 

 

Page 339



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee Work Plan 2022/23 

 

Date Agenda Item 

January 2023 Mid-year Treasury Management Strategy report 
Governance Improvement Plan Update 
Annual Governance Review Process 
Strategic Risk Monitoring 
2022/23 Internal Audit Plan Progress Report  
Internal Audit Reports - tbc 
Health and Safety Update/Report 
*Performance Management 
Work plan for 2022/23 

March 2023 Initial findings of the Annual Governance Review 2023/24 
Governance Improvement Plan Update 
Code of Corporate Governance Review 
Internal Audit Plan/Internal audit strategy 2023/24 
Committee Effectiveness  
Draft Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 
2022/23 Internal Audit Plan Progress Report  
Internal Audit Reports – tbc 
Updated Assurance and Accountability Framework 
Health and Safety Update/Report 
Breach of Controls Report 
Work plan for 2022/23 

June 2023 Health and Safety Update/Report 
Strategic Risk Monitoring 
External Auditor’s Annual Audit and Inspection Letter 
Findings of the Annual Governance Review 
Draft Annual Governance Statement 

Internal Audit Strategy/Plan 

2022/23 Internal Audit Plan Progress Report  
Internal Audit Reports – tbc 
Breach of Controls Report 

 

*Proposed to defer this item to the next meeting and to work with the Chair to 

understand the requirements and scope. 

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

Wednesday, 25 January 2023 
 

Contract Procedure Rules Breach & Suspected Instances             
of Fraud Report 

 

Is the paper exempt from the press and public? 
 

Yes (partially). The public interest 
test has been considered and, in all 
the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in maintaining the 
exemption is considered to 
outweigh the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

Reason why exempt:   
 

Paragraph 3 - Information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the 
authority holding the information). 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No 

Has it been included on the Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions? 
 

Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer  
 
Report Author(s): 
Jill Smith 
Jill.Smith@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 
Mike Thomas 
Mike.thomas@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk  
 

 
Executive Summary 
 

This report provides details on occasions where the Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) or 
the Financial Regulations have been breached and on any suspected or actual instances 
of fraud.  

 
 
 

Page 343

Agenda Item 23

mailto:Jill.Smith@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Mike.thomas@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk


What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 

The CPRs and Fraud Response Protocol are a key internal control, designed to maximise 
the value of MCA expenditure and mitigate inherent risk to public funds. 

 
Recommendations   
 

Members are asked to note the report and the appendices, which are restricted from 
publication as detailed above. 

  
1.  Background 
  

1.1 Contract Procedure Rules & Financial Regulations 
 
How the MCA procures activity and manages contracts is governed by the 
Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs). The Financial Regulations set out the financial 
management policies of the MCA and are a key part of the Authority’s financial 
governance arrangements. The CPRs and Financial Regulations are a 
Constitutional document and must be adhered to by all officers. As part of the 
integration of the MCA and SYPTE, changes were approved by the MCA in June 

2022 and are scheduled for an annual review. The Executive Director Resources 
and Investment is responsible for the content and application of these rules 
through Finance, Procurement and Contracting teams.  

  

1.2 Fraud Response Protocol 
 
How the MCA manages the risk of fraud is set out in the Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
Policy (Part 6F of the Constitution). The policy is applicable to Members, Chief 
Officers and employees of the Authority and its committees, as well as all 
individuals, organisations, contractors, consultants and partners associated with 
the Authority, including customers and stakeholders. 
 
The MCA’s Fraud Response Plan can be found at appendix 2 of the Anti-Fraud 
and Corruption Policy. The Plan provides direction and guidance in dealing with 
suspected cases of theft, fraud and corruption. In accordance with the Plan, all 
instances of suspected fraud must be reported to the Head of Internal Audit at the 
earliest opportunity. 

  

2. Key Issues 
  

2.1 Breaches 
 
The breach report is designed to provide oversight for the Committee on where 
breaches are occurring and how the MCA is responding. This process will support 
review of potential systemic internal control weakness and inform learning. No 
instances of procurement breaches have been noted since the last reporting date.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 344



  

2.2 Suspected Instances of Fraud  
 
Adult Education Budget 
 
At the Committee in October, it was reported that one instance of suspected fraud 
had been escalated to the Head of Internal Audit. This involved a third-party 
service provider alleged to have falsified data in order to make claims for payment 
from the MCA.  
 
The Executive Director Resources & Investment commissioned Grant Thornton’s 
Counter Fraud team to investigate the issue and provide recommendations to the 
Authority. 
 
This investigation has been undertaken and a high-level report prepared for 
management. The details of this work and follow up activity are detailed in the 
appendices.  
  
Business Investment Fund 
 
Earlier in the financial year the MCA was notified by a grant recipient of 
accusations concerning alleged fraudulent grant claims and potential miss-use of 
confidential MCA information. 
 
This issue was immediately flagged to the Head of Internal Audit whilst both 
internal and external reviews were undertaken. The Executive Director Resources 
& Investment commissioned a review of the issue that has now been undertaken. 
 
The results of the review undertaken by Grant Thornton and associated 
recommendations on internal processes are detailed in the appendices. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 Option 1 

 Not applicable 

  
4. Consultation on Proposal  

 

4.1 N/A 

  
5. 
 

Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   

5.1 The report will be presented to ARSC in line with the Committee workplan. 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  

6.1 This report provides an update on breaches of the CPRs, Financial Regulations 
and any fraud investigations.  

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 None 

Page 345



8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  

8.1 None 

  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  

9.1 None 

 
10. 

 
Climate Change Implications and Advice 

  

10.1 None 

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  

11.1 None 

  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   

 

12.1 None 

  
List of Appendices Included:   
 

A Business Investment Fund - Grant Controls Report 

  

B  AEB - Compliance Report 

 
Background Papers 
 

SYMCA Constitution 

 

Page 346

https://southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk/getattachment/5460570b-415b-49ee-a649-21dbf56c3702/Constitution-September-2021-v1-rev-2.pdf?lang=en-GB


Document is Restricted

Page 347

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 361

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Minutes and Actions of the Previous Meeting held on 19 October 2022
	07i Matters Arising and Action Log

	8 Health and Safety Update
	08i Appendix A
	08ii Annex 1
	08iii Annex 2
	Annex 2

	08iv Annex 3
	Annex 3

	08v Annex 4
	Oct


	9 External Audit Report on 2021/22 Accounts
	09 External Audit Cover Report
	Is the paper exempt from the press and public?
	Reason why exempt:  
	Has it been included on the Forward Plan of Key Decisions?
	Summary
	Recommendation(s)  
	List of Appendices Included:  

	09 External Audit on 2021-22 Accounts

	10 Mid-Year Treasury Management Strategy Report
	10i Appendix A

	11 2023/24 Draft Treasury Management Strategy
	11i Appendix A
	11ii Appendix B

	12 Assurance Framework
	12i Appendix A

	13 2022/23 Internal Audit Plan Progress Report
	13 Internal Audit Plan Progress Report
	Is the paper exempt from the press and public?
	Reason why exempt:  
	Has it been included on the Forward Plan of Key Decisions?
	Summary
	Recommendation(s)  
	List of Appendices Included:  

	13i SYMCA Internal Audit Progress Report January 2023
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Introduction & headlines
	Slide 3: 2022/23 Internal Audit Plan progress
	Slide 4: 2022/23 Internal Audit Plan progress
	Slide 5: Appendix 1: Our assurance levels
	Slide 6


	14 Internal Audit Recommendations Tracker
	14 Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report
	Is the paper exempt from the press and public?
	Reason why exempt:  
	Has it been included on the Forward Plan of Key Decisions?
	Summary
	Recommendation(s)  
	List of Appendices Included:  

	14i SYMCA Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report January 2023
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Implementation of recommendations 
	Slide 3: Overdue recommendations
	Slide 4: Recommendation detail
	Slide 5: Recommendation detail
	Slide 6: Recommendation detail
	Slide 7: Appendix 1:  Our recommendation ratings
	Slide 8


	15 Internal Audit Reports
	15 Internal Audit Reports
	Is the paper exempt from the press and public?
	Reason why exempt:  
	Has it been included on the Forward Plan of Key Decisions?
	Summary
	Recommendation(s)  
	List of Appendices Included:  

	15i Asset Management Follow Up - Final Report
	15ii 2223SYMCA04 Net Zero Final Report
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Executive summary
	Slide 4: Executive summary
	Slide 5: Headline messages
	Slide 6: Headline messages
	Slide 7: Summary of findings
	Slide 8: Detailed findings & action plan
	Slide 9: Detailed findings & action plan
	Slide 10: Detailed findings & action plan
	Slide 11: Detailed findings & action plan
	Slide 12: Detailed findings & action plan
	Slide 13
	Slide 14: Appendix 1: Staff involved and documents reviewed
	Slide 15: Appendix 2: Our assurance levels
	Slide 16: Appendix 2:  Our recommendation ratings
	Slide 17


	19 Risk Management Update
	19i Appendix A
	19ii Appendix B
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7


	20 Governance Improvement Plan Update
	20i Appendix A

	21 Annual Governance Review Process
	22 Work Plan
	22i Appendix A

	23 RESTRICTED: Contract Procedure Rules Breach and Suspected Instances of Fraud Report
	23i Appendix A
	23ii Appendix B




